Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377

# Lemin Zheng *Editor*

# HDL Metabolism and Diseases



# Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology

Volume 1377

# Series Editors

Wim E. Crusio, Institut de Neurosciences Cognitives et Intégratives d'Aquitaine, CNRS and University of Bordeaux, Pessac Cedex, France

Haidong Dong, Departments of Urology and Immunology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA

Heinfried H. Radeke, Institute of Pharmacology & Toxicology, Clinic of the Goethe University Frankfurt Main, Frankfurt am Main, Hessen, Germany

Nima Rezaei, Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Ortrud Steinlein, Institute of Human Genetics, LMU University Hospital, Munich, Germany

Junjie Xiao, Cardiac Regeneration and Ageing Lab, Institute of Cardiovascular Science, School of Life Science, Shanghai University, Shanghai, China Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology provides a platform for scientific contributions in the main disciplines of the biomedicine and the life sciences. This series publishes thematic volumes on contemporary research in the areas of microbiology, immunology, neurosciences, biochemistry, biomedical engineering, genetics, physiology, and cancer research. Covering emerging topics and techniques in basic and clinical science, it brings together clinicians and researchers from various fields.

Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology has been publishing exceptional works in the field for over 40 years, and is indexed in SCOPUS, Medline (PubMed), Journal Citation Reports/Science Edition, Science Citation Index Expanded (SciSearch, Web of Science), EMBASE, BIOSIS, Reaxys, EMBiology, the Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS), and Pathway Studio.

2020 Impact Factor: 2.622

Lemin Zheng Editor

# HDL Metabolism and Diseases



*Editor* Lemin Zheng Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences Peking University Beijing, China

ISSN 0065-2598ISSN 2214-8019(electronic)Advances in Experimental Medicine and BiologyISBN 978-981-19-1591-8ISBN 978-981-19-1592-5(eBook)

### https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5

### © Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

# Preface

High-density lipoproteins (HDLs) are first featured by the ultracentrifugation of plasma to separate lipoproteins of different densities. Over the past several decades, major progress on the study of HDLs has been made. HDLs, as a complex mixture, include various lipids, proteins, micro-RNAs, vitamins, and hormones, which endow diverse biological functions beyond mediating reverse cholesterol transport. Many population studies have shown that the level of HDL-c is inversely related to the risk of cardiovascular research. However, it has been demonstrated that increasing HDL-c level by certain drugs is not effective for reducing the risk of disease. Currently, researchers begin to pay more attention to the metabolism of HDLs. The abnormal metabolism of HDLs is known to closely associate with many diseases, including cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, sepsis, kidney diseases, and so on. Moreover, the structural and functional characteristics of HDLs have also made it a natural delivery carrier. In this book, we systematically review HDL metabolism and its related diseases from lab to clinic. Firstly, we review HDLs metabolism from multiple dimensions, including HDLs structure, some key proteins, and RNA relating to its metabolism (CETP, SR-BI, ABCA1, ABCG1, and miRNA), and two metabolic reactions (such as inhibition of oxidation, some lipid metabolism). The endothelial cell, as a dominant role in cardiovascular system, also requires the normal HDLs. Besides, we also not only selectively review some related diseases, but also emphasize some treatments related to HDLs. Although we also try our best to review most important aspects, some parts regarding this theme likely are omitted or not done enough.

We hope that our book can be a handbook for researchers and physicians, and benefit the other audiences, and that this book can contribute to the development of future therapies.

Beijing, China

Lemin Zheng

# Acknowledgments

We thank Yujie Zhu and Jianing Gao (The Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences, Peking University) for their assistance in promoting the production of the book. We also appreciate the support from The Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences, Peking University.

# Contents

1	HDL Structure	1		
2	<b>HDL and Cholesterol Ester Transfer Protein (CETP)</b> Siying Deng, Jiewen Liu, and Chenguang Niu	13		
3	HDL and Endothelial Function			
4	HDL and Lipid Metabolism	49		
5	HDL and Oxidation	63		
6	HDL and Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I (SRBI) Hong Yu			
7	ABCA1, ABCG1, and Cholesterol Homeostasis	95		
8	HDL and ASCVD	109		
9	HDL and Diabetes	119		
10	HDL and Sepsis	129		
11	HDL Mimetic Peptides	141		
12	HDL and microRNAs	153		
13	HDL and Kidney Diseases	163		

14	HDL and Therapy	171
	Ke Li, Xianwei Xie, and Yansong Guo	
15	HDL and Surgery	189
	Yue-Ming Peng and Jing-Song Ou	

# HDL Structure

Siying Deng, Yangkai Xu, and Lemin Zheng

# Abstract

HDL has various protein components, includenzymes, complement ing components, apolipoproteins, protease inhibitors, etc. In addition to proteins, lipids are also a significant component of HDL. These components and their structure determine the function of HDL. HDL is heavily involved in the acute response phase, complement regulation phase, hemostasis phase, immune response phase, and protease inhibition phase. Among the apolipoproteins, the predominant component is Apo A-I, which confers various atherogenic activities to HDL. Apo A-II, Apo-C, Apo-D, Apo-F, Apo-H, Apo-J, and Apo-O, which can bind free fatty acids, regulate the activity of many proteins involved in HDL metabolism, inhibit lipid transfer, and control the endogenous coagulation cascade. A major functional component is the enzyme LCAT, which helps catalyze the conversion of cholesterol to plasma-based lipoproteins and then to cholesteryl esters. Another enzyme associated with HDL is human paraoxonase, calcium-, PON1-, PON2-, and PON3-dependent lactone enzyme with catalytic activity, including reversible binding to substrates. PAF-AH is a phospholipase with lipoprotein properties, and HDL and LDL particles are commonly bound to plasma PAF-AH for circulation. As for lipid components, PC is an essential phospholipid subclass and may be a biomarker for constitutive inflammation. Sphingolipids, such as sphingomyelin and ceramide, also play an indispensable role in HDL function. In different physiological and pathological stages and plasma environments, HDL can exhibit different structural features, such as discoid HDL and spherical rHDL.

### Keywords

HDL · Structure · Apolipoprotein · Metabolism

# 1.1 Protein Components

HDL has a variety of proteins as compared to the other lipoproteins. They could be categorized into a number of subgroups which include enzymes, complement components, apolipoproteins, proteins that transfer lipids, proteins with actual

Check for updates

S. Deng  $\cdot$  Y. Xu  $\cdot$  L. Zheng ( $\boxtimes$ )

The Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences and Institute of Systems Biomedicine, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Key Laboratory of Molecular Cardiovascular Sciences of Ministry of Education, NHC Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Molecular Biology and Regulatory Peptides, Health Science Center, Peking University, Beijing, China

China National Clinical Research Center for Neurological Diseases, Tiantan Hospital, Advanced Innovation Center for Human Brain Protection, The Capital Medical University, Beijing, China e-mail: 112020020521@mail.ccmu.edu.cn; xuyk@pku.edu.cn; zhengl@bjmu.edu.cn

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), *HDL Metabolism and Diseases*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_1

phase response, and protease inhibitors among many other constituents of proteins [1, 2]. The two subgroups which are primarily considered supplementary provisions involving functional HDL components include enzymes and apolipoproteins. They are also quite significant in preventing infections and acute phase reactions. Among these subgroups, there are several proteins in the components of normal human plasma HDL with a large involvement in the phase of acute response, regulation of complements, hemostasis, immune response, and protease inhibition [3]. This suggests that HDL certainly plays a role in both inflammation and host defense mechanisms.

How the HDL proteomes are composed might be dependent on the method involved in the actual separation of HDL. Ultra-centrifugation in high ionic strength and high-concentration salt solution may play a role in removing some protein components from HDL. While some other HDL methods of separation such as precipitation, immunoaffinity chromatography, and gel filtration make HDL subject to a wide range of plasma proteins pollution or subject HDL to conditions that are non-physiological that can be altered, hence affecting its structure and/or composition [4, 5].

Proteomics of the fractions containing apoA-I that are separated from the human plasma through a method of non-denaturing fast protein liquid chromatography FPLC revealed that each fraction contains up to 115 individual proteins. Of these 115 individual proteins, only 32 can be identified to be related to the HDL isolated by HDL ultracentrifugation. It is worth noting that there are indeed some of the highly dominant plasma proteins within all apoA-I which contain components that are separated using FPLC, including albumin, haptoglobin, and  $\alpha$ -2-macroglobulin, indicating that they are partially bound to HDL non-specific, low affinity binding [6]. In fact, plasma proteins that match the size of HDL co-elution are unavoidable in FPLC-based separations. However, in a series of fractions of different sizes that contain HDL and are separated through FPLCE, the presence of specific proteins is based on their association with phospholipids,

indicating that this protein is indeed related to HDL [7, 8].

# 1.1.1 Apolipoproteins

The main functional and structural HDL protein that accounts for roughly 70% of all the HDL proteins is apolipoprotein A-I [9]. There is a strong belief that almost all the particles of HDL have apoA-I. Some of the primary functions of apoA-I include the conferring of various atherosclerotic activities of HDL, intermingling with cell receptors and the activation of cholesterol/ lecithin acytransferase (LCAT) [10]. Circulating apoA-I is a typical representation of amphiphilic protein that does not have disulfide or glycosylation bonds but has eight 22-amino acid  $\alpha$ -helix amphiphilic domains and two 11-amino acid repeating sequences [11]. As a result, apoA-I combines with lipid craze and has effective properties similar to those of a detergent. ApoA-I can easily move through lipoprotein and can also be found in lipoprotein with low density (VLDL) and chylomicrons. The principal sites for apoA-I secretion and synthesis are the ileum and the liver [12].

The second major type of HDL apolipoprotein is ApoA-II. It accounts for roughly 20% of the entire HDL protein reserve [13]. It is speculated that nearly half of the particles of HDL might have apoA-II. As compared to apoA-I, ApoA-II is highly hydrophobic and has a circulation that resembles a homodimer that consists of polypeptide chains that are identical and connected through a disulfide bond. ApoA-II forms a heterodimer with other cysteine-containing apolipoproteins and is chiefly synthesized within the liver.

ApoA-II can easily circulate in free form [14, 15]. It is considered as the most hydrophilic apolipoprotein. It can also be easily exchanged between lipoproteins. ApoA-IV has 22-amino acid repeats that are 13 in number. Out of these 13, 9 are structures that are highly alpha helix. A significant portion of these helices can be described as amphiphilic, and they can serve as domains that are lipid binding [16, 17]. In human

beings, apoA-IV is processed in the ileum and expelled out into the circulatory system together with chylomicrons [18].

ApoC constitutes unit of small а apolipoproteins which have an exchangeable nature and are synthesized primarily in the liver. Of all the apolipoproteins that can be associated with VLDL and HDL and can be easily exchanged between them, apoC-I is the smallest. Its charge is positively strong, and this allows it to bind fatty acids that are free and to regulate the activity of many proteins that are involved in the metabolism of HDL [19]. Therefore, apoC-I has an involvement in inhibiting liver lipase and CETP as well as activating LCAT. ApoC-II has an association with VLDL and HDL, and it also helps in activating a lot of triacylglycerol lipases. Apoc-III is primarily found in VLDL with tiny amounts of it being traceable in HDL. The protein also plays a role in the inhibition of lipoprotein lipase (LPL) as well as liver lipase. Additionally, it reduces the uptake of chylomicrons by the cells of the liver. When overexpressed in mice, ApoC-IV tends to lead to hypertriglyceridemia. In plasma that lower lipids, around 80% of the protein exists in the VLDL and a huge portion of the rest remains within the HDL. As compared to other apoC proteins, the content of HDL in apoC-IV is significantly lower.

ApoD is a protein whose expressions can be found in many tissues, such as those in the intestine and the liver. As a glycoprotein, it is highly associated with HDL [20]. One notable thing about apoD is that it lacks the usual apolipoprotein structural expression, and it belongs to the alicyclic family of proteins. It includes uteroglobulin, lactoglobulin, and proteins that bind retinol. Lipoprotein can be defined as a small protein that transfers lipids and has an amino acid sequence identity that is limited but with a uniform tertiary structure. Lipoprotein compounds have many binding hydrophobic ligands, and they also possess a  $\beta$ -barreled fold that is structurally conserved. ApoD involves the transportation of tiny hydrophobic ligands which in essence have a high affinity for arachidonic acid. In plasma, apoD and apoA-II form disulfide-linked homodimers and heterodimers.

Although the content of apoE in HDL particles is much lower than that of apoA-I, it still constitutes an essential glycoprotein component of HDL with a key functional and structural value. The main part of apoE that circulates is usually carried by lipoproteins that contain tri-glyceride where it acts as ligand to apoE or apoB receptors and, at the same time, ensures lipoproteins bind glycosaminoglycans to the cell surface. Like apoA-II and apoA-I, apoE has amphiphilic  $\alpha$ -helix repeats and portrays properties similar to those of detergents for phospholipids. ApoE is synthesized in a variety of cell types and tissues which comprise macrophages, endocrine tissue, the liver, and the central nervous system [21].

ApoF can be defined as a sialic acid glycoprotein that has the presence of lipoprotein with low-density (LDL) and in human HDL. Due to its ability to inhibit CETP, it can also be referred to as LTIP, which stands for lipid transfer inhibitor protein. ApoF is synthesized within the liver and is often glycosylated by N-and O-linked glycosyl groups. This process of glycosylation transforms the protein into a highly acidic state and increases its molecular weight by 40%.

ApoH, which is also referred to as  $\beta$ -2-glycoprotein 1, is very versatile. It is an N-Oglycosylated protein. ApoH can interfere with the processes of activating endogenous coagulation cascades. It can do this by binding to phospholipids and various negatively charged molecules (mainly cardiolipin) on the surface of cells that are damaged. These properties of binding are guaranteed by domains, which are positively charged. Apolipoprotein is responsible for the regulation of platelet aggregation, and it usually has its expression in the liver.

ApoJ (which is also known as complementrelated protein SP-40, 40 and cluster protein) is a disulfide-bonded heterodimeric glycoprotein that is antiparallel in nature. Human apolipoprotein comprises of two subunits called  $\alpha$  (34–36 kDa) and  $\beta$  (36–39 kDa) that have insufficient homology and five disulfide bonds that are connected. The structure of ApoJ is unique, and it binds a variety of cell surface receptors on one hand and hydrophobic molecules on the other.

ApoL-I is an essential element of HDL-related human trypanosomal degrading factors. ApoL-I has a glycosylation site, and it is structurally and functionally similar to the Bcl-2 family of apoptosis regulator proteins. ApoL-I is highly expressed in the spleen, pancreas, prostate, placenta lung, and liver. It also has a high affinity for cardiolipin and phosphatidic acid. ApoM is an apolipoprotein predominantly present in HDL, which has eight antiparallel β-valerilipocalin folds and a small hydrophobic molecule. ApoM shares with apoD, which is also an apolipoprotein member of the lipoprotein family, with a 19% homology. It is synthesized in the liver and kidney. The hydrophobic N-terminal signal peptide of apolipoprotein ensures binding of apoM to lipoprotein [22]. It remains secreted apolipoprotein, an atypical phenomenon of plasma apolipoprotein [23-25].

ApoO is only expressed in some human tissues. Unlike the others, it is a minor component of HDL. It exists not only in HDL, but also in VLDL and LDL. One other thing about it is that it contains chondroitin sulfite chains and belongs to the family of proteoglycans, distinguished from the peculiar features of proteins. ApoO still has an unknown physiological function. Secondary components of apolipoproteins separated in the HDL density range is also a reflection of the existence of lipoprotein (a), taking apoB and apo (a) as examples and are caused by duplication of HDL2 and lipoprotein (a) (Table 1.1).

# 1.1.2 Enzymes

LCAT helps in catalyzing the conversion of cholesterol into lipoproteins that are plasma-based then into cholesterol esters. Almost 75% of the activities in plasma LCAT are related to HDL. ApoD and plasma LCAT also have close relations, and apoD is usually co-purified. Major expressions of the LCAT gene are found in the liver while lesser expressions can be traced in the testis and brain. The LCAT protein undergoes very heavy N-glycosylation. LCAT has a secondary structure whose maintenance can be attributed to two disulfide bonds, and it contains an active site covered with a lid. LCAT also has free cysteine residues at positions 184 and 31, which are two in number.

Human paraoxonase is a lactone enzyme dependent on calcium, PON1, PON2, and PON3 [27]. When circulating, PON1's association is exclusively associated almost with HDL [28]. This association requires a hydrophobic leader sequence that remains in the producing PON1 and is largely due to the surface phospholipids on HDL. The synthesis of Human PON1 mainly takes place in the colon, liver, and kidney. It has been suggested that the hydrolysis of homocysteine thiolactone represents the main physiological function of PON1. It is worth noting that the name "PON" reflects PON1's capability to hydrolyze the paraoxon of the organophosphate substrate along with other [29]. The enzyme has cataclysm activities which include reversible binding to the substrate.

PAF-AH is a phospholipase with lipoprotein properties that stands for platelet activating factor acetyl hydrolase. It is independent of calcium, and at the same time an N-glycosylate which degrades biological activity through hydrolyzing sn-2 ester bonds Lysozyme PAF to degrade PAF. The enzyme uses short residues to split phospholipid substrates and can therefore hydrolyze proinflammatory oxidized phospholipids with short chains. There is, however, no activity within non-oxidized phospholipids of long chains. The synthesis of PAF-AH takes place in the brain within the placenta and the white adipose tissue. The macrophages are the most significant source of circulating enzymes. HDL and LDL particles usually combine with plasma PAF-AH for purposes of circulation [30].

The crystal-like structure of PAF-AH illustrates the normal lipase  $\alpha/\beta$ -hydrolase folding and catalytic triad. The site of activity is very close to the lipoprotein surface, and it can gain entry in the water phase at the same time. Hydrophobic residues can cluster in twos and constitute a domain that is lipid-binding in nature, hence ensuring a binding to lipoproteins. Plasma glutathione peroxidase 3 (GSPx-3) is different from other members of the GSPx family which are representative of red blood cells and Hepatocyte

Drotaina		Major function
Proteins	1	
Apolipoproteins	ApoA-I	Functionally and structurally activates LCAT apolipoprotein
	ApoA-II	It is a functional and structural apolipoprotein
	ApoA-IV	It is a functional and structural apolipoprotein
	ApoC-I	LCAT activator
		CETP activity modulator
	ApoC-II	Activator of LPL
	ApoC-III	Inhibits LPL
	ApoC-IV	Regulator of the metabolism of TG
	ApoD	Helps in playing a binding role to hydrophobic molecules that are small in size
	ApoE	Acts as a ligand to LRP and LDL-R
	ApoF	Inhibits CETP
	АроН	Helps in the negative binding of hydrophobic molecules
	ApoJ	Interacts with cell receptors
		Binds molecules that are hydrophobic
	ApoL-I	Serves as factor in the serum of humans
	ApoM	Binds hydrophobic molecules that are small in nature
Enzymes	LCAT	Polymerization of cholesterol to cholesterol esters
	PON1	Serves as a lactonase that is dependent on calcium
	PAF-AH	Acts as an hydrolysis of phospholipids that are oxidized by short chains
	GSPx-3	Helps in reducing hydro peroxides
Lipid transfer	CETP	Helps in PL homoexchange and the heteroexchange of TG and CE
proteins	PLTP	Transportation of LPS and converting of HDL
Acute-phase	SAA1	Reactant with a minor acute phase
proteins	SAA4	Reactant with a minor acute phase
Complement	C3	Activation of complements
components		

Table 1.1 The components and their major functions of HDL [26]

solute enzymes. These constitute GSPx-1 and GSPX-2. In all reactions that involve glutathione, GSPx enzymes usually protect biomolecules from the damage that arises due to oxidation by helping to catalyze the reduction of organic hydro peroxides, lipid peroxides, and hydrogen peroxide. In plasma, GSPx-3 has only one association with HDL [31].

# 1.1.3 Other Proteins

Within the protein superfamily bactericidal permeability-increasing protein (BPI)/binding protein (LBP)/lipopolysaccharide (LPS), there exist in Phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP). The synthesis of PLTP occurs in the brain, lungs, skeletal muscle, placenta, kidney, liver, pancreas, and heart. During circulation, a strong relation can be derived between HDL and PLTP, which ends up converting HDL into bigger and bigger particles. PLTP also plays another critical role in the transportation of extracellular phospholipids and could also function in the binding of LPS [32]. PLTP potentially plays a role in the innate immune system. Additionally, it is regarded as a reactant with a positive acute-phase.

CETP has several N-glycosylation sites. It also belongs to the protein superfamily of LBP/BPI/ Plunc. The primary expressions of CETP can be found in the adipose tissue and the liver. During circulation, CETP promotes the transfer between triglycerides and cholesterol esters in a bidirectional manner. Additionally, it shuttles between apoB-containing lipoproteins and HDL in the process. A look at the structure of CETP reveals a hydrophobic tunnel that is highly filled with cholesterol ester molecules and on the other hand blocked amphiphilic phosphatidylcholine (PC).

Serum amyloid A (SAA) protein is usually secreted in the acute phase of the inflammatory response. The protein is the main reactant in the acute phase. In human beings, there are three subtypes of SAA whose production takes place in the liver. They include SAA1, SAA2, and SAA4. During the acute phase reaction, the liver expresses SAA1 and SAA2 therefore causing their levels of circulation to increase by almost 1000-fold from a basal concentration of around 1-5 mg/L. In comparison and contrast, SAA4 has a constitutive expression in hepatocytes. Thus, live concert is often known as the constitutive SAA. It is essential to note that SAA1's existence is not in free form. Instead, it is crucial in binding non-HDL lipoproteins without HDL.

Some complement components are associated with HDL. Complement 3(C3) is crucial in activating a complementary system via the classical pathway of activation and the alternative pathway of activation. C3's existence takes two forms ( $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ) which disulfide bonds.

# 1.2 Lipid Composition

# 1.2.1 Phospholipids

Among phospholipids, phosphatdylcholine is the main plasma phospholipid. It accounts for 32-35 percentage molecules of the total HDL lipids. As a lipid, PC is structural in nature. This is consistent with the distribution of means among the subpopulations of HDL. Some of the primary of molecules of PC have types their representations by 16:0/18:2, 18:0/18, 2 and 16: 0/20:4 types. In comparison to various lipoproteins, HDL has a rich content of polyunsaturated fatty acids found in PC.

There exist subclasses of HDL. LysoPC is an essential phospholipid subclass. This is as a result of controlled PC degradation by phospholipases, one of which is LCAT. This is in line with the latter's preference of binding to HDL particles. To be specific, LCAT has previously been reported to have a good association with small high-density particles of HDL with lysoPC enrichment that is approximately twice that of large, light HDL. The production of LysoPC can also be through the hydrolysis of oxidized PC by PLA2 or LpPLA2. It is usually secreted under proatherogenic conditions such as inflammation and oxidative stress, therefore constituting a likely biomarker of inflammation [33]. LysoPC, a predominant species of HDL, contains mainly fatty acid moieties that are saturated with 18 and 16 atoms of carbon. HDL contamination of these two compounds is typical for FPLC separations. As a significant component of serum lysoPC is also associated with albumin. In HDL, however, when separated by ultracentrifugation of isopycnic density, the content of HDL in lysoPC is 2–1/ 10 [34].

Phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) is reasonably contained within HDL. Its content increases with an increase in the hydration density of HDL. The predominant species of PE are represented by 38: 4 and 36:2 residues of fatty acids.

# 1.2.2 Sphingolipids

Sphingomyelin is a structure that improves the stiffness of surface lipids. It is the main sphingolipid of HDL that circulates (5.6%–6.6% mol of total lipids). It is derived primarily from triacylglycerol-rich lipoproteins and neonatal HDL sphingolipids. Only part of myelin is 16: 0 and 24:1. Sphingomyelin usually consumes up to 30% of dense and small cells as compared to light and large HDL. This is unlike a PL that is negatively charged. The results reflect the low content of sphingomyelin in neonatal HDL, which is a precursor of metabolism in HDL3c, hence suggesting a unique pathway for metabolism in the HDL subgroup.

Of the sphingolipids, SIP is of particular interest because of the important role played by the bioactive lipid in vascular biology. Over 90% of circulating sphingosine phosphates were found in the fractions containing HDL and albumin [35]. It is recommended to choose dense particles which are also small in nature. This is in line with the high levels of apoM in the small and dense particles. HDL is another biologically active glycosphingolipid, represented by lysophospholipids and thioglycolipids.

Ceramide is heavily involved in the signaling of cells, inflammation, and apoptosis. It is a sphingolipid intermediate. It also has insulin sensitivity and mitochondrial function. Lipids are difficult to transport via HDL. HDL usually accounts for only 25 mol % of the entire ceramide in plasma and only 0.022–0.097 mol% of the entire HDL lipid [36]. Just like sphingomyelin, this sphingomyelin hydrolysis produces a product rich in high amounts of light HDL. This suggests that these lipids have a common metabolic pathway. However, the patterns of major ceramide species (24:0 and 24:1) observed in HDL do not support this hypothesis.

For glychosphingolipids, data on gangliodies and sulfite lipids are lacking. Hexosyl- and lactose-based substances make up the major glycosphingolipids of plasma lipoproteins.

# 1.2.3 Neutral Lipids

On the surface lipid monolayer of HDL particles, non-esterified (free) sterols are located. They regulate their fluid nature, too [37]. These sterols are mainly composed of cholesterol, which reflects the significant function that lipoproteins play in transporting cholesterol throughout the body. In lipoproteins, the content of other sterols is significantly lower, including the amounts of sitosterol, estrogens, oxysterols, ergosterol, and phytosterols. The affinity of sphingomyelin to free cholesterol is now established, and it helps in the preferential binding of both light and large HDL [38].

The tans esterification of PL through the cataclysm of LCAT with cholesterol results in the formation of large amounts of cholesterol ester (CE) in plasma HDL. Such lipids that are highly hydrophobic constitute the lipid crux of HDL and make up around 35% of the entire HDL lipid [39]. Most HDL CE is caused by cholesterol linoleic acid. Pioneering studies on the distributive nature of CE species in high-density lipoprotein subpopulations by gas chromatography have shown that the distribution between lipoprotein 2 and 3 of high densities is very similar. Similar to CE, the TAG type is reserved between HDL2 and HDL3 [40].

# **1.3 HDL Structure**

### 1.3.1 Discoid HDL

Discotic high-density lipoproteins, which may be present in human plasma, have a very short life because of their nature as good substrates for LCAT. There has been a detection of HDL disks in isolated compartments like interstitial fluid and peripheral lymphatic fluid, and may have activity in LCAT that is low in nature. As stated above, intervertebral discs can be remodeled. Their particles illustrate a lot of properties of native HDL, such as the activation of LCAT, the transfer of lipids, and the binding of receptors.

The most studied rHDL disk is composed of two molecules of apoA-I. These are usually about 96A in diameter and around 47A thick and contain between 150 and 200 phospholipid molecules [41]. This particle can be described or utilized as a benchmark and utilized as the basis for the original dual-band model of molecules. In this model, two circular apoA-I molecules entail the lipid membrane leaflets in an orientation that is not parallel. The helix 5 of these molecules faces one another directly. In this arrangement, there are boundaries between molecules that depend on the manner in which they are stacked. Right to right (RR) and left to left (LL). An analysis by computers shows that the interface of LL of helix 5 of two molecules that are directly opposite each other has the most weighted score of potential salt bridges between molecules of apoA-I [42]. This is known as the LL5/5 (G129j) registry. It is oriented in the same way as the Borhani crystal structure. This orientation has been validated from experiments in three studies that used the cross-linking of chemicals to derive the orientation of molecules in the two apoA-I have a molecule on these particles. The two molecules in our lab are in good agreement with the 5/5 orientation of most molecules, but

some bridges are also in agreement with the second 5/2 registry. Cross-link research also fits the common 5/5 band model for most molecules. However these researchers showed that the Cand N-terminal 40-50 residues are doubles within the molecule. This improvement is known as the "belt and belt buckle." Martin et al. performed an electron paramagnetic resonance study of 96A rHDL particles that is in consistency with a 5/5 antiparallel double band orientation around the particle [43]. They observed that the properties of the residues 134-145 (within helix5) that spincoupled were in line with a circular region that created an opening locally between the parallel bands. This "loop" is a potential site for LCAT to enter cholesterol and phosphatidyl chains, suggesting that cholesterol that phosphatidyl chains of the cell membrane are embedded in the lipid bilayer.

# 1.3.2 Spherical rHDL

A good number of HDL particles that exist in human plasma are spherical in nature. From a structural point of view, little work has been done on these particles. The particles possess a neutral lipid core that comprises cholesterol esters and triglycerides, which eliminates the "edges" of particles that bind apolipoproteins like disks. The helical domain can interact with the acyl chains across the phospholipid surface across the phosphate groups.<sup>44</sup> Furthermore, careful NMR studies have shown that the apoA-I structural changes between the recombinant disc and the sphere are mainly confined to the apoA-IN N-terminus.

The cross-linking method was used to study the structure of recombinant apoA-I particles which are spherical in nature and are produced by the inhabiting rHDL discs together with LCAT under conditions that are controlled. These spheres mainly contain a cholesterol ester core, the diameter of which is about the same as the "reference disc" above. In a cross-link experiment, these balls contain three apoA-I molecules, but the disc has only two. Surprisingly, the crosslinking pattern produced by the sphere is almost the same as the disc. The problem we are solving is the "trilobe model." That is, exactly the similar interactions of molecules that occur between the two apoA-Is in the disk and the three apoA-Is in the ball. The scheme adds a twist to the apoA-I helices 5 and 10. Then, according to the double belt model, two antiparallel belts were bent to 120, and then a similarly bent third molecule was inserted. This creates a cage structure that is three-dimensional and in which the helical domains of each molecule undergo a similar salt-bridge interaction. This is considered the original dual band. It is believed that this cage encapsulates the core of neutral lipid esters and provides support to the polar lipids on the surface with open spaces that intervene or thread between molecules.

# 1.3.3 HDL Particles

One of the important tools for understanding the basic placement of apoA-I on the surfaces of HDL particles currently is reconstructed HDL disks and balls. The use of traditional spectrophotometry is possible because of the homogeneous nature of these preparations. The overall goal, however, has always been to understand the natural plasma form of HDL. Human plasma HDL is separated by density gradients, as described elsewhere.

Ultracentrifugation differs in almost all properties. Some of these properties include the composition of lipids, the composition of proteins, particle charge, particle shape, and particle size. This lack of uniformity does not include the utilization of conventional construction techniques. A good example is the studies related to circular dichroism of systems where apoA-I has presence in multiple conformations of a varied nature or in combination with some other apolipoprotein that averagely yields data that does not fit any particles present within the sample. In an attempt to make these particles simple like the particles containing only apoA-I and no apoA-II (LpA-I) by immunoseparation, the heterogeneity of formulation composition and size was used for information structure studies. Due to these reasons or factors, understanding the structure of HDL in actual plasma HDL particles is way behind that of forms that have been reconstituted. The utilization of mass spectrometry as a structural tool eventually broke this barrier. Even in the presence of many other proteins, the resolution and accuracy of these modern-day mass spectrometers can be used in the identification of crosslinks unique to a particular protein. This was used to investigate the five density subcomponents of the normal human plasma HDL drawn by the process of ultracentrifugation. To keep the particles as simple as possible, we mainly separated the particles that contained apoA-I. This suggests strongly that the general properties of the apoA-I structure are associated with various lipid-related morphologies of size, shape, and origin. The careful measurement of lipid/protein composition reveals that the size of each particle is in the range of 3-5 apoA-I molecules. In fact, an essential result of this study is the recognition that the surface of HDL particles is predominantly protein. A good example we determined is that apoA-I occupies 87% of the surface of LpA-13c particles. For the LpA-12b particles that are larger, this is reduced to 71%. This is consistent with compositional which apoA-I calculations, showed that accumulates more in native spheres than in typical recombinant particles.

Furthermore, it is recommended that HDL particle size be adjusted by resident apoA-I torsional motion, which is consistent with Segresto's laboratory MD studies. Through this model, apoA-I constitutes an 11 nm cage that stabilizes approximately 170 phospholipid molecules. The cross section shows the correct volume cavity with a CE and a TG measured in the core. These comprise the first molecular-scale models of the proposed native plasma HDL.

# References

- Gallthamadasa K et al (2010) Speciated human highdensity lipoprotein protein proximity profiles. Biochemistry 49:10656–10665. https://doi.org/10.1021/ bi1015452
- Massa G, Mulumba N, Ketelslegers JM, Maes M (1990) Initial characterization and sexual dimorphism of serum growth hormone-binding protein in adult

rats. Endocrinology 126:1976–1980. https://doi.org/ 10.1210/endo-126-4-1976

- Candiano G et al (2008) High-resolution 2-DE for resolving proteins, protein adducts and complexes in plasma. Electrophoresis 29:682–694. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/elps.200700537
- Franceschini G et al (2007) Effects of fenofibrate and simvastatin on HDL-related biomarkers in low-HDL patients. Atherosclerosis 195(38):5–391. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2006.10.017
- Gu F et al (2010) Structures of discoidal high density lipoproteins: a combined computational- experimental approach. J Biol Chem 285:4652–4665. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbcM109.069914
- Sheat JM, Peach RJ, George PM (1991) Rapid detection and initial characterization of genetic variants of human serum albumin. Clin Chem 37:1221–1224
- Jones MK et al (2010) Assessment of the validity of the double superhelix model for reconstituted high density lipoproteins: a combined computationalexperimental approach. J Biol Chem 285:41161– 41171. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.187799
- Sotelo AI, Partata WA, Marques M, Turyn D (1997) Identification and initial characterization of serum growth hormone binding protein in the turtle Chrysemys dorbigni. Arch Physiol Biochem 105: 167–174. https://doi.org/10.1076/apab.105.2.167. 12920
- Davidson WS, Hilliard GM (2003) The spatial organization of apolipoprotein A-I on the edge of discoidal high density lipoprotein particles: a mass spectrometry study. J Biol Chem 278:27199–27207. https://doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M302764200
- He Y, Greene DJ, Kinter M, Morton RE (2008) Control of cholesteryl ester transfer protein activity by sequestration of lipid transfer inhibitor protein in an inactive complex. J Lipid Res 49:529–1537. https:// doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M800087-JLR200
- Jones MK, Gu F, Catte A, Li L, Segrest JP (2011) "Sticky" and "promiscuous", the yin and yang of apolipoprotein A-I termini in discoidal high-density lipoproteins: a combined computational-experimental approach. Biochemistry 50:2249–2263. https://doi. org/10.1021/bi101301g
- Mei X, Atkinson D (2011) Crystal structure of C-terminal truncated apolipoprotein A-I reveals the assembly of high density lipoprotein (HDL) by dimerization. J Biol Chem 286:38570–38582. https://doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M111.260422
- James RW et al (1988) Protein heterogeneity of lipoprotein particles containing apolipoprotein A-I without apolipoprotein A-II and apolipoprotein A-I with apolipoprotein A-II isolated from human plasma. J Lipid Res 29:1557–1571
- Baenziger JU (2012) Moving the O-glycoproteome from form to function. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 109: 9672–9673. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1206735109
- Ohta T, Fidge NH, Nestel PJ (1985) Studies on the in vivo and in vitro distribution of apolipoprotein A-IV

in human plasma and lymph. J Clin Invest 76:1252–1260. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI112081

- Bisgaier CL, Sachdev OP, Megna L, Glickman RM (1985) Distribution of apolipoprotein A-IV in human plasma. J Lipid Res 26:11–25
- Green PH, Glickman RM, Riley JW, Quinet E (1980) Human apolipoprotein A-IV. Intestinal origin and distribution in plasma. J Clin Invest:65:911-9. https://doi. org/10.1172/JCI109745
- Bisgaier CL et al (1987) Effect of lecithin: cholesterol acyltransferase on distribution of apolipoprotein A-IV among lipoproteins of human plasma. J Lipid Res 28: 693–703
- van Heyningen C (2005) Bimonthly update. Lipid metabolism: apolipoprotein variations affecting lipid metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol 16:597–599. https:// doi.org/10.1097/01.mol.0000182105.06009.6c
- 20. Schjoldager KT et al (2012) Probing isoform-specific functions of polypeptide GalNAc-transferases using zinc finger nuclease glycol engineered simple cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:9893–9898. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1203563109
- Hatters DM, Peters-Libeu CA, Weisgraber KH (2006) Apolipoprotein E structure: insights into function. Trends Biochem Sci 31:445–454. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.tibs.2006.06.008
- 22. Colton HM et al (2011) An initial characterization of N-terminal-proatrial natriuretic peptide in serum of Sprague Dawley rats. Toxicol Sci 120:262–268. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfr003
- Ahnstrom J, Faber K, Axler O, Dahlback B (2007) Hydrophobic ligand binding properties of the human lipocalin apolipoprotein M. J Lipid Res 48:1754-17 62. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M700103-JLR200
- 24. Axler O, Ahnstrom J, Dahlback B (2007) An ELISA for apo lipoprotein M reveals a strong correlation to total cholesterol in human plasma. J Lipid Res 48: 1772–1780. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M700113-JLR200
- 25. Dalhlbadc B, Nielsen LB (2009) Apo lipoprote in M affecting lipid metabolism or just catching a ride with lipoproteins in the circulation? Cell Mol Life Sci 66: 559–564. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-009-8764-8
- 26. Kontush A, Lindahl M, Lhomme M et al (2015) Structure of HDL: particle subclasses and molecular components. Handb Exp Pharmacol 224:3–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-09665-0\_1
- 27. Miida T et al (2003) Analytical performance of a sandwich enzyme immunoassay for pre beta 1-HDL in stabilized plasma. J Lipid Res 44:645–650. https:// doi.org/10.1194/jlr.D200025-JLR200
- Hoshiba T, Yoshikawa C, Sakakibara K (2018) Characterization of initial cell adhesion on charged polymer substrates in serum-containing and serum-free media. Langmuir 34:4043–4051. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. langmuir.8b00233
- Roach JP et al (2009) Heme oxygenase-1 induction in macrophages by a hemoglobin-based oxygen carrier reduces endotoxin-stimulated cytokine secretion.

Shock 31:251–257. https://doi.org/10.1097/SHK. 0b013e3181834115

- Zibi YA et al (1993) Identification and initial characterization of pneumocystis carinii soluble antigens in rabbit serum and lung lavage. Eur J Protistol 29:246– 253. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0932-4739(11)80279-8
- 31. Cheung MC, Vaisar T, Han X, Heinecke JW, Albers JJ (2010) Phospholipid transfer protein in human plasma associates with proteins linked to immunity and inflammation. Biochemistry 49:7314–7322. https:// doi.org/10.1021/bi100359f
- 32. Kontush A, Chapman MJ (2010) Antiatherogenic function of HDL particle subpopulations: focus on antioxidative activities. Curr Opin Lipidol 21:312– 318. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL. 0b013e32833bcdc1
- 33. Chang J et al (2017) Initial in vitro functional characterization of serum exosomal microRNAs from patients with metastatic basal cell carcinoma. Br J Dermatol 177:el87–el90. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd. 15508
- 34. Argraves KM et al (2011) S1P, dihydro-SIP and C24: 1-ceramide levels in the HDL-containing fraction of serum inversely correlate with occurrence of ischemic heart disease. Lipids Health Dis 10:70. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1476-511X-10-70
- 35. Lipina C, Hundal HS (2011) Sphingolipids: agents provocateurs in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance. *Diabetologia* 54:1596–1607. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00125-011-2127-3
- 36. Wu Z et al (2011) The low resolution structure of ApoA1 in spherical high density lipoprotein revealed by small angle neutron scattering. J Biol Chem 286: 12495–12508. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110. 209130
- 37. Shah AS, Tan L, Long JL, Davidson WS (2013) Proteomic diversity of high density lipoproteins: our emerging understanding of its importance in lipid transport and beyond. J Lipid Res 54:2575–2585. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R035725
- Asztalos BF et al (2007) Role of LCAT in HDL remodeling: investigation of LCAT deficiency states. J Lipid Res 48:592–599. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr. M600403-JLR200
- Atkinson D, Davis MA, Leslie RB (1974) The structure of a high density lipoprotein (HDL3) from porcine plasma. Proc R SocLand B Biol Sci 186:165–180. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1974.0044
- 40. Bhat S, Sorci-Thomas MG, Alexander ET, Samuel MP, Thomas MJ (2005) Intermolecular contact between globular N-terminal fold and C-terminal domain of ApoA-1 stabilizes its lipid-bound conformation: studies employing chemical cross-linking and mass spectrometry. J Biol Chem 280:33015–33025. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M505081200
- 41. Shao B (2012) Site-specific oxidation of apolipoprotein A-1 impairs cholesterol export by ABCA1, a key cardioprotective function of HDL. Biochim Biophys

Acta 1821:490–501. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip. 2011.11.011

42. Zhang L, Song J, Cavigiolio G, Ishida BY, Zhang S, Kane JP, Weisgraber KH, Oda MN, Rye KA, Pownall HJ, Ren G (2011) Morphology and structure of lipoproteins revealed by an optimized negativestaining protocol of electron microscopy. J Lipid Res 52(1):175–184. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.D010959. Epub 2010 Oct 26. PMID: 20978167; PMCID: PMC2999936

43. Zhou W, Ross MM, Tessitore A, Ornstein D, Vanmeter A, Liotta LA, Petricoin EF 3rd. (2009) An initial characterization of the serum phosphoproteome. J Proteome Res 8(12):5523–5531. https://doi.org/10. 1021/pr900603n. PMID: 19824718; PMCID: PMC2789176



# HDL and Cholesterol Ester Transfer Protein (CETP)

Siying Deng, Jiewen Liu, and Chenguang Niu

# Abstract

Cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP) is important clinically and is one of the major targets in cardiovascular disease studies. With high conformational flexibility, its tunnel structure allows unforced movement of highdensity lipoproteins (HDLs), VLDLs, and LDLs. Research in reverse cholesterol transports (RCT) reveals that the regulation of CETP activity can change the concentration of cholesteryl esters (CE) in HDLs, VLDLs, and LDLs. These molecular insights demonstrate the mechanisms of CETP activities and manifest the correlation between CETP and HDL. However, animal and cell experiments focused on CETP give controversial results. Inhibiting CETP is found to be beneficial to anti-atherosclerosis in terms of increasing plasma HDL-C, while it is also claimed that

e-mail: asdncg@henu.edu.cn

CETP weakens atherosclerosis formation by promoting RCT. Currently, the CETP-related drugs are still immature. Research on CETP inhibitors is targeted at improving efficacy and minimizing adverse reactions. As for CETP agonists, research has proved that they also can be used to resist atherosclerosis.

### Keywords

Cholesterol ester transfer protein · Antiatherosclerosis · Reverse cholesterol transport · CETP inhibitor · CETP agonists

# 2.1 Introduction

Cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP) is a hydrophobic glycoprotein that mediates the bidirectional transfer of cholesterol esters (CEs) and triglycerides (TGs) between plasma lipoproteins in the process of cholesterol reverse transport (RCT). Since CE generally stems from HDLs and TG enters the plasma as a component of VLDLs, CETP activity results in a net mass transfer of CE from HDLs to VLDLs and LDLs, and of TG from VLDLs to LDLs and HDLs [1].

According to observational studies, the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) is reduced by about 2-3% for every 1-mg/dL increment in high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C). The potential significance of the view is to point out that the HDL-C level in plasma is a reliable

S. Deng

Beijing Tiantan Hospital, China National Clinical Research Center for Neurological Diseases, Advanced Innovation Center for Human Brain Protection, The Capital Medical University, Beijing, China e-mail: 112020020521@mail.ccmu.edu.cn

J. Liu

McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada e-mail: jiewen.liu@mail.mcgill.ca

C. Niu (🖂)

Key Laboratory of Clinical Resources Translation, First Affiliated Hospital, Henan University, Kaifeng, Henan, China

 $<sup>{\</sup>rm (}{\rm C}$  Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), *HDL Metabolism and Diseases*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_2

biomarker for the ability of HDL particles to mediate RCT [2]. In early epidemiological studies and clinical trials, a negative correlation between HDL-C levels and cardiovascular (CV) events has been observed, indicating that low HDL-C levels are recognized as independent risk factors for coronary heart disease [2–4]. Therefore, drug therapies targeting HDL-C levels in plasma, such as CETP inhibitors, emerge with the growing needs of CV health. Regulating CETP activity, as it can directly affect HDL-C levels in plasma and control the occurrence and development of cardiovascular diseases, has become a hot spot in anti-atherosclerotic therapy over the past decades.

However, it has been recently reported that HDL-C levels cannot fully reflect the overall abundance of HDL particles in plasma, the distribution subspecies, or the of HDL ability of HDL-mediated RCT [5, 6]. There is also a lack of correlation between CVD risk and HDL-C levels commonly measured in intervention trials. The biological significance of HDL-C levels might be overamplified. Indeed, some studies have pointed out that although the HDL-C concentration is negatively correlated with CVD and mortality within a specific concentration range, excessively high HDL-C levels may adversely affect the mortality of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease [7-9]. These findings show that it is unreliable to evaluate the impact of HDL on CVD only from its plasma levels. Data from human genetic researches [10] and the negative results of clinical trials of a large number of CETP-targeted inhibitors have escalated the controversy over the HDL hypothesis. But the altercation should not negate solid experimental evidence manifesting that one of the primary functions of HDL particles is to mediate RCT. When the controversy is approaching, it is also an opportunity for scientists to further investigate the mechanism in order to revise and improve the HDL hypothesis.

This chapter describes the structure of CETP, its mechanism of action, and how CETP regulates HDL-C level under physiological conditions. Progress in research on the relationship between HDL and CETP expression levels in experiments and the results of clinical trials of drugs targeting CETP are summarized.

# 2.2 Structural and Functional Features of CETP

The human CETP gene is located on chromosome 16, and the gene fragment is about 25 bp, containing 16 exons and 15 introns, similar to the LCAT gene locus [11]. The gene is mainly expressed in the liver, spleen, adipose tissue, heart, kidney, adrenal gland, and small intestine. Human plasma mature CETP is a hydrophobic glycoprotein composed of 476 amino acids with high lipophilicity, of which crystal structure observed under an electron microscope has the shape of a flyer.

In vitro, kinetic data show that HDLs, VLDLs, and LDLs regularly exchange in the hydrophobic channels within CETP through the shuttle mechanism or ping-pong mechanism and complete the transformation from HDLs to VLDLs and LDLs [12–14].

In 2007, Qiu et al. [13] constructed the structural model of CETP and pointed out that CETP has a tunnel structure with four structural components:

- The N-terminal β-bucket region.
- The C-terminal β-bucket region.
- The central  $\beta$ -fold.
- The C-terminal extension (the C-terminal involves the twisted amphiphilic helix of Glu465-Ser476, i.e., the helix X).

The structure model demonstrates that CETP is able to hold two neutral lipids (which can be either two cholesterol esters, one cholesterol ester and one triglyceride, or two triglycerides) and two phospholipids on specific binding sites. The tunnel openings of the N-terminal domain and the C-terminal domain are each covered by a phospholipid. The tunnel allows neutral lipids to run through their entire length rather than stay in two separate pockets [15]. Zhang et al. [16] found that CETP connects high-density lipoprotein and low-density lipoprotein to form a ternary complex. The N-terminal β-Barrel domain is inserted into the surface lipid monolayer of high-density lipoprotein. Ternary complexes' structural characteristics the "tunneling support

mechanism" of CETP transferring neutral lipids between different lipoproteins. Lei et al. [17, 18] used molecular dynamics simulations to study CETP. The distal flexibility of the N-terminal  $\beta$ -Barrel domain in solution is much greater than that in crystals. It can penetrate to the surface of high-density lipoprotein, thus promoting the absorption of cholesterol esters. Under the action of a series of driving forces, the hydrophobic tunnel inside the CETP is sufficient to allow the CE molecule to pass through the whole CETP in the predicted transport time. The simulated transport rate is similar to that of physiological measurements [19]. Parallel studies using microsecond-scale coarse-grained molecular dynamics simulations also show that CETP has a high degree of conformational flexibility and can form a continuous tunnel across its long axis without additional driving force, through which CEs and TGs can be directionally transferred [20].

# 2.3 CETP and Reverse Cholesterol Transport (RCT)

The anti-atherosclerotic effect of HDL makes it an essential cardiovascular protective factor. Typically, HDL has a variety of anti-atherosclerotic biological activities, such as promoting RCT, reducing the oxidative modification of LDL by oxidative free radicals, inhibiting the pathological remodeling of chronic inflammation on the artewall, improving endothelial function, rial repairing endothelial cell, anti-thrombosis, antiapoptosis, anti-diabetes, and anti-infection [21-24]. Each of these mechanisms may play an imperative role in HDL-mediated cardiovascular disease protection. Particularly, its ability to promote RCT is considered to be the key to tackling atherosclerosis. HDL can be regarded as both a cellular cholesterol receptor and a cholesterol carrier in the RCT pathway. RCT is an indispensable step in the transformation of plasma HDL. Controlling the biological process has а far-reaching effect on anti-atherosclerosis. In the RCT pathway, as one of the critical proteins in the modification of HDL, it has been clear that the regulation of CETP activity can further change the level of plasma HDL-C.

Cholesterol exists in all mammalian cells, with the highest concentration in the plasma membrane and the lowest in the endoplasmic reticulum(ER) membrane. A steady-state of cholesterol in cells is vital for normal cell functions. RCT refers to the process in which cholesterol moves out from the cells of peripheral tissue (including foam cells in atherosclerotic plaques), enters the circulation, and is excreted out of the body with feces. Cholesterol extracted from human peripheral cells enters the liver through RCT in two pathways: (1) the direct way is the interaction between HDL and scavenger receptor B1 (SR-B1) on the surface of hepatocytes, (2) the indirect way is mediated by CETP. Cholesterol is converted between HDLs, LDLs, VLDLs, and finally enters hepatocytes. CE is hydrolyzed in the liver, and free cholesterol is either converted into bile acid or transported into bile by ABCG5 and ABCG8 and then excreted into feces [25].

The indirect way of RCT mainly includes three steps. Firstly, nascent HDL can obtain free fatty acid (FC) from extrahepatic tissue cells through two methods: (1) passive diffusion of fatty acids; (2) cholesterol outflow through ABCA1 and ABCG1 transporters on the cell membrane. The second step is that the lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase (LACT), activated by Apo-AI on the surface of HDL, transforms FC into cholesterol ester into the core of HDL, and the nascent HDL is transformed into HDL<sub>3</sub> with higher density and smaller particles. Under the mediation of CETP, phospholipid transporter (PTP), and other proteins, about 80% of esterified cholesterol esters are transferred from HDL to VLDL and LDL, 20% the core of HDL. At the same time, TG is transferred from VLDL to HDL core, which causes HDL to change from HDL<sub>3</sub> with small particles to  $HDL_2$  with large particles. CE enters the core of VLDL and further forms LDL to complete TG and CE redistribution between lipoproteins. Finally, HDL is degraded in the liver [26–28]. There are two main ways of degradation of LDL formed in this process: (1) to bind to the LDLR on the surface of hepatocytes to enter intracellular catabolism, (2) to be swallowed by monocytes-macrophages. If plasma LDL is pathologically oxidized, it can be consumed by macrophages and vascular smooth muscle cells to form foam cells, which gradually accumulate and lead to atherosclerotic lesions.

In sum, it can be seen that regulating CETP activity to control these lipid transfers governs the concentration of CE in HDLs, VLDLs, and LDLs, and ultimately affects the formation of foam cells.

# 2.4 The Inconclusive Effect of CETP on Atherosclerosis

Species lacking CETP, such as rodents, are considered to be immune to arterial disease, and the plasma contains high HDL [29, 30]. Early epidemiological cohort studies revealed an increase of HDL-C levels and a decrease of LDL-C levels in patients with CETP deficiency, whose lipoprotein profile has potential anti-atherosclerotic effects [31, 32]. These findings boost the development of CETP inhibitors. Nonetheless, a comprehensive analysis of animal experiments and cell experiments conducted among different species indicates that whether reducing CETP can reduce atherosclerosis occurrence is still controversial. The impact of CETP gene regulation on blood lipid levels and cardiovascular diseases remains to be determined in the future.

# 2.4.1 Inhibition of CETP Activity Is Beneficial to Anti-Atherosclerosis

The difference between rodents and humans is the lack of CETP genes. Accordingly, to use rodents to study the mechanism of CETP function, transgenic models must be constructed. Marotti KR et al. [33] bred transgenic C57BL/6 mice expressing different levels of CETP in crab-eating monkeys and fed a high-fat diet with C57BL/6 mice (no CETP activity), UCTP-45 (low CETP activity), and UCTP-20 (high CETP activity) mice, respectively. Compared with wild-type mice, UCTP-45 and UCTP-20 mice showed

lower levels of plasma HDL-C and Apo-AI and aggravated aortic atherosclerosis, suggesting that CETP may have an atherogenic effect. Compared with low-activity UCTP-45 mice, the degree of proximal atherosclerosis in high-activity UCTP-20 mice increased, and the results showed that CETP expression level was positively correlated with atherogenic lesions. Plump et al. [34] crossed the human CETP transgene into the classic atherosclerosis model Apo- $E^{-/-}$  mice and  $LDLR^{-/-}$  mice and fed them with a high-fat diet. The results indicated that CETP expression led to a moderate increase of atherosclerosis in Apo- $E^{-/-}$  and LDLR<sup>-/-</sup> mice. It suggested that CETP activity played an atherogenic role in the metabolic environment of severely damaged  $(LDLR^{-/-})$  clearance of residues  $(Apo-E^{-/-})$ or LDL.

Apo E\*3-Leiden transgenic mice are also a classic hyperlipidemia animal model. The target gene Apo E\*3-Leiden (a variant of Apo E3) was microinjected into the male pronuclei of fertilized eggs with the same genetic background (C57BL/ 6JxCBA/J). The transgenic mice were mated with C57BL/6 J mice to produce transgenic mice. This mouse model of hyperlipidemia and AS can be employed to investigate the influence of environmental factors and genetic factors on hyperlipidemia (HLP). It can be used to screen blood lipid regulating drugs and anti-AS drugs as well. This transgenic mouse is highly prone to hyperlipidemia and AS induced by a high-fat diet (or even a low-fat diet). This model has a significant advantage in studying the relationship between serum TC exposure and AS area. Westerterp et al. [35] evaluated the effect of expressing human CETP on atherosclerosis in Apo E\*3-Leiden (E3L) mice using a humanized lipoprotein map. They hybridized E3L mice with human CETP transgenic mice and fed E3L mice (control group) as well as CETP.E3L mice (experimental group) with the western diet containing 0.25% cholesterol. The results displayed that the expression of CETP in E3L mice strengthened cholesterol transfer from high-density lipoprotein (HDL) to very-low-density lipoprotein/low-density lipoprotein (VLDL/LDL) and decreased plasmamediated SR-BI-dependent cholesterol efflux. This implied CETP was an apparent atherogenic factor in E3L mice. And they expected that CETP.E3L mice would become a valuable model for preclinical evaluation of elevated high-density lipoprotein intervention in atherosclerotic progression.

Because it is necessary to model complex diseases in different species, there are also preliminary studies in other rodents such as rats. To explore the direct effect of CETP on HDL structure and composition in vivo, Zak et al. [36] expressed CETP in Fisher rats to produce CETP transgenic rats, a new CETP-Tg rat strain. In contrast to other previously reported animal models for CETP transgene (including C57BL/6 mice and Dahl rats [37]), Fisher rats have higher plasma levels of large-sized HDL<sub>1</sub>. They fed the rats with typical food. The results showed that compared with the control group, the plasma HDL-C level of the experimental group was significantly reduced by 48%. Among different plasma high-density lipoprotein subgroups,  $HDL_1$  decreased the most. In this study, continuous expression of varying levels of CETP in Fisher rats with high HDL<sub>1</sub> can comprehensively and physiologically reflect the effect of CETP on HDL. Moreover, Zak et al. [38] constructed a CETP transgenic rat model, and rats were fed with a standard diet, high-fat diet, and a highsugar diet, respectively. Consequently, CETP had different effects on lipoprotein profiles under different diets. Compared with wild-type rats, the HDL-C concentration of transgenic rats fed with a standard diet was lower, but the concentration of non-HDL-C was similar. The levels of total cholesterol and non-HDL-C in wild and transgenic rats fed with a high-fat diet increased substantially but did not affect CETP expression. Compared with wild-type rats fed with sugar, the sugar diet only increased the non-HDL-C of transgenic rats by 82% and reduced HDL cholesterol by 80%. It is suggested that the effect of CETP on lipid metabolism may be different due to different basic blood lipids.

Unlike rodents, rabbits have CETP gene. Their plasma CETP activity is higher than that of humans, and the characteristics and metabolism of lipoproteins are similar to those of humans. It is an ideal model to study the inhibitory effect of CETP, and the results are consistent. Zhang et al. [39] obtained CETP<sup>-/-</sup> rabbits by zinc finger nuclease gene-editing technique and fed them a high cholesterol diet. Compared with wild-type rabbits, plasma HDL-C levels increased, and aortic and coronary atherosclerosis were significantly alleviated in CETP<sup>-/-</sup> rabbits. In addition to CETP gene knockout, previous studies also inhibited the content and activity of CETP in rabbits by injecting CETP antisense oligodeoxynucleotide [40] or CETP vaccine [41] aimed at the liver or by applying small molecule inhibitor [42, 43]. The results proved that the level of plasma HDL-C in the experimental group was higher than that in the control group, and the atherosclerotic lesions were alleviated.

Other animal models of atherosclerosis include zebrafish, miniature pigs, dogs, etc. In recent years, zebrafish have gradually become a model animal suitable for studying atherosclerosis because of its unique physiological advantages. Zebrafish possess a set of genes related to lipid metabolism that are conservative and highly similar to humans. Its lipoprotein distribution is parallel to that of humans and is sensitive to high-fat foods. It is crucial that zebrafish also have CETP genes.

For this reason, zebrafish can be an ideal model for lipid metabolism and atherogenesis research [44-46]. Jin et al. [47] used highcholesterol zebrafish to analyze and test the antiatherosclerotic activity in vitro and in vivo on water extracts of ground pepper, cinnamon, rosemary, ginger, and cloves. As a result, cinnamon or clove extracts affect CETP. The inhibitory effect is concentration-dependent, showing blood lipid-lowering activity. The study also demonstrated that hydrophilic components of cincloves show effective namon and antiatherosclerosis and anti-diabetes abilities by preventing Apo-AI glycosylation and LDL phagocytosis, inhibiting CETP, and lowering blood lipid activity. Kim et al. [48] studied the molecular mechanism of human cellular atherosclerosis and senescence induced by HDL in zebrafish model through the modification and dysfunction of CdCl<sub>2</sub> and the changes in embryo survival rate, plasma lipoprotein profile, CETP activity, and fatty liver. Cadmium can be ingested and inhaled through smoking, so it is easy to interact with lipoprotein, making this modification directly related to the production of dysfunctional high-density lipoprotein. CETP activity in each group fed with  $CdCl_2$  was higher than that in the control group and damaged the beneficial function of HDL, resulting in a loss of antioxidant, anti-atherosclerotic, and anti-aging activities.

Over the past few years, cellular studies in vitro have found that CETP promotes atherosclerosis by enhancing cellular inflammation and lipid metabolism. Zhang et al. [49] performed immunohistochemical analysis on the expression of CETP in human atherosclerotic lesions. In their study, CETP was expressed massively in foam cells of human aorta and coronary atherosclerotic lesions but not in normal arterial walls. Foam cells in lesions are mainly derived from macrophages. Studies have suggested that CETP may enhance cellular inflammatory response, thereby promoting the formation of atherosclerotic lesions.

Furthermore, Gao et al. [50] bred transgenic rabbits overexpressing the human CETP gene to detect the effect of CETP on atherosclerosis development and fed them with a high cholesterol diet. The number of macrophages in atherosclerotic lesions of CETP transgenic rabbits significantly increased, representing that CETP overexpression can increase inflammatory response and increase the accumulation of macrophage-derived foam cells in atherosclerotic lesions, thus promoting atherosclerosis. It is still unclear whether CETP encourages the accumulation of macrophage-derived foam cells in atherosclerotic lesions by inhibiting cholesterol efflux from macrophages yet, and other molecular mechanisms need to be studied. To further clarify the role of CETP in cell lipid metabolism, Izem et al. [51] used plasmid transfection to overexpress full-length CETP in liposarcoma cells SW872 stably. Compared with the control lipid dynamics group, was consequently disrupted by CETP overexpression: balanced, intracellular triglycerides were reduced, and

smaller, more metabolically active lipid droplets were formed in the cell. This also suggests that CETP may cause abnormal blood lipid metabolism in the body, thereby promoting atherosclerosis.

# 2.4.2 The "Self-Contradictory" Anti-Atherosclerotic Effect of CETP

However, some studies have found that CETP may have an anti-atherosclerotic effect. Foger et al. [52] hybridized LCAT transgenic mice with CETP transgenic mice and gave them a high-fat diet. The results showed that the plasma HDL-C level of the hybrid group was lower. The average aortic lesion area was 41% less than that of simple LCAT transgenic mice, suggesting that CETP has an anti-atherosclerotic effect. Besides, Hildebrand et al. [53] introduced the human CETP gene into SR-B1<sup>-/-</sup> mice and given a high-fat diet to explore whether CETP can normalize HDL-C transport and reduce atherosclerosis in  $SR-B1^{-/-}$  mice. The results revealed that CETP could restore HDL-C levels in SR-B1<sup>-/-</sup> mice and partially normalize abnormally large HDL particles but did not change the susceptibilother ity and typical atherosclerosis characteristics associated with SR-B1 deletion.

# 2.4.3 Further Analysis of the Relationship Between CETP and Atherosclerosis by Human Gene Research

In the past years, observational studies have shown that HDL-C level is negatively correlated with the risk of myocardial infarction, while LDL-C is positively correlated. However, observational studies cannot determine the causality and underlying pathophysiological signs in the pathological process. These two aspects can be distinguished in humans by changes in cholesterol components or genetic DNA variation in large-scale randomized trials [10].

Nomura et al. [54] tested whether the Protein-Truncating Variants (PTV) at the CETP gene was associated with blood lipid levels and coronary heart disease. PTV carriers of CETP manifested higher HDL-C, lower LDL-C, lower triglycerides, and lower risk of coronary heart disease than non-carriers. Although SNP that reduces CETP expression or impairs its function may play a role through changes in LDL-C or non-HDL-C, the CETP mutation itself does not affect coronary heart disease risk. Still, it is closely related to the degree of reduction of LDL-C. Iwanicka et al. [55] examined whether CETP gene polymorphisms (rs1532624, rs247616, and rs708272) were associated with coronary heart disease (CAD) in the Polish population. Blood lipid levels and single nucleotide polymorphism of the CETP gene were detected in 494 premature infants with coronary heart disease (CHD) and 246 blood donors (control group). In this cross-sectional study, the CETP gene rs247616 and rs1532624 polymorphisms might regulate coronary heart disease risk in the Polish population. Vargas et al. [56] assessed whether CETP and LCAT gene polymorphisms were statistically associated with an HDL size distribution, HDL subclass cholesterol levels, or acute coronary syndrome (ACS) susceptibility. They analyzed two polymorphisms in the CETP gene (rs4783961 and rs708272) and one polymorphism in the LCAT gene (Rs2292318) in 619 ACS patients and 607 normal controls. Studies have confirmed that the CETP Taq1 BA5454G (Rs708272) polymorphism of the CETP gene is associated with an increased risk of ACS. It is also possible to distinguish a haplotype (AGA) associated with an increased risk of developing ACS. On the other hand, LCAT A21892G (Rs2292318) and CETP Tag1 BA5454G (Rs708272) gene polymorphisms are statistically significant with lower cholesterol levels in specific HDL subclasses.

# 2.5 Application of CETP-Related Drugs Therapy

Lipid-lowering therapy is the preferred strategy for the treatment of cardiovascular disease in clinical application. Statins are hydroxymethyl glutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors, which can considerably reduce LDL-C. But many patients are still experiencing cardiovascular events. This residual risk highlights the need to develop additional treatment strategies for high-risk patients. According to the results of animal and cell experiments and the randomized Mendelian analysis of CETP gene polymorphism, the effect of CETP level on atherosclerosis has not been determined. Although clinical trial results of four CETP inhibitors are not ideal, they are still hot new drugs for anti-atherosclerotic therapy. What's more, the researches on CETP agonists are also in full swing.

# 2.5.1 Animal Experiments and Clinical Trials of CETP Inhibitors

Since the advent of CETP inhibitors, after continuous improvement of the structural formula, there are four major kinds of targeted inhibitors of CETP: neutralizing antibodies, antisense oligodeoxynucleotides, vaccines, and small molecular inhibitors. And four small molecular inhibitors have completed phase 3 clinical trials. They have been systematically evaluated respectively, but the performance of all compounds in reducing the risk of cardiovascular events is not satisfactory. The correlation between plasma HDL-C levels and the incidence of CVD needs to be further verified.

Zhang et al. [15] explored the mechanism of CETP inhibitors and observed a significant increase in CETP binding to HDL induced by inhibitors (from ~9.9% to ~50.5%). Like HDL, inhibitors significantly increased the binding rate of CETP to LDL (from ~12.9% to ~21.8%). Unexpectedly, inhibitors increased CETP binding

to each type of lipoprotein (HDL or LDL, to form binary complexes), but did not increase CETP binding to these two types of lipoproteins (forming ternary complexes), which reduced the formation of ternary complexes. The efficiency of Torcetrapib in lowering the proportion of CETP ternary complex is similar to that of Anacetrapib, and they are higher than that of Dalcetrapib. These effects seem to be consistent with the corresponding degree of lipid regulation effectiveness observed in large clinical trials.

ILLUMINATE trial [7] assessed the benefits of CETP inhibitor Torcetrapib in patients with ACS and moderate cardiovascular risk of stroke. The evaluation results give that HDL-C increased by 72.1% compared to the baseline, and LDL-C decreased by 24.9%. However, the trial was terminated prematurely due to the increased risk of death and cardiac events in patients treated with Torcetrapib. Now it is generally believed that the reason may be related to the off-target effect of Torcetrapib, which can lead to an increase of systolic blood pressure, a significant growth of corticosteroids, and a decrease of serum potassium. The subsequent Dal-OUTCOMES trial [57] evaluated whether Dalcetrapib could benefit ACS patients. As a result, Dalcetrapib had no noticeable off-target effect. The plasma HDL-C level in the experimental group increased. Yet it could not reduce the risk of cardiovascular events and was terminated precipitately, which might be related to the relatively weak effect of Dalcetrapib. ACCELERATE trial [58] evaluated the efficacy and safety of Evacetrapib in patients at high risk of cardiovascular diseases such as ACS and cerebrovascular atherosclerotic disease. Although Evacetrapib significantly increased HDL-C levels, decreased LDL-C levels, and enhanced cellular cholesterol outflow capacity, Evacetrapib treatment did not reduce cardiovascular events and had an early termination of a small number subjects and short follow-up of time [59]. REVEAL trial [60], the only test with positive results, included 30,449 adult patients with atherosclerotic vascular disease receiving intensive Atorvastatin. During the median follow-up period of 4.1 years, the average HDL-C of the Anacetrapib group was 104% higher than that of the placebo. Still, the intermediate level of non-HDL-C was 18% lower. The average level of apolipoprotein B was 18% lower than that of the placebo, and the average level of lipoprotein (A) was 25% lower than that of the placebo. Major endpoint events, including coronary artery death, myocardial infarction, or coronary revascularization, were 10.8% in the Anacertrapib group and 11.8% in the placebo group. Despite these results, Merck decided not to continue to ask regulators to approve Anacetrapib. That is probably because of the long persistence of the drug in blood and adipose tissue [61]. The newly reported CETP inhibitor is TA-8995. During the 12-week treatment alone, LDL-C decreased by 45%, and HDL-Mel C levels increased by 180%. But in order to seek a more accurate judgment on its effectiveness, a cardiovascular clinical outcome trial is needed to determine whether these effects translate into reduced ASCVD events [62].

It can be deduced that in the future, the development of CETP inhibitors is to reduce the molecular weight and fat solubility while maintaining the activity. Moderate lipophilicity and appropriate molecular weight of inhibitors are conducive to further structural optimization and drug efficacy, and this method can minimize missed targets and adverse reactions [63]. Some studies have pointed out that the cardiovascular effect of CETP inhibitors in the REVEAL trial may reduce non-HDL-C levels [64].

In comparison with the clinical trials, the positive effects of CETP inhibitors in animal experiments are more apparent. In recent years, the synthesized small molecule CETP inhibitor K-312 increases HDL-C and inhibits the proprotein convertase subtilisin 9. Compared with CETP inhibitors such as Anacetrapib and Evacetrapib, its efficacy is more robust. Miyosawa et al. [65] fed the rabbits with a highfat diet. The research showed that K-312 could increase HDL-C, lower LDL-C, and reduce aortic atherosclerosis. Brodeur et al. [66] studied the effects of two CETP inhibitors Dalcetrapib and Anacetrapib, on the distribution of serum HDL particles and cholesterol efflux in rabbits and monkeys. In rabbits, CETP increased HDL-C and increased ABCA1-induced cholesterol efflux. While Anacetrapib generated similar results in horsetail monkeys, Dalcetrapib had an opposite effect, as LDL-C levels rose by 42% and HDL-C levels fell by 48% (<0.01). Adverse effects of Dalcetrapib in different species indicate that its impact on HDL metabolism may vary greatly depending on the metabolic environment. To determine whether CETP inhibition has different effects due to obesity, Lin et al. [67] applied short-term Anacetrapib treatment on CETP transgenic mice fed with a high-fat diet. Anacetrapib increased HDL-C levels, improved HDL function, including reverse cholesterol transport, and had better antioxidant capacity in high-fat-fed mice than in chow diet-fed mice. Anacetrapib decreased the anti-inflammatory ability of HDL in fed mice. The HDL proteome of HFD mice treated with Anacetrapib was distinct from that of chow-fed mice. Although it is beneficial to HDL, anacetrapib leads to triglyceride accumulation and insulin resistance in the liver of high fat-fed mice. Overall, their findings support the physiological importance of CETP in protecting the fatty liver and suggest that background selectivity for CETP inhibition may be necessary for obese subjects.

# 2.5.2 Research Progress of CETP Agonists

The CETP pathway can also be activated by reagents such as probucol which, however, was initially labeled as an antioxidant. Probucol is very hydrophobic. In plasma, probucol is generally carried by low-density lipoprotein, and its single oral absorption is limited and changeable. After chronic administration, the steady-state plasma level was reached a few months later. Probucol is retained in fatty tissue, and the concentration in adipose tissue is 100 times higher than that in plasma [68].

Early studies have shown that probucol in low-density lipoprotein can delay the beginning of lipid oxidation, which can contribute to antiatherosclerosis [69]. The preventive effect of probucol on the progression of atherosclerosis was preliminarily determined by the study of WHHL rabbits. In the experiment, the drug had an impressive delaying impact on aortic atherosclerosis development in cholesterol-fed rabbits [70]. It has been proved that the antiatherosclerotic properties of probucol can be attributed to many molecular mechanisms, i.e., promoting the formation of pre-low-fat HDL 1-β involved in cellular cholesterol efflux, improving PON1 activity, and increasing cholesterol efflux by activating CETP and liver SR-B1 to promote RCT, thereby reducing HDL-C levels [71-75]. Probucol-increased CETP could accelerate CE from HDL to form small cholesterol ester deficient HDL, with strong cholesterol removal ability.

Additionally, probucol may increase the expression of SR-B1 protein through speciesspecific protein stabilization [74, 76]. Probucol significantly antagonized the decrease of liver SR-B1 after a high cholesterol diet, increased liver HDL-CE uptake by two times, and reduced atherosclerosis. Yamamoto et al. [77] researched on wild-type and SR-B1 KO mice fed with a 0.5% probucol diet and regular diet. In wildtype mice, probucol reduced HDL-C by more than 80% but maintained macrophage RCT. In gene knockout mice, probucol not only massively decreased HDL-C but also considerably increased macrophage RCT. In addition, probucol significantly increased the excretion of HDL-C in feces of wild type and SR-B1 knockout mice. It can be concluded that the positive effect of probucol on CETP is only one of its anti-atherosclerotic mechanisms. At present, there are still a few agonists that simply target CETP to resist atherosclerosis.

## 2.5.3 Reasonable Regulation of HDL

In addition to HDL-C levels, in recent years, many studies have shown that other characteristics of HDL, such as its structure, subtype distribution, and levels, can influence the HDL-mediated RCT pathway. It is reported by Nanab et al. [78] that Apo-A1, the main constituent protein of HDL, can be destroyed by mechanisms such as oxidation. The oxidation process could reduce the proteins mediating cholesterol efflux in HDL, affecting its cholesterol efflux ability. Simultaneously, other types of HDL proteins can also be affected by oxidative environments such as acute stress. Changes in the composition of these proteins can significantly vary the anti-atherosclerotic properties of HDL. Khera et al. [79] found that cholesterol efflux from macrophages was slightly better at predicting coronary heart disease than HDL-C (odds ratio, 0.75 vs. 0.85). They believed that the heterogeneity of high-density lipoprotein in particle size, charge, and protein composition makes HDL-C levels a deficient substitute for cholesterol outflow, reducing the predictive value of HDL-C in carotid intima-media thickness and coronary heart disease. Williams et al. [80] investigated the relationship between lipoprotein subfractions and CHD and pointed out that HDL<sub>2</sub> plasma levels had the most significant reduction in coronary heart disease risk among all HDL particles. Besides, macrophage cholesterol efflux is positively correlated with HDL<sub>2</sub> concentration but has nothing to do with plasma total HDL concentration [81]. Hence, it is instructive to observe the effect of plasma  $HDL_2$  level on coronary heart disease and determine the relationship between cholesterol efflux capacity and carotid intima-media thickness.

HDL-C 's Mendelian randomized (MR) trial also showed a neutral event between plasma HDL-C levels and coronary heart disease risk [82]. A more comprehensive assessment of the potential relationship between a given biomarker and cardiovascular risk is to be conducted in order to further develop expensive drugs. Before starting clinical development, genetic research should be more integrated to provide further assurance [83].

# 2.6 Conclusion

CETP is a hydrophobic glycoprotein with high lipophilicity. The "tunneling mechanism" realizes CE and TG conversion between HDLs, LDLs, and VLDLs and completes the redistribution. The vital relationship between CETP and lipoproteins such as HDL and LDL is an essential target for anti-atherosclerotic therapy in academia.

Over the years, scientists have conducted animal experiments, cell experiments in different species, and several population studies. Recently, they have explored CETP and have also analyzed the relationship between CETP gene polymorphism, but the results are controversial. On the one hand, some studies have shown that inhibiting CETP to increase plasma HDL-C levels can have an anti-atherosclerotic effect. On the other hand, some studies support that CETP weakens atherosclerosis formation by promoting RCT, so increasing CETP can also be beneficial. This may be caused by the heterogeneity of lipoprotein, the complex mechanism of reverse cholesterol transport, different animal genetic backgrounds, different blood lipid baselines, etc.

As a result, the state of CETP inhibitors and agonists is still a mystery. Although CETP antagonism led to a significant reduction in CV events in some major long-term studies, the tests of many other inhibitors were aborted accidentally. Besides, the only drug whose CV results are positive, Anacetrapib is accompanied by excessive persistence in the blood, especially in tissues. Hence it is considered unsuitable for further clinical development. Given that current inhibitors only inhibit the formation of ternary complexes, it is worth noting whether the development of a new generation of CETP inhibitors can reduce the rate of binary and ternary complexes among HDL, LDL, etc. and make CETP more effective in atherosclerotic protection [15]. While Probucol encounters barriers in some countries, it is prevalent in eastern countries, leading to an increase in CETP activity and the decrease of HDL-C. However, probucol treatment is also associated with its impressive ability to clear cholesterol ester deposits and reduce interleukin-1  $\beta$  in tissues. Probucol remains an effective way to prevent CV, and the potential development of its analogs is promising.

To sum up, the field of CETP pharmacology remains open, and additional data, such as data

from the ongoing Dalcetrapib gene study [84], will further clarify the potential benefits of CV.

# References

- Shrestha S, Wu BJ, Guiney L, Barter PJ, Rye K-A (2018) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein and its inhibitors. J Lipid Res 59:772–783. https://doi.org/ 10.1194/jlr.R082735
- Gordon D et al (1989) High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease. Four prospective American studies. Circulation 79:8–15. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/01.cir.79.1.8
- Barter P et al (2007) HDL cholesterol, very low levels of LDL cholesterol, and cardiovascular events. N Engl J Med 357:1301–1310. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa064278
- Boekholdt SM et al (2013) Levels and changes of HDL cholesterol and apolipoprotein A-I in relation to risk of cardiovascular events among statin-treated patients: a meta-analysis. Circulation 128:1504–1512. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.113.002670
- 5. de la Llera-Moya M et al (2010) The ability to promote efflux via ABCA1 determines the capacity of serum specimens with similar high-density lipoprotein cholesterol to remove cholesterol from macrophages. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30:796–801. https:// doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.199158
- Hutchins PM et al (2014) Quantification of HDL particle concentration by calibrated ion mobility analysis. Clin Chem 60:1393–1401. https://doi.org/10.1373/ clinchem.2014.228114
- Barter PJ et al (2007) Effects of torcetrapib in patients at high risk for coronary events. N Engl J Med 357: 2109–2122. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0706628
- Madsen C, Varbo A, Nordestgaard B (2017) Extreme high high-density lipoprotein cholesterol is paradoxically associated with high mortality in men and women: two prospective cohort studies. Eur Heart J 38:2478–2486. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ ehx163
- Hirata A et al (2018) Association of extremely high levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol with cardiovascular mortality in a pooled analysis of 9 cohort studies including 43,407 individuals: the EPOCH-JAPAN study. J Clin Lipidol 12:674–684.e675. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacl.2018.01.014
- Voight B et al (2012) Plasma HDL cholesterol and risk of myocardial infarction: a mendelian randomisation study. Lancet (London, England) 380:572–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60312-2
- Vitali C, Khetarpal S, Rader D (2017) HDL cholesterol metabolism and the risk of CHD: new insights from human genetics. Curr Cardiol Rep 19:132. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11886-017-0940-0
- Sikorski JA (2006) Oral cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) inhibitors: a potential new approach for

treating coronary artery disease. J Med Chem 49:1–22. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm0582241

- Qiu X et al (2007) Crystal structure of cholesteryl ester transfer protein reveals a long tunnel and four bound lipid molecules. Nat Struct Mol Biol 14:106–113. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1197
- Xie H et al (2016) Discovery of novel N,N-3-phenyl-3-benzylaminopropionanilides as potent inhibitors of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in vivo. Bioorg Med Chem 24:1811–1818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc. 2016.03.002
- Zhang M et al (2017) Assessing the mechanisms of cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitors. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids 1862:1606–1617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2017.09.004
- Zhang L et al (2012) Structural basis of transfer between lipoproteins by cholesteryl ester transfer protein. Nat Chem Biol 8:342–349. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nchembio.796
- Lei D et al (2013) Structural features of cholesteryl ester transfer protein: a molecular dynamics simulation study. Proteins 81:415–425. https://doi.org/10.1002/ prot.24200
- Cilpa-Karhu G, Jauhiainen M, Riekkola M (2015) Atomistic MD simulation reveals the mechanism by which CETP penetrates into HDL enabling lipid transfer from HDL to CETP. J Lipid Res 56:98–108. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M054288
- Lei D et al (2016) Insights into the tunnel mechanism of cholesteryl Ester transfer protein through all-atom molecular dynamics simulations. J Biol Chem 291: 14034–14044. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M116. 715565
- Chirasani V, Revanasiddappa P, Senapati S (2016) Structural plasticity of cholesteryl Ester transfer protein assists the lipid transfer activity. J Biol Chem 291: 19462–19473. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M116. 744623
- Tamagaki T et al (1996) Effects of high-density lipoproteins on intracellular pH and proliferation of human vascular endothelial cells. Atherosclerosis 123:73–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9150(95) 05774-9
- Sugano M, Tsuchida K, Makino N (2000) Highdensity lipoproteins protect endothelial cells from tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 272:872–876. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.2000.2877
- Bursill CA et al (2010) High-density lipoproteins suppress chemokines and chemokine receptors in vitro and in vivo. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30:1773– 1778. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha.110.211342
- Smith J (2010) Dysfunctional HDL as a diagnostic and therapeutic target. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30: 151–155. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha.108.179226
- Ouimet M, Barrett TJ, Fisher EA (2019) HDL and reverse cholesterol transport. Circ Res 124:1505– 1518. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.119. 312617

- Brewer HB Jr (2004) Increasing HDL cholesterol levels. N Engl J Med 350:1491–1494. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMp048023
- Brewer HB Jr (2004) High-density lipoproteins: a new potential therapeutic target for the prevention of cardiovascular disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24:387–391. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV. 0000121505.88326.d2
- 28. Favari E et al (2009) Small discoidal pre-beta1 HDL particles are efficient acceptors of cell cholesterol via ABCA1 and ABCG1. Biochemistry 48:11067–11074. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi901564g
- Smith J, Breslow J (1997) The emergence of mouse models of atherosclerosis and their relevance to clinical research. J Intern Med 242:99–109. https://doi.org/ 10.1046/j.1365-2796.1997.00197.x
- 30. Calabresi L, Gomaraschi M, Franceschini G (2003) Endothelial protection by high-density lipoproteins: from bench to bedside. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23:1724–1731. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.Atv. 0000094961.74697.54
- 31. Inazu A et al (1990) Increased high-density lipoprotein levels caused by a common cholesteryl-ester transfer protein gene mutation. N Engl J Med 323:1234–1238. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199011013231803
- 32. Barter PJ et al (2003) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein: a novel target for raising HDL and inhibiting atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23:160–167. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.0000054658.91146.64
- 33. Marotti KR et al (1993) Severe atherosclerosis in transgenic mice expressing simian cholesteryl ester transfer protein. Nature 364:73–75. https://doi.org/10. 1038/364073a0
- 34. Plump AS et al (1999) Increased atherosclerosis in ApoE and LDL receptor gene knock-out mice as a result of human cholesteryl ester transfer protein transgene expression. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19: 1105–1110. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.19.4.1105
- 35. Westerterp M et al (2006) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein decreases high-density lipoprotein and severely aggravates atherosclerosis in APOE\*3-Leiden mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26: 2552–2559. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV. 0000243925.65265.3c
- 36. Zak Z et al (2002) Expression of simian CETP in normolipidemic Fisher rats has a profound effect on large sized apoE-containing HDL. J Lipid Res 43: 2164–2171. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.m200253jlr200
- 37. Herrera V et al (1999) Spontaneous combined hyperlipidemia, coronary heart disease and decreased survival in dahl salt-sensitive hypertensive rats transgenic for human cholesteryl ester transfer protein. Nat Med 5:1383–1389. https://doi.org/10.1038/70956
- 38. Zak Z et al (2005) Effect of cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) expression on diet-induced hyperlipidemias in transgenic rats. Atherosclerosis 178:279–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclero sis.2004.10.006

- 39. Zhang J et al (2017) Deficiency of cholesteryl Ester transfer protein protects against atherosclerosis in rabbits. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 37:1068– 1075. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha.117.309114
- 40. Sugano M et al (1998) Effect of antisense oligonucleotides against cholesteryl ester transfer protein on the development of atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed rabbits. J Biol Chem 273:5033–5036. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.9.5033
- 41. Rittershaus CW et al (2000) Vaccine-induced antibodies inhibit CETP activity in vivo and reduce aortic lesions in a rabbit model of atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:2106–2112. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.20.9.2106
- 42. Okamoto H et al (2000) A cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitor attenuates atherosclerosis in rabbits. Nature 406:203–207. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 35018119
- Morehouse LA et al (2007) Inhibition of CETP activity by torcetrapib reduces susceptibility to diet-induced atherosclerosis in New Zealand White rabbits. J Lipid Res 48:1263–1272. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr. M600332-JLR200
- 44. MacRae CA, Peterson RT (2015) Zebrafish as tools for drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 14:721–731. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4627
- 45. Schlegel A (2016) Zebrafish models for dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis research. Front Endocrinol 7:159. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2016.00159
- 46. Gut P, Reischauer S, Stainier DYR, Arnaout R (2017) Little fish, big data: zebrafish as a model for cardiovascular and metabolic disease. Physiol Rev 97:889– 938. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00038.2016
- 47. Jin S, Cho K-H (2011) Water extracts of cinnamon and clove exhibits potent inhibition of protein glycation and anti-atherosclerotic activity in vitro and in vivo hypolipidemic activity in zebrafish. Food Chem Toxicol 49:1521–1529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct. 2011.03.043
- 48. Kim J-Y, Kim S-J, Bae MA, Kim J-R, Cho K-H (2018) Cadmium exposure exacerbates severe hyperlipidemia and fatty liver changes in zebrafish via impairment of high-density lipoproteins functionality. Toxicol In Vitro 47:249–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2017. 11.007
- 49. Zhang Z et al (2001) Expression of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in human atherosclerotic lesions and its implication in reverse cholesterol transport. Atherosclerosis 159:67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9150(01)00490-7
- 50. Gao S et al (2017) Overexpression of cholesteryl Ester transfer protein increases macrophage-derived foam cell accumulation in atherosclerotic lesions of transgenic rabbits. Mediat Inflamm 2017:3824276. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2017/3824276
- Izem L, Greene DJ, Bialkowska K, Morton RE (2015) Overexpression of full-length cholesteryl ester transfer protein in SW872 cells reduces lipid accumulation. J

Lipid Res 56:515–525. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr. M053678

- 52. Föger B et al (1999) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein corrects dysfunctional high density lipoproteins and reduces aortic atherosclerosis in lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase transgenic mice. J Biol Chem 274: 36912–36920. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.52. 36912
- 53. Hildebrand RB et al (2010) Restoration of highdensity lipoprotein levels by cholesteryl ester transfer protein expression in scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) knockout mice does not normalize pathologies associated with SR-BI deficiency. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30:1439–1445. https://doi.org/10.1161/atybaha.110.205153
- 54. Nomura A et al (2017) Protein-truncating variants at the cholesteryl Ester transfer protein gene and Risk for coronary heart disease. Circ Res 121:81–88. https:// doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.117.311145
- 55. Iwanicka J et al (2018) Relationship between CETP gene polymorphisms with coronary artery disease in polish population. Mol Biol Rep 45:1929–1935. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-018-4342-1
- 56. Vargas-Alarcon G et al (2018) CETP and LCAT gene polymorphisms are associated with high-density lipoprotein subclasses and acute coronary syndrome. Lipids 53:157–166. https://doi.org/10.1002/lipd. 12017
- Schwartz GG et al (2013) Dalcetrapib in patients with an acute coronary syndrome. N Engl J Med 368:869– 870. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc1300057
- 58. Lincoff AM et al (2017) Evacetrapib and cardiovascular outcomes in high-risk vascular disease. N Engl J Med 376:1933–1942. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1609581
- 59. Tall AR, Rader DJ (2018) Trials and tribulations of CETP inhibitors. Circ Res 122:106–112. https://doi. org/10.1161/circresaha.117.311978
- 60. Bowman L et al (2017) Effects of anacetrapib in patients with atherosclerotic vascular disease. N Engl J Med 377:1217–1227. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1706444
- 61. Krishna R et al (2017) Chronic administration of anacetrapib is associated with accumulation in adipose and slow elimination. Clin Pharmacol Ther 102:832– 840. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.700
- 62. Hovingh G et al (2015) Cholesterol ester transfer protein inhibition by TA-8995 in patients with mild dyslipidaemia (TULIP): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. Lancet (London, England) 386:452–460. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0140-6736(15)60158-1
- 63. Wang X et al (2018) The therapeutic potential of CETP inhibitors: a patent review. Expert Opin Ther Pat 28:331–340. https://doi.org/10.1080/13543776. 2018.1439476
- 64. Holmes M, Smith G (2017) Dyslipidaemia: revealing the effect of CETP inhibition in cardiovascular

disease. Nat Rev Cardiol 14:635–636. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrcardio.2017.156

- 65. Miyosawa K et al (2015) New CETP inhibitor K-312 reduces PCSK9 expression: a potential effect on LDL cholesterol metabolism. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 309:E177–E190. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajpendo.00528.2014
- 66. Brodeur M et al (2017) Dalcetrapib and anacetrapib differently impact HDL structure and function in rabbits and monkeys. J Lipid Res 58:1282–1291. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M068940
- 67. Zhu L et al (2018) CETP inhibition improves HDL function but leads to fatty liver and insulin resistance in CETP-expressing transgenic mice on a high-fat diet. Diabetes 67:2494–2506. https://doi.org/10.2337/ db18-0474
- Todd P, Goa KS (1990) A review of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic potential in hypercholesterolaemia. Drugs 40:583–607. https://doi.org/10. 2165/00003495-199040040-00007
- Cristol L, Jialal I, Grundy S (1992) Effect of low-dose probucol therapy on LDL oxidation and the plasma lipoprotein profile in male volunteers. Atherosclerosis 97:11–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9150(92) 90046-j
- 70. Carew T, Schwenke D, Steinberg D (1987) Antiatherogenic effect of probucol unrelated to its hypocholesterolemic effect: evidence that antioxidants in vivo can selectively inhibit low density lipoprotein degradation in macrophage-rich fatty streaks and slow the progression of atherosclerosis in the Watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic rabbit. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:7725–7729. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.84. 21.7725
- 71. Franceschini G et al (1989) Mechanisms of HDL reduction after probucol. Changes in HDL subfractions and increased reverse cholesteryl ester transfer. Arteriosclerosis (Dallas, Tex) 9:462–469. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.9.4.462
- 72. Chiesa G et al (1993) Mechanisms of high-density lipoprotein reduction after probucol treatment: changes in plasma cholesterol esterification/transfer and lipase activities. Metab Clin Exp 42:229–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/0026-0495(93)90041-1
- 73. Ishigami M et al (1997) High-density lipoproteins from probucol-treated patients have increased capacity to promote cholesterol efflux from mouse peritoneal macrophages loaded with acetylated low-density lipoproteins. Eur J Clin Investig 27:285–292. https:// doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2362.1997.1040657.x
- 74. Hirano K et al (2005) Probucol enhances the expression of human hepatic scavenger receptor class B type I, possibly through a species-specific mechanism. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 25:2422–2427. https:// doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000185834.98941.3d
- 75. Zhong J et al (2011) Probucol alleviates atherosclerosis and improves high density lipoprotein function. Lipids Health Dis 10:210. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1476-511x-10-210

- Hong S, Zhao S, Wu Z (2006) Probucol up-regulates paraoxonase 1 expression in hepatocytes of hypercholesterolemic rabbits. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 47:77– 81. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.fjc.0000194687. 19335.59
- 77. Yamamoto S et al (2011) Pharmacologic suppression of hepatic ATP-binding cassette transporter 1 activity in mice reduces high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels but promotes reverse cholesterol transport. Circulation 124:1382–1390. https://doi.org/10.1161/ circulationaha.110.009704
- Navab M, Reddy ST, Van Lenten BJ, Fogelman AM (2011) HDL and cardiovascular disease: atherogenic and atheroprotective mechanisms. Nat Rev Cardiol 8: 222–232. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2010.222
- 79. Khera A et al (2011) Cholesterol efflux capacity, highdensity lipoprotein function, and atherosclerosis. N Engl J Med 364:127–135. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1001689

- Williams P, Feldman D (2011) Prospective study of coronary heart disease vs. HDL2, HDL3, and other lipoproteins in Gofman's Livermore cohort. Atherosclerosis 214:196–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ath erosclerosis.2010.10.024
- Gupta A (2011) Cholesterol efflux capacity and atherosclerosis. N Engl J Med 364:1472; author reply 1474–1475. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc1101853
- White J et al (2016) Association of Lipid Fractions with Risks for coronary artery disease and diabetes. JAMA Cardiol 1:692–699. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamacardio.2016.1884
- Nicholls S (2018) CETP-inhibition and HDL-cholesterol: a story of CV risk or CV benefit, or both. Clin Pharmacol Ther 104:297–300. https:// doi.org/10.1002/cpt.1118
- 84. Yamashita S et al (2018) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein: an enigmatic pharmacology - antagonists and agonists. Atherosclerosis 278:286–298. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2018.09.035

# **HDL and Endothelial Function**

Yufei Wu, Yangkai Xu, Jie Chen, Mingming Zhao, and Kerry-Anne Rye

# Abstract

Plasmid high-density lipoprotein (HDL) is a critical biomarker in predicting cardiovascular diseases. Endothelial cells are physically located in the intima of blood vessels, which directly contact with circulating substances. Numerous previous studies have demonstrated that HDL exert protective effects on

e-mail: xuyk@pku.edu.cn; 1610305235@pku.edu.cn

### M. Zhao

The Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences and Institute of Systems Biomedicine, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Key Laboratory of Molecular Cardiovascular Science of Ministry of Education, NHC Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Molecular Biology and Regulatory Peptides, Beijing Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Receptors Research, Health Science Center, Peking University, Beijing, China

Department of Cardiology, Third Hospital, Institute of Vascular Medicine, Peking University, Beijing, China e-mail: zhaomingming@pku.edu.cn maintaining endothelial integrity and enhance anti-inflammatory functions, etc. In this chapter, we introduced how HDL benefit endothelial functions. We summarized the function of HDL on endothelial cell, such as endothelial permeability, proliferation, migration, apoptosis, etc. In addition, we discussed the effects of HDL on classical endothelial functions, such as coagulation and vasodilation. Although HDL have huge effects on endothelial functions, lots of cardiovascular diseases such as atherosclerosis could not be fully prevented and treated. Thus, a further understanding of the relationship between HDL and endothelial cell is needed, which would create a potential therapeutic approach to cardiovascular diseases.

# Keywords

 $HDL \cdot Endothelial \ cells \cdot Endothelial \ barrier \\ integrity \cdot Endothelial \ function$ 

# 3.1 Introduction

Endothelial cells (ECs), structurally, line a barrier between blood and tissue and exert pivotal functions in sustaining vascular homeostasis [1]. Endothelial dysfunction or endothelium impaired would initiate and deteriorate the pathogenesis of various disorders, especially atherosclerosis [2, 3].



<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), *HDL Metabolism and Diseases*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_3

Y. Wu  $(\boxtimes) \cdot Y$ . Xu  $\cdot$  J. Chen

The Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences and Institute of Systems Biomedicine, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Key Laboratory of Molecular Cardiovascular Science of Ministry of Education, NHC Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Molecular Biology and Regulatory Peptides, Beijing Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Receptors Research, Health Science Center, Peking University, Beijing, China

K.-A. Rye

Lipid Research Group, School of Medical Sciences, Level 4E, Wallace Wurth Building, University of New South Wales Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia e-mail: k.rye@unsw.edu.au

Plasma levels of HDL cholesterol have been used as a biomarker in cardiovascular health. It has been reported that a low level of HDL in plasma is an independent risk factor of endothelial dysfunction not only in healthy subjects but also in patients suffered from coronary artery disease (CAD) [4]. As we all know, the best vessel-protective characterization of HDL is its capacity to transport cholesterol from peripheral tissues to liver for bile acid synthesis, which is called reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) [5, 6]. Additionally, many experimental and translational studies have further revealed that HDL from healthy subjects also has a wide variety of protective effects on ECs implicating in the maintenance and repairment of endothelial barrier integrity, the improvement of ECs-dependent anti-inflammation, vasodilation, and antithrombosis, thereby exerting anti-atherogenic function.

However, pharmacologically raising the level of HDL cholesterol in plasma fails to reduce cardiovascular events [7, 8], which may be ascribed to HDL dysfunction or heterozygous characteristics in disease states [9]. Here, the focus of this review will in considerable detail summarize those endothelial functions affected by normal HDL and dysfunctional HDL, and molecular mechanisms involved.

# 3.2 HDL and Endothelial Barrier Integrity

ECs form a semipermeable barrier between the blood and the tissue cells. The vascular endothelial barrier is of the great importance to the cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases, in particular to the development of atherosclerosis and thrombotic disorder [10, 11]. In disease conditions, endothelial barrier integrity has been investigated to mainly involve two aspects: the endothelial permeability on a molecular level and the repairment and maintenance of endothelial monolayer after injury in a cellular level [12]. The former, the endothelial permeability, is mediated by paracellular and transcellular transport system [13, 14]. In addition to neighboring-cells junctions, paracellular pathway is also intimately linked to cytoskeletal rearrangement rapidly refilling cell-to-cell gap [15, 16]. Additionally, the later has been thought to associate with endothelial apoptosis, proliferation, and migration. Furthermore, the endothelial permeability has a close relationship with the maintenance of endothelial monolayer not only by affecting cell to cell adhesion but also transferring intracellular signaling. It has been reported that HDL from healthy subjects can protect endothelial barrier integrity from disease factorinduced disruption, by directly or indirectly maintaining cellular junctions, reducing ECs apoptosis, and promoting resident ECs proliferation and migration [11, 12, 17].

# 3.2.1 HDL and Maintenance of Endothelial Permeability

The integrity of endothelial permeability is associated with a variety of vascular pathologies, such as edema, inflammation, and some vascular diseases [12].

Studies have been shown that sphingosine-1phosphate (S1P), particularly HDL-containing S1P, is able to protect the vascular barrier integrity. S1P, as one of bioactive lysophospholipids (LPs), produces mainly from three kinds of sphingolipids: sphingomyelin (SM), ceramide, sphingosine metabolism [18]. In detail, SM is catalyzed into ceramide by sphingomyelinase enzyme; then, ceramide is deacylated to form sphingosine by ceramidase; finally, sphingosine is phosphorylated to produce S1P by sphingosine kinase enzyme [18]. The concentration of S1P is present at quite high levels in the blood and lymph but low in tissues [10, 19]. The plasma level of S1P is critical to regulate physiological and pathological progress. In addition to synthesis, there is no doubt that S1P levels are closely related to its degradation which is regulated by S1P lyase, S1P phosphatases, and LPs phosphatase 3 [19]. Interestingly, S1P sources are from various cell types and tissues, such as platelets [20], red cells [21], endothelial cells [21], brain [22], liver [23], and so on. However, rather than
platelets, erythrocytes and endothelial cells may be capable of being major contributors to plasma S1P [24–27]. Furthermore, it has been thought that S1P delivery to the circulatory system occurs through two kinds of specific transporter: ATP-binding cassette (ABC)-type transporters and non ATP dependent transporter Spns2 [28-30]. The former transporters includes ABCA1, ABCC1, ABCG1 [30], and the latter transporter acts in vascular ECs instead of erythrocytes and platelets [28, 29]. Serum albumin and HDLs/apolipoprotein M (ApoM) are as S1P carriers in plasma, accounting for about 35% and 65% respectively, but only S1P of HDL/ApoM has a crucial role for maintenance of ECs integrity [31, 32]. Compared to carrier serum albumin, S1P is greater stability when binding to HDL [10, 19].

It has been reported that S1P is able to maintain the endothelial permeability by the stabilization of intercellular junctions and cytoskeletal rearrangement [10, 19]. Likewise, the lack of some directly associating-S1P genes (S1P kinases, receptors or ApoM) all lead to vascular leakage [10]. S1P functions via binding to some high affinity receptor instead of itself as second messenger [33, 34]. S1P receptors, including five subtypes (S1P1–5, originally designated Edg1-5), all belong to a class of G proteincoupled protein receptors and differentially expressed in different cell types [19]. In ECs, the expression of S1P1-3 receptors is more abundant compared to other S1P receptors [19, 35]. Functionally, S1P3 is able to promote endothelial integrity similar to S1P1 by activating RAC-1 [36]. On the contrary, S1P2 can increase ECs permeability by activating RHO GTPase [37]. For this three ECs-expressing receptors, however, S1P preferentially binds S1P1 to protect vascular barrier integrity, and S1P1-activting RAC1 can antagonize RHO activity [38]. Mechanistically, S1P significantly upregulates the abundance of VE-cadherin, promotes its translocation to enhance adherens junctions, and reassigns the zona occludens protein 1 to junctions to assist the formation of tight junctions by S1P1/Gi/Akt/Rac pathway [19, 39, 40]. Additionally, S1P promotes endothelial spreading and cytoskeletal

rearrangement to fill the inter-endothelial gap by S1P1/phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT pathway [10].

Moreover, the integrity of endothelial glycocalyx (EG) integrity performs a critical function in vascular permeability. The related clinical studies show that the high level of HDL is inversely related with the EG index in older hypertensive patients, which illustrates that HDLs can play a protective role in the hypertension disorder [41].

Additionally, apolipoprotein E (ApoE), as a main lipoprotein originating from brain forms lipoprotein particles which resemble HDL found in blood plasma [42, 43]. It has been observed that the ablation of mice ApoE and the expression of human ApoE4 directly lead to degradation of endothelial tight junctions and blood-brain barrier (BBB) leakage via a cyclophilin-A-Nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B-matrix-metalloproteinase-9 pathway, which finally results in neurol injury and degeneration [44, 45].

### 3.2.2 HDL and Maintenance and Repairment of Endothelial Monolayer Integrity

Endothelial monolayer integrity is disrupted generally by gap formation between resident ECs related to internal shear stress or gross denudation linked to external vascular intervention, which makes vessel more susceptible to suffer from vascular disease, especially atherosclerosis [46, 47]. The endothelium monolayer integrity is sustained and repaired at least not only by reducing RECs apoptosis or increasing RECs proliferation and migration, but also by improving endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) function.

### 3.2.2.1 HDL and ECs Apoptosis

ECs apoptosis disrupts vascular endothelial monolayer integrity and contributes to the pathogenesis of vascular disorders. Several in vitro studies show that HDLs can reduce ECs apoptosis. Mechanistically, two signaling pathways of apoptosis have been demonstrated in mammals: extrinsic and intrinsic pathway (also called death receptor pathway and the mitochondrial pathway, respectively) [48].

Both oxidized low-density lipoprotein (oxLDL) and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) present in atherosclerotic lesion, induce ECs apoptosis by extrinsic pathway, thereby disrupting endothelium integrity and promoting the formation of atherosclerotic plaque [48–51]. In 1997, Suc and colleagues firstly characterized that HDL could inhibit ECs apoptosis [52]. And, two group verified that HDL acted directly on ECs against the proapoptotic effects of oxLDL, which protective role could be mimicked by a major protein component of HDL, apoprotein A-I (apoA-I) 53]. Excessive enoplasmic reticulum [52, (ER) stress and autophagy would trigger cellular apoptosis [54, 55]. Further study showed that disruption of cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis induced by oxLDL in ECs would result in ER stress and autophagy to response to oxLDL, these events could be blocked by HDL [56]. Another in vitro study showed that HDL from healthy subjects prevents human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) apoptosis induced by TNF- $\alpha$ , via significantly inhibiting caspase 3 activity [51]. Further mechanistic study showed that the apoA-I-mediated anti-apoptotic effect on ECs was totally blocked by specific inhibitor of its receptor F1-ATPase, independently of scavenger receptor-B type I (SR-BI) and ABCA1, but which was performed on a serum-deprived apoptotic model [57]. The serum deprivation-induced apoptosis model has been suggested to be associated with intrinsic apoptosis pathway [58, 59]. An in vitro study showed that S1P, as a kind of HDL cargos, inhibits caspase 3 activity, cytochrome c release, and DNA fragmentation via S1P/S1P1/endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) signaling thereby axis, preventing ECs apoptosis induced by serum derivation [59]. Furthermore, another study showed that the HUVECs apoptosis induced by serum deprivation could be reversed also by HDL, and the cytoprotective effect mediated by HDL was roughly paralleling to the S1P/Erk signaling pathway [60]. In addition to extracellular signalregulated kinase (Erk) and eNOS, the activation of Akt also plays a critical role in HDL-mediated

antiapoptotic effects on ECs, and the cytoprotective role of HDL is mimicked by HDL-associated lysosphingolipids [61]. Moreover, further mechanistic study showed that S1P-mediated ECs survival could be markedly inhibited by S1P1 receptor, rather than S1P3 [62]. Subsequently, it has been reported that S1P and apoA-I both are implicated in these two apoptotic pathways [57, 60, 63]. It is controversial that whether eNOS and SR-BI are implicated in HDL-mediated antiapoptotic effect on ECs. A detail study characterized that HDL from health subjects in vitro prevents ECs from apoptosis stimulated by both serum deprivation and TNF-α by PI3K/Akt signaling-mediated Bcl-xL expression upregulation and in part SR-BI, independent of eNOS activation [63].

Consistent with the results of in vitro investigation, in vivo studies also showed that HDL exerts an anti-apoptotic functions on endothelium [63, 64]. In a rat model of type I diabetes, evidences in vivo indicated that apoA-I mimetic peptide D-4F administration could decrease debris in circulating and prevent endothelial cell detachment from vessel [64]. Moreover, injection of HDL to apoE-ablation mice also reduces artery ECs apoptosis evidenced by TUNEL assay, and attenuats caspase 3 activity indicated by western blot assay [63].

### 3.2.2.2 HDL and ECs Proliferation and Migration

Previous studies have shown that it is migration and proliferation of RECs that play a very necessary and crucial role during the process of vascular repair [65]. Most studies have been reported that HDL can be able to promote ECs proliferation and migration not only in cell culture, but also in animal models, contributing to its cardioprotective potential.

In vitro, Tauber et al. firstly demonstrated that HDL could induce the proliferation of vascular ECs via culturing bovine ECs on dish coated with extracellular matrix in serum-free medium with HDL and are independent on fibroblast growth factor (FGF) [66, 67]. In addition to the regulation of vascular ECs proliferation, Murugesan et al. in 1994 firstly reported that HDL in vitro performs a novel function, stimulating vascular ECs migration, also by a mechanism distinct from FGF [68]. HDL have been supposed to be soluble complexes of apolipoproteins and lipids. Mechanistically, it is controversial that which components of HDLs exert HDLs-mediated ECs proliferation and migratory activity. As far, there mainly are two paradigms involving this. Firstly, some studies in vitro have been verified that HDL-containing bioactive lipid S1P, rather than apolipoprotein components, regulates ECs (human umbilical vein endothelial cells) proliferation and migration by binding to its receptors S1P1 and S1P3 [62, 69]. In detail, inducing ECs proliferation of S1P is associated with GiGo/ RAS/Erk activation [69, 70], and stimulating ECs migration is related to PI3K-mediated Akt [71, 72]/p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 MAPK) [62, 70, 73], Rho family (Rho [72, 73], Rac [71]) activation, Akt-mediated S1P1 Transactivation [71], and eNOS activation [74]. In addition to the regulation of ECs migration, PI3K can be indispensable for HDL-mediated ECs proliferation as well [74]. Recently, Tatematsu et al. reported in vitro and ex vivo that endothelial lipase (EL) can hydrolyze HDL to modulate S1P/S1P receptor signaling contributing to HDL-stimulated ECs proliferation and migration [75]. Specifically, EL knockdown attenuates HDL/S1P-mediated Akt and eNOS phosphorylation and strikingly inhibits HDLs-induced ECs migration and proliferation [75]. Secondly, Seetharam have shown that bovine aortic ECs migratory activity in vitro induced by HDL is roughly parallel to main apolipoprotein component of HDL, apoA-I, and its receptor SR-BI, rather than S1P [17]. Furthermore, this process is mediated by the Src kinase/ PI3K/Akt (Erk)/Rac signaling pathway and independent on the eNOS activation [17]. Moreover, further mechanistic investigation showed that though Src kinase can directly interact with SR-BI, PDZK1, as an adaptor of SR-BI, is required for HDL/SR-BI-mediated Src phosphorylation [76]. Additionally, some studies have been suggested that apolipoproteins of HDL, similar to HDL, also promote ECs proliferation through increasing protein phosphorylation

[77, 78]. Importantly, Radojkovic et al. characterized that apoA-I has an effect of proliferative bioactivity on HUVECs by its another receptor F1-ATPase, independently of SR-BI and ABCA1, and this effect can be blocked by its antibody or its specific inhibitor IF1-H49K [57]. Recently, a study in vitro further investigated downstream of apoA-I/F1-ATPase signaling involved in HDL-induced ECs proliferation. This study has been shown that apoA-I can be able to activate F1-ATPase to generate ADP; following activation, extracellular ADP binds to its receptor P2Y1 resulting in activation of PI3K/ Akt signaling, which thereby stimulates ECs proliferation [79].

In vivo, preclinical studies found that HDL repairs vascular monolayer injury, which is closely linked to apoA-I and SR-B1-mediated ECs migration [17, 76]. In detail, the ablation of apoA-I and its receptor SR-BI both blunt artery reendothelialization in a model of perivascular electric injury [17]. And, PDZK1, as a specific adaptor of SR-BI, is indispensable for carotid artery reendothelialization in the same model [76]. Additionally, some animal experiments have verified that HDL-containing lipid S1P promotes vessel angiogenesis by inducing ECs migration and proliferation [71, 74, 75].

### 3.2.2.3 HDL and EPCs Function

Besides resident ECs, EPCs are also implicated in the repairment of vascular monolayer integrity by differentiation paracrine stimulation and [80, 81]. The true EPCs have been redefined in 2005 [82] and are mainly referred to as Endothelial colony forming cells (ECFCs) or late blood outgrowth endothelial cells (BOECs)(also called as "late" EPCs) [81, 83, 84]. However, the majority of early putative EPCs are rather pro-angiogenic hematopoietic cells, "early" EPCs or CFU-Hill [81, 83, 84]. The protective role of the putative EPCs in early studies at least attributes to two aspects [83, 85]. Firstly, due to issue that the EPCs have an ambiguous identification, the putative EPCs possess characteristics of hematopoietic cells, are unstably incorporated into injury vessel, and play an anti-inflammatory and immune role in the repairment of vascular integrity. Secondly, the putative EPCs have a paracrine effect on RECs and stimulate RECs proliferation and migration in vascular repair, rather than directly replace dysfunctional or damaged ECs.

So far, most preclinical studies have been shown that HDL promote mobilization, differentiation, proliferation, and migration of this putative EPCs, which indirectly or directly promotes HDL-mediated ECs repair by the above mechanisms. In a mouse model of endothelial damage in response to LPS in apoE-deficient background, Tso et al. report that intravenous infusion of reconstituted HDL (rHDL) in mice increases in vivo numbers of EPCs identified by positive Sca1<sup>+</sup> cells in aortic endothelium, thereby contributes to aortic endothelial repair [86]. In a mouse model of hindlimb ischemia, intravenous injection of rHDL increases the number of bone marrow-derived EPCs incorporated into new vessel, and rHDL in vitro promotes the differentiation of peripheral mononuclear cells to EPCs via PI3K/AKT signaling pathway, rather than eNOS [87]. EPCs is Identified by a method of cell surface antigen expressing described by Asahara et al. [88], then called "early" EPC [85]. In a mouse model of transplant atherosclerosis, adenoviral human apoA-I (AdA-I) transfer promotes endothelial repair and attenuates neointima formation due to the increasing of the number of EPCs in circulation and bone marrow, and the enhancing of EPCs incorporation into allografts, which protective function is ascribed to apoA-I-mediated EPCs migration and proliferation by PI3K signaling pathway (herein referring to "early" EPC) [89]. Furthermore, the same group report that the attenuation of allograft vasculopathy mediated by apoA-I is dependent on SR-BI expression [90]. In a mouse model of artery denudation, HDL from healthy people promote repairment of endothelium monolayer ascribing to stimulating EPCs differentiation, proliferation, and migration (herein referring to EFU-Hill) [91]. In hypercholesterolemic rats subjected to femoral artery injury, intravenous injection of human plasma HDL contributes endothelial repair, which attributes to to HDL-mediated EPCs proliferation and migration (herein referring to "early" EPC) [92]. The current paradigm is that ECFCs or BOECs represent true EPCs, rather than the above EPCs, early EPCs or CFU-Hill. Feng and colleagues reported that HDL significantly promotes ECFCs migration and adhesion by SR-BI/NO signaling and increasing  $\beta 1$  integrin expression in vitro, thereby contributing to reduce the intimal area in apoEdeficient mice subjected to vein graft to carotid arteries in vivo [93]. Another study investigates the potential hazard effect of HDL on EPCs function and angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo and shows that moderate to high concentration of HDL decreases formation of vessel-like structure. ascribing to impair BOECs tube formation and promote senescence by activating Rho-associated kinase (ROCK) and inhibiting PI3K/Akt and p38 pathways [94].

Most importantly, clinical study has been shown that HDL level from male with no inflammation, coronary artery disease, and myocardial infarction, inversely relates to EPCs number obtained by the CFU-Hill EPCs procedure [95]. Furthermore, another preclinical study has been reported that rHDL infusion could be able to increase circulating EPCs number directly quantified by cell surface antigen CD34<sup>+</sup>, in patients with type 2 diabetes [96].

### 3.3 HDL and ECs-Dependent Vasodilation

In addition to common roles in exchange of metabolites, anti-coagulant homeostasis ECs regulate vascular tone by secreting various vasodilators, such as nitric oxide (NO), prostacyclin and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor, and vasoconstrictors, such as endothelin-1, angiotensin II, and thromboxane A2 [97].

Many clinical experiments have been reported that HDL or apoA-I level correlates with ECs-dependent vasodilation. Zeiher *et al.* showed that attenuating vasoconstriction is associated with HDL-cholesterol serum level in atherosclerotic patients. Further clinical study verified that intravenous infusion of rHDL restores ECs-dependent vasorelaxation by increasing NO bioavailability in hypercholesterolemic patients. Similarly, in the CAD patients with low HDL level, the administration of niacin by raising HDL level in plasma improves endothelial dysfunction evidenced by flow-mediated dilation. In addition, in ABCA1-heterozygous patients with low-HDL level, intravenous infusion of apoA-I also is able to completely restore ECs-dependent vasodilated dysfunction.

An animal study showed that the endothelialdependent vasodilation impaired in atherosclerosis is correlated with oxLDL [98]. However, it has been reported that ex vivo the preincubation of isolated strips of rabbit thoracic aorta with HDL from healthy human plasma almost completely prevents the oxLDL-induced inhibition of vasodilation to Ach [99].

In addition, on the basal condition, HDL also stimulate ECs-dependent vasodilation [100]. Here, we will review the regulatory paradigms involving two important vasodilators, NO and PGI2, in considerable detail.

### 3.3.1 NO and eNOS

NO, originally called endothelium-derived relaxing factor, is produced by eNOS from the amino acid L-arginine [101]. Except as a signaling transducer mentioned on the part of "*HDL and Endothelial Barrier Integrity*," eNOS affects vascular relaxation by NO synthesis and release in ECs. It has been reported that HDL modulates NO production via three manners, including eNOS activation, localization, and abundance.

*Firstly, HDL, as a potential agonist of eNOS, regulates its activation at least involving in S1P receptors, SR-BI, and ABCG1.* HDL-containing LPs, especially S1P, play an important role in HDL-mediated eNOS activation. As far, there are at least two paradigms for S1P-mediated eNOS activation. On the one hand, caveolin 1 inhibited eNOS activity by the directly binding to eNOS forming heteromeric complex, which could be disturbed by the targeting of calmodulin to eNOS when intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration was elevated, thereby leading to its activation [102]. S1P could activate a non-selective cation (NSC) channel to promote the elevation of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration in HUVECs [103], and S1P-induced eNOS activation was inhibition by intracellular Ca2+ chelator BAPTA [104]. Moreover, the structure inhibition between eNOS and caveolin 1 may be regulated by S1P receptor, as S1P receptor S1P1 targeted caveolin 1 directly verified by immunoprecipitated assay in a heterozygous expression model, thereby potently and robustly activating eNOS enzyme [105]. On the other hand, in vitro mechanistic studies in BAECs culture evidenced that S1P stimulate eNOS phosphorylation at Ser1179 by the S1P1/PI3K/Akt signaling pathway, thereby leading to eNOS activation [104, 106, 107]. Most importantly, HDL-induced vasorelaxation ex vivo could be mimicked by all three HDL-containing LPs, sphingosylphosphorylcholine (SPC), S1P, and lysosulfatide (LSF) [100]. The response to LPs is abolished in S1P3-deficent aorta [100]. In vitro study also showed that Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization and Akt phosphorylation mentioned above are implicated in HDL-mediated NO release of HUVECs [100]. And, in vivo animal study has been shown that arterial blood pressure in rats lowers by vascular injection of LPs [100]. In contrast to its vasodilatory effect on artery, intravenous injection of S1P decreases myocardial infusion and is completely abolished in S1P3-dificient mice [108]. The controversial role remains to be elucidated.

In addition to S1P receptors, Yuhanna et al. delineated that HDL could activate eNOS via apoA-I/SR-BI-mediated manner in vitro, and thereby enhancing endothelial-dependent vasorelaxation ex vivo in thoracic arteries from normal mice [109]. Moreover, the response of aorta to HDL is blocked by apoA-I and SR-BI antibodies and does not display in SR-BI-null mice [109]. Further in vitro mechanistic study has been shown that HDL phosphorylated eNOS at Ser-1179 entails the sequential activation of SR-BI-Src-PI3k-Akt/Erk [110, 111]. Subsequent study found that PDZK1 interacting with c-term intracellular PDZ domain of SR-BI is required for phosphorylation and eNOS activation Src [76]. Moreover, HDL or apoA-I incubation with 34

HUVECs alone activates eNOS by multisite phosphorylation change in HUVECs culture [112]. However, Yuhanna *et al.* found purified apoA-I does not elicit eNOS activation in ovine fetal pulmonary artery ECs [109]. In addition to the different EC lines used in experiments, this controversial results could be likely due to the difference of duration of apoA-I action: the response of NO release to apoA-I is slower than HDL [112]. Most importantly, ex vivo and in vivo studies shown that two apoA-I mimetics, L-4F and D-4F, could restore endothelial dysfunction in hypercholesterolemic LDLR-deficient mice by improving eNOS-dependent vasodilation [113, 114].

This difference of responses to HDL and apoA-I mentioned above gives researchers' hint that HDL can mediate other signaling pathways by apoA-I/SR-BI to activate eNOS. Gong *et al.* found in vitro and ex vivo that HDL from premenopausal women delivers its cargo estradiol by binding to SR-BI, thereby stimulating eNOS activation and arterial relaxation [115]. Another important study delineated that it is necessary for HDL-mediated eNOS activation that the delivery of cholesterol to or from ECs by the targeting of HDL to SR-BI extracellular domain and the binding of cholesterol to SR-BI C-term transmembrane domain [116, 117].

Another HDL receptor ABCG1 also plays a vital role in the eNOS of activation in part inducing efflux of cholesterol by and 7-ketocholesterol (7-KC) to HDL [118, 119]. An animal study reported that ABCG1 is expressed specifically in vascular endothelium, and ABCG1-ablated mice fed with a western diet displays the strikingly reduced eNOS activity in aortic lysates and the markedly decreased EC-dependent vasodilation [118]. This endothelial dysfunction in ABCG1-deleted mice may be correlated with ABCG1-mediated oxysterol 7-KC to HDL [118]. In vitro investigation indicated that HDL treatment to HAECs inhibits accumulation of intracellular 7-KC which stimulates reactive oxygen species (ROS) production to lead to the inhibition of eNOS, thereby promoting eNOS activation [118]. Moreover, ABCG1-mediated cholesterol efflux is also required for eNOS activation similar to SR-BI [119]. Further mechanistic investigation found that the inhibition of efflux to HDL in ABCG1dependent manner attenuates the inhibitory interaction of caveolin 1 with eNOS [119].

Secondly, HDL prevents oxLDL-mediated translocation of eNOS to the internal membrane, thereby promoting eNOS activation. It is reported that the acylation of eNOS enhances its targeting plasma specialized domain caveolae to [120]. Moreover, Feron el at. demonstrated that eNOS could directly bind to caveolins 1 that is as a critical structure component of caveolae in ECs, by immunoprecipitated assay, which indicated that this subcellular localization is likely required for eNOS activation [121]. Subsequently, oxLDL incubation elicits the translocation of mostly all membrane eNOS from caveolae to intracellular membrane, thereby impairing eNOS activity, but not affecting eNOS phosphorylation [122]. Further study suggested that HDL normalizes eNOS localization to caveolae, which is associated with HDLs/SR-BI-mediated cholesterol efflux against oxLDL/CD36-induced cholesterol deletion in caveolae [123].

Thirdly, HDL also potently regulats eNOS abundance. A basic experiment in 2002 reported that when exposed to HDL, HAECs have an increased eNOS abundance measured by a western blotting method [124]. Consistent with this result, another in vitro detail study showed that incubation of HDL or apoA-I alone with HAECs affects eNOS posttranslational regulation and upregulates eNOS protein abundance by increasing eNOS protein life-half rather than eNOS mRNA level [111]. Subsequently, Terasaka and colleagues also found that the protein level of aortic eNOS is significantly downregulated in ABCG1-ablated mice fed with a western diet [118].

### 3.3.2 Prostacyclin

In addition to NO, HDL also regulates Prostacyclin (PGI2) production from ECs, thereby affecting vascular tone. PGI2 is generated from metabolism of arachidonic acid via cyclooxygenase (COX)/prostacyclin synthase (PGIS) pathway in the membrane of ER and nuclear envelope, and ECs is a primary source of its production [125]. About three decades ago, an in vitro study reported that human HDL and delipidated apoproteins of HDL incubated with sub-confluent porcine endothelial cells could significantly promotes the biosynthesis of PGI2, and rat HDL containing a higher level of arachidonate elicits a greater release of PGI2 than human HDL [126]. Further data indicated that arachidonate derived from HDL could be delivered into ECs and metabolized to PGI2 [127]. Therefore, HDL promotes PGI2 release, in part by replenishing arachidonate into endothelium. However, the evidence found by Spector and colleagues indicated that albumin-bound arachidonic acid could play a more important role in providing arachidonate for ECs than HDLs [128]. Subsequent study found that HDL component of apoA-I, as a PGI2 stabilizing factor, could prolong its half-life, thereby enhancing its function of vasodilation and inhibiting platelet aggregation [129]. In addition, another study showed that HDL promotes the PGI2 production might be by the upregulated expression of Cox-2 synergizing with cytokine [130].

Importantly, clinical studies showed that 6-keto-PGF1 $\alpha$ , a stable metabolite of PGI2, correlated with concentration of HDL cholesterol or HDL subfraction [131].

### 3.4 HDL and ECs-Related Antithrombotic Function

### 3.4.1 HDL and Platelets

The rupture of an atherosclerotic plaque in a coronary artery with its subsequent coronary thrombus formation are always thought to be the primary cause of acute coronary syndrome. HDL cholesterol level is proved to be a significant independent predictor of ex vivo platelet thrombus formation through the fact that in an ex vivo flow chamber model for coronary thrombosis the thrombus area is much lower in human subjects with higher HDL cholesterol level [132].

HDL has several favorable effects on platelets that might explain its interference with thrombus formation in the coronary vasculature. First, it has been reported that HDL can block the activation and aggregation of platelets. In a small clinical trail, 13 patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus were randomized to a single infusion of rHDL or placebo. Study results established that a 40% increase in HDL cholesterol level in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus is associated with a 50–75% reduction in platelet aggregation [133]. If isolated human platelets are incubated with rHDL or natural HDL in vitro, platelet aggregation is similarly reduced. Studies have also found that HDL can regulate platelet aggregation and also prevent platelet degranulation and spread, as well as platelet and fibrinogen adhesion [133, 134]. Related studies have demonstrated that rHDL can limit platelet binding in growing thrombus under in vitro flow conditions [133]. HDL inhibition of platelet reactivity is caused by cholesterol depletion in lipid rafts [133]. HDL-related phospholipids are key to the antithrombotic function of HDL. HDL may also regulate platelet activity by reducing the synthesis of platelet activating factors in ECs [135, 136].

### 3.4.2 HDL and Coagulation

HDL also affects the exogenous coagulation pathway, which may lead to a reduced tendency for thrombosis. In addition to the fact that HDL can directly inactivate tissue factors and factor Va, HDL can down-regulate tissue factor expression in thrombin-stimulated endothelial cells by inhibiting the expression of RhoA and PI3K, and ultimately affecting the coagulation cascade [137]. High lipoproteins have also been shown to promote the cleavage of anticoagulant-activating protein C by Arg306 to cause factor Va inactivation [138]. However, some studies have shown that the ability of HDL components to enhance the activated protein C system is caused by the co-separation of anionic phospholipid membrane and liposomes [139].

### 3.4.3 HDL and Antithrombotic Factors

HDL in ECs induces the expression of prostacyclin (PGI2), and prostacyclin is a vasoactive prostaglandin that works in synergy with prostaglandins. It would function to inhibit NO in the vasomotor control and inhibit platelet activaty and slow down the proliferation of smooth muscle cells. In addition, the PI3K–Akt–eNOS signaling avtivated by endothelial SR-BI is involved in HDL-induced COX-2 expression and PGI2 releases [140, 141].

HDL mediates induction of prostacyclin by providing arachnoid acid or in part through induced Cox-2 expression. HDL regulates COX-2/PGI-S activity in ECs through p38 MAPK-dependent COX-2 mRNA stability and transcription and caveolin 1-dependent PGI synthase shuttle and COX-2 coupling [137, 141–143].

HDL can also reduce the expression of ECs adhesion molecules and monocyte adhesion. In terms of cell adhesion-related effects, the downregulation of VCAM-1, ICAM-1, and E-selectin by HDL is mediated by the previously described SR-B1 and S1P receptor transduction signal pathways. HDL signaling pathway inhibits endothelial adhesion molecules, and by binding to SR-BI, it induces a signal cascade to activate PI3-K/Akt phosphorylation and eNOS, therby producing biologically active NO. NO further inhibits TNF- $\alpha$  signaling through the nuclear factor (NF)-kB pathway, thereby inhibiting the transcription of endothelial adhesion molecule (VCAM) -1, such as vascular endothelial cell adhesion molecules. By this way, HDL can eventually mediate antithrombotic effects by affecting cell adhesion [144–146].

Apoptosis of ECs promotes thrombosis [147], and the anti-apoptotic effect of HDL may help reduce thrombosis [47].

### 3.5 HDL and Endothelial Anti-Inflammatory Effects

There are several mechanisms to explain the inhibitory effect of HDL on endothelial inflammatory activity [148]. HDL can inhibit the activation of endothelial proinflammatory transcription factor NF- $\kappa$ B [149, 150]. Endothelial anti-inflammatory effects of HDL are mediated by SR-BI, PDZK1, PI3K, eNOS, and S1P receptors [151]. HDL can inhibit VCAM-1 expression and endothelial monocyte adhesion, and the production of NO promotes these endothelium anti-inflammatory effects of HDL [152].

HDL main protein component apoA-1 exerts the anti-inflammatory ability. One of the potential mechanisms of apoA-1's anti-inflammatory effect is the release of cellular cholesterol ATP-binding transporter ABCA1 via the [151, 153]. Moreover, apoA-1 can also reduce palmitate-induced NF-kB activation by reducing Toll-like receptor-4 recruitment in lipid rafts [154]. HDL and apoA-1 may be achieved by depleting cholesterol in most cells, including endothelial cells. Cholesterol transporters such as ABCA1 and ABCG-1 on ECs also have antiinflammatory effects. Decreased expression of CD11b in ECs on the arterial wall is also closely related to HDL and is likely to be mediated by apoE, which is also responsible for reducing the lipid load in monocytes [153].

The lipid component of HDL also has antiinflammatory effects. The inhibitory effect of HDL on endothelial adhesion molecule expression depends on the type of phospholipids associated with HDL [155]. The lipid composition of HDL affects its anti-inflammatory ability and may be an important determinant of HDL function [148].

HDL protects LDL from oxidation, thereby reducing its effect on inflammatory activation of ECs. The antioxidant effect of HDL is mediated in part by the paraoxonase and arylesterase activities of the HDL-related enzyme paraoxonase 1 (PON1). Proteomics has shown that HDL can also exert its anti-inflammatory effects by regulating effects in the complement system and inhibiting proteases [156, 157].

Studies have also shown that apoA-1 reduces inflammatory activation of vascular endothelium by upregulating apoA-1. The HDL-dependent SR-B1 activation pathway may be mediated by the 24-dehydrocholesterol reductase (DHCR24) and anti-inflammatory heme oxygenase I (HO-1) mediated by the PI3K/Akt pathway. It also works by inhibiting the NF-kB pathway, which is also independent of the down-regulation of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 mediated by TNF- $\alpha$  [158, 159].

### 3.6 Heterogeneity of HDL

HDL, a vasoprotective molecule, has been proven to have a variety of vascular endothelial protective properties in previous studies, such as anti-inflammatory, anti-apoptosis, promoting endothelial cell migration and proliferation, antithrombosis, mediating vasodilation, and antiatherosclerotic properties [47, 109].

Considering the strong vasoprotective properties of HDL, HDL-targeting therapies seem to be promising. Therefore, attempts have been made to increase the HDL content with various interventions. In a clinical trial using torcetrapib, a cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP) inhibitor that can increase HDL cholesterol levels in plasma [160], to treat patients with high cardiovascular risk, despite patients receiving torcetrapib had increased HDL cholesterol levels by 72.1% from baseline, the risk of cardiovascular events and death also increased, leading to the termination before completion of the trial due to lack of clinical benefit [161]. In another study, investigators used dalcetrapib (another CETP inhibitor) to treat patients with an acute coronary syndrome (ACS), and the results showed that dalcetrapib increased HDL cholesterol levels without reducing the risk of cardiovascular events [162].

All attempts to increase HDL to treat cardiovascular disease have failed, which casts a shadow on the future of HDL-oriented therapies. It is realized that HDL levels in patients with high-risk cardiovascular disease have no clear association with the risk of cardiovascular events, because the vascular effects of HDL can be highly heterogeneous. The alteration of the endothelial protective function of HDL has been observed in patients with various diseases, such as coronary heart disease [63, 152, 163], systemic lupus erythematosus [164], antiphospholipid syndrome [165], diabetes [166–168], obesity [169], and chronic nephritis [170].

The heterogeneity of HDL is reflected in various aspects. First, the capacity of HDL to inhibit LDL oxidation is impaired under certain circumstances. Studies by Navab et al. [171] have shown that HDL can protect LDL from being oxidized by human arterial wall cells and play an anti-inflammatory role, and this protective effect is impaired in patients with hyperlipidic coronary heart disease. Research by Morgantini et al. [172] showed that the ability of HDL to inhibit LDL oxidation and LDL-induced chemotactic and adhesive activity of monocytes to endothelial cells is impaired in type 2 diabetes. In another study, Ansell et al. [163] found that the ability of HDL to inhibit LDL-induced monocyte chemotactic activity in patients with coronary heart disease was improved after simvastatin treatment. However, compared to age- and sex-matched healthy subjects, HDL in patients was still pro-inflammatory after treatment. Persegol et al. [166, 167] also observed that the ability of HDL to reverse endothelial-dependent vasodilation inhibition caused by oxidized LDL was impaired in patients with diabetes.

HDL can regulate the expression of eNOS, stimulate the production of endothelial NO, and then exert endothelial protective effects. However, in patients with diabetes and coronary heart disease, HDL promotes the production of peroxides, inhibits rather than promotes the synthesis of NO [152], greatly reduces the bioavailability of NO [168, 173], and finally loses the endothelial protective ability to promote endothelial repair as well as limit endothelial inflammatory activation.

A study by Riwanto et al. [63] found that, compared with HDL from healthy subjects,

which exerts anti-apoptotic effects on endothelial cells, HDL isolated from patients with coronary heart disease is pro-apoptotic. Failing to induce the expression of anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-xL in endothelial cells, HDL from patients with coronary heart disease stimulates the pro-apoptotic pathway of endothelial cells and promotes the activation of pro-apoptotic protein tBid.

HDL in patients with diabetes has been found to have an impaired ability to stimulate human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) proliferation, migration, and adhesion to extracellular matrix (ECM), which are essential for endothelial repair process and maintenance of vascular integrity [174]. Another study by Sajoscha et al. found that HDL from healthy subjects stimulated endothelial nitric oxide production, improved endothelial nitric oxide production and early endothelial progenitor cell-mediated endothelial repair, while in HDL from diabetic patients this endothelial repair effect has not been observed [168].

Several reasons lead to the heterogeneity of HDL. The first is the complexity of HDL particles. HDL particles contain more than 50 proteins (i.e. apoA-I, apoE, PON1, PAF-AH, and PAF-AH) and various lipids, the recombination of various components leads to heterogeneity of HDL [175]. In fact, HDL under physiological conditions is also a heterogeneous particle, with a density ranging from 1.063 to 1.21 g/ml and a diameter between 7-12 nm [175]. Such heterogeneity is caused by the difference in the relative content of apolipoproteins and lipids in HDL. ApoA-1, the principal protein in HDL, can switch its conformation according to the amount of bound lipid, and HDL particles are also being reshaped in this process. In humans, there are both small, dense, protein-rich HDL3 particles and large, light, lipid-rich HDL2 particles [175]. Compared with HDL2, HDL3 has stronger anti-oxidation, anti-inflammatory, and antiendothelial cell apoptosis capabilities, while HDL2 shows stronger ability to inhibit platelet aggregation than HDL3 [5]. It can be seen that different HDL subtypes are also heterogeneous in function.

Another reason is the modification of HDL-related components. Cavigiolio et al. [176] found that apoA-I can spontaneously and rapidly exchange between lipid-associated and lipid-free states. When apoA-I on HDL is oxidized by myeloperoxidase, its exchange kinetics is significantly reduced. Another study showed that paraoxidase 1 (PON1) in HDL inhibits malondialdehyde(MDA) formation. In patients with coronary heart disease, PON1 decreases and MDA content increases, while the ability of apoA-I to promote cellular cholesterol efflux and endothelial NO production is impaired as apoA-I in HDL is oxidized by MDA [152]. ApoA-I can also be replaced by serum amyloid A (SAA), an acute phase protein enriched in HDL in the acute phase of inflammation, which turning HDL into a pro-inflammatory factor, and stimulating the expression of monocyte chemotactic protein 1 (MCP1) [177, 178]. In fact, analysis of human atherosclerotic plaques found that apoA-I contains a large number of modifications associated with impaired atherosclerotic protective function of HDL particles [179, 180]. In diabetic patients, HDL is saccharified and triglyceride content is increased. Researchers have found that HDL triglyceride content is inversely proportional to the ability of HDL to reverse oxidized LDL-induced inhibition of vasodilation [167]. Similar phenomenon was also observed in patients with abdominal obesity [169], in which the content of apoA-I in HDL is reduced, and the proportion of triglycerides in HDL is increased. The study by Riwanto et al. [63] showed that the reduction of clusterin and the increase of apolipoprotein C-III content in HDL in patients with coronary heart disease are the mechanisms of the changes of anti-apoptotic and pro-apoptotic signaling pathways in endothelial cells.

### 3.7 Conclusion

In general, HDL exerts a variety of endothelial protective functions, including promoting reverse cholesterol transport, improving the availability of endothelial nitric oxide, anti-inflammatory, inhibiting LDL oxidation, and anti-thrombosis. We know that the formation of atherosclerosis is associated with the change of endothelial cell function, such as reduced availability of endothelial NO, increased apoptosis of endothelial cell, adhesion expression of molecules and chemokines, and pro-thrombotic activation. Studies have shown that low levels of HDL cholesterol are important predictor of atherosclerotic cardiovascular events, thus HDL also exerts direct anti-atherosclerotic properties on endothelial cells, helping to prevent the emergence or progression of atherosclerosis, and even promote repair and regression of the lesion.

Despite such powerful vascular endothelial protection, HDL has not been successfully used in the prevention or treatment of cardiovascular disease, one of the reasons is the complexity of the structure and function of HDL particles. HDL particles are highly heterogeneous, and their vasoprotective effect is impaired in patients with coronary heart disease, diabetes, and chronic renal insufficiency. HDL in patients has lost its ability to promote cholesterol efflux, and changed from anti-inflammatory particles to pro-inflammatory particles, such HDL is called "dysfunctional HDL." Changes in HDL functions are due to changes in its structure and composition, such as oxidative modification of HDL-related lipids and proteins. HDL cholesterol levels provide only information about the size of the HDL pool, but cannot help to predict the structure or function of HDL particles. At present, our understanding of the complex metabolism involved in HDL particles and the dynamic heterogeneity of HDL is still incomplete. It has been determined that plasma HDL cholesterol level is not an appropriate marker of HDL's influence on blood vessels, and that only HDL-cholesterol level is not enough as a therapeutic target for patients with cardiovascular disease. A better understanding of the relationship among HDL metabolism, structure, and biological functions will be the target for future clinical and basic research, and the development of new HDL-targeted therapies may need to consider the change in the vascular effects of HDL in

cardiovascular disease. The mechanism underlying protective effects of HDL on ECs and the loss of it, rather than plasma HDL cholesterol levels, may be a promising target.

### References

- 1. Michiels C (2003) Endothelial cell functions. J Cell Physiol 196:430–443
- Holy EW, Akhmedov A, Speer T, Camici GG, Zewinger S, Bonetti N, Beer JH, Luscher TF, Tanner FC (2016) Carbamylated Low-Density Lipoproteins Induce a Prothrombotic State Via LOX-1: Impact on Arterial Thrombus Formation In Vivo. J Am Coll Cardiol 68:1664–1676
- 3. Gimbrone MA Jr, Garcia-Cardena G (2016) Endothelial Cell Dysfunction and the Pathobiology of Atherosclerosis. Circ Res 118:620–636
- Calabresi L, Gomaraschi M, Franceschini G (2003) Endothelial protection by high-density lipoproteins: from bench to bedside. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23:1724–1731
- Tran-Dinh A, Diallo D, Delbosc S, Varela-Perez LM, Dang QB, Lapergue B, Burillo E, Michel JB, Levoye A, Martin-Ventura JL, Meilhac O (2013) HDL and endothelial protection. Br J Pharmacol 169:493–511
- O'Connell BJ, Genest J Jr (2001) High-density lipoproteins and endothelial function. Circulation 104:1978–1983
- Keene D, Price C, Shun-Shin MJ, Francis DP (2014) Effect on cardiovascular risk of high density lipoprotein targeted drug treatments niacin, fibrates, and CETP inhibitors: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials including 117,411 patients. BMJ 349: g4379
- Tardif JC, Gregoire J, L'Allier PL, Ibrahim R, Lesperance J, Heinonen TM, Kouz S, Berry C, Basser R, Lavoie MA, Guertin MC, Rodes-Cabau J (2007) Effect of r HDLoA-S and Efficacy I. Effects of reconstituted high-density lipoprotein infusions on coronary atherosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 297:1675–1682
- Rosenson RS, Brewer HB Jr, Ansell BJ, Barter P, Chapman MJ, Heinecke JW, Kontush A, Tall AR, Webb NR (2016) Dysfunctional HDL and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Nat Rev Cardiol 13:48– 60
- Wilkerson BA, Argraves KM (2014) The role of sphingosine-1-phosphate in endothelial barrier function. Biochim Biophys Acta 1841:1403–1412
- Kratzer A, Giral H, Landmesser U (2014) Highdensity lipoproteins as modulators of endothelial cell functions: alterations in patients with coronary artery disease. Cardiovasc Res 103:350–361
- 12. Dejana E, Tournier-Lasserve E, Weinstein BM (2009) The control of vascular integrity by

endothelial cell junctions: molecular basis and pathological implications. Dev Cell 16:209–221

- David L, Mallet C, Keramidas M, Lamande N, Gasc JM, Dupuis-Girod S, Plauchu H, Feige JJ, Bailly S (2008) Bone morphogenetic protein-9 is a circulating vascular quiescence factor. Circ Res 102:914–922
- 14. Dvorak AM, Kohn S, Morgan ES, Fox P, Nagy JA, Dvorak HF (1996) The vesiculo-vacuolar organelle (VVO): a distinct endothelial cell structure that provides a transcellular pathway for macromolecular extravasation. J Leukoc Biol 59:100–115
- Shasby DM, Shasby SS, Sullivan JM, Peach MJ (1982) Role of endothelial cell cytoskeleton in control of endothelial permeability. Circ Res 51:657–661
- Dudek SM, Garcia JG (1985) Cytoskeletal regulation of pulmonary vascular permeability. J Appl Physiol 2001(91):1487–1500
- Seetharam D, Mineo C, Gormley AK, Gibson LL, Vongpatanasin W, Chambliss KL, Hahner LD, Cummings ML, Kitchens RL, Marcel YL, Rader DJ, Shaul PW (2006) High-density lipoprotein promotes endothelial cell migration and reendothelialization via scavenger receptor-B type I. Circ Res 98:63–72
- Hannun YA, Obeid LM (2008) Principles of bioactive lipid signalling: lessons from sphingolipids. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 9:139–150
- Xiong Y, Hla T (2014) S1P control of endothelial integrity. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 378:85–105
- 20. Yatomi Y, Igarashi Y, Yang L, Hisano N, Qi R, Asazuma N, Satoh K, Ozaki Y, Kume S (1997) Sphingosine 1-phosphate, a bioactive sphingolipid abundantly stored in platelets, is a normal constituent of human plasma and serum. J Biochem 121:969– 973
- Jessup W (2008) Lipid metabolism: sources and stability of plasma sphingosine-1-phosphate. Curr Opin Lipidol 19:543–544
- 22. Blondeau N, Lai Y, Tyndall S, Popolo M, Topalkara K, Pru JK, Zhang L, Kim H, Liao JK, Ding K, Waeber C (2007) Distribution of sphingosine kinase activity and mRNA in rodent brain. J Neurochem 103:509–517
- 23. Kurano M, Tsukamoto K, Ohkawa R, Hara M, Iino J, Kageyama Y, Ikeda H, Yatomi Y (2013) Liver involvement in sphingosine 1-phosphate dynamism revealed by adenoviral hepatic overexpression of apolipoprotein M. Atherosclerosis 229:102–109
- 24. Pappu R, Schwab SR, Cornelissen I, Pereira JP, Regard JB, Xu Y, Camerer E, Zheng YW, Huang Y, Cyster JG, Coughlin SR (2007) Promotion of lymphocyte egress into blood and lymph by distinct sources of sphingosine-1-phosphate. Science 316:295–298
- 25. Ito K, Anada Y, Tani M, Ikeda M, Sano T, Kihara A, Igarashi Y (2007) Lack of sphingosine 1-phosphatedegrading enzymes in erythrocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 357:212–217

- 26. Venkataraman K, Lee YM, Michaud J, Thangada S, Ai Y, Bonkovsky HL, Parikh NS, Habrukowich C, Hla T (2008) Vascular endothelium as a contributor of plasma sphingosine 1-phosphate. Circ Res 102: 669–676
- 27. Camerer E, Regard JB, Cornelissen I, Srinivasan Y, Duong DN, Palmer D, Pham TH, Wong JS, Pappu R, Coughlin SR (2009) Sphingosine-1-phosphate in the plasma compartment regulates basal and inflammation-induced vascular leak in mice. J Clin Invest 119:1871–1879
- Hisano Y, Kobayashi N, Yamaguchi A, Nishi T (2012) Mouse SPNS2 functions as a sphingosine-1phosphate transporter in vascular endothelial cells. PLoS One 7:e38941
- 29. Fukuhara S, Simmons S, Kawamura S, Inoue A, Orba Y, Tokudome T, Sunden Y, Arai Y, Moriwaki K, Ishida J, Uemura A, Kiyonari H, Abe T, Fukamizu A, Hirashima M, Sawa H, Aoki J, Ishii M, Mochizuki N (2012) The sphingosine-1phosphate transporter Spns2 expressed on endothelial cells regulates lymphocyte trafficking in mice. J Clin Invest 122:1416–1426
- 30. Assanasen C, Mineo C, Seetharam D, Yuhanna IS, Marcel YL, Connelly MA, Williams DL, de la Llera-Moya M, Shaul PW, Silver DL (2005) Cholesterol binding, efflux, and a PDZ-interacting domain of scavenger receptor–BI mediate HDL-initiated signaling. J Clin Invest 115:969–977
- 31. Christoffersen C, Obinata H, Kumaraswamy SB, Galvani S, Ahnstrom J, Sevvana M, Egerer-Sieber C, Muller YA, Hla T, Nielsen LB, Dahlback B (2011) Endothelium-protective sphingosine-1-phosphate provided by HDL-associated apolipoprotein M. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:9613–9618
- 32. Murata N, Sato K, Kon J, Tomura H, Yanagita M, Kuwabara A, Ui M, Okajima F (2000) Interaction of sphingosine 1-phosphate with plasma components, including lipoproteins, regulates the lipid receptormediated actions. Biochem J 352(Pt 3):809–815
- 33. Waeber C (2013) Lysophospholipid receptors. In: Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) signaling and the vasculature. John Wiley & Sons, Inc, New York, pp 313–347
- 34. Lee MJ, Van Brocklyn JR, Thangada S, Liu CH, Hand AR, Menzeleev R, Spiegel S, Hla T (1998) Sphingosine-1-phosphate as a ligand for the G protein-coupled receptor EDG-1. Science 279: 1552–1555
- 35. Ancellin N, Colmont C, Su J, Li Q, Mittereder N, Chae SS, Stefansson S, Liau G, Hla T (2002) Extracellular export of sphingosine kinase-1 enzyme. Sphingosine 1-phosphate generation and the induction of angiogenic vascular maturation. J Biol Chem 277:6667–6675
- 36. Singleton PA, Moreno-Vinasco L, Sammani S, Wanderling SL, Moss J, Garcia JG (2007) Attenuation of vascular permeability by methylnaltrexone:

role of mOP-R and S1P3 transactivation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 37:222–231

- 37. Sanchez T, Skoura A, Wu MT, Casserly B, Harrington EO, Hla T (2007) Induction of vascular permeability by the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor-2 (S1P2R) and its downstream effectors ROCK and PTEN. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27:1312–1318
- 38. Sander EE, ten Klooster JP, van Delft S, van der Kammen RA, Collard JG (1999) Rac downregulates Rho activity: reciprocal balance between both GTPases determines cellular morphology and migratory behavior. J Cell Biol 147:1009–1022
- 39. Lee JF, Zeng Q, Ozaki H, Wang L, Hand AR, Hla T, Wang E, Lee MJ (2006) Dual roles of tight junctionassociated protein, zonula occludens-1, in sphingosine 1-phosphate-mediated endothelial chemotaxis and barrier integrity. J Biol Chem 281:29190–29200
- 40. Sun X, Shikata Y, Wang L, Ohmori K, Watanabe N, Wada J, Shikata K, Birukov KG, Makino H, Jacobson JR, Dudek SM, Garcia JG (2009) Enhanced interaction between focal adhesion and adherens junction proteins: involvement in sphingosine 1-phosphate-induced endothelial barrier enhancement. Microvasc Res 77:304–313
- 41. Triantafyllidi H, Benas D, Vlachos S, Vlastos D, Pavlidis G, Schoinas A, Varoudi M, Birmpa D, Moutsatsou P, Lekakis J, Ikonomidis I (2018) HDL cholesterol levels and endothelial glycocalyx integrity in treated hypertensive patients. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) 20:1615–1623
- 42. Pitas RE, Boyles JK, Lee SH, Hui D, Weisgraber KH (1987) Lipoproteins and their receptors in the central nervous system. Characterization of the lipoproteins in cerebrospinal fluid and identification of apolipoprotein B,E(LDL) receptors in the brain. J Biol Chem 262:14352–14360
- 43. Fagan AM, Holtzman DM, Munson G, Mathur T, Schneider D, Chang LK, Getz GS, Reardon CA, Lukens J, Shah JA, LaDu MJ (1999) Unique lipoproteins secreted by primary astrocytes from wild type, apoE (-/-), and human apoE transgenic mice. J Biol Chem 274:30001–30007
- 44. Bell RD, Winkler EA, Singh I, Sagare AP, Deane R, Wu Z, Holtzman DM, Betsholtz C, Armulik A, Sallstrom J, Berk BC, Zlokovic BV (2012) Apolipoprotein E controls cerebrovascular integrity via cyclophilin A. Nature 485:512–516
- Zlokovic BV (2013) Cerebrovascular effects of apolipoprotein E: implications for Alzheimer disease. JAMA Neurol 70:440–444
- Cunningham KS, Gotlieb AI (2005) The role of shear stress in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Lab Invest 85:9–23
- Mineo C, Deguchi H, Griffin JH, Shaul PW (2006) Endothelial and antithrombotic actions of HDL. Circ Res 98:1352–1364
- Nagata S (2018) Apoptosis and clearance of apoptotic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 36:489–517

- Yang H, Mohamed AS, Zhou SH (2012) Oxidized low density lipoprotein, stem cells, and atherosclerosis. Lipids Health Dis 11:85
- Sata M, Walsh K (1998) Oxidized LDL activates fas-mediated endothelial cell apoptosis. J Clin Invest 102:1682–1689
- Sugano M, Tsuchida K, Makino N (2000) Highdensity lipoproteins protect endothelial cells from tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 272:872–876
- 52. Suc I, Escargueil-Blanc I, Troly M, Salvayre R, Negre-Salvayre A (1997) HDL and ApoA prevent cell death of endothelial cells induced by oxidized LDL. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17:2158–2166
- 53. de Souza JA, Vindis C, Negre-Salvayre A, Rye KA, Couturier M, Therond P, Chantepie S, Salvayre R, Chapman MJ, Kontush A (2010) Small, dense HDL 3 particles attenuate apoptosis in endothelial cells: pivotal role of apolipoprotein A-I. J Cell Mol Med 14:608–620
- 54. Kasprowska-Liskiewicz D (2017) The cell on the edge of life and death: Crosstalk between autophagy and apoptosis. Postepy Hig Med Dosw (Online) 71: 825–841
- 55. Lee WS, Yoo WH, Chae HJ (2015) ER Stress and Autophagy. Curr Mol Med 15:735–745
- 56. Muller C, Salvayre R, Negre-Salvayre A, Vindis C (2011) HDLs inhibit endoplasmic reticulum stress and autophagic response induced by oxidized LDLs. Cell Death Differ 18:817–828
- 57. Radojkovic C, Genoux A, Pons V, Combes G, de Jonge H, Champagne E, Rolland C, Perret B, Collet X, Terce F, Martinez LO (2009) Stimulation of cell surface F1-ATPase activity by apolipoprotein A-I inhibits endothelial cell apoptosis and promotes proliferation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 29: 1125–1130
- 58. Kim YM, Kim JH, Kwon HM, Lee DH, Won MH, Kwon YG, Kim YM (2013) Korean Red Ginseng protects endothelial cells from serum-deprived apoptosis by regulating Bcl-2 family protein dynamics and caspase S-nitrosylation. J Ginseng Res 37:413– 424
- 59. Kwon YG, Min JK, Kim KM, Lee DJ, Billiar TR, Kim YM (2001) Sphingosine 1-phosphate protects human umbilical vein endothelial cells from serumdeprived apoptosis by nitric oxide production. J Biol Chem 276:10627–10633
- 60. Kimura T, Sato K, Kuwabara A, Tomura H, Ishiwara M, Kobayashi I, Ui M, Okajima F (2001) Sphingosine 1-phosphate may be a major component of plasma lipoproteins responsible for the cytoprotective actions in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 276:31780–31785
- 61. Nofer JR, Levkau B, Wolinska I, Junker R, Fobker M, von Eckardstein A, Seedorf U, Assmann G (2001) Suppression of endothelial cell apoptosis by high density lipoproteins (HDL) and HDL-associated lysosphingolipids. J Biol Chem 276:34480–34485

- 62. Kimura T, Sato K, Malchinkhuu E, Tomura H, Tamama K, Kuwabara A, Murakami M, Okajima F (2003) High-density lipoprotein stimulates endothelial cell migration and survival through sphingosine 1-phosphate and its receptors. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23:1283–1288
- 63. Riwanto M, Rohrer L, Roschitzki B, Besler C, Mocharla P, Mueller M, Perisa D, Heinrich K, Altwegg L, von Eckardstein A, Luscher TF, Landmesser U (2013) Altered activation of endothelial anti- and proapoptotic pathways by high-density lipoprotein from patients with coronary artery disease: role of high-density lipoprotein-proteome remodeling. Circulation 127:891–904
- 64. Kruger AL, Peterson S, Turkseven S, Kaminski PM, Zhang FF, Quan S, Wolin MS, Abraham NG (2005) D-4F induces heme oxygenase-1 and extracellular superoxide dismutase, decreases endothelial cell sloughing, and improves vascular reactivity in rat model of diabetes. Circulation 111:3126–3134
- 65. Zhang M, Malik AB, Rehman J (2014) Endothelial progenitor cells and vascular repair. Curr Opin Hematol 21:224–228
- 66. Tauber JP, Cheng J, Gospodarowicz D (1980) Effect of high and low density lipoproteins on proliferation of cultured bovine vascular endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 66:696–708
- 67. Tauber JP, Cheng J, Massoglia S, Gospodarowicz D (1981) High density lipoproteins and the growth of vascular endothelial cells in serum-free medium. In Vitro 17:519–530
- 68. Murugesan G, Sa G, Fox PL (1994) High-density lipoprotein stimulates endothelial cell movement by a mechanism distinct from basic fibroblast growth factor. Circ Res 74:1149–1156
- 69. Miura S, Fujino M, Matsuo Y, Kawamura A, Tanigawa H, Nishikawa H, Saku K (2003) High density lipoprotein-induced angiogenesis requires the activation of Ras/MAP kinase in human coronary artery endothelial cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23:802–808
- 70. Kimura T, Watanabe T, Sato K, Kon J, Tomura H, Tamama K, Kuwabara A, Kanda T, Kobayashi I, Ohta H, Ui M, Okajima F (2000) Sphingosine 1-phosphate stimulates proliferation and migration of human endothelial cells possibly through the lipid receptors, Edg-1 and Edg-3. Biochem J 348 (Pt 1):71–76
- 71. Lee MJ, Thangada S, Paik JH, Sapkota GP, Ancellin N, Chae SS, Wu M, Morales-Ruiz M, Sessa WC, Alessi DR, Hla T (2001) Akt-mediated phosphorylation of the G protein-coupled receptor EDG-1 is required for endothelial cell chemotaxis. Mol Cell 8:693–704
- 72. Paik JH, Chae S, Lee MJ, Thangada S, Hla T (2001) Sphingosine 1-phosphate-induced endothelial cell migration requires the expression of EDG-1 and EDG-3 receptors and Rho-dependent activation of

alpha vbeta3- and beta1-containing integrins. J Biol Chem 276:11830–11837

- 73. Liu F, Verin AD, Wang P, Day R, Wersto RP, Chrest FJ, English DK, Garcia JG (2001) Differential regulation of sphingosine-1-phosphate- and VEGFinduced endothelial cell chemotaxis. Involvement of G(ialpha2)-linked Rho kinase activity. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 24:711–719
- 74. Rikitake Y, Hirata K, Kawashima S, Ozaki M, Takahashi T, Ogawa W, Inoue N, Yokoyama M (2002) Involvement of endothelial nitric oxide in sphingosine-1-phosphate-induced angiogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22:108–114
- 75. Tatematsu S, Francis SA, Natarajan P, Rader DJ, Saghatelian A, Brown JD, Michel T, Plutzky J (2013) Endothelial lipase is a critical determinant of high-density lipoprotein-stimulated sphingosine 1-phosphate-dependent signaling in vascular endothelium. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 33:1788– 1794
- 76. Zhu W, Saddar S, Seetharam D, Chambliss KL, Longoria C, Silver DL, Yuhanna IS, Shaul PW, Mineo C (2008) The scavenger receptor class B type I adaptor protein PDZK1 maintains endothelial monolayer integrity. Circ Res 102:480–487
- 77. Tournier JF, Bayard F, Tauber JP (1984) Rapid purification and activity of apolipoprotein C1 on the proliferation of bovine vascular endothelial cells in vitro. Biochim Biophys Acta 804:216–220
- Darbon JM, Tournier JF, Tauber JP, Bayard F (1986) Possible role of protein phosphorylation in the mitogenic effect of high density lipoproteins on cultured vascular endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 261:8002– 8008
- 79. Castaing-Berthou A, Malet N, Radojkovic C, Cabou C, Gayral S, Martinez LO, Laffargue M (2017) PI3Kbeta Plays a Key Role in Apolipoprotein A-I-Induced Endothelial Cell Proliferation Through Activation of the Ecto-F1-ATPase/P2Y1 Receptors. Cell Physiol Biochem 42:579–593
- Fadini GP, Agostini C, Sartore S, Avogaro A (2007) Endothelial progenitor cells in the natural history of atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 194:46–54
- 81. Schneller D, Hofer-Warbinek R, Sturtzel C, Lipnik K, Gencelli B, Seltenhammer M, Wen M, Testori J, Bilban M, Borowski A, Windwarder M, Kapel SS, Besemfelder E, Cejka P, Habertheuer A, Schlechta B, Majdic O, Altmann F, Kocher A, Augustin HG, Luttmann W, Hofer E (2019) Cytokine-Like 1 Is a Novel Proangiogenic Factor Secreted by and Mediating Functions of Endothelial Progenitor Cells. Circ Res 124:243–255
- Ingram DA, Caplice NM, Yoder MC (2005) Unresolved questions, changing definitions, and novel paradigms for defining endothelial progenitor cells. Blood 106:1525–1531
- Fadini GP, Losordo D, Dimmeler S (2012) Critical reevaluation of endothelial progenitor cell

phenotypes for therapeutic and diagnostic use. Circ Res 110:624-637

- 84. Basile DP, Yoder MC (2014) Circulating and tissue resident endothelial progenitor cells. J Cell Physiol 229:10–16
- Hagensen MK, Vanhoutte PM, Bentzon JF (2012) Arterial endothelial cells: still the craftsmen of regenerated endothelium. Cardiovasc Res 95:281– 289
- 86. Tso C, Martinic G, Fan WH, Rogers C, Rye KA, Barter PJ (2006) High-density lipoproteins enhance progenitor-mediated endothelium repair in mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26:1144–1149
- 87. Sumi M, Sata M, Miura S, Rye KA, Toya N, Kanaoka Y, Yanaga K, Ohki T, Saku K, Nagai R (2007) Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein stimulates differentiation of endothelial progenitor cells and enhances ischemia-induced angiogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27:813–818
- Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A, Silver M, van der Zee R, Li T, Witzenbichler B, Schatteman G, Isner JM (1997) Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. Science 275:964– 967
- 89. Feng Y, Jacobs F, Van Craeyveld E, Brunaud C, Snoeys J, Tjwa M, Van Linthout S, De Geest B (2008) Human ApoA-I transfer attenuates transplant arteriosclerosis via enhanced incorporation of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28:278–283
- 90. Feng Y, van Eck M, Van Craeyveld E, Jacobs F, Carlier V, Van Linthout S, Erdel M, Tjwa M, De Geest B (2009) Critical role of scavenger receptor-BI-expressing bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells in the attenuation of allograft vasculopathy after human apo A-I transfer. Blood 113:755–764
- Petoumenos V, Nickenig G, Werner N (2009) Highdensity lipoprotein exerts vasculoprotection via endothelial progenitor cells. J Cell Mol Med 13: 4623–4635
- 92. Zhang Q, Yin H, Liu P, Zhang H, She M (2010) Essential role of HDL on endothelial progenitor cell proliferation with PI3K/Akt/cyclin D1 as the signal pathway. Exp Biol Med 235:1082–1092
- 93. Feng Y, Gordts SC, Chen F, Hu Y, Van Craeyveld E, Jacobs F, Carlier V, Feng Y, Zhang Z, Xu Q, Ni Y, De Geest B (2011) Topical HDL administration reduces vein graft atherosclerosis in apo E deficient mice. Atherosclerosis 214:271–278
- 94. Huang CY, Lin FY, Shih CM, Au HK, Chang YJ, Nakagami H, Morishita R, Chang NC, Shyu KG, Chen JW (2012) Moderate to high concentrations of high-density lipoprotein from healthy subjects paradoxically impair human endothelial progenitor cells and related angiogenesis by activating Rho-associated kinase pathways. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 32:2405–2417

- 95. Pellegatta F, Bragheri M, Grigore L, Raselli S, Maggi FM, Brambilla C, Reduzzi A, Pirillo A, Norata GD, Catapano AL (2006) In vitro isolation of circulating endothelial progenitor cells is related to the high density lipoprotein plasma levels. Int J Mol Med 17: 203–208
- 96. van Oostrom O, Nieuwdorp M, Westerweel PE, Hoefer IE, Basser R, Stroes ES, Verhaar MC (2007) Reconstituted HDL increases circulating endothelial progenitor cells in patients with type 2 diabetes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27:1864–1865
- Maruhashi T, Kihara Y, Higashi Y (2018) Assessment of endothelium-independent vasodilation: from methodology to clinical perspectives. J Hypertens 36: 1460–1467
- Kugiyama K, Kerns SA, Morrisett JD, Roberts R, Henry PD (1990) Impairment of endotheliumdependent arterial relaxation by lysolecithin in modified low-density lipoproteins. Nature 344:160– 162
- 99. Matsuda Y, Hirata K, Inoue N, Suematsu M, Kawashima S, Akita H, Yokoyama M (1993) High density lipoprotein reverses inhibitory effect of oxidized low density lipoprotein on endotheliumdependent arterial relaxation. Circ Res 72:1103–1109
- 100. Nofer JR, van der Giet M, Tolle M, Wolinska I, von Wnuck LK, Baba HA, Tietge UJ, Godecke A, Ishii I, Kleuser B, Schafers M, Fobker M, Zidek W, Assmann G, Chun J, Levkau B (2004) HDL induces NO-dependent vasorelaxation via the lysophospholipid receptor S1P3. J Clin Invest 113: 569–581
- 101. Toda N, Ayajiki K, Okamura T (2005) Nitric oxide and penile erectile function. Pharmacol Ther 106: 233–266
- 102. Michel JB, Feron O, Sacks D, Michel T (1997) Reciprocal regulation of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase by Ca2+-calmodulin and caveolin. J Biol Chem 272:15583–15586
- 103. Muraki K, Imaizumi Y (2001) A novel function of sphingosine-1-phosphate to activate a non-selective cation channel in human endothelial cells. J Physiol 537:431–441
- 104. Igarashi J, Bernier SG, Michel T (2001) Sphingosine 1-phosphate and activation of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase. differential regulation of Akt and MAP kinase pathways by EDG and bradykinin receptors in vascular endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 276: 12420–12426
- 105. Igarashi J, Michel T (2000) Agonist-modulated targeting of the EDG-1 receptor to plasmalemmal caveolae. eNOS activation by sphingosine 1-phosphate and the role of caveolin-1 in sphingolipid signal transduction. J Biol Chem 275: 32363–32370
- 106. Igarashi J, Michel T (2001) Sphingosine 1-phosphate and isoform-specific activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase beta. Evidence for divergence and

convergence of receptor-regulated endothelial nitricoxide synthase signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 276: 36281–36288

- 107. Morales-Ruiz M, Lee MJ, Zollner S, Gratton JP, Scotland R, Shiojima I, Walsh K, Hla T, Sessa WC (2001) Sphingosine 1-phosphate activates Akt, nitric oxide production, and chemotaxis through a Gi protein/phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway in endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 276:19672–19677
- Levkau B, Hermann S, Theilmeier G, van der Giet M, Chun J, Schober O, Schafers M (2004) High-density lipoprotein stimulates myocardial perfusion in vivo. Circulation 110:3355–3359
- 109. Yuhanna IS, Zhu Y, Cox BE, Hahner LD, Osborne-Lawrence S, Lu P, Marcel YL, Anderson RG, Mendelsohn ME, Hobbs HH, Shaul PW (2001) High-density lipoprotein binding to scavenger receptor-BI activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Nat Med 7:853–857
- 110. Mineo C, Yuhanna IS, Quon MJ, Shaul PW (2003) High density lipoprotein-induced endothelial nitricoxide synthase activation is mediated by Akt and MAP kinases. J Biol Chem 278:9142–9149
- 111. Ramet ME, Ramet M, Lu Q, Nickerson M, Savolainen MJ, Malzone A, Karas RH (2003) Highdensity lipoprotein increases the abundance of eNOS protein in human vascular endothelial cells by increasing its half-life. J Am Coll Cardiol 41:2288– 2297
- 112. Drew BG, Fidge NH, Gallon-Beaumier G, Kemp BE, Kingwell BA (2004) High-density lipoprotein and apolipoprotein AI increase endothelial NO synthase activity by protein association and multisite phosphorylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:6999– 7004
- 113. Ou J, Ou Z, Jones DW, Holzhauer S, Hatoum OA, Ackerman AW, Weihrauch DW, Gutterman DD, Guice K, Oldham KT, Hillery CA, Pritchard KA Jr (2003) L-4F, an apolipoprotein A-1 mimetic, dramatically improves vasodilation in hypercholesterolemia and sickle cell disease. Circulation 107:2337–2341
- 114. Ou J, Wang J, Xu H, Ou Z, Sorci-Thomas MG, Jones DW, Signorino P, Densmore JC, Kaul S, Oldham KT, Pritchard KA Jr (2005) Effects of D-4F on vasodilation and vessel wall thickness in hypercholesterolemic LDL receptor-null and LDL receptor/ apolipoprotein A-I double-knockout mice on Western diet. Circ Res 97:1190–1197
- 115. Gong M, Wilson M, Kelly T, Su W, Dressman J, Kincer J, Matveev SV, Guo L, Guerin T, Li XA, Zhu W, Uittenbogaard A, Smart EJ (2003) HDL-associated estradiol stimulates endothelial NO synthase and vasodilation in an SR-BI-dependent manner. J Clin Invest 111:1579–1587
- 116. Saddar S, Carriere V, Lee WR, Tanigaki K, Yuhanna IS, Parathath S, Morel E, Warrier M, Sawyer JK, Gerard RD, Temel RE, Brown JM, Connelly M, Mineo C, Shaul PW (2013) Scavenger receptor

class B type I is a plasma membrane cholesterol sensor. Circ Res 112:140–151

- 117. Maranhão RC, Filho AC, Sigal GA, Chagas ACP, da Luz PL (2018) HDL and endothelium (Chap. 22). In: Da Luz PL, Libby P, Chagas ACP, Laurindo FRM (eds) Endothelium and cardiovascular diseases. Academic Press, London, UK, pp 297–317. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812348-5.00022-2
- 118. Terasaka N, Yu S, Yvan-Charvet L, Wang N, Mzhavia N, Langlois R, Pagler T, Li R, Welch CL, Goldberg IJ, Tall AR (2008) ABCG1 and HDL protect against endothelial dysfunction in mice fed a high-cholesterol diet. J Clin Invest 118:3701–3713
- 119. Terasaka N, Westerterp M, Koetsveld J, Fernandez-Hernando C, Yvan-Charvet L, Wang N, Sessa WC, Tall AR (2010) ATP-binding cassette transporter G1 and high-density lipoprotein promote endothelial NO synthesis through a decrease in the interaction of caveolin-1 and endothelial NO synthase. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30:2219–2225
- 120. Shaul PW, Smart EJ, Robinson LJ, German Z, Yuhanna IS, Ying Y, Anderson RG, Michel T (1996) Acylation targets emdothelial nitric-oxide synthase to plasmalemmal caveolae. J Biol Chem 271:6518–6522
- 121. Feron O, Belhassen L, Kobzik L, Smith TW, Kelly RA, Michel T (1996) Endothelial nitric oxide synthase targeting to caveolae. Specific interactions with caveolin isoforms in cardiac myocytes and endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 271:22810–22814
- 122. Blair A, Shaul PW, Yuhanna IS, Conrad PA, Smart EJ (1999) Oxidized low density lipoprotein displaces endothelial nitric-oxide synthase (eNOS) from plasmalemmal caveolae and impairs eNOS activation. J Biol Chem 274:32512–32519
- 123. Uittenbogaard A, Shaul PW, Yuhanna IS, Blair A, Smart EJ (2000) High density lipoprotein prevents oxidized low density lipoprotein-induced inhibition of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase localization and activation in caveolae. J Biol Chem 275:11278– 11283
- 124. Kuvin JT, Ramet ME, Patel AR, Pandian NG, Mendelsohn ME, Karas RH (2002) A novel mechanism for the beneficial vascular effects of highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol: enhanced vasorelaxation and increased endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression. Am Heart J 144:165–172
- 125. Chu LY, Liou JY, Wu KK (2015) Prostacyclin protects vascular integrity via PPAR/14-3-3 pathway. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat 118-119:19–27
- 126. Fleisher LN, Tall AR, Witte LD, Miller RW, Cannon PJ (1982) Stimulation of arterial endothelial cell prostacyclin synthesis by high density lipoproteins. J Biol Chem 257:6653–6655
- 127. Pomerantz KB, Fleisher LN, Tall AR, Cannon PJ (1985) Enrichment of endothelial cell arachidonate by lipid transfer from high density lipoproteins: relationship to prostaglandin I2 synthesis. J Lipid Res 26: 1269–1276

- 128. Spector AA, Scanu AM, Kaduce TL, Figard PH, Fless GM, Czervionke RL (1985) Effect of human plasma lipoproteins on prostacyclin production by cultured endothelial cells. J Lipid Res 26:288–297
- 129. Yui Y, Aoyama T, Morishita H, Takahashi M, Takatsu Y, Kawai C (1988) Serum prostacyclin stabilizing factor is identical to apolipoprotein A-I (Apo A-I). A novel function of Apo A-I. J Clin Invest 82:803–807
- 130. Cockerill GW, Saklatvala J, Ridley SH, Yarwood H, Miller NE, Oral B, Nithyanathan S, Taylor G, Haskard DO (1999) High-density lipoproteins differentially modulate cytokine-induced expression of E-selectin and cyclooxygenase-2. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19:910–917
- 131. Symons JD (1990) Longitudinal and cross-sectional studies of the relationship between 6-keto PGF1 alpha and high density lipoproteins. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 39:159–165
- 132. Naqvi TZ, Shah PK, Ivey PA, Molloy MD (1999) Evidence that high-density lipoprotein cholesterol is an independent predictor of acute platelet-dependent thrombus formation. Am J Cardiol 84:1011–1017
- 133. Calkin AC, Drew BG, Ono A, Duffy SJ, Gordon MV, Schoenwaelder SM, Sviridov D, Cooper ME, Kingwell BA, Jackson SP (2009) Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein attenuates platelet function in individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus by promoting cholesterol efflux. Circulation 120:2095– 2104
- 134. Riwanto M, Landmesser U (2013) High density lipoproteins and endothelial functions: mechanistic insights and alterations in cardiovascular disease. J Lipid Res 54:3227–3243
- 135. Brodde MF, Korporaal SJA, Herminghaus G, Fobker M, Van Berkel TJC, Tietge UJF, Robenek H, Van Eck M, Kehrel BE, Nofer J-R (2011) Native high-density lipoproteins inhibit platelet activation via scavenger receptor BI. Atherosclerosis 215:374–382
- 136. Sugatani J (1996) High-density lipoprotein inhibits the synthesis of platelet-activating factor in human vascular endothelial cells. J Lipid Mediat Cell SignaI 13:73–88
- 137. Viswambharan H, Ming XF, Zhu S, Hubsch A, Lerch P, Vergeres G, Rusconi S, Yang Z (2004) Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein inhibits thrombin-induced endothelial tissue factor expression through inhibition of RhoA and stimulation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase but not Akt/endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Circ Res 94:918–925
- 138. Griffin JH, Kojima K, Banka CL, Curtiss LK, Fernandez JA (1999) High-density lipoprotein enhancement of anticoagulant activities of plasma protein S and activated protein C. J Clinical Invest 103:219–227
- 139. Oslakovic C, Krisinger MJ, Andersson A, Jauhiainen M, Ehnholm C, Dahlback B (2009)

Anionic phospholipids lose their procoagulant properties when incorporated into high density lipoproteins. J Biol Chem 284:5896–5904

- 140. Fleisher LNTA, Witte LD, Miller RW (1982) Stimulation of arterial endothe-lial cell prostacyclin synthesis by high density lipoproteins. J Biol Chem 257: 6653–6655
- 141. Zhang QH, Zu XY, Cao RX, Liu JH, Mo ZC, Zeng Y, Li YB, Xiong SL, Liu X, Liao DF, Yi GH (2012) An involvement of SR-B1 mediated PI3K-Akt-eNOS signaling in HDL-induced cyclooxygenase 2 expression and prostacyclin production in endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 420: 17–23
- 142. Cockerill GWSJ, Ridley SH, Yarwood H, Miller NE, Oral B, Nithyanathan S, Taylor G, Haskard DO (1999) High-density lipoproteins differentially modulate cytokine-induced expression of E-selectin and cyclooxygenase-2. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19:910–917
- 143. Norata GDCE, Inoue H, Catapano AL (1996) HDL3 induces cyclooxygenase-2 ex-pression and prostacyclin release in human endothelial cells via a p38 MAPK/CRE-dependent pathway: effects on COX-2/ PGI-synthase coupling. Am J Phys 271:C1504– C1511
- 144. Murphy AJ, Woollard KJ (2010) High-density lipoprotein: a potent inhibitor of inflammation. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 37:710–718
- 145. Murphy AJ, Woollard KJ, Hoang A, Mukhamedova N, Stirzaker RA, McCormick SP, Remaley AT, Sviridov D, Chin-Dusting J (2008) High-density lipoprotein reduces the human monocyte inflammatory response. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28:2071–2077
- 146. Murphy AJ, Woollard KJ, Suhartoyo A, Stirzaker RA, Shaw J, Sviridov D, Chin-Dusting JP (2011) Neutrophil activation is attenuated by high-density lipoprotein and apolipoprotein A-I in in vitro and in vivo models of inflammation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 31:1333–1341
- 147. Rossig LDS, Zeiher AM (2001) Apoptosis in the vascular wall and atherosclerosis. Basic Res Cardiol 96:11–22
- 148. Barter PJ, Nicholls S, Rye KA, Anantharamaiah GM, Navab M, Fogelman AM (2004) Antiinflammatory properties of HDL. Circ Res 95:764–772
- 149. Park SH, Park JH, Kang JS, Ka YH (2003) Involvement of transcription factors in plasma HDL protection against TNF-alpha-induced vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 expression. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 35:168–182
- 150. Xia P, Vadas MA, Rye KA, Barter PJ, Gamble JR (1999) High density lipoproteins (HDL) interrupt the sphingosine kinase signaling pathway. A possible mechanism for protection against atherosclerosis by HDL. J Biol Chem 274:33141–33147

- 151. Kimura T, Tomura H, Mogi C, Kuwabara A, Damirin A, Ishizuka T, Sekiguchi A, Ishiwara M, Im DS, Sato K, Murakami M, Okajima F (2006) Role of scavenger receptor class B type I and sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors in high density lipoprotein-induced inhibition of adhesion molecule expression in endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 281: 37457–37467
- 152. Besler C, Heinrich K, Rohrer L, Doerries C, Riwanto M, Shih DM, Chroni A, Yonekawa K, Stein S, Schaefer N, Mueller M, Akhmedov A, Daniil G, Manes C, Templin C, Wyss C, Maier W, Tanner FC, Matter CM, Corti R, Furlong C, Lusis AJ, von Eckardstein A, Fogelman AM, Luscher TF, Landmesser U (2011) Mechanisms underlying adverse effects of HDL on eNOS-activating pathways in patients with coronary artery disease. J Clin Invest 121:2693–2708
- 153. Tang C, Liu Y, Kessler PS, Vaughan AM, Oram JF (2009) The macrophage cholesterol exporter ABCA1 functions as an anti-inflammatory receptor. J Biol Chem 284:32336–32343
- 154. Cheng AM, Handa P, Tateya S, Schwartz J, Tang C, Mitra P, Oram JF, Chait A, Kim F (2012) Apolipoprotein A-I attenuates palmitate-mediated NF-kappaB activation by reducing Toll-like receptor-4 recruitment into lipid rafts. PLoS One 7:e33917
- 155. Gamble PWBKARJR (2000) Phospholipid composition of reconstituted high density lipoproteins influences their ability to inhibit endothelial cell adhesion molecule expression. J Lipid Res 41: 1261–1267
- 156. Aviram MRM, Bisgaier CL, Newton RS, Primo-Parmo SL, La Du BN (1998) Paraox-onase inhibits high-density lipoprotein oxidation and preserves its functions. A possible peroxidative role for paraoxonase. J Clin Invest 101:1581–1590
- 157. García-Heredia A, Marsillach J, Rull A, Triguero I, Fort I, Mackness B, Mackness M, Shih DM, Joven J, Camps J (2013) Paraoxonase-1 inhibits oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced metabolic alterations and apoptosis in endothelial cells: a nondirected metabolomic study. Mediat Inflamm 2013: 1–9
- 158. Bhattacharyya T, Nicholls SJ, Topol EJ, Zhang R, Yang X, Schmitt D, Fu X, Shao M, Brennan DM, Ellis SG (2008) Relationship of paraoxonase 1 (PON1) gene polymorphisms and functional activity with systemic oxidative stress and cardiovascular risk. JAMA 299:1265–1275
- 159. Regieli JJ, Jukema JW, Doevendans PA, Zwinderman AH, Kastelein JJ, Grobbee DE, van der Graaf Y (2009) Paraoxonase variants relate to 10-year risk in coronary artery disease: impact of a high-density lipoprotein-bound antioxidant in secondary prevention. J Am Coll Cardiol 54:1238–1245
- 160. Brousseau ME, Schaefer EJ, Wolfe ML, Bloedon LT, Digenio AG, Clark RW, Mancuso JP, Rader DJ (2004) Effects of an inhibitor of cholesteryl ester

transfer protein on HDL cholesterol. N Engl J Med 350:1505–1515

- 161. Barter PJ, Caulfield M, Eriksson M, Grundy SM, Kastelein JJ, Komajda M, Lopez-Sendon J, Mosca L, Tardif JC, Waters DD, Shear CL, Revkin JH, Buhr KA, Fisher MR, Tall AR, Brewer B, Investigators I (2007) Effects of torcetrapib in patients at high risk for coronary events. N Engl J Med 357:2109–2122
- 162. Schwartz GG, Olsson AG, Abt M, Ballantyne CM, Barter PJ, Brumm J, Chaitman BR, Holme IM, Kallend D, Leiter LA, Leitersdorf E, McMurray JJ, Mundl H, Nicholls SJ, Shah PK, Tardif JC, Wright RS, dal-OUTCOMES Investigators (2012) Effects of dalcetrapib in patients with a recent acute coronary syndrome. N Engl J Med 367:2089–2099
- 163. Ansell BJ, Navab M, Hama S, Kamranpour N, Fonarow G, Hough G, Rahmani S, Mottahedeh R, Dave R, Reddy ST, Fogelman AM (2003) Inflammatory/antiinflammatory properties of high-density lipoprotein distinguish patients from control subjects better than high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels and are favorably affected by simvastatin treatment. Circulation 108:2751–2756
- 164. McMahon M, Grossman J, FitzGerald J, Dahlin-Lee E, Wallace DJ, Thong BY, Badsha H, Kalunian K, Charles C, Navab M, Fogelman AM, Hahn BH (2006) Proinflammatory high-density lipoprotein as a biomarker for atherosclerosis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 54:2541–2549
- 165. Charakida M, Besler C, Batuca JR, Sangle S, Marques S, Sousa M, Wang G, Tousoulis D, Delgado Alves J, Loukogeorgakis SP, Mackworth-Young C, D'Cruz D, Luscher T, Landmesser U, Deanfield JE (2009) Vascular abnormalities, paraoxonase activity, and dysfunctional HDL in primary antiphospholipid syndrome. JAMA 302:1210–1217
- 166. Persegol L, Foissac M, Lagrost L, Athias A, Gambert P, Verges B, Duvillard L (2007) HDL particles from type 1 diabetic patients are unable to reverse the inhibitory effect of oxidised LDL on endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation. Diabetologia 50:2384–2387
- 167. Persegol L, Verges B, Foissac M, Gambert P, Duvillard L (2006) Inability of HDL from type 2 diabetic patients to counteract the inhibitory effect of oxidised LDL on endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation. Diabetologia 49:1380–1386
- 168. Sorrentino SA, Besler C, Rohrer L, Meyer M, Heinrich K, Bahlmann FH, Mueller M, Horvath T, Doerries C, Heinemann M, Flemmer S, Markowski A, Manes C, Bahr MJ, Haller H, von Eckardstein A, Drexler H, Landmesser U (2010) Endothelial-vasoprotective effects of high-density lipoprotein are impaired in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus but are improved after extended-release niacin therapy. Circulation 121:110–122

- 169. Persegol L, Verges B, Gambert P, Duvillard L (2007) Inability of HDL from abdominally obese subjects to counteract the inhibitory effect of oxidized LDL on vasorelaxation. J Lipid Res 48:1396–1401
- 170. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Kopple JD, Kamranpour N, Fogelman AM, Navab M (2007) HDL-inflammatory index correlates with poor outcome in hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int 72:1149–1156
- 171. Navab M, Hama SY, Anantharamaiah GM, Hassan K, Hough GP, Watson AD, Reddy ST, Sevanian A, Fonarow GC, Fogelman AM (2000) Normal high density lipoprotein inhibits three steps in the formation of mildly oxidized low density lipoprotein: steps 2 and 3. J Lipid Res 41:1495–1508
- 172. Morgantini C, Natali A, Boldrini B, Imaizumi S, Navab M, Fogelman AM, Ferrannini E, Reddy ST (2011) Anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties of HDLs are impaired in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 60: 2617–2623
- 173. Speer T, Rohrer L, Blyszczuk P, Shroff R, Kuschnerus K, Krankel N, Kania G, Zewinger S, Akhmedov A, Shi Y, Martin T, Perisa D, Winnik S, Muller MF, Sester U, Wernicke G, Jung A, Gutteck U, Eriksson U, Geisel J, Deanfield J, von Eckardstein A, Luscher TF, Fliser D, Bahlmann FH, Landmesser U (2013) Abnormal high-density lipoprotein induces endothelial dysfunction via activation of Toll-like receptor-2. Immunity 38:754–768
- 174. Pan B, Ma Y, Ren H, He Y, Wang Y, Lv X, Liu D, Ji L, Yu B, Wang Y, Chen YE, Pennathur S, Smith JD, Liu G, Zheng L (2012) Diabetic HDL is dysfunctional in stimulating endothelial cell migration and

proliferation due to down regulation of SR-BI expression. PLoS One 7:e48530

- 175. Camont L, Chapman MJ, Kontush A (2011) Biological activities of HDL subpopulations and their relevance to cardiovascular disease. Trends Mol Med 17:594–603
- 176. Cavigiolio G, Geier EG, Shao B, Heinecke JW, Oda MN (2010) Exchange of apolipoprotein A-I between lipid-associated and lipid-free states: a potential target for oxidative generation of dysfunctional high density lipoproteins. J Biol Chem 285:18847–18857
- 177. Khovidhunkit W, Kim MS, Memon RA, Shigenaga JK, Moser AH, Feingold KR, Grunfeld C (2004) Effects of infection and inflammation on lipid and lipoprotein metabolism: mechanisms and consequences to the host. J Lipid Res 45:1169–1196
- 178. Esteve E, Ricart W, Fernandez-Real JM (2005) Dyslipidemia and inflammation: an evolutionary conserved mechanism. Clin Nutr 24:16–31
- 179. Zheng L, Nukuna B, Brennan M-L, Sun M, Goormastic M, Settle M, Schmitt D, Fu X, Thomson L, Fox PL, Ischiropoulos H, Smith JD, Kinter M, Hazen SL (2004) Apolipoprotein A-I is a selective target for myeloperoxidase-catalyzed oxidation and functional impairment in subjects with cardiovascular disease. J Clin Investig 114:529–541
- 180. Undurti A, Huang Y, Lupica JA, Smith JD, DiDonato JA, Hazen SL (2009) Modification of high density lipoprotein by myeloperoxidase generates a pro-inflammatory particle. J Biol Chem 284:30825– 30835

Mediating reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) is the most classic function of HDL. HDL and HDL-C participate in the entire process of RCT, including cholesterol removal from cells, cholesterol transport in circulation, and cholesterol excretion. As cholesterol is a component of lipid rafts and lipid droplets in cells, HDL and RCT can influence cell activity. HDL has also been shown to be related to the metabolism of some other biological lipids, such as S1P and ox-PL. Here we will introduce in detail the molecular mechanism of HDL participation in RCT and its significance.

### Y. Ke

### H. Hong $(\boxtimes)$

### **Keywords**

**HDL and Lipid Metabolism** 

Qi Zhang, Yilang Ke, and Huashan Hong

Reverse cholesterol transport · ABCA1 · Bile acid · Transintestinal cholesterol excretion · Lipid droplets · S1P

### 4.1 **HDL Mediates Reverse Cholesterol Transport**

Mediating RCT is the most classic function of HDL. Early in the 1960s, Dobbins et al. [1] proved the presence of cholesterol acyltransferase in HDL, and then the pathway of RCT was identified. Now RCT is defined as the process by which cholesterol moves out of cells in peripheral tissues, enters the circulation, and is excreted in the feces [2]. HDL is both the acceptor of cholesterol from cells and the carrier of cholesterol in circulation, and, therefore, plays an important role in RCT (Fig. 4.1).

### 4.1.1 **HDL Participates in Cholesterol Removal from Cells**

Cellular cholesterol homeostasis is essential for normal cell function. As it was said, HDL acts as the specific cholesterol acceptor that transports excess cholesterol stores within peripheral tissues to the plasma [2]. ABCA1 and ABCG1 are critical receptors for the initial step of RCT, which mediate cholesterol efflux out of cells. Combined

### Abstract

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), HDL Metabolism and Diseases, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_4

Q. Zhang

The Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences and Institute of Systems Biomedicine, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Key Laboratory of Molecular Cardiovascular Science of Ministry of Education, NHC Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Molecular Biology and Regulatory Peptides, Beijing Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Receptors Research, Health Science Center, Peking University, Beijing, China e-mail: 1410305226@bjmu.edu.cn

Fujian Key Laboratory of Vascular Aging, Department of Geriatrics, Fujian Institute of Geriatrics, Fujian Medical University Union Hospital, Fuzhou, Fujian, China e-mail: keyilang@fjmu.edu.cn

Fujian Key Laboratory of Vascular Aging, Department of Geriatrics, Fujian Institute of Geriatrics, Fujian Heart Disease Center, Fujian Medical University Union Hospital, Fuzhou, Fujian, China

**Cholesterol Excretion** 



HDL Remodeling in the Vessel

### **Rate-limiting Efflux From Foam Cells**

**Fig. 4.1** Key steps of reverse cholesterol transport (RCT). The first step of RCT is the removal of cholesterol from macrophages or vascular smooth muscle cells. In this step, free cholesterol efflux to acceptors such as HDL. This is the rate-limiting step of RCT. In macrophages, ABCA1/ABCG1 (ATP-binding cassette proteins A1/G1) is required to pump out cholesterol, but the efflux mechanisms in vascular smooth muscle cells are not well understood. In the next step, the cholesterol on HDL is transported to the liver. SR-B1 (scavenger receptor class B type 1) is responsible for binding HDL and selective

ABCA1 and ABCG1 deficiency in macrophages resulted in impaired cholesterol efflux to HDL and decreased apoE secretion in vitro. This deficiency also increased secretion of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. Mouse models showed the same trend [3, 4]. ABCA1 preferentially synthesizes small HDL particles, specifically apoA-I to form nascent HDL [5], at the same time ABCG1 stimulates net cholesterol efflux to larger HDL but not to lipid-poor apoA-I [2, 6]. The classical hypothesis is that free cholesterol generated by lipid lipolysis reaches the ABCA1 and ABCG1 by vesicular or non-vehicular trafficking pathways and then becomes effluxed [7]. In fact, ATP-binding cassette transporters themselves can be motile. ABCA1-mediated cholesterol efflux to apo A-I was found to take place in endosomes [8]. ABCA1 can also shuttle between the plasma membrane and late endosomes, and between the endolysosomal compartments and plasma

cholesterol intake. Another part of cholesteryl ester is transferred to VLDL or LDL by CETP (cholesterol ester transfer protein) and PLTP (phospholipid transfer protein) and cleared by LDLR. Finally, cholesterol is excreted into the feces. Biliary cholesterol excretion mediates about 25% of total fecal neutral sterol loss, while transintestinal cholesterol efflux (TICE) mediates about 33% under normal circumstances. *LCAT* lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase, *OSBP* oxysterol-binding protein. Adapted from Ouimet, M. et al. [2]

membrane [9]. ABCG1 relocalizes from the Golgi and ER to the plasma membrane following LXR activation to stimulate efflux to HDL [2, 10].

Another cholesterol trafficking pathway is mediated by a conserved family of lipid-binding/transfer proteins, which is constituted by oxysterol-binding proteins (OSBPs) and its related protein homologs, OSBP-related proteins (ORPs). ORPs are ubiquitously expressed in eukaryotes, and their ligand-binding domain accommodates cholesterol and oxysterols [11]. Thus, ORPs facilitate non-vesicular transfer of cholesterol between lipid bilayers and coordinate lipid signals with a variety of cellular regimes. Recent study found ORP6 may contribute to HDL homeostasis and regulate cholesterol efflux, although the mechanism is not clear [12]. Other proteins related to lipid trafficking could also influence cholesterol efflux to HDL, such as steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR) and Niemann-Pick type C (NPC) [13].

### 4.1.2 HDL-C Mediates Cholesterol Transport in Circulation

After cholesterol transferred to HDL particles, the next step is the esterification to form cholesteryl ester (CE), which depends on lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT). Overexpression of LCAT in mice raises HDL-C levels, though results in unaffected atherosclerosis [14]. Similarly, LCAT knockout mice showed extremely low levels of HDL-C, but the influence on atherosclerosis remained unclear [15, 16]. Studies have found that the capacity of cholesterol transport is also related to the functional status of HDL itself [17, 18]. Although LCAT has long been believed to be critical for promoting RCT by maintaining a free cholesterol gradient between cells in the periphery and plasma HDL, some current data are inconsistent with it [19]. The clearance of HDL-C is much faster than its esterification. Within the halftimes of HDL-C, only about 2% of free cholesterol is esterified, which means that over 95% of HDL-FC is cleared without esterification, and LCAT may play only a minor role in RCT [20, 21]. Consistently, LCAT knockout mice showed little damage in macrophage RCT [22]. Interestingly, overexpression of LCAT reduced macrophage RCT by reducing the level of lipid poor apoA-1 and the cholesterol efflux via ABCA1, although the HDL-C level was increased in this model [22].

It is generally believed that high plasma HDL-C concentration represents a better rate of cholesterol metabolism and is therefore associated with a reduced incidence of cardiovascular events [23]. Studies such as the Helsinki Heart Study and the Veterans Administration HDL Intervention Trial (VA-HIT) also support this view, which showed that increased plasma HDL-C levels in patients receiving gemfibrozil versus placebo are associated with fewer coronary heart disease events [24, 25]. However, these studies cannot completely rule out the effects of other risk factors, like insulin resistance and

plasma triglyceride levels, and other studies showed different results. Especially, high plasma HDL-C level and no CVD incidence reduction were found in patients with cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) deficiency. CETP inhibitors, which profoundly increase plasma HDL-C levels, can't reduce CVD events either [26]. In genetic studies, the Copenhagen City Heart Study showed patients with genetically elevated plasma levels of HDL-C did not have a reduced atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) risk [27]. According to a Mendelian randomization study, an HDL-C-raising endothelial lipase variant was not associated with reduced myocardial infarction [28]. In fact, new views hold that HDL's functional changes are more important than its quantitative changes, and the abnormal high HDL-C level is caused by HDL dysfunction. Moreover, some epidemiological studies in humans showed the correlation between plasma HDL-C levels and ASCVD hazard ratio is U-shaped, with the extremes of high and low HDL-C concentrations being associated with more all-cause and ASCVD mortality [29suggests that HDL may derive its 31], dysfunctionality from both high free cholesterol content and high plasma HDL concentration.

Recently, a lot of evidences support that the most important site from which HDLs act to promote cholesterol efflux from cells is in the extracellular matrix of tissues, rather than in plasma [32]. Since one of the major roles of the lymphatic system is to drain macromolecules from the interstitial space back to the circulation, it is generally believed that the return of lipoproteins from the interstitium to plasma may occur mainly via the lymphatic system and less via the venous capillaries [33]. Analysis of animal and human lymph fluid composition showed that lymph fluid was rich in cholesterol and HDL [34]. The major apolipoprotein of HDL is apoA1, and approximately half of all apoA1 in the body is extravascular and found within interstitial fluid of peripheral organs [35]. Total cholesterol level in lymph HDL was about 30% higher than plasma, indicating that periphery cholesterol clearance has relevance to lymph and extravascular compartment [34]. Whereas plasma mainly contains  $\alpha$ -HDL particles that are the predominant carriers of CE to hepatocytes, interstitial fluid provides a metabolic environment that drives the conversion of  $\alpha$ -HDL to pre- $\beta$ -HDL, the main acceptor of free cholesterol from peripheral tissues [2, 36]. And this conversion may due to the high specific activity of phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) in lymph, along with the absence of cholesterol esterification [15]. Furthermore, studies have found mice with impaired lymphatic drainage showed impaired RCT, and lymphatic endothelial cells could express functional HDL transporters such as SR-BI, which directly demonstrated that lymphatic drainage is required for RCT and HDL function [37].

### 4.1.3 CE in HDL Can Be Transferred into Cells

In humans, CE in HDL can be transferred to triglyceride-rich lipoproteins by cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) for elimination via hepatic clearance in the liver through the LDLR, or selectively taken up via scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1) acting as a hepatic receptor for CE on HDL [2]. Notably, this process in mice differs from that in humans.

CETP is a 74-kDa hydrophobic plasma glycoprotein that has an established role in mediation of neutral lipid transport among lipoproteins [38]. The main effect of CETP activity is a transfer of CEs from HDLs to apo B containing lipoproteins in exchange for triglycerides. People with loss-of-function mutations in both CETP alleles have extremely high levels of HDL-C, indicating the importance of this pathway in humans [20]. Indeed, studies in humans have indicated that the majority of CEs are transferred to the liver by apo B containing lipoproteins and not HDL, which was shown by injection of HDL labeled with a CE tracer [20]. As said before, CETP is a therapeutic target for inhibition to plasma levels HDL-C. raise of Mice overexpressing CETP experience a substantial reduction in HDL-C levels, as well as increased macrophage RCT rate, consistent with the concept that CETP promotes the delivery of HDL-C to the liver [39]. Besides, the function of CETP is also influenced by LDL receptors and the clearance of apoB-lipoproteins [19].

SR-BI is a high affinity receptor for HDL, and it also binds LDL, VLDL, and phospholipids [40]. Studies by Pagler et al. have shown that SR-BI can transfer cholesterol from lipoproteins to cells through whole particle uptake/endocytosis [41]. However, SR-BI can also uptake cholesteryl esters without parallelly uptaking the entire lipoprotein particles, which is the mainly known function of SR-BI [42]. In this selective uptake process, HDL-C firstly binds to the loop domain of SR-BI, and then cholesterol esters transfer to the plasma membrane, finally HDL releases back to the circulation [43, 44]. Large population-based studies revealed that heterozygous carriers of the P376L variant of SR-BI have significantly high levels of plasma HDL-C [45]. SR-BI expressed in both hepatocytes and liver endothelial cells may mediate the uptake of HDL-C into the liver [46–48]. In fact, the highest relative expression level of SR-BI was found in steroid hormones producing cells despite the major focus on SR-BI in the liver, as cholesterol is a substrate for steroid hormone synthesis [49]. Interestingly, along with its classical function of cholesterol transcellular transport, SR-BI initiates signaling in some cell types [50]. For example, the binding of HDL to SR-BI will activate endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) in endothelial cells [51].

Although immune cells like most cells can utilize intricate feedback mechanisms of cholesterol uptake and synthesis, they also express numerous unregulated scavenger receptors [52, 53]. Macrophage foam cells have been a sign of early atherosclerosis in humans and animal models. These cells contain numerous droplets of CE, which could be marked by lipid stain such as Oil red O [54]. The imbalance in the rate of cholesterol uptake and efflux results in CE accumulation in immune cells [52].

How cholesterol internalized from HDL is made available to the cell for storage or modification is poorly understood. Aster proteins are ER-resident proteins that bind cholesterol and facilitate its removal from the plasma membrane, providing a new mechanism to mobilize HDL-derived cholesterol. Mice lacking aster-B are deficient in adrenal cholesterol ester storage and steroidogenesis because of an inability to transport cholesterol from SR-BI to the ER [55].

# 4.1.4 Cholesterol Is Excreted Through the Liver and Intestines

Although cholesterol itself can be secreted into the bile for excretion from the body, synthesis and excretion of bile acids comprise the major cholesterol catabolism pathway in mammals [2, 56]. Studies in healthy normolipidemic humans in vivo show that unesterified cholesterol in HDL can be rapidly and directly taken up by the liver and targeted to bile [20]. Biliary cholesterol excretion is driven by the two half ABC transporters, Abcg5 and Abcg8, which form an active heterodimer [57]. Mice lacking either Abcg8 or Abcg5 have an 80% reduced biliary cholesterol output, indicating that Abcg5/8 is essential for the largest part of biliary cholesterol excretion [58, 59]. And many other factors have been found taking part in regulating the classic biliary pathway of RCT. For example, ATP8B1, a phosphatidylserine flippase in the canalicular membrane, is demonstrated to inhibit biliary cholesterol excretion, which is independent of Abcg5/8 activity [60].

However, there is now evidence that HDL-driven movement of cholesterol back to the liver can't fully correlate with how much cholesterol is lost in bile or the feces [61, 62]. Similarly, mice genetically lacking apoA-I or ABCA1 have normal biliary and fecal cholesterol loss [63, 64], indicating that there exist cholesterol excretion pathways not through bile. RCT can also proceed through a non-biliary pathway known as transintestinal cholesterol excretion (TICE), which involves the direct secretion of plasma lipoprotein-derived cholesterol by the small intestine [65]. Current evidence suggests that the non-biliary branch of RCT can be initiated by either re-uptake of biliary cholesterol via the canalicular sterol transporter Niemann-Pick C1-like 1 (NPC1L1) [66, 67], or by blocking cholesterol acyl-CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT2)-driven cholesterol esterification 2 [68]. Both conditions are expected to cause the accumulation of free cholesterol in the liver, but these excess free cholesterol will be repackaged into new apoB-containing lipoproteins. These lipoproteins are then secreted from the liver into the circulation and are recognized by the proximal small intestine through lipoprotein receptors such as LDLR [69]. Since TICE can still occur in LDLR -/- mice, there may be other mechanisms contribute to it, but SR-BI is not included in them considering the current results [68, 69]. The transport route of cholesterol within the intestinal enterocyte is not well understood in TICE. However, as apoB-containing lipoproteins are the main particles participating in TICE, endosomal or lysosomal compartments are probably to be involved [65]. After efflux from TICE associated lipoproteins, this cholesterol can be transported by ATP binding cassette transporters ABCG5/ ABCG8 and ABCB1a/b [69–71].

When evaluating the relative contribution of non-biliary routes to RCT, it is important to clear whether in normal physiology conditions or not. Under normal physiological conditions, the biliary pathway mainly contributes to the RCT efflux, while the non-biliary route typically makes up less than 30% of the total cholesterol found in the feces [72, 73]. However, the cholesterol efflux ability of non-biliary route is highly dynamic and can be stimulated by some pathophysiologic conditions and drugs. In transgenic mouse models that lacked the ability to normally secrete cholesterol into bile, or in the case of surgical removal of the common bile duct, fecal cholesterol loss remained the same or increased in some cases [58, 65, 74]. These studies suggest that the non-biliary TICE could be a reserve to response to the decrease of fecal cholesterol loss level under the pathophysiologic condition of biliary cholesterol insufficiency (Fig. 4.2).

**Fig. 4.2** Model for integrated biliary and non-biliary reverse cholesterol transport. Adapted from Temel, R. E. & Brown et al. [65]



### 4.2 Metabolism of Cholesterol Is Essential to Cell and Life

Cholesterol plays a role in many essential biochemical processes. Cholesterol is a special kind of plasma lipids for it is a precursor of steroidogenic steroids, which could regulate metabolism. And cholesterol in the form of LDL-C and HDL-C has been proven to be associated with ASCVD [23].

### 4.2.1 Lipid Droplets in Cells

Lipid droplets are intracellular organelles specialized for the storage of neutral lipids. Extensive evidences show that FC accumulation within cells is toxic, pro-inflammatory, and pro-atherogenic [75, 76]. It is shown that cholesterol load in macrophages leads to cholesterol crystal and the formation of NLRP3 inflammasome, which then produce pro-inflammatory mediators such as IL-1ß [77]. The conversion of excess FC to CE by ACAT is thought to represent a protective

mechanism against the toxic effects of excess FC in cells [78]. CE droplets are usually found in fat store tissues, but in fact the formation of droplets can be induced in any cell type when cholesterol is overloaded [79]. However, CE accumulation could also cause cell damage. For instance, the accumulation of CE in the central nervous system is related to neurodegeneration and the accumulation of  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide in Alzheimer's disease [80]. Although ACAT inhibition indirectly enhances the movement of the nascent amyloid precursor protein molecules into the early secretory pathway [52, 81], the amyloid plaque load in mouse model is decreased and the cognitive function is improved [82].

Moreover, some evidences suggest that CE rich lipid droplets are dynamic rather than passive inert structures and can be pro-inflammatory. In leukocytes these lipid bodies consist of a neutral lipid core, which is surrounded by a phospholipid monolayer [83]. These lipid droplets are found to be metabolically active since the CE in droplets undergoes a continual cycle of hydrolysis and re-esterification to release FC for membrane lipid raft maintenance and efflux [84]. There are

also proteins found in lipid droplets of not only adipocytes but also all cells, such as the ancient ubiquitous proteins which play roles in the degradation of HMGCoA reductase [85]. Recent studies suggest that lipid bodies can be formed in response to inflammation and inflammatory cell activation. Leukocyte lipid droplet formation has been observed following infectious by Hepatitis C, Trypanasoma cruzi, and exposure to various bacterial products, though whether blocking the formation of lipid body in leukocytes can change the progression of disease remains to be shown [52, 86, 87].

### 4.2.2 Membrane Cholesterol and Lipid Raft Microdomains

FC, together with glycerophospholipid (GPL) and sphingomyelin form a highly ordered 5-500 nm diameter structure, called lipid rafts in the plasma membrane [88]. These rafts are detergentresistant membrane complexes that can organize and separate many different protein components. The FC content of these structures is usually 3-5 times that of the surrounding membrane. These FC can help stabilize the raft through their hydrophobic combination with other components [89]. A number of critical enzymes and signaling systems are active when concentrated within these microstructures, modulating cell activation and function, such as eNOS, SR-B1, Ras, CD36, Rho, MAP kinase, G-protein coupled receptors, and Ca2+ regulatory proteins [52]. In addition, although lipid rafts are typically studied at the cell membrane, similar structure can also be found in organelles containing membrane components, such as the Golgi, mitochondria, lysosomes, and lipid droplets [52, 90, 91].

The cholesterol required for the formation and maintenance of lipid rafts can come from exogenous sources, such as lipoproteins or from cell synthesis, through the mevalonate pathway in the ER and then transport to the plasma membrane [76, 92]. Another source of cholesterol are intracellular lipid droplets [93]. Extrinsic signals which promote CE hydrolysis can lead to the cholesterol efflux from lipid droplet. FC can also be moved to the substrate pool to be exported through ABCA1. ABCA1 is the uniquely sensitive master controller of membrane cholesterol that regulates lipid raft composition [52], which is under the control of the liver X receptor (LXR) [94]. Further studies showed that cholesterol efflux and lipid raft cholesterol maintenance were the same process, and the lipid composition of nascent HDL was similar to that typically found in microdomains from cell membranes [95, 96].

The addition of  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin can consume membrane cholesterol, while squalene replenishes it. By this way, the importance of cholesterol and lipid raft to cell activation and polarization has been extensively studied in many different conditions [97, 98]. Especially in the bone marrow, lipid rafts have been proven to regulate the retention and quiescence of hematopoietic stem cell in bone marrow niches and further participate in regulating their mobilization and homing [52, 99, 100]. Therefore, the regulation of the formation, composition, and decomposition of lipid rafts in cells is of great significance and can be applied in the field of cardiovascular disease.

### 4.3 HDL and Other Bioactive Lipids

For many years, phosphatidylcholine and sphingomyelin, along with small amounts of phosphoglycerol, phosphatidylserine, phosphatidylethanolamine, and phosphatidylinositol, have been considered the main components of the HDL surface. Later, several other classes of glycosphingolipids were found, such as galactosylceramide, glucosylceramide, lactoseceramide, sulfatides, globulins, and gangliosides. Subsequently, phospholipid lysoderivatives were identified and soluble phospholipase A2 was found in HDL [101]. Sphingosine 1 phosphate (S1P), as a kind of lysosphingolipid, was found to be mostly carried by HDL and also positively correlated with HDL-C, apoA-I and apoA-II levels [102].

### 4.3.1 HDL and S1P

Moreover, HDL-related S1P is now considered to be the main determinant of S1P concentration in plasma. The source of S1P in circulation remained uncertain. Sphingosine kinase is the main enzyme that phosphorylates sphingosine to produce S1P. It is expressed in platelets and various peripheral blood cells, including red blood cells, neutrophils, and monocytes [103]. Platelets could store a large amount of S1P and release them under the stimulation of thrombin or calcium, but other studies have shown that S1P derived from red blood cells accounts for the largest proportion in the blood [104, 105]. Although erythrocytes cannot produce sphingosine and display relatively low levels of sphingosine kinase activity, they efficiently convert exogenous sphingosine to S1P [106]. Lack of S1P-degrading enzymes leads to the accumulation of S1P in erythrocytes. S1P may transport from erythrocytes to HDL through ATP-binding cassette transporters. Although the association with HDL seems to explain the atherosclerotic protective effect of S1P, it is not clear whether this effect also depends on the morphology of HDL and the ratio of apoA-I and apoA-II. A recent report indicated that S1P was enriched in small and dense HDL3 particles which contained apoA-I [107]. The main plasma apolipoprotein that S1P physically binds is apolipoprotein M (apoM), most of which are contained in HDL [108]. Only the apoM-containing fraction of human HDL carries S1P, and apoM-deficient mouse HDL contains almost no S1P, indicating that the presence of apoM determines HDL-S1P [109]. However, there is no correlation between apoM and S1P in human plasma or HDL [110], which suggests that there may be other molecules besides apoM involved in the relationship between S1P and HDL [111]. Interestingly, there is recent evidence that S1P may perform different biological functions, depending on whether it functions in an HDL-related form or an albumin-related form. In cultured endothelial cells, it was found that HDL-S1P helped more in reducing S1P internalization though had the similar half-life, which means HDL-S1P was more effective than albumin-S1P in maintaining endothelial function [112]. The function of HDL-S1P was shown to have changed in human cardiovascular, kidney, and metabolic diseases. A number of studies have linked plasma and HDL-S1P to the incidence of coronary artery disease [113–115].

### 4.3.2 HDL and Ox-PL

Phospholipids contain polyunsaturated fatty acids that are easily peroxidized. Ox-PL is involved in cell signaling and is associated with a variety of inflammatory processes, as well as atherosclerosis. Plasma levels of ox-PC have been found to be associated with increased risk of cardiovascular disease. Oxidized-PL in plasma is mainly associated with apoB100-containing lipoproteins, including the low-density lipoprotein variant Lp (a). The role played by HDL in oxidative-PC metabolism is unknown, but given the antiinflammatory potential of HDL, it is expected to be beneficial [116]. Based on this, Gharavi et al. [117] have reported that HDL inhibited the proinflammatory pathway induced by ox-PL signaling in human endothelial cells, possibly by reducing superoxide production. This suggests an additional mechanism for the antiatherosclerotic function of HDL.

### 4.4 Conclusions

HDL is of great significance to lipid metabolism, especially cholesterol metabolism. Mediating RCT is the most classic function of HDL. RCT includes the efflux, transport, and excrete of cholesterol. ABCA1 and ABCG1 mediate the efflux of cholesterol from cells to HDL, especially in vascular smooth muscle cells and macrophages. After cholesterol transfer to HDL particles, the next step is the esterification of cholesterol to form cholesterol ester, which depends on LCAT. The combined HDL-C is transported through lymph and circulation. CE in the HDL core can be transferred to triglyceride-rich lipoproteins by CETP or be selectively taken up via SR-B1 to enter the cells again. Synthesis and excretion of bile acids comprise the major cholesterol catabolism pathway in mammals. This process is mainly carried out through the liver, but transintestinal cholesterol excretion is equally important, especially under certain pathological conditions. As cholesterol is a component of lipid rafts and lipid droplets in cells, HDL and RCT can influence cell activity. Problems in RCT are closely related to immune cells and atherosclerosis. HDL has also been shown to be related to the metabolism of some other biological lipids, such as S1P and ox-PL. Although some clinical experiments of using HDL-C concentration as a direct target failed, the importance of HDL in lipid metabolism and its potential clinical value are significant.

### References

- Glomset JA, Janssen ET, Kennedy R, Dobbins J (1966) Role of plasma lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase in the metabolism of high density lipoproteins. J Lipid Res 7:638–648
- Ouimet M, Barrett TJ, Fisher EA (2019) HDL and reverse cholesterol transport. Circ Res 124:1505– 1518. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.119.312617
- Westerterp M et al (2013) Deficiency of ATP-binding cassette transporters A1 and G1 in macrophages increases inflammation and accelerates atherosclerosis in mice. Circ Res 112:1456–1465. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/circresaha.113.301086
- Yvan-Charvet L et al (2007) Combined deficiency of ABCA1 and ABCG1 promotes foam cell accumulation and accelerates atherosclerosis in mice. J Clin Invest 117:3900–3908. https://doi.org/10.1172/ jci33372
- Assmann G, Gotto AM Jr (2004) HDL cholesterol and protective factors in atherosclerosis. Circulation 109:III8–II14. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.Cir. 0000131512.50667.46
- Wang N, Lan D, Chen W, Matsuura F, Tall AR (2004) ATP-binding cassette transporters G1 and G4 mediate cellular cholesterol efflux to high-density lipoproteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:9774– 9779. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0403506101
- Holtta-Vuori M, Ikonen E (2006) Endosomal cholesterol traffic: vesicular and non-vesicular mechanisms meet. Biochem Soc Trans 34:392–394. https://doi. org/10.1042/bst0340392
- Neufeld EB et al (2004) The ABCA1 transporter modulates late endocytic trafficking: insights from the correction of the genetic defect in Tangier disease.

J Biol Chem 279:15571–15578. https://doi.org/10. 1074/jbc.M314160200

- Chen W, Wang N, Tall AR (2005) A PEST deletion mutant of ABCA1 shows impaired internalization and defective cholesterol efflux from late endosomes. J Biol Chem 280:29277–29281. https://doi.org/10. 1074/jbc.M505566200
- Wang N, Ranalletta M, Matsuura F, Peng F, Tall AR (2006) LXR-induced redistribution of ABCG1 to plasma membrane in macrophages enhances cholesterol mass efflux to HDL. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26:1310–1316. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.Atv. 0000218998.75963.02
- Kentala H, Weber-Boyvat M, Olkkonen VM (2016) OSBP-related protein family: mediators of lipid transport and signaling at membrane contact sites. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 321:299–340. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/bs.ircmb.2015.09.006
- Ouimet M et al (2016) miRNA targeting of oxysterolbinding protein-like 6 regulates cholesterol trafficking and efflux. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 36: 942–951. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha.116. 307282
- Mesmin B, Maxfield FR (2009) Intracellular sterol dynamics. Biochim Biophys Acta 1791:636–645. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2009.03.002
- Mehlum A, Gjernes E, Solberg LA, Hagve TA, Prydz H (2000) Overexpression of human lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase in mice offers no protection against diet-induced atherosclerosis. APMIS 108: 336–342. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0463.2000. d01-65.x
- Lambert G et al (2001) Analysis of glomerulosclerosis and atherosclerosis in lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase-deficient mice. J Biol Chem 276: 15090–15098. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M008466200
- Furbee JW Jr, Sawyer JK, Parks JS (2002) Lecithin: cholesterol acyltransferase deficiency increases atherosclerosis in the low density lipoprotein receptor and apolipoprotein E knockout mice. J Biol Chem 277:3511–3519. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M109883200
- Rohatgi A et al (2014) HDL cholesterol efflux capacity and incident cardiovascular events. N Engl J Med 371:2383–2393. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1409065
- Khera AV et al (2011) Cholesterol efflux capacity, high-density lipoprotein function, and atherosclerosis. N Engl J Med 364:127–135. https://doi.org/10. 1056/NEJMoa1001689
- Rader DJ, Alexander ET, Weibel GL, Billheimer J, Rothblat GH (2009) The role of reverse cholesterol transport in animals and humans and relationship to atherosclerosis. J Lipid Res 50(Suppl):S189–S194. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R800088-JLR200
- Schwartz CC, VandenBroek JM, Cooper PS (2004) Lipoprotein cholesteryl ester production, transfer,

and output in vivo in humans. J Lipid Res 45:1594–1607. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M300511-JLR200

- 21. Xu B, Gillard BK, Gotto AM Jr, Rosales C, Pownall HJ (2017) ABCA1-derived nascent high-density lipoprotein-apolipoprotein AI and lipids metabolically segregate. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 37: 2260–2270. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha.117. 310290
- 22. Tanigawa H et al (2009) Lecithin: cholesterol acyltransferase expression has minimal effects on macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in vivo. Circulation 120:160–169. https://doi.org/10.1161/ circulationaha.108.825109
- Pownall HJ, Gotto AM Jr (2019) Cholesterol: can't live with it, can't live without it. Methodist Debakey Cardiovasc J 15:9–15. https://doi.org/10.14797/ mdcj-15-1-9
- 24. Frick MH et al (1987) Helsinki heart study: primaryprevention trial with gemfibrozil in middle-aged men with dyslipidemia. Safety of treatment, changes in risk factors, and incidence of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 317:1237–1245. https://doi.org/10. 1056/nejm198711123172001
- Robins SJ et al (2001) Relation of gemfibrozil treatment and lipid levels with major coronary events: VA-HIT: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 285: 1585–1591. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.285.12. 1585
- 26. Zhong S et al (1996) Increased coronary heart disease in Japanese-American men with mutation in the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene despite increased HDL levels. J Clin Invest 97:2917–2923. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci118751
- Haase CL, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Grande P, Frikke-Schmidt R (2010) Genetically elevated apolipoprotein A-I, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels, and risk of ischemic heart disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 95:E500–E510. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc. 2010-0450
- Voight BF et al (2012) Plasma HDL cholesterol and risk of myocardial infarction: a mendelian randomisation study. Lancet 380:572–580. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60312-2
- 29. Ko DT et al (2016) High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cause-specific mortality in individuals without previous cardiovascular conditions: the CANHEART study. J Am Coll Cardiol 68:2073– 2083. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2016.08.038
- Bowe B et al (2016) High density lipoprotein cholesterol and the risk of all-cause mortality among U.-S. Veterans. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 11:1784–1793. https://doi.org/10.2215/cjn.00730116
- 31. Madsen CM, Varbo A, Nordestgaard BG (2017) Extreme high high-density lipoprotein cholesterol is paradoxically associated with high mortality in men and women: two prospective cohort studies. Eur Heart J 38:2478–2486. https://doi.org/10.1093/ eurheartj/ehx163

- Randolph GJ, Miller NE (2014) Lymphatic transport of high-density lipoproteins and chylomicrons. J Clin Invest 124:929–935. https://doi.org/10.1172/ jci71610
- 33. Cooke CJ, Nanjee MN, Stepanova IP, Olszewski WL, Miller NE (2004) Variations in lipid and apolipoprotein concentrations in human leg lymph: effects of posture and physical exercise. Atherosclerosis 173:39–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis. 2003.07.004
- 34. Nanjee MN et al (2001) Composition and ultrastructure of size subclasses of normal human peripheral lymph lipoproteins: quantification of cholesterol uptake by HDL in tissue fluids. J Lipid Res 42:639– 648
- 35. Miller NE et al (2013) Lipoprotein remodeling generates lipid-poor apolipoprotein A-I particles in human interstitial fluid. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 304:E321–E328. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajpendo.00324.2012
- 36. Nanjee MN, Cooke CJ, Olszewski WL, Miller NE (2000) Concentrations of electrophoretic and size subclasses of apolipoprotein A-I-containing particles in human peripheral lymph. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:2148–2155. https://doi.org/10.1161/ 01.atv.20.9.2148
- 37. Lim HY et al (2013) Lymphatic vessels are essential for the removal of cholesterol from peripheral tissues by SR-BI-mediated transport of HDL. Cell Metab 17: 671–684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2013.04.002
- de Grooth GJ et al (2004) A review of CETP and its relation to atherosclerosis. J Lipid Res 45:1967– 1974. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R400007-JLR200
- 39. Tanigawa H et al (2007) Expression of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in mice promotes macrophage reverse cholesterol transport. Circulation 116:1267– 1273. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.107. 704254
- Krieger M (2001) Scavenger receptor class B type I is a multiligand HDL receptor that influences diverse physiologic systems. J Clin Invest 108:793–797. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci14011
- 41. Pagler TA et al (2006) SR-BI-mediated high density lipoprotein (HDL) endocytosis leads to HDL resecretion facilitating cholesterol efflux. J Biol Chem 281:11193–11204. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M510261200
- 42. Hoekstra M (2017) SR-BI as target in atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease - a comprehensive appraisal of the cellular functions of SR-BI in physiology and disease. Atherosclerosis 258:153–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2017.01.034
- 43. Rigotti A, Miettinen HE, Krieger M (2003) The role of the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI in the lipid metabolism of endocrine and other tissues. Endocr Rev 24:357–387. https://doi.org/10.1210/er. 2001-0037
- 44. Gu X et al (1998) The efficient cellular uptake of high density lipoprotein lipids via scavenger receptor class

B type I requires not only receptor-mediated surface binding but also receptor-specific lipid transfer mediated by its extracellular domain. J Biol Chem 273:26338–26348. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273. 41.26338

- 45. Zanoni P et al (2016) Rare variant in scavenger receptor BI raises HDL cholesterol and increases risk of coronary heart disease. Science 351:1166– 1171. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad3517
- 46. Van Eck M, Pennings M, Hoekstra M, Out R, Van Berkel TJ (2005) Scavenger receptor BI and ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 in reverse cholesterol transport and atherosclerosis. Curr Opin Lipidol 16:307–315. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mol. 0000169351.28019.04
- 47. Ganesan LP et al (2016) Scavenger receptor B1, the HDL receptor, is expressed abundantly in liver sinusoidal endothelial cells. Sci Rep 6:20646. https://doi. org/10.1038/srep20646
- 48. Brundert M et al (2005) Scavenger receptor class B type I mediates the selective uptake of high-density lipoprotein-associated cholesteryl ester by the liver in mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 25:143–148. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000149381. 16166.c6
- 49. Landschulz KT, Pathak RK, Rigotti A, Krieger M, Hobbs HH (1996) Regulation of scavenger receptor, class B, type I, a high density lipoprotein receptor, in liver and steroidogenic tissues of the rat. J Clin Invest 98:984–995. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci118883
- 50. Saddar S et al (2013) Scavenger receptor class B type I is a plasma membrane cholesterol sensor. Circ Res 112:140–151. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha. 112.280081
- Yuhanna IS et al (2001) High-density lipoprotein binding to scavenger receptor-BI activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Nat Med 7:853–857. https://doi.org/10.1038/89986
- 52. Sorci-Thomas MG, Thomas MJ (2016) Microdomains, inflammation, and atherosclerosis. Circ Res 118:679–691. https://doi.org/10.1161/ circresaha.115.306246
- Canton J, Neculai D, Grinstein S (2013) Scavenger receptors in homeostasis and immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 13:621–634. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nri3515
- 54. Mallat Z (2014) Macrophages. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 34:2509–2519. https://doi.org/10.1161/ atvbaha.114.304794
- 55. Sandhu J et al (2018) Aster proteins facilitate nonvesicular plasma membrane to ER cholesterol transport in mammalian cells. Cell 175:514–529. e520. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.08.033
- 56. Russell DW (2003) The enzymes, regulation, and genetics of bile acid synthesis. Annu Rev Biochem 72:137–174. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. biochem.72.121801.161712
- 57. Graf GA et al (2002) Coexpression of ATP-binding cassette proteins ABCG5 and ABCG8 permits their

transport to the apical surface. J Clin Invest 110:659–669. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci16000

- Yu L et al (2002) Disruption of Abcg5 and Abcg8 in mice reveals their crucial role in biliary cholesterol secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:16237– 16242. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.252582399
- 59. Klett EL et al (2004) A mouse model of sitosterolemia: absence of Abcg8/sterolin-2 results in failure to secrete biliary cholesterol. BMC Med 2: 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-2-5
- Groen A et al (2008) Abcg5/8 independent biliary cholesterol excretion in Atp8b1-deficient mice. Gastroenterology 134:2091–2100. https://doi.org/10. 1053/j.gastro.2008.02.097
- 61. Osono Y, Woollett LA, Marotti KR, Melchior GW, Dietschy JM (1996) Centripetal cholesterol flux from extrahepatic organs to the liver is independent of the concentration of high density lipoprotein-cholesterol in plasma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:4114–4119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.9.4114
- 62. Jolley CD, Woollett LA, Turley SD, Dietschy JM (1998) Centripetal cholesterol flux to the liver is dictated by events in the peripheral organs and not by the plasma high density lipoprotein or apolipoprotein A-I concentration. J Lipid Res 39:2143–2149
- 63. Groen AK et al (2001) Hepatobiliary cholesterol transport is not impaired in Abca1-null mice lacking HDL. J Clin Invest 108:843–850. https://doi.org/10. 1172/jci12473
- 64. Xie C, Turley SD, Dietschy JM (2009) ABCA1 plays no role in the centripetal movement of cholesterol from peripheral tissues to the liver and intestine in the mouse. J Lipid Res 50:1316–1329. https://doi. org/10.1194/jlr.M900024-JLR200
- 65. Temel RE, Brown JM (2015) A new model of reverse cholesterol transport: enTICEing strategies to stimulate intestinal cholesterol excretion. Trends Pharmacol Sci 36:440–451. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.tips.2015.04.002
- 66. Temel RE et al (2010) Biliary sterol secretion is not required for macrophage reverse cholesterol transport. Cell Metab 12:96–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cmet.2010.05.011
- 67. Temel RE et al (2007) Hepatic Niemann-pick C1-like 1 regulates biliary cholesterol concentration and is a target of ezetimibe. J Clin Invest 117:1968–1978. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci30060
- Brown JM et al (2008) Targeted depletion of hepatic ACAT2-driven cholesterol esterification reveals a non-biliary route for fecal neutral sterol loss. J Biol Chem 283:10522–10534. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M707659200
- 69. Le May C et al (2013) Transintestinal cholesterol excretion is an active metabolic process modulated by PCSK9 and statin involving ABCB1. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 33:1484–1493. https://doi.org/10. 1161/atvbaha.112.300263
- Jakulj L et al (2010) Ezetimibe stimulates faecal neutral sterol excretion depending on abcg8 function

in mice. FEBS Lett 584:3625–3628. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.febslet.2010.07.035

- 71. Wang J et al (2015) Relative roles of ABCG5/ ABCG8 in liver and intestine. J Lipid Res 56:319– 330. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M054544
- 72. Kruit JK et al (2005) Increased fecal neutral sterol loss upon liver X receptor activation is independent of biliary sterol secretion in mice. Gastroenterology 128:147–156. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2004. 10.006
- Jakulj L, Besseling J, Stroes ES, Groen AK (2013) Intestinal cholesterol secretion: future clinical implications. Neth J Med 71:459–465
- 74. Bandsma RH et al (1998) Contribution of newly synthesized cholesterol to rat plasma and bile determined by mass isotopomer distribution analysis: bilesalt flux promotes secretion of newly synthesized cholesterol into bile. Biochem J 329(Pt 3):699–703. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj3290699
- Moore KJ, Freeman MW (2006) Scavenger receptors in atherosclerosis: beyond lipid uptake. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26:1702–1711. https://doi.org/10. 1161/01.Atv.0000229218.97976.43
- 76. Dubland JA, Francis GA (2015) Lysosomal acid lipase: at the crossroads of normal and atherogenic cholesterol metabolism. Front Cell Dev Biol 3:3. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2015.00003
- 77. Duewell P et al (2010) NLRP3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals. Nature 464:1357–1361. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature08938
- Tabas I (2002) Consequences of cellular cholesterol accumulation: basic concepts and physiological implications. J Clin Invest 110:905–911. https://doi. org/10.1172/jci16452
- 79. Xu L et al (2015) Foamy monocytes form early and contribute to nascent atherosclerosis in mice with hypercholesterolemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 35:1787–1797. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha. 115.305609
- Anchisi L, Dessi S, Pani A, Mandas A (2012) Cholesterol homeostasis: a key to prevent or slow down neurodegeneration. Front Physiol 3:486. https://doi. org/10.3389/fphys.2012.00486
- Huttunen HJ, Kovacs DM (2008) ACAT as a drug target for Alzheimer's disease. Neurodegener Dis 5: 212–214. https://doi.org/10.1159/000113705
- 82. Shibuya Y, Chang CC, Huang LH, Bryleva EY, Chang TY (2014) Inhibiting ACAT1/SOAT1 in microglia stimulates autophagy-mediated lysosomal proteolysis and increases Aβ1-42 clearance. J Neurosci 34:14484–14501. https://doi.org/10.1523/ jneurosci.2567-14.2014
- 83. Paul A, Chang BH, Li L, Yechoor VK, Chan L (2008) Deficiency of adipose differentiation-related protein impairs foam cell formation and protects against atherosclerosis. Circ Res 102:1492–1501. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.107.168070

- Ouimet M, Marcel YL (2012) Regulation of lipid droplet cholesterol efflux from macrophage foam cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 32:575–581. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha.111.240705
- 85. Jo Y, Hartman IZ, DeBose-Boyd RA (2013) Ancient ubiquitous protein-1 mediates sterol-induced ubiquitination of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl CoA reductase in lipid droplet-associated endoplasmic reticulum membranes. Mol Biol Cell 24:169–183. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E12-07-0564
- Bozza PT, Magalhães KG, Weller PF (2009) Leukocyte lipid bodies - biogenesis and functions in inflammation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1791:540–551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2009.01.005
- Melo RC et al (2011) Lipid bodies in inflammatory cells: structure, function, and current imaging techniques. J Histochem Cytochem 59:540–556. https://doi.org/10.1369/0022155411404073
- Orsini F et al (2012) Atomic force microscopy imaging of lipid rafts of human breast cancer cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1818:2943–2949. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.07.024
- Pike LJ (2006) Rafts defined: a report on the keystone symposium on lipid rafts and cell function. J Lipid Res 47:1597–1598. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr. E600002-JLR200
- 90. Le Lay S et al (2006) Cholesterol-induced caveolin targeting to lipid droplets in adipocytes: a role for caveolar endocytosis. Traffic 7:549–561. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1600-0854.2006.00406.x
- Parton RG, Simons K (2007) The multiple faces of caveolae. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8:185–194. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrm2122
- 92. Jelinek D et al (2009) Physiological and coordinate downregulation of the NPC1 and NPC2 genes are associated with the sequestration of LDL-derived cholesterol within endocytic compartments. J Cell Biochem 108:1102–1116. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jcb.22339
- 93. Ghosh S (2012) Early steps in reverse cholesterol transport: cholesteryl ester hydrolase and other hydrolases. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 19:136–141. https://doi.org/10.1097/MED. 0b013e3283507836
- 94. Ito A et al (2015) LXRs link metabolism to inflammation through Abca1-dependent regulation of membrane composition and TLR signaling. elife 4: e08009. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.08009
- 95. Sorci-Thomas MG, Thomas MJ (2012) High density lipoprotein biogenesis, cholesterol efflux, and immune cell function. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 32:2561–2565. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha. 112.300135
- 96. Sorci-Thomas MG et al (2012) Nascent high density lipoproteins formed by ABCA1 resemble lipid rafts and are structurally organized by three apoA-I monomers. J Lipid Res 53:1890–1909. https://doi. org/10.1194/jlr.M026674

- 97. Russell MR, Nickerson DP, Odorizzi G (2006) Molecular mechanisms of late endosome morphology, identity and sorting. Curr Opin Cell Biol 18: 422–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2006.06.002
- 98. Shirao S et al (2015) A novel trigger for cholesteroldependent smooth muscle contraction mediated by the sphingosylphosphorylcholine-rho-kinase pathway in the rat basilar artery: a mechanistic role for lipid rafts. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 35:835–842. https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.2014.260
- Ratajczak MZ (2015) A novel view of the adult bone marrow stem cell hierarchy and stem cell trafficking. Leukemia 29:776–782. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu. 2014.346
- 100. Ratajczak MZ, Adamiak M (2015) Membrane lipid rafts, master regulators of hematopoietic stem cell retention in bone marrow and their trafficking. Leukemia 29:1452–1457. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu. 2015.66
- 101. Kimura T et al (2003) High-density lipoprotein stimulates endothelial cell migration and survival through sphingosine 1-phosphate and its receptors. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23:1283–1288. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.Atv.0000079011. 67194.5a
- 102. Zhang B et al (2005) Correlation of high density lipoprotein (HDL)-associated sphingosine 1-phosphate with serum levels of HDL-cholesterol and apolipoproteins. Atherosclerosis 178:199–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2004.08.024
- 103. Yang L, Yatomi Y, Miura Y, Satoh K, Ozaki Y (1999) Metabolism and functional effects of sphingolipids in blood cells. Br J Haematol 107: 282–293. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2141.1999. 01697.x
- 104. Yatomi Y, Ozaki Y, Ohmori T, Igarashi Y (2001) Sphingosine 1-phosphate: synthesis and release. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat 64:107–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0090-6980(01)00103-4
- 105. Pappu R et al (2007) Promotion of lymphocyte egress into blood and lymph by distinct sources of sphingosine-1-phosphate. Science 316:295–298. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1139221
- 106. Ito K et al (2007) Lack of sphingosine 1-phosphatedegrading enzymes in erythrocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 357:212–217. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.03.123
- 107. Argraves KM, Argraves WS (2007) HDL serves as a S1P signaling platform mediating a multitude of cardiovascular effects. J Lipid Res 48:2325–2333. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R700011-JLR200

- 108. Arkensteijn BW, Berbée JF, Rensen PC, Nielsen LB, Christoffersen C (2013) The apolipoprotein m-sphingosine-1-phosphate axis: biological relevance in lipoprotein metabolism, lipid disorders and atherosclerosis. Int J Mol Sci 14:4419–4431. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms14034419
- 109. Christoffersen C et al (2011) Endothelium-protective sphingosine-1-phosphate provided by HDL-associated apolipoprotein M. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:9613–9618. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1103187108
- 110. Karuna R et al (2011) Plasma levels of sphingosine-1-phosphate and apolipoprotein M in patients with monogenic disorders of HDL metabolism. Atherosclerosis 219:855–863. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ath erosclerosis.2011.08.049
- 111. Levkau B (2015) HDL-S1P: cardiovascular functions, disease-associated alterations, and therapeutic applications. Front Pharmacol 6:243. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2015.00243
- 112. Wilkerson BA, Grass GD, Wing SB, Argraves WS, Argraves KM (2012) Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) carrier-dependent regulation of endothelial barrier: high density lipoprotein (HDL)-S1P prolongs endothelial barrier enhancement as compared with albumin-S1P via effects on levels, trafficking, and signaling of S1P1. J Biol Chem 287:44645–44653. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.423426
- 113. Argraves KM et al (2011) S1P, dihydro-S1P and C24:1-ceramide levels in the HDL-containing fraction of serum inversely correlate with occurrence of ischemic heart disease. Lipids Health Dis 10:70. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-511x-10-70
- 114. Sattler K et al (2014) HDL-bound sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) predicts the severity of coronary artery atherosclerosis. Cell Physiol Biochem 34:172– 184. https://doi.org/10.1159/000362993
- 115. Jing XD et al (2015) The relationship between the high-density lipoprotein (HDL)-associated sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) and coronary in-stent restenosis. Clin Chim Acta 446:248–252. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cca.2015.04.038
- 116. Deigner HP, Hermetter A (2008) Oxidized phospholipids: emerging lipid mediators in pathophysiology. Curr Opin Lipidol 19:289–294. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MOL.0b013e3282fe1d0e
- 117. Gharavi NM et al (2007) High-density lipoprotein modulates oxidized phospholipid signaling in human endothelial cells from proinflammatory to anti-inflammatory. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27:1346–1353. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha.107. 141283

## HDL and Oxidation

Qi Zhang, Zongzhe Jiang, and Yong Xu

### Abstract

In this chapter, we will focus on HDLs' activity of inhibiting LDL oxidation and neutralizing some other oxidants. ApoA-I was known as the main antioxidant component in HDLs. The regulation of antioxidant capacity of HDL is mainly exhibited in regulation of apoA-I and alterations at the level of the HDL lipidome and the modifications of the proteome, especially MPO and PON1. HDL oxidation will influence the processes of inflammation and cholesterol transport, which are important processes in atherosclerosis, metabolic diseases, and many other diseases. In a word, HDL oxidation might be an effective antioxidant target in treatment of many diseases.

Z. Jiang · Y. Xu (🖂)

### Keywords

Oxidation · ApoA-I · Myeloperoxidase · Paraoxonase 1 · HDL oxidation

### 5.1 Antioxidant Activity of HDL

### 5.1.1 HDL Inhibits LDL Oxidation

While participating in cholesterol reverse transport, some types of HDL also show antioxidant activity. This activity is mainly reflected in the inhibition of LDL oxidation [1]. LDL's chemical modifications including aggregation, enzymatic digestion, and oxidation are important to induce this process. As a vascular protection mechanism, HDL-induced reduction of ox-LDL can be observed both in vitro and in vivo [2]. Exogenously supplementation of apoA-I, the main antioxidant component in HDLs, could reduce ox-LDL deposition in mouse atherosclerotic plaques by approximately 75% [3]. When both lipoproteins are co-incubated under oxidizing conditions, HDL prevents the accumulation of lipid hydroperoxides in LDL, but does not in parallel increase the HDL lipid hydroperoxides content [4, 5]. Due to the protein-based activity of HDL, this kind of inhibition of oxidation can last for several hours, without chain-breaking of antioxidants or chelation of transition metals [6]. HDL can inhibit the formation of oxidized LDL by inhibition of 12-lipoxygenase or other





<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), HDL Metabolism and Diseases, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_5

Q. Zhang

The Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences and Institute of Systems Biomedicine, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Key Laboratory of Molecular Cardiovascular Science of Ministry of Education, NHC Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Molecular Biology and Regulatory Peptides, Beijing Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Receptors Research, Health Science Center, Peking University, Beijing, China e-mail: 1410305226@bjmu.edu.cn

Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Metabolic Vascular Disease Key Laboratory of Sichuan Province, Sichuan Clinical Research Center for Nephropathy, The Affiliated Hospital of Southwest Medical University, Luzhou, Sichuan, China

e-mail: jiangzongzhe555@swmu.edu.cn; xywyll@swmu.edu.cn

enzymes which function in different steps of LDL oxidation [7]. Besides, HDL particles with free radicals protect LDL from oxidative damage and generating pro-inflammatory oxidized lipids. HDL-mediated inactivation of lipid hydroperoxides (LOOH), such as phosphatidylcholine hydroperoxides (PCOOH), involves their initial transfer from LDL to HDL and subsequent reduction to inactive hydroxides by redox-active Met residues of apoA-I. Addition of a hydroperoxyl group to a phospholipid or cholesteryl ester molecule greatly increases hydrophilicity. As a result, LOOH molecules have a higher surface activity than their non-peroxidised counterparts [8]. Their exposure to the aqueous phase at the HDL surface facilitates their removal from the lipoprotein [9]. HDL cholesteryl ester hydroperoxides can be removed by liver cells rapidly and selectively, which indicates that antioxidant function of HDL is mediated by a transport mechanism of oxidant molecules [10]. Furthermore, the removal effect of HDL on LOOH is also found in membranes of erythrocytes and astrocytes, which is associated with cellular membrane phospholipid rigidity [11, 12].

### 5.1.2 HDL Antioxidant Ability-Associated Oxidants

Traditionally, research has focused on the ability of HDL to protect LDL from free radicalmediated oxidation. whereas research on non-radical oxidants in this area remains scarce. There are two types of naturally occurring oxidant compounds, those with unpaired electrons and those with all electrons paired [5]. The former is called single-electron oxidants or radicals which include hydroxyl radicals, lipoxyl radicals, superoxide, etc. The latter, two-electron oxidants or radicals, include HOCl, ONOO-, etc. Ahmed et al. found that apoA-I reduced oxidative damage of HDL particles by ONOO- in both reconstituted and isolated HDL [13]. Introduction of His and Cys residues at the positions 2/3 and 12, respectively, of apoA-I significantly enhanced its ability to prevent LDL oxidation and remove HOCl [14]. However, evidence suggests that natural HDL is barely resistant to HOCl-mediated oxidation. HOCl could target and oxidize Tyr, Met, and Trp residues in apoA-I, resulting in its loss of function [15]. Therefore, the ability of HDL to prevent non-radical-induced oxidation seems to depend on the natures of the oxidant molecules [5].

### 5.1.3 Antioxidant Activity of HDL Subfractions

ApoA-I, the main protein in HDL, was found to play a major role in this process [7]. As mentioned before, apoA-I Met residues 112 and 148 can reduce LOOH to redox-inactive lipid hydroxides, thereby terminating chain reactions of lipid peroxidation [16]. Molecular dynamics simulation shows that Met112 and Met148 interact with Tyr115 to create a microenvironment unique to human apoA-I that may be optimal for such redox reactions [17]. Recombinant HDL which contained only purified apolipoprotein A-I and phospholipids (POPC) was observed to have an antioxidant capacity close to that of natural HDL. This suggests that apoA-I plays a key role in HDL-mediated protection of LDL against oxidation by one-electron oxidants [16]. Another main protein associated with HDL especially large particles, apoA-II, shows less antioxidant ability, however [18]. LOOH can also be slightly inactivated by apoA-II. Thus, apolipoprotein A-II enrichment will impair HDL's antioxidant properties, and HDL derived from human apoA-II transgenic mice fails to protect LDL from oxidative modification [19]. Besides, apoA-IV, apoE, apoM, apoD, apoF, apoJ, and apoL-1 can also display partially antioxidative properties [20–23]. Several HDL-associated enzymes are present at elevated concentrations in HDL3 and light HDL2, which can be involved in the inactivation of short-chain oxidized phospholipids. Structural defects in surface lipid packaging which allows insertion of exogenous molecules and become more pronounced as HDL particle size decreases, may account for this property [5, 24]. Besides, reduced levels of sphingolipids and free cholesterol in small, dense HDL may lead to increased mobility of the surface lipid monolayer, thereby promoting the admixture of exogenous oxidized lipids [25]. Therefore, HDL represents a multimolecular complex capable of acquiring and inactivating oxidant.

### 5.1.4 HDL Antioxidant Capacity in Endothelial Cells

In endothelial cells, HDL also inhibits oxidation by activating NO production [26]. When HDL binds to SR-BI, interaction of the C-terminal PDZ-interacting domain of SR-BI with the adaptor PDZ domain-containing protein PDZK1 will start a signaling in the endothelium, which finally leads to endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS)-Ser1177-phosphorylation and eNOS-Thr495dephosphorylation [27-29]. ABCG1 mediated cholesterol efflux can prevent the deposition of cholesterol and 7-oxysterols in the endothelium, which is another pathway to preserve active eNOS dimer levels [30]. Therefore, HDL improves the bioavailability of NO and reduces the production of reactive oxygen species in endothelium overall.

### 5.1.5 HDL Antioxidant Dysfunction

HDL's antioxidant function is one of its important functions and will affect HDL's role in antiinflammatory, plasma transport, and other aspects. For example, it was reported that HDLs isolated from mice infected with influenza A virus lose their ability to protect LDLs against oxidation in human artery wall cells, which suggests a relationship between HDL antioxidant and antiinflammatory [31]. Lipids in cells and plasma, including those incorporated in HDL particles, oxidative may undergo modification [32]. Peroxidized HDL particles lose their ability to take part in reverse cholesterol transport [33]. Therefore, the determination of HDL antioxidant activity can be one of the ways to identify HDL dysfunction [34].

### 5.2 Regulation of HDL Function

HDL's antioxidant function is regulated by multiple pathways. Recent studies have indicated that extensively oxidized HDLs, especially apoA1, are dysfunctional. Directly lipid peroxides may interfere with HDL's antioxidant, antiinflammatory, and cholesterol acceptor activities [35].

Alterations at the level of the HDL lipidome and the proteome modification which could impact antioxidative properties of HDL. These lipidome alterations include enrichment in sphingomyelin and depletion of polyunsaturated fatty acids, which would result in elevated rigidity of the phospholipid surface monolayer of HDL [5]. This structural abnormality may result in HDL3's inability to obtain LOOH from LDL and prevent the production of ox-LDL.

### 5.2.1 MPO Participates in the Oxidative Modification of HDL

A most studied mechanism of HDL oxidation is the myeloperoxidase (MPO) modification of apoA-I [34]. MPO is an enzyme that processes hydrogen peroxide, which mainly expresses in neutrophils and monocytes to exercise antiinfective immune function. Besides, MPO was also found to be enriched in arterial plaque and could also modify host proteins and lipids [36]. For example, LDL exposed to the complete myeloperoxidase-H2O2-Cl system underwent chlorination of its protein tyrosyl residues demonstrated [37]. Bergt et al. that co-incubation of HDL and MPO in a HOCIcontaining environment (at a 100:1 ration of HOCl and apoA-I) resulted in the loss of unsaturated fatty acids in phospholipids and cholesteryl esters, as well as the loss of cholesterol receptor activity [38]. Although some evidences suggest that selective apoA-I methionine oxidation does not disrupt its structure and leads to an increase in lipid binding and cellular lipid acceptor activities [39], apoA-I Met-148 modification by MPO was showed to be associated with loss of LCAT activation [40]. In addition, Panzenboeck et al. also showed that MPO- or HOCl-modified HDL was more readily taken up and degraded by macrophages, thereby converting HDL from lipoproteins to lipid-receiving lipid-loaded lipoproteins [41]. Combination with studies in Smith, Hazen, and Kinter labs at the Cleveland Clinic demonstrated that apoA-I is a selective target for MPO-catalyzed nitration and chlorination in vivo [42]. They identified apoA-I as a nitrated protein in serum and found probable contact site between the apoA-I moiety of HDL and MPO by cross-immunoprecipitation studies in plasma. Studies demonstrated that MPO can bind to the region of residues 190-203 in apoA-I helix 8 [42, 43]. And Wu et al. demonstrated MPO binding to apoA-I induced loss of LCAT activation, correlating with loss of the Tyr166 containing parent peptide [43]. The Oram labs also examined the MPO induced molecular alterations in apoA-I and agreed that MPO modification of apoA-I is physiologically relevant [44, 45]. Although plasma levels of MPO are usually very low in healthy individuals, significant elevations may occur in patients with coronary syndromes and those at risk of major adverse cardiac events [46]. As MPO is the only human enzyme known to generate hypochlorous acid, protein-bound chloropyrazine content can be a specific molecular marker of MPO-catalyzed oxidation in isolated HDL [37]. Interestingly, 4WF isoform, a restructured apoA-I created by replacing four Trp residues with Phe, is markedly resistant to the increasing oxidant stress from MPO or HOCl [47, 48]. If this strategy is successful, apolipoproteins that are more beneficial can be built.

### 5.2.2 PON1 Increase Antioxidant Function of HDL

Another important molecule involved in the regulation of HDL oxidation is paraoxonase 1 (PON1). PON1 is a calcium-dependent esterase known to catalyze the hydrolysis of organophosphate esters and is widely distributed in tissues such as liver, kidney, and serum. PON1 is capable of hydrolyzing a variety of substrates such as lactones, thio-lactones, glucuronide drugs, aryl organophosphorus pesticides, cyclic esters, carbonates, and nerve gases. It gets its name from the ability to hydrolyze the pesticide paraoxon [49]. In humans, serum PON1 activity and HDL susceptibility to oxidation are inversely correlated. And adding PON1 to HDL can reduce HDL peroxide and aldehyde formation by up to 95%. Mice overexpressing human PON1 exhibit reduced production of reactive oxygen species and reduced foam cell formation [50]. A single cohort study (Cleveland Clinic GeneBank study) involving 3668 patients who underwent coronary angiography showed that the lowest quartile of serum PON1 activity was associated with a more than two-fold higher risk of new cardiovascular events compared to the highest quartile [51]. Regarding the genetic evidence, it was shown that PON1 192QQ homozygotes showed a high antioxidant activity of HDL [52]. Further research found that PON1 can promote the hydrolysis of hydrogen peroxide (H2O2). Since H2O2 is a major reactive oxygen species produced under oxidative stress during atherogenesis [5], this hydrolysis induced by PON1 is a possible mechanism for its inhibition of HDL oxidation [53]. However, some studies don't support PON1 to be an antioxidant enzyme, which showed that PON1 failed to hydrolyze oxidized phospholipids (oxPLs) and is weakly reactive towards LOOH in vitro [54–56]. Thus, Khersonsky et al. suggested that lactones but not oxPLs constitute physiological substrates of PON1 [57], which suggests that PON1 may protect HDL from oxidative modification through other mechanisms. Rosenblat et al. proposed that PON1 increased the ability of HDL to remove cholesterol from macrophages, which is thought to be an important step in reverse cholesterol transport, and therefore increased the free radical scavenging capacity of monocyte/macrophages and lowered oxidative stress [58].

In addition, the effects of PON1 and MPO on HDL oxidation are considered interrelated. It is demonstrated that MPO, PON1, and HDL bind to one another, forming a ternary complex. Hazen
labs proved the complex forming by immunoprecipitation studies, in which antibodies against apoA1 pulled down both MPO and PON1 from plasma. They then revealed functional interaction sites on apoA1 of HDL and PON1 by hydrogen deuterium exchange mass spectrometry and mutagenesis studies. Above this, MPO oxidizes PON1 on tyrosine 71 (Tyr71) to inactivate PON1, and MPO activity is partially inhibited due to the binding of PON1 at the same time [59] (Fig. 5.1).

# 5.2.3 LCAT Increase Antioxidant Function of HDL

Lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) is an enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of free cholesterol into cholesteryl ester, thereby increasing its hydrophobicity [5, 60]. LCAT also hydrolyzes the oxidized acyl chains of oxPLs, producing lysophosphatidylcholine and oxidized free fatty

**Fig. 5.1** Structural model of a hypothetical ternary complex of MPO and PON1 bound to nHDL [59] acids. In addition, LCAT can function as a chainbreaking antioxidant through its Cys residues at positions 31 and 184 [61]. Evidence suggests that LCAT mutations may reduce the antioxidant capacity of HDL but do not lead to increased plasma concentrations of lipid peroxidation products [62]. Furthermore, LCAT inhibition did not reduce the ability of HDL to scavenge lipid peroxides from LDL [16]. Taken together, the effect of LCAT on the antioxidant function of HDL may be based on its independent decomposition of oxPLs.

# 5.2.4 EL Increase Antioxidant Function of HDL

Endothelial lipase (EL) belongs to the triacylglycerol lipase family and is mainly synthesized and secreted by vascular endothelial cells [5, 63]. It is known that EL can effectively



reduce HDL plasma levels and regulate HDL lipid composition at the same time [64, 65]. By its pronounced phospholipase activity EL can consume phospholipids (PL) in HDL and produce lysophospholipids and fatty acids [66]. HDL isolated from EL-deficient mice showed enhanced antioxidant capacity, which may be due to the depletion of HDL-PL mediated by EL [67]. EL modification of HDL was shown to produce particles with altered composition and enhanced antioxidant capacity in vitro [68]. Chloramine T, which could modify Met residues of apoA-I and free SH groups in other HDL associated proteins, profoundly attenuated the capacity of both EV-HDL and EL-HDL [5, 9, 63]. Thus, the enhanced antioxidant capacity of EL-modified HDL may be due primarily to the enrichment of HDL in EL-generated lipolytic products and, to a lesser extent, to the reduced HDL particle size and increased activity of chloramine-T-sensitive mechanisms.

# 5.2.5 PAF-AH Increase Antioxidant Function of HDL

PAF-AH is another hydrolase present in HDL which can hydrolyze oxidized short-chain phospholipids but not long-chain non-oxidized phospholipids [69]. PAF-AH is mainly from macrophages, and plasma PAF-AH circulates in the association with LDL and HDL particles, with the majority of the enzyme bound to small, dense LDL and to lipoprotein (a) [5, 70, 71]. Studies have shown that PAF-AH is the main oxPL hydrolase in HDL, thus free fatty acid hydroperoxides are transferred to HDL and subsequently reduced to the corresponding hydroxides [56, 72]. It is worth mentioning that PAF-AH has overlapping substrates with PON1, so its activity is also linked to PON1 [73]. However, the majority of PAF-AH is carried by LDL, where it is associated with the release of lysophospholipids and becomes harmful to cells and membranes in the subendothelial space [74].

# 5.2.6 Other Molecules Participating in the Oxidation Regulation of HDL

Besides, there are other molecules thought to be involved in the oxidation regulation of HDL. For example, HDLs modified by 15 lipoxygenases were reported unable to contrast the formation of reactive oxygen species in cells incubated with TNF-alpha. This modification therefore impairs HDL-mediated cholesterol efflux and anti-inflammatory effects [75].

Advanced oxidation protein products (AOPPs) are carried by oxidized plasma proteins, especially albumin, and might be able to serve as a new marker of oxidative stress in cardiovascular disease. It is showed that AOPP-albumin produced in vitro could bind to SR-BI and block the binding of HDL to SR-BI, thereby inhibiting HDL function [76].

Some other molecular components, such as cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP), serum amyloid A (SAA), phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP), and PON3, are showed to enhance the antioxidative activity of HDL, but the specific mechanism has not been revealed [77–80].

## 5.3 HDL Oxidation and Disease

# 5.3.1 HDL Oxidation in Cardiovascular Diseases

As atherosclerosis is an inflammation-related and lipid metabolism-related disease, HDL and HDL oxidation play important roles in it. LDL-derived LOOH display multiple pro-oxidative and pro-inflammatory properties [5]. Short-chain oxPL and aldehydes produced by the breakdown of LOOH also have proatherosclerotic effects. Pro-oxidants increase in local oxidative stress compared to antioxidants and cause oxidation in the intima of arteries. These highlight the relevance of HDL-mediated neutralization of lipid peroxidation products and atherosclerosis [81]. Data from both experimental and human studies support the involvement of HDL in reducing oxidative damage [35, 82]. The lack of other antioxidant pathways in the arterial endothelium makes HDL antioxidant activity particularly important in this class of microenvironment. Increased oxidative stress is characteristic of coronary atherosclerosis and frequently leads to damaging oxidative modifications [1, 45]. Cellular oxidative systems involved in atherosclerosis include MPO, NADPH oxidase, nitric oxide synthase, and lipoxygenase. They produce a variety of reactive chlorine, nitrogen, and oxygen species in the form of one-electron (free radical) and two-electron oxidants [83]. Based on studies using an in vitro artery wall model, it was concluded that LDLs deposited in arterial plaque receive additional lipid hydroperoxides produced by the lipoxygenase, as well as MPO pathways operating in local cells, which in turn promoted ox-LDL formation and inflammation [7, 18]. Oxidation of apoA-I by MPO occurs mainly within the subendothelial compartment and results in the increased oxidation of multiple residues, which have been defined by mass spectrometric analysis [84–86]. The levels of chlorinated Tyr192 and oxidized Met148 are higher in patients with stable coronary artery disease (CAD) or ACS than in control individuals [82]. MPO-catalyzed oxidation of HDL and apoA-I results in selective inhibition in ABCA1-dependent cholesterol efflux from macrophages, which could also be a potential mechanism for MPO-dependent generation of a proatherogenic dysfunctional form of HDL in vivo [42]. Systemic PON1 activity was also reduced within the acute coronary syndrome cohort compared with the healthy controls [59] (Fig. 5.2).

# 5.3.2 HDL Oxidation in Metabolic Diseases

In metabolic diseases like diabetes, HDL function may also be mediated by oxidation. Studies show that HDL3 from patients with metabolic syndrome(MetS) have impaired ability to reduce LOOH accumulation in LDL particles in vitro, up to 23% compared with nonobese normolipidemic controls [87]. Similar result was obtained in patients with type 2 diabetes (T2D), whose HDL3 also had reduced PON1 and PAF-AH activity [88]. Altered phospholipid composition of HDL in patients with T2D leads to an increased ratio of sphingolipids to phosphatidylcholine and increases the rigidity of the HDL surface, which is one of the major determinants of the antioxidative activity of HDL [16, 89]. Another study showed that HDL2 exhibited a reduced ability to protect LDL from macrophagemediated oxidation when the hyperglycemia was poorly controlled [90]. Interestingly, recent studies have found that MPO-mediated oxidative stress impaired HDL function even before appreciable changes in HDL levels in diabetes [91]. As for hyperlipidemia, HDL subfractions from patients with isolated low HDL-C levels showed reduced antioxidative activity compared with normolipidemic controls, after excluding the interference of blood glucose [5, 92]. In patients with hyper-alpha lipoproteinemia associated with high HDL levels of triglycerides and low hepatic lipase activity, the antioxidative activity reduced more significantly [93].

# 5.3.3 HDL Oxidation in Neurodegenerative Disorders

Besides, due to the diversity of HDL functions, HDL antioxidant capacity changes occur in many diseases. Emerging evidences suggest that HDL and apoA-I may play a pivotal role in preserving cognitive function under normal and pathological conditions [94], suggesting that antioxidant properties of apoA-I/HDL may play a significant role in neuroprotection just like that in cardiovascular disease. Functional changes of apoA-I have been reported in various diseases such as Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease [95, 96]. In Parkinson's disease (PD), the activity of PON-1 has been shown to be decreased, which indicated that HDL oxidation could play a direct role in its pathogenesis [97]. Several studies have also reported that individuals with the PON1 gene polymorphism in reducing enzyme activity have an increased risk of developing PD. [98, 99]



Fig. 5.2 Mechanisms of HDL-mediated protection against LDL oxidation in the arterial wall (Adapted from Brites, F. et al. [5])

Consistently, some results showed that mutation and haplotype of SNPs of PON cluster were significantly associated with sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) in populations [100, 101]. Since oxidative stress plays a central role in the pathogenic process of sporadic ALS, these findings implicated that enhancing HDL function may help to mitigate ALS [102].

# 5.3.4 HDL Oxidation in Immune Diseases

Some evidences support that HDL oxidation also involves in some immune diseases. A recent study found that patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) with high levels of inflammation (hsCRP > 10 mg/L) had reduced antioxidant activity of HDL3 [103]. Consistently, McMahon et al. observed reduced antioxidant activity of total HDL in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) [104]. These may result in the binding of HDL and lectin-like oxidised LDL receptor 1 and in turn induce proinflammatory responses in macrophages [105]. In addition, the increasing of MPO-mediated HDL oxidation and the decreasing of PON1 activity were also reported in these diseases [106, 107].

# 5.3.5 HDL Oxidation in Other Diseases

Patients with polycystic ovary syndrome, a disease characterized by insulin resistance, showed a reduced ability to protect LDL from oxidation in serum [5], as well as decreased PON1 activity was found in these patients in another study [108, 109]. Patients with iron deficiency anemia (IDA) also showed reduced antioxidant activity of total HDL associated with impaired PON1 activity [110]. Similar results were observed in postmenopausal women with PON1 heterozygous activity phenotype [111].

# 5.3.6 Therapeutic Perspectives in HDL Oxidation

Based on the association between HDL oxidation and disease, improving antioxidative activity of HDL may become a new therapeutic approach, although the evidence is still limited.

Lifestyle is a known factor which will affect HDL composition and functionality. Studies have investigated the effects of diet and exercise habits HDL on antioxidant activity. Significant improvement in HDL3c antioxidant activity in patients with metabolic syndrome and normal LDL cholesterol plasma levels was observed after 12 weeks of individualized diet and exercise intervention [112]. Moreover, dyslipidemic patients showed increased antioxidant potential of HDL2a and 3b, while PON1 activity increased after 3 months of moderate physical activity [113]. Besides, increased antioxidative activity of total HDL was showed in trained triathletes with the PON1 heterozygous activity phenotype, reflecting an adaptive mechanism of oxidative stress which results from increased oxygen consumption [114]. As for unhealthy habits like smoking, Park et al. found impaired HDL antioxidant activity and elevated LDL oxidation in smokers compared to nonsmoking controls [115]. Smoking induced phospholipid depletion in HDL3 fractions and causes the production of dysfunctional HDL3 particles, which was measured by ferric-reducing capacity [116].

Traditional HDL therapy targeted to raise HDL-C levels. Nevertheless, several pharmacological alternatives were found to improve antioxidative activity of HDL potentially at the same time. Atorvastatin increased PON1 activity while enhancing plasma antioxidant capacity in hypercholesterolemic patients [117]. Pitavastatin could increase the transcription of PON1 [118]. Other statins have also been shown to enhance PON1 activity in some other studies [119, 120]. Fenofibrate could cause an increase in activity of antioxidant enzyme, glutathione peroxidase, together with a decrease in systemic oxidative stress in dyslipidemia patients, as well as improvements in PON1 activity [121, 122].

Niacin intake is negatively associated with plasma oxLDL levels in healthy adults and results in a decrease in systemic oxidative stress [123, 124]. Extended-release niacin (ERN) is the most effective agent for increasing HDL-C, but studies have shown that the increase in HDL-C achieved with ERN does not match the increase in antioxidant capacity. These results may explain why Niacin and some lipid lowering agents fail to reduce cardiovascular risk [125].

The using of apoA-I mimetics and reconstituted HDL (rHDL) could modify the antioxidative capacity of HDL directly. Navab et al. tested the ability of a series of apoA-I peptides to inhibit LDL oxidation and found significant effects of peptides 4F and 5F [7]. Another apoA-I mimetic, L-6F, also showed antioxidant properties in several mouse models [126]. Compared with normal HDL, rHDL containing apoA-I mutant peptide V156 K and R173C showed higher antioxidant activity in vivo and in vitro [127]. In addition, rHDL containing apoA-I Milano showed higher antioxidant activity than wild-type rHDL in rats, thereby protecting against endotoxin-induced multi-organ damage [128].

#### 5.4 Conclusion

Overall, we have known that HDLs have the activity of inhibiting LDL oxidation and neutralizing some other oxidants. ApoA-I is the main antioxidant components in HDLs. The antioxidant capacity of HDL and apoA-I is regulated by alterations at the level of the HDL lipidome and the modifications of the proteome, especially MPO and PON1. HDL oxidation is an important process in atherosclerosis, metabolic diseases, and other diseases. Although the influence of some molecules on HDL oxidation remain inconclusive, HDL oxidation might become a disease marker and therapeutic target in many diseases as research continues.

### References

- Rosenson RS et al (2016) Dysfunctional HDL and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Nat Rev Cardiol 13:48–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio. 2015.124
- Van Lenten BJ et al (1995) Anti-inflammatory HDL becomes pro-inflammatory during the acute phase response. Loss of protective effect of HDL against LDL oxidation in aortic wall cell cocultures. J Clin Invest 96:2758–2767. https://doi.org/10.1172/ jci118345
- Navab M et al (2002) Oral administration of an Apo A-I mimetic peptide synthesized from D-amino acids dramatically reduces atherosclerosis in mice independent of plasma cholesterol. Circulation 105:290–292. https://doi.org/10.1161/hc0302.103711
- Mackness MI, Arrol S, Durrington PN (1991) Paraoxonase prevents accumulation of lipoperoxides in low-density lipoprotein. FEBS Lett 286:152–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(91)80962-3
- Brites F, Martin M, Guillas I, Kontush A (2017) Antioxidative activity of high-density lipoprotein (HDL): mechanistic insights into potential clinical benefit. BBA Clin 8:66–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.bbacli.2017.07.002
- Durrington PN, Mackness B, Mackness MI (2001) Paraoxonase and atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21:473–480. https://doi.org/10. 1161/01.atv.21.4.473
- Navab M et al (2000) Normal high density lipoprotein inhibits three steps in the formation of mildly oxidized low density lipoprotein: step 1. J Lipid Res 41:1481–1494
- Nuchi CD, Hernandez P, McClements DJ, Decker EA (2002) Ability of lipid hydroperoxides to partition into surfactant micelles and alter lipid oxidation rates in emulsions. J Agric Food Chem 50:5445– 5449. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf020095j
- Karlsson H, Kontush A, James RW (2015) Functionality of HDL: antioxidation and detoxifying effects. Handb Exp Pharmacol 224:207–228. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-319-09665-0\_5
- Christison J, Karjalainen A, Brauman J, Bygrave F, Stocker R (1996) Rapid reduction and removal of HDL- but not LDL-associated cholesteryl ester hydroperoxides by rat liver perfused in situ. Biochem J 314(Pt 3):739–742. https://doi.org/10.1042/ bj3140739
- 11. Klimov AN, Kozhevnikova KA, Kuzmin AA, Kuznetsov AS, Belova EV (2001) On the ability of high density lipoproteins to remove phospholipid peroxidation products from erythrocyte membranes. Biochemistry (Mosc) 66:300–304. https://doi.org/10. 1023/a:1010203930470
- 12. Ferretti G, Bacchetti T, Moroni C, Vignini A, Curatola G (2003) Copper-induced oxidative damage on astrocytes: protective effect exerted by human high density lipoproteins. Biochim Biophys Acta

1635:48–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2003. 10.005

- Ahmed Z et al (2002) Multiple substrates for paraoxonase-1 during oxidation of phosphatidylcholine by peroxynitrite. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 290:391–396. https://doi.org/10.1006/ bbrc.2001.6150
- Nguyen SD, Jeong TS, Sok DE (2006) Apolipoprotein A-I-mimetic peptides with antioxidant actions. Arch Biochem Biophys 451:34–42. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.abb.2006.04.010
- Bergt C et al (2001) Human neutrophils employ the myeloperoxidase/hydrogen peroxide/chloride system to oxidatively damage apolipoprotein A-I. Eur J Biochem 268:3523–3531. https://doi.org/10.1046/j. 1432-1327.2001.02253.x
- 16. Zerrad-Saadi A et al (2009) HDL3-mediated inactivation of LDL-associated phospholipid hydroperoxides is determined by the redox status of apolipoprotein A-I and HDL particle surface lipid rigidity: relevance to inflammation and atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 29:2169–2175. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha.109.194555
- Bashtovyy D, Jones MK, Anantharamaiah GM, Segrest JP (2011) Sequence conservation of apolipoprotein A-I affords novel insights into HDL structurefunction. J Lipid Res 52:435–450. https://doi.org/10. 1194/jlr.R012658
- Barter Philip J et al (2004) Antiinflammatory properties of HDL. Circ Res 95:764–772. https:// doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000146094.59640.13
- 19. Ribas V et al (2004) Human apolipoprotein A-II enrichment displaces paraoxonase from HDL and impairs its antioxidant properties: a new mechanism linking HDL protein composition and antiatherogenic potential. Circ Res 95:789–797. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.0000146031. 94850.5f
- 20. Ostos MA et al (2001) Antioxidative and antiatherosclerotic effects of human apolipoprotein A-IV in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21:1023–1028. https://doi.org/10.1161/01. atv.21.6.1023
- 21. Gaidukov L et al (2010) ApoE induces serum paraoxonase PON1 activity and stability similar to ApoA-I. Biochemistry 49:532–538. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/bi9013227
- Elsoe S et al (2012) Apolipoprotein M binds oxidized phospholipids and increases the antioxidant effect of HDL. Atherosclerosis 221:91–97. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.11.031
- 23. Davidson WS et al (2009) Proteomic analysis of defined HDL subpopulations reveals particle-specific protein clusters: relevance to antioxidative function. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 29:870–876. https:// doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha.109.186031
- Kumpula LS et al (2008) Reconsideration of hydrophobic lipid distributions in lipoprotein particles.

Chem Phys Lipids 155:57–62. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chemphyslip.2008.06.003

- 25. Kontush A, Chapman MJ (2010) Antiatherogenic function of HDL particle subpopulations: focus on antioxidative activities. Curr Opin Lipidol 21:312– 318. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL. 0b013e32833bcdc1
- Kontush A (2014) HDL-mediated mechanisms of protection in cardiovascular disease. Cardiovasc Res 103:341–349. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvu147
- Movva R, Rader DJ (2008) Laboratory assessment of HDL heterogeneity and function. Clin Chem 54:788– 800. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2007.101923
- Nofer JR et al (2004) HDL induces NO-dependent vasorelaxation via the lysophospholipid receptor S1P3. J Clin Invest 113:569–581. https://doi.org/10. 1172/jci18004
- Yuhanna IS et al (2001) High-density lipoprotein binding to scavenger receptor-BI activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Nat Med 7:853–857. https://doi.org/10.1038/89986
- 30. Terasaka N et al (2008) ABCG1 and HDL protect against endothelial dysfunction in mice fed a highcholesterol diet. J Clin Invest 118:3701–3713. https:// doi.org/10.1172/jci35470
- 31. Van Lenten BJ et al (2001) High-density lipoprotein loses its anti-inflammatory properties during acute influenza a infection. Circulation 103:2283–2288. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.103.18.2283
- 32. Otocka-Kmiecik A et al (2012) Dysfunctional HDL: a novel important diagnostic and therapeutic target in cardiovascular disease? Prog Lipid Res 51:314–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2012.03.003
- 33. Nagano Y, Arai H, Kita T (1991) High density lipoprotein loses its effect to stimulate efflux of cholesterol from foam cells after oxidative modification. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:6457–6461. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.15.6457
- 34. Smith JD (2010) Dysfunctional HDL as a diagnostic and therapeutic target. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30:151–155. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha. 108.179226
- 35. Huang Y et al (2014) An abundant dysfunctional apolipoprotein A1 in human atheroma. Nat Med 20: 193–203. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3459
- 36. Daugherty A, Dunn JL, Rateri DL, Heinecke JW (1994) Myeloperoxidase, a catalyst for lipoprotein oxidation, is expressed in human atherosclerotic lesions. J Clin Invest 94:437–444. https://doi.org/10. 1172/jci117342
- 37. Hazen SL, Heinecke JW (1997) 3-Chlorotyrosine, a specific marker of myeloperoxidase-catalyzed oxidation, is markedly elevated in low density lipoprotein isolated from human atherosclerotic intima. J Clin Invest 99:2075–2081. https://doi.org/10.1172/ jci119379
- Bergt C, Reicher H, Malle E, Sattler W (1999) Hypochlorite modification of high density lipoprotein: effects on cholesterol efflux from J774 macrophages.

FEBS Lett 452:295–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0014-5793(99)00677-8

- 39. Panzenbock U, Kritharides L, Raftery M, Rye KA, Stocker R (2000) Oxidation of methionine residues to methionine sulfoxides does not decrease potential antiatherogenic properties of apolipoprotein A-I. J Biol Chem 275:19536–19544. https://doi.org/10. 1074/jbc.M000458200
- 40. Shao B, Cavigiolio G, Brot N, Oda MN, Heinecke JW (2008) Methionine oxidation impairs reverse cholesterol transport by apolipoprotein A-I. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:12224–12229. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.0802025105
- 41. Panzenboeck U et al (1997) Effects of reagent and enzymatically generated hypochlorite on physicochemical and metabolic properties of high density lipoproteins. J Biol Chem 272:29711–29720. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.47.29711
- 42. Zheng L et al (2004) Apolipoprotein A-I is a selective target for myeloperoxidase-catalyzed oxidation and functional impairment in subjects with cardiovascular disease. J Clin Invest 114:529–541. https://doi.org/ 10.1172/jci21109
- 43. Wu Z et al (2007) The refined structure of nascent HDL reveals a key functional domain for particle maturation and dysfunction. Nat Struct Mol Biol 14: 861–868. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1284
- 44. Bergt C et al (2004) The myeloperoxidase product hypochlorous acid oxidizes HDL in the human artery wall and impairs ABCA1-dependent cholesterol transport. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:13032– 13037. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0405292101
- 45. Pennathur S et al (2004) Human atherosclerotic intima and blood of patients with established coronary artery disease contain high density lipoprotein damaged by reactive nitrogen species. J Biol Chem 279:42977–42983. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M406762200
- 46. Brennan ML et al (2003) Prognostic value of myeloperoxidase in patients with chest pain. N Engl J Med 349:1595–1604. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa035003
- 47. Peng DQ et al (2008) Apolipoprotein A-I tryptophan substitution leads to resistance to myeloperoxidasemediated loss of function. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28:2063–2070. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha. 108.173815
- Peng DQ et al (2005) Tyrosine modification is not required for myeloperoxidase-induced loss of apolipoprotein A-I functional activities. J Biol Chem 280: 33775–33784. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M504092200
- 49. Furlong CE, Richter RJ, Seidel SL, Costa LG, Motulsky AG (1989) Spectrophotometric assays for the enzymatic hydrolysis of the active metabolites of chlorpyrifos and parathion by plasma paraoxonase/ arylesterase. Anal Biochem 180:242–247. https://doi. org/10.1016/0003-2697(89)90424-7

- 50. She ZG et al (2009) Human paraoxonase gene cluster transgenic overexpression represses atherogenesis and promotes atherosclerotic plaque stability in ApoE-null mice. Circ Res 104:1160–1168. https:// doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.108.192229
- 51. Tang WH et al (2012) Clinical and genetic association of serum paraoxonase and arylesterase activities with cardiovascular risk. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 32:2803–2812. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha. 112.253930
- 52. Bhattacharyya T et al (2008) Relationship of paraoxonase 1 (PON1) gene polymorphisms and functional activity with systemic oxidative stress and cardiovascular risk. JAMA 299:1265–1276. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.299.11.1265
- 53. Aviram M et al (1998) Paraoxonase inhibits highdensity lipoprotein oxidation and preserves its functions. A possible peroxidative role for paraoxonase. J Clin Invest 101:1581–1590. https:// doi.org/10.1172/jci1649
- 54. Connelly PW, Draganov D, Maguire GF (2005) Paraoxonase-1 does not reduce or modify oxidation of phospholipids by peroxynitrite. Free Radic Biol Med 38:164–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2004.10.010
- 55. Teiber JF, Draganov DI, La Du B, N. (2004) Purified human serum PON1 does not protect LDL against oxidation in the in vitro assays initiated with copper or AAPH. J Lipid Res 45:2260–2268. https://doi.org/ 10.1194/jlr.M400213-JLR200
- 56. Marathe GK, Zimmerman GA, McIntyre TM (2003) Platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase, and not paraoxonase-1, is the oxidized phospholipid hydrolase of high density lipoprotein particles. J Biol Chem 278:3937–3947. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M211126200
- Khersonsky O, Tawfik DS (2005) Structurereactivity studies of serum paraoxonase PON1 suggest that its native activity is lactonase. Biochemistry 44:6371–6382. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi047440d
- Rosenblat M, Volkova N, Aviram M (2011) Injection of paraoxonase 1 (PON1) to mice stimulates their HDL and macrophage antiatherogenicity. Biofactors 37:462–467. https://doi.org/10.1002/biof.188
- Huang Y et al (2013) Myeloperoxidase, paraoxonase-1, and HDL form a functional ternary complex. J Clin Invest 123:3815–3828. https://doi.org/10.1172/ jci67478
- 60. Dobiasova M, Frohlich JJ (1999) Advances in understanding of the role of lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) in cholesterol transport. Clin Chim Acta 286:257–271. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0009-8981(99)00106-0
- 61. McPherson PA, Young IS, McEneny J (2007) A dual role for lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase (EC 2.3.1.43) in lipoprotein oxidation. Free Radic Biol Med 43:1484–1493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2007.08.007

- 62. Holleboom AG et al (2012) Lipid oxidation in carriers of lecithin: cholesterol acyltransferase gene mutations. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 32:3066– 3075. https://doi.org/10.1161/atvbaha.112.255711
- 63. Jaye M et al (1999) A novel endothelial-derived lipase that modulates HDL metabolism. Nat Genet 21:424–428. https://doi.org/10.1038/7766
- 64. Nijstad N et al (2009) Scavenger receptor BI-mediated selective uptake is required for the remodeling of high density lipoprotein by endothelial lipase. J Biol Chem 284:6093–6100. https://doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M807683200
- 65. Gauster M et al (2004) Endothelial lipase-modified high-density lipoprotein exhibits diminished ability to mediate SR-BI (scavenger receptor B type I)dependent free-cholesterol efflux. Biochem J 382: 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj20031882
- 66. Gauster M et al (2005) Endothelial lipase releases saturated and unsaturated fatty acids of high density lipoprotein phosphatidylcholine. J Lipid Res 46: 1517–1525. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M500054-JLR200
- 67. Escola-Gil JC et al (2013) Hepatic lipase- and endothelial lipase-deficiency in mice promotes macrophage-to-feces RCT and HDL antioxidant properties. Biochim Biophys Acta 1831:691–697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2013.01.003
- Schilcher I et al (2019) Endothelial lipase increases antioxidative capacity of high-density lipoprotein. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids 1864: 1363–1374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2019. 06.011
- 69. Mallat Z, Lambeau G, Tedgui A (2010) Lipoproteinassociated and secreted phospholipases a(2) in cardiovascular disease: roles as biological effectors and biomarkers. Circulation 122:2183–2200. https://doi. org/10.1161/circulationaha.110.936393
- McIntyre TM, Prescott SM, Stafforini DM (2009) The emerging roles of PAF acetylhydrolase. J Lipid Res 50(Suppl):S255–S259. https://doi.org/10.1194/ jlr.R800024-JLR200
- 71. Tselepis AD, Dentan C, Karabina SA, Chapman MJ, Ninio E (1995) PAF-degrading acetylhydrolase is preferentially associated with dense LDL and VHDL-1 in human plasma. Catalytic characteristics and relation to the monocyte-derived enzyme. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15:1764–1773. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.15.10.1764
- 72. Kotosai M et al (2013) Plasma HDL reduces nonesterified fatty acid hydroperoxides originating from oxidized LDL: a mechanism for its antioxidant ability. Lipids 48:569–578. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11745-013-3779-1
- 73. Rodrigo L, Mackness B, Durrington PN, Hernandez A, Mackness MI (2001) Hydrolysis of platelet-activating factor by human serum paraoxonase. Biochem J 354:1–7. https://doi.org/10. 1042/0264-6021:3540001

- 74. Karasawa K (2006) Clinical aspects of plasma platelet-activating factor-acetylhydrolase. Biochim Biophys Acta 1761:1359–1372. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbalip.2006.06.017
- 75. Pirillo A, Uboldi P, Bolego C, Kuhn H, Catapano AL (2008) The 15-lipoxygenase-modified high density lipoproteins 3 fail to inhibit the TNF-alpha-induced inflammatory response in human endothelial cells. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md. : 1950) 181:2821–2830. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.181.4.2821
- Marsche G et al (2009) Plasma-advanced oxidation protein products are potent high-density lipoprotein receptor antagonists in vivo. Circ Res 104:750–757. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.108.193169
- 77. Hine D, Mackness B, Mackness M (2011) Cholesteryl-ester transfer protein enhances the ability of high-density lipoprotein to inhibit low-density lipoprotein oxidation. IUBMB Life 63:772–774. https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.508
- Albers JJ, Cheung MC (2004) Emerging roles for phospholipid transfer protein in lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol 15:255–260. https:// doi.org/10.1097/00041433-200406000-00004
- 79. Sato M et al (2016) Effects of serum amyloid A on the structure and antioxidant ability of high-density lipoprotein. Biosci Rep 36. https://doi.org/10.1042/ bsr20160075
- Zhang C et al (2010) Studies on protective effects of human paraoxonases 1 and 3 on atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. Gene Ther 17:626– 633. https://doi.org/10.1038/gt.2010.11
- Stocker R, Keaney JF Jr (2004) Role of oxidative modifications in atherosclerosis. Physiol Rev 84: 1381–1478. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00047. 2003
- 82. Shao B et al (2014) Humans with atherosclerosis have impaired ABCA1 cholesterol efflux and enhanced high-density lipoprotein oxidation by myeloperoxidase. Circ Res 114:1733–1742. https:// doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.114.303454
- 83. Gaut JP, Heinecke JW (2001) Mechanisms for oxidizing low-density lipoprotein. Insights from patterns of oxidation products in the artery wall and from mouse models of atherosclerosis. Trends Cardiovasc Med 11:103–112. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s1050-1738(01)00101-3
- 84. Baldus S et al (2001) Endothelial transcytosis of myeloperoxidase confers specificity to vascular ECM proteins as targets of tyrosine nitration. J Clin Invest 108:1759–1770. https://doi.org/10.1172/ jci12617
- 85. Shao B et al (2005) Tyrosine 192 in apolipoprotein A-I is the major site of nitration and chlorination by myeloperoxidase, but only chlorination markedly impairs ABCA1-dependent cholesterol transport. J Biol Chem 280:5983–5993. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M411484200
- Bergt C, Fu X, Huq NP, Kao J, Heinecke JW (2004) Lysine residues direct the chlorination of tyrosines in

YXXK motifs of apolipoprotein A-I when hypochlorous acid oxidizes high density lipoprotein. J Biol Chem 279:7856–7866. https://doi.org/10. 1074/jbc.M309046200

- 87. Hansel B et al (2004) Metabolic syndrome is associated with elevated oxidative stress and dysfunctional dense high-density lipoprotein particles displaying impaired antioxidative activity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:4963–4971. https://doi.org/10. 1210/jc.2004-0305
- 88. Nobecourt E et al (2005) Defective antioxidative activity of small dense HDL3 particles in type 2 diabetes: relationship to elevated oxidative stress and hyperglycaemia. Diabetologia 48:529–538. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00125-004-1655-5
- 89. de Souza JA et al (2008) Metabolic syndrome features small, apolipoprotein A-I-poor, triglyceriderich HDL3 particles with defective anti-apoptotic activity. Atherosclerosis 197:84–94. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.08.009
- 90. Gomez Rosso L et al (2017) Poor glycemic control in type 2 diabetes enhances functional and compositional alterations of small, dense HDL3c. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids 1862:188–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2016.10.014
- 91. Mathew AV et al (2018) Therapeutic lifestyle changes improve HDL function by inhibiting myeloperoxidase-mediated oxidation in patients with metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Care 41:2431– 2437. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc18-0049
- 92. Kontush A, de Faria EC, Chantepie S, Chapman MJ (2005) A normotriglyceridemic, low HDL-cholesterol phenotype is characterised by elevated oxidative stress and HDL particles with attenuated antioxidative activity. Atherosclerosis 182:277–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclero sis.2005.03.001
- 93. Kontush A, de Faria EC, Chantepie S, Chapman MJ (2004) Antioxidative activity of HDL particle subspecies is impaired in hyperalphalipoproteinemia: relevance of enzymatic and physicochemical properties. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24:526– 533. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.Atv.0000118276. 87061.00
- 94. Hottman DA, Chernick D, Cheng S, Wang Z, Li L (2014) HDL and cognition in neurodegenerative disorders. Neurobiol Dis 72(Pt A):22–36. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2014.07.015
- Lefterov I et al (2010) Apolipoprotein A-I deficiency increases cerebral amyloid angiopathy and cognitive deficits in APP/PS1DeltaE9 mice. J Biol Chem 285: 36945–36957. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110. 127738
- 96. Lewis TL et al (2010) Overexpression of human apolipoprotein A-I preserves cognitive function and attenuates neuroinflammation and cerebral amyloid angiopathy in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. J Biol Chem 285:36958–36968. https://doi.org/10. 1074/jbc.M110.127829

- 97. Ikeda K et al (2011) Serological profiles of urate, paraoxonase-1, ferritin and lipid in Parkinson's disease: changes linked to disease progression. Neurodegener Dis 8:252–258. https://doi.org/10. 1159/000323265
- 98. Akhmedova SN, Yakimovsky AK, Schwartz EI (2001) Paraoxonase 1 Met--Leu 54 polymorphism is associated with Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Sci 184: 179–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-510x(01) 00439-7
- 99. Zintzaras E, Hadjigeorgiou GM (2004) Association of paraoxonase 1 gene polymorphisms with risk of Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis. J Hum Genet 49:474–481. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10038-004-0176-x
- 100. Valdmanis PN et al (2008) Association of paraoxonase gene cluster polymorphisms with ALS in France, Quebec, and Sweden. Neurology 71:514– 520. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000324997. 21272.0c
- 101. Saeed M et al (2006) Paraoxonase cluster polymorphisms are associated with sporadic ALS. Neurology 67:771–776. https://doi.org/10.1212/01. wnl.0000227187.52002.88
- 102. D'Amico E, Factor-Litvak P, Santella RM, Mitsumoto H (2013) Clinical perspective on oxidative stress in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Free Radic Biol Med 65:509–527. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.06.029
- 103. Gomez Rosso L et al (2014) Altered lipidome and antioxidative activity of small, dense HDL in normolipidemic rheumatoid arthritis: relevance of inflammation. Atherosclerosis 237:652–660. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.09.034
- 104. McMahon M et al (2006) Proinflammatory highdensity lipoprotein as a biomarker for atherosclerosis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 54:2541– 2549. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.21976
- 105. Smith CK et al (2017) Lupus high-density lipoprotein induces proinflammatory responses in macrophages by binding lectin-like oxidised low-density lipoprotein receptor 1 and failing to promote activating transcription factor 3 activity. Ann Rheum Dis 76:602– 611. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209683
- 106. Vivekanandan-Giri A et al (2013) High density lipoprotein is targeted for oxidation by myeloperoxidase in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 72:1725– 1731. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202033
- 107. Gaal K et al (2016) High-density lipopoprotein antioxidant capacity, subpopulation distribution and paraoxonase-1 activity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lipids Health Dis 15:60. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12944-016-0229-0
- Zhang J et al (2015) Antioxidant properties of highdensity lipoproteins are impaired in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril 103:1346–

1354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015. 02.024

- 109. Mohamadin AM, Habib FA, Elahi TF (2010) Serum paraoxonase 1 activity and oxidant/antioxidant status in Saudi women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Pathophysiology 17:189–196. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.pathophys.2009.11.004
- 110. Merono T et al (2017) Oxidative stress, HDL functionality and effects of intravenous iron administration in women with iron deficiency anemia. Clin Nutr 36:552–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2016. 02.003
- 111. Zago V et al (2004) Impaired high density lipoprotein antioxidant activity in healthy postmenopausal women. Atherosclerosis 177:203–210. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2004.07.011
- 112. Hansel B et al (2016) Lifestyle intervention enhances high-density lipoprotein function among patients with metabolic syndrome only at normal low-density lipoprotein cholesterol plasma levels. J Clin Lipidol 10:1172–1181. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jacl.2016.05.008
- 113. Casella-Filho A et al (2011) Effect of exercise training on plasma levels and functional properties of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in the metabolic syndrome. Am J Cardiol 107:1168–1172. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.amjcard.2010.12.014
- 114. Brites F et al (2006) HDL capacity to inhibit LDL oxidation in well-trained triathletes. Life Sci 78: 3074–3081. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2005. 12.015
- 115. Park KH, Shin DG, Cho KH (2014) Dysfunctional lipoproteins from young smokers exacerbate cellular senescence and atherogenesis with smaller particle size and severe oxidation and glycation. Toxicol Sci 140:16–25. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfu076
- 116. Song W et al (2015) The implication of cigarette smoking and cessation on macrophage cholesterol efflux in coronary artery disease patients. J Lipid Res 56:682–691. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.P055491
- 117. Harangi M et al (2009) Atorvastatin effect on the distribution of high-density lipoprotein subfractions and human paraoxonase activity. Transl Res 153: 190–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trsl.2009.01.007
- 118. Yamashita S, Tsubakio-Yamamoto K, Ohama T, Nakagawa-Toyama Y, Nishida M (2010) Molecular mechanisms of HDL-cholesterol elevation by statins and its effects on HDL functions. J Atheroscler Thromb 17:436–451. https://doi.org/10.5551/jat. 5405
- 119. Bergheanu SC et al (2007) Effect of rosuvastatin versus atorvastatin treatment on paraoxonase-1 activity in men with established cardiovascular disease and a low HDL-cholesterol. Curr Med Res Opin 23: 2235-2240. https://doi.org/10.1185/ 030079907x226104
- 120. Muacevic-Katanec D et al (2007) Clinical study on the effect of simvastatin on paraoxonase activity.

Arzneimittelforschung 57:647–653. https://doi.org/ 10.1055/s-0031-1296663

- 121. Tkac I, Molcanyiova A, Javorsky M, Kozarova M (2006) Fenofibrate treatment reduces circulating conjugated diene level and increases glutathione peroxidase activity. Pharmacol Res 53:261–264. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.phrs.2005.12.002
- 122. Phuntuwate W et al (2008) Effect of fenofibrate therapy on paraoxonase1 status in patients with low HDL-C levels. Atherosclerosis 196:122–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.03.001
- 123. Kaplon RE, Gano LB, Seals DR (2014) Vascular endothelial function and oxidative stress are related to dietary niacin intake among healthy middle-aged and older adults. J Appl Physiol 1985(116):156–163. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00969.2013
- 124. Hamoud S et al (2013) Niacin administration significantly reduces oxidative stress in patients with hypercholesterolemia and low levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. Am J Med Sci 345:195–

**199.** https://doi.org/10.1097/MAJ. 0b013e3182548c28

- 125. Batuca JR et al (2017) Extended-release niacin increases anti-apolipoprotein A-I antibodies that block the antioxidant effect of high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol: the EXPLORE clinical trial. Br J Clin Pharmacol 83:1002–1010. https://doi.org/10. 1111/bcp.13198
- 126. Chattopadhyay A et al (2013) A novel approach to oral apoA-I mimetic therapy. J Lipid Res 54:995– 1010. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M033555
- 127. Cho KH et al (2006) ApoA-I mutants V156K and R173C promote anti-inflammatory function and antioxidant activities. Eur J Clin Investig 36:875–882. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2362.2006.01737.x
- 128. Zhang X, Wang L, Chen B (2015) Recombinant HDL (Milano) protects endotoxin-challenged rats from multiple organ injury and dysfunction. Biol Chem 396:53–60. https://doi.org/10.1515/hsz-2014-0188



6

# HDL and Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I (SRBI)

Hong Yu

# Abstract

The scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) is a versatile HDL receptor protein. It is highly expressed in liver and steroidogenic tissues. SR-BI regulates selective uptake of cholesterol ester (CE) from HDL, revealing its role in mediating reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) and steroid hormone synthesis. In addition, SR-BI is involved in cholesterol transport, cellular inflammatory response, platelet reactivity, and HDL-initiated signaling in the vascular system in several mouse models. Mutations in the human SR-BI gene (SCARB1) have been found to be associated with abnormally high plasma HDL-C levels and an increased risk of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. At present, the key regions of SR-BI transmembrane structure and the regulatory mechanisms of SR-BI expression still need to be further studied. In this chapter, the structural, functional, and regulatory characteristics of SR-BI are reviewed, and the importance of SR-BI in related metabolic diseases was expounded.

Wuhan University School of Basic Medical Sciences, Wuhan, Hubei, China e-mail: yu.hong@whu.edu.cn

#### Keywords

Scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) · HDL metabolism · Reverse cholesterol transport · Cholesterol transport · Cellular inflammatory response · Platelet reactivity · HDL-initiated signaling · Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease

The scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI), a member of the CD36 superfamily, is a membrane glycoprotein that functions as a HDL receptor [1]. SR-BI is well conserved between species and abundantly expressed in the liver and steroidogenic tissues where it mediates selective uptake of cholesteryl ester (CE) from HDL. Hepatic SR-BI plays an important role in reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) and is closely related to HDL metabolism [2, 3]. Meanwhile, several studies from mouse models support that SR-BI regulates cholesterol trafficking, cell inflammaplatelet reactivity, tory responses, and HDL-initiated signaling in the vasculature, which is related to its role in anti-atherogenesis [4, 5]. Recently, some large population based studies have demonstrated that the human SR-BI gene (SCARB1) has single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) and subjects heterozygous for the P376L mutant form of SR-BI have abnormally high levels of HDL-C and increased risk of cardiovascular disease [6, 7]. Here, we summarize the structural. functional. and regulatory characteristics SR-BI of for а better

H. Yu (🖂)

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), *HDL Metabolism and Diseases*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_6

understanding that SR-BI-mediated pathway may be a potential gateway for therapy and diagnosis in related diseases.

#### 6.1 Structural Features of SR-BI

#### 6.1.1 SR-BI Gene Structure

The SR-BI gene sequence was originally obtained from a Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cell variant [8]. Mouse and rat SR-BI genes were found to be localized on chromosomes 5 and 12q15-16, respectively. The human SCARB1 gene is located on chromosome 12, with a full-length of 86 kb and consisting of 13 exons and 12 introns. The exon structure of SR-BI is very similar to that of CD36. Exon 1 comprises the 5'-UTR of cDNA and a short coding sequence, and exon 13 contains all the 3'-UTR. The length of human SR-BI mRNA is about 2.8 kb. Due to exon alternative splicing, SR-BI gene can be transcribed to produce multiple mRNA species. For example, Exons 2 and 3 of human SR-BI can be selectively spliced, resulting in deletion of 300 bp mRNA. The jump of exon 12 (129 bp) also generates a C-terminal variant mRNAs encoding SR-BII, in which three residues at C-terminus are shorter than SR-BI and the last 39 amino acids (467-506) are different.

At present, studies found a number of essential regulation elements in the SCARB1 promoter. The human SCARB1 promoter has two E-box consensus sequences (CANNTG) at the proximal (-160 bp) and the distal (-1145 bp) regions of the transcription start site, respectively, which bind to transcription factors with the basic helixloop-helix (bHLH) motif and sterol regulatory element (SRE)-binding protein (SREBP). There are also two conserved CAAT elements that bind enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP) at -476 bp and -1046 bp regions upstream of the transcription starting site, and a proximal (-217 bp) binding site for steroidogenic factor-1 (SF-1). Meanwhile, a liver receptor homolog-1 (LRH-1) response element and a liver X receptor (LXR) response element are located in the promoter at -77bp and – 1139 bp, respectively.

Additionally, two SREs, four estrogen response element (ERE) half sites, seven simian virus 40 protein-1 (Sp1)–binding sites, and eleven E-boxes in proximal (-238 bp) and distal (-1958 bp) regions are found in the rat SR-BI promoter [9].

# 6.1.2 SR-BI Protein Structure and Localization

Human SR-BI protein was early named CLA-1 (CD36- and LIMPII-analogous-1) because of its structural similarity. UniProt predictions indicated that selective splicing of human SCARB1 mRNA might produce five SR-BI isomers. Isoform 1 was the first to be identified and named SR-BI, which contains 509 amino acid residues and has a predicted molecular weight (MW) of 56.9 kDa. In fact, due to glycosylated modification, it is usually detected with a relative MW of 82-83 kDa. SR-BI has a hairpin-like topological structure, the 409 amino acid residues in the middle segment form the extracellular domain, which is anchored to the plasma membrane by two transmembrane domains (aa 12-32 and 441-461), and is adjoined two short cytoplasmic domains at the N-termini (aa 1 - 11) and C-termini (aa 462-509), respectively [9].

Structure-function analyses identify that the extracellular domain binding to HDL particle contains several Cys residues that form disulfide bridges and four proven N-glycosylation sites (Asn-102, Asn-108, Asn-173, Asn-330). Nearly all Cys (251, 280, 321-323, 274-329, 334, 384) are conserved in a variety of species, such as human, cow, pig, rabbit, hamster, and mouse, among which four Cys in the ectodomain (280, 321, 323, and 334) are important for strucintegrity, the intracellular tural transport, HDL-binding, and lipid-transporter activity of SR-BI [10]. It has been reported that Cys-384 is involved in the binding site for block lipid transport 1 (BLT-1), an inhibitor of SR-BI synthesis [11]. Mutational studies in human SR-BI have shown that mutation of Asn-108 or Asn-173 causes an inability of SR-BI to locate to the plasma membrane and reduce lipid transfer from HDL to cells. In addition, the glycine dimerization motif (G15\_G18\_G25) exists in the N-terminal transmembrane domain of SR-BI, which is a necessity for normal homooligomerization and lipid-transporter activity [9]. The N-terminus and C-terminus of the extracellular domain of SR-BI, as well as Trp-415 combined with other Trp residues, are also critical for mediating lipoprotein binding and HDL-C selective uptake [12]. Moreover, membrane localization and SR-BI-mediating signaling are highly dependent on the VLQEAKL motif at the tail of the C-terminal cytoplasmic domain, which interacts with PDZK1, a multi-PDZ domaincontaining adaptor protein [13]. It is worth noting that human and rodent SR-BI motifs share a number of common features, including three potential phosphorylation sites (Ser481, Ser4, and Ser477), a leucine zipper (aa 427-455), and a possible peroxisomal-targeting sequence (PTS-1) (aa507-509), which may be modulated by phosphorylation and by dimerization. Recently, it has been reported that the C-terminal cytosolic domain contains a Ser-496 that is phosphorylated by the kinase SIK-1, which modulates SR-BI efficiency selective HDL-CE for uptake [14]. Additionally, early studies found that mouse SR-BI could undergo fatty acylated at Cys462 and Cys470, which may be palmitoylation or myristoylation.

The cellular and tissue distribution of SR-BI protein is closely related to the function of lipid transport and metabolism. Early studies have been reported that SR-BI protein in human, mouse, and rat showed a similar tissue distribution. SR-BI is predominantly expressed in the liver and steroidogenic cells of the adrenal gland, ovary, and testis, little expression in testes, mammary gland, heart, and intestine, but no expression in the uterus, muscles, brain, kidney, spleen, and lungs. Later studies have shown that unlike in rodents, SR-BI distribution in humans is characterized by low expression in ovaries and high expression in placenta. Besides parenchymal hepatic cells and steroidogenic cells, SR-BI is also expressed in various cell types, including monocytes, macrophages, smooth muscle cells,

endothelial cells, platelets, adipocytes, keratinocytes, and various epithelial cells [9].

At present, it has been recognized that SR-BI is located on the plasma membrane with a unique structure for mediating the flux of CE, free cholesterol, and related lipids into and out of cells [15]. Studies using electron microscopy indicated that SR-BI could preferentially locate in the microvillar domains to form hydrophobic channels for capturing various lipoproteins, including HDL. Of interest, about 60% of SR-BI caveolae-rich present in membrane is invaginations, which is usually associated with cellular signaling, potocytosis, and transcytosis. Some SR-BI also existed within the caveolinpoor membrane component [16].

#### 6.2 Functional Features of SR-BI

Early experiments evidenced that scavenger receptors, as cell surface membrane proteins, could bind native lipoproteins and chemically modified lipoproteins, including oxidized LDL (ox-LDL), acetylated LDL (ac-LDL), phospholipids, phosphatidylserine, and many other types of ligands [17]. However, after the discovery of the SCARBI gene encoding the SR-BI in 1994, SR-BI was first identified by Krieger's laboratory as a physiological HDL receptor, which could selectively remove cholesterol esters from HDL through high-affinity binding to HDL [1, 5]. Subsequently, a series of studies demonstrated that mice with SR-BI deficiency had abnormally high plasma levels of HDL-C, while the adrenal cholesterol content in mice decreased by 72%, and SR-BI knockout  $(SR-BI^{-/-})$  mice showed the increased dietinduced atherosclerosis susceptibility, which was paralleled by pathological phenomena such as reticulocytosis, anemia, thrombocytopenia, splenomegaly, and female infertility [3, 18]. Recently, the growing evidence reveals that SR-BI not only has a crucial role in HDL metabolism, steroid metabolism, and cholesterol homeostasis in the body, but also has an important impact on cell homeostasis, immune inflammation, and reproductive development [5].

#### 6.2.1 SR-BI and HDL Metabolism

Numerous studies have identified that SR-BI plays an important role in cholesterol and steroid metabolism, especially in RCT and HDL metabolism. SR-BI regulates the first step and the last step of RCT by promoting cholesterol efflux from peripheral tissues and the selective delivery of HDL-CE to the liver. Through the selective uptake of HDL-CE, hepatic SR-BI mediates plasma cholesterol clearance for routing to the bile, thereby modulating HDL composition and function [5]. Because the lipoproteins as donors of CE for SR-BI-regulated selective CE uptake differ in characteristics, the processes for SR-BI of CEs selective uptake from lipid-rich lipoproteins have not been completely understood. Based on several lines of evidence obtained using CD36/SR-BI chimeras, SR-BI mutant (N173Q) and apoAI-deleted HDL particles, it seems that the initial binding of HDL to SR-BI and subsequent selective CE transport into cells can be divided into two independent steps: the first step involves the binding of cholesterol-rich lipoprotein to the extracellular domain of SR-BI, and the second step refers to SR-BI-mediated transfer of CEs from HDL to the plasma membrane and the release of the cholesterol-poor HDL particles back into the circulation. Among this process, SR-BI mediates selective uptake of HDL-CE without degradation of HDL protein via a holoparticle internalization and HDL recycling way, which differs from that of endocytosis through the caveolae and vesicle structure [5, 19]. Although the exact mechanism is not fully clear, a proposed model suggests that SR-BI forms a hydrophobic channel between HDL and the cell membrane, and then CEs move through the channels in a concentrationgradient manner.

Studies from mouse model have revealed that hepatocytes in SR-BI<sup>-/-</sup> mice completely lose the ability to selectively uptake CE from plasma HDL, and the secretion of biliary cholesterol is impaired due to RCT pathway blocking, resulting in a 2.5-fold increase in plasma levels of HDL-C and total cholesterol (TC), and accumulation of abnormally large HDL particles in mice. Especially, SR-BI $^{-/-}$  mice have a high ratio of plasma free cholesterol (FC) to TC increased by 2-3 times versus wild-type mice, which may be closely related to the decreased activity of acyltransferase lecithin-cholesterol (LCAT) [5, 20]. A series of studies demonstrated that compared with the relative amount of protein in HDL from wild-type mice, that in  $SR-BI^{-/-}$ , HDL was reduced by about one quarter, and the capacity of functional component apoAI and paraoxonase 1 (PON1) in SR-BI<sup>-/-</sup> HDL was significantly decreased although the relative level of plasma apoAI in mice was not changed, suggesting that abnormally high levels of HDL-C and unesterified properties of HDL are closely related to the accumulation of dysfunctional HDL in SR-BI<sup>-/-</sup> mice [21, 22]. Other studies also demonstrated that overexpression of SR-BI in mouse livers with adenoviral vectors or transgenes decreased HDL-C levels and promoted secretion of cholesterol into the bile, resulting in reduced atherosclerosis [23]. Besides CEs, SR-BI also mediates the bidirectional flux of other lipids, including FC, phospholipids, and triglycerides (TGs) between HDL and cell plasma membranes.

Human SR-BI is also abundantly expressed in the liver for regulating RCT and HDL-C levels, but the plasma lipoprotein profile in humans is different from those in mice. In contrast with rodents, humans express cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) that can transfer CE from HDL to VLDL for conversion to LDL, and LDL is then internalized via hepatic LDL receptors mediating route, providing an alternative pathway for HDL-CE delivery from the circulation to the liver. It had been considered that functional defects of human SR-BI do not cause serious consequences of abnormal HDL metabolism, evidenced by the study that about one-third of HDL-CE may be directly taken up by hepatic SR-BI in human subjects. However, a number of clinical studies have reported the association between SR-BI polymorphisms and alterations in plasma HDL-C levels, HDL functional changes, and cardiovascular diseases. Vergeer et al. identified that an SCARB1 missense mutation (889C > T) led to a functional mutation SR-BI (P297S), resulting in elevated HDL-C levels in carriers and a 56% decrease in HDL-CE uptake in hepatocytes [6]. The earliest identified genetic variation of SR-BI gene (SCARB1) is a single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) of exon 1 (rs4238001), which results in an SR-BI variant (G2S), the subjects who carried this variant show a significant negative correlation between SR-BI protein levels and HDL-C levels, and have an association with incident coronary heart disease (CHD) in multiethnic populations [24]. Subsequently, carriers of SR-BI missense mutations (S112F and T175A) also showed increased HDL-C levels and impaired function of SR-BI binding to HDL [25]. In 2016, large population-based studies reported by Zanoni et al. revealed that individuals who are heterozygous carriers harboring a P376L missense mutation in SR-BI are associated with an increased risk of CHD albeit increased plasma levels of HDL-C. The P376L variant disrupts posttranslational processing of SR-BI and abrogates selective uptake of HDL-C in hepatocyte-like cells [7]. Therefore, SR-BI is atheroprotective through promoting RCT and affecting HDL metabolism.

In addition to CE uptake from HDL, liver SR-BI may also have roles in the clearance of VLDL and atherogenic lipoprotein (a) [Lp(a)]. Studies identified that VLDL clearance was decreased by two-thirds in SR-BI<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to wild-type mice, and that hepatic SR-BI binds VLDL. SR-BI internalizes VLDL through mechanisms involving heparin sulfate proteoglycans and lipoprotein lipase. Recently, the genetic role of SCARB1 gene in impacting plasma levels of apoB was found between rs4765615 and apoB, whereas rs11057844 demonstrated the strongest association with HDL-C level in population-based а investigation [26].

#### 6.2.2 SR-BI Action in Vascular Cells

SR-BI, as a HDL receptor in the cell surface, plays different roles in a variety of cells. Besides SR-BI regulates selective HDL-CE uptake by high-affinity binding HDL/apoAI in hepatocytes and steroidogenic cells, SR-BI in other cells from the vasculature also mediates pleiotropic effects. For example, SR-BI is expressed in endothelial cells and macrophages where it functions to reduce atherosclerosis.

#### 6.2.2.1 SR-BI in Endothelial Cells

SR-BI expressed by endothelial cells plays a crucial role in HDL-induced activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) through HDL binding to SR-BI in endothelial cell caveolae, which is evidenced by the experiments wherein antibodies against SR-BI or apoAI completely abrogate HDL effects [27]. Frank et al. found that SR-BI expression markedly increased the stabilization of caveolin-1, an integral protein of caveolae, which contributes to the regulation of cellular cholesterol homeostasis and participates in transcytosis and cell signaling [16]. In endothelial cells, the role of SR-BI in the regulation of cholesterol efflux is involved in the activation of eNOS by HDL. It has been found that the interaction of SR-BI C-terminal PDZ-interacting domain with Src leads to Src phosphorylation, which further activates PI3K, Akt, and eNOS [28]. In vivo data from SR-BI<sup>-/-</sup> mice are consistent with increased endothelial cell apoptosis, suggesting that SR-BI has a protective effect against apoptosis of endothelial cells. Kimura et al. have demonstrated that SR-BI plays an important role in the inhibition of adhesion molecule expression (VCAM-1, ICAM-1) induced by HDL. A recent study demonstrates that SR-BI binds with apoAI/HDL and negatively regulates sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) and its receptor-mediated inflammation in endothelial cells through activating PI3K/Akt signaling pathway [29]. Taken together, these effects contribute to decreasing monocyte adhesion and recruitment into the intima, thus preventing the progression of atherosclerotic lesions.

In addition, SR-BI has an important role in HDL-induced endothelial cell migration and re-endothelialization. See tharam et al. have determined that HDL promotes migration of endothelial cells in a nitric oxide (NO)-independent manner through SR-BI-mediated Rac GTPase activation. Rapid initial stimulation lamellipodia formation by HDL via SR-BI, Rac, and Src kinases has been demonstrated. Moreover, impaired re-endothelialization was observed in SR-BI-/- mice. Therefore, HDL promotes the migration of endothelial cells through SR-BI-initiated signaling, and these mechanisms enhance endothelial monolayer

integrity in vivo [30].

of

Studies have revealed that endothelial SR-BI is actively participated in transcytosis of HDL from the apical to basolateral side of a cell to stimulate cholesterol efflux from intimal macrophages and lymphatic vessels. However, SR-BI regulates the transmembrane effect of HDL in brain microvascular endothelial cells, which differs from the receptor-mediated lipid uptake and signaling pathways in other cells [31].

Additionally, SR-BI is also expressed in endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) and plays a critical role in HDL-mediated EPC number and function. It has been shown that EPC migration and mobilization is mediated via NO and that enhanced NO production requires signaling via SR-BI [32].

#### **SR-BI in Macrophages** 6.2.2.2

SR-BI is also expressed in macrophages in tissues and atherosclerotic lesions. Macrophage SR-BI protects against atherosclerosis by affecting cellular cholesterol homeostasis, inflammation, apoptosis, and efferocytosis. Early evidence has shown that macrophage SR-BI acts as a multiple ligand receptor and regulates the uptake of native (HDL, LDL, and VLDL) and modified (oxLDL) and acetylated LDL) lipoproteins, resulting in foam cell formation [17]. On the other hand, SR-BI interacts with HDL with high affinity to regulate intracellular FC efflux to HDL particles, which is a passive, nonenergy, concentrationdependent transport. The study from bonemarrow-derived macrophages (BMMs) revealed that SR-BI expression could enhance both cell cholesterol influx and efflux from HDL in the early stage of cell differentiation, but did not result in altered cellular cholesterol mass [33]. Therefore, SR-BI plays a unique role in promoting bidirectional cholesterol flux in nonlipid-loaded cells and facilitates net efflux

from the cell when a favorable cholesterol gradient exists.

Linton et al. conducted BMT studies in the  $apoE^{-/-}$  mouse model to examine the role of macrophage SR-BI in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis in vivo. The results demonstrated that the loss of macrophage SR-BI expression increased atherosclerotic lesion area without alterations in plasma lipid and lipoprotein profiles. The removal of cholesterol from macrophages is one mechanism through which macrophage SR-BI could alleviate atherosclerosis [5, 34]. Some evidence suggests that macrophages could not restrain the excess uptake of cholesterol, and therefore, macrophages rely on an active cholesterol efflux process to sustain cholesterol homeostasis within the cell. Moreover, macrophage SR-BI acts similarly to ABCA1 and might account for the cholesterol efflux to HDL. SR-BI overexpression in mouse macrophages significantly enhanced the efflux of cholesterol to HDL, whereas inhibition of cholesterol transport by SR-BI decreases cholesterol efflux of macrophages [4, 33]. A recent report found that macrophages enriched in cholesterol from human carriers of the SCARB1 gene P297S variant displayed significantly decreased efflux of cholesterol to HDL, in comparison with macrophages from control subjects [6]. However, previous researches have demonstrated that ABCG1 and ABCA1 are the main mechanisms of cholesterol efflux from macrophages in mice, whereas SR-BI only makes a very limited contribution [35]. These inconsistent findings suggest that cholesterol flux between HDL and cellular SR-BI is modulated by the cholesterol status as well as phospholipid species of both the macrophages and HDL.

Additionally, SR-BI has been reported to mediate inflammatory responses through modulating the conversion of macrophages to inflammatory M1 versus anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype. SR-BI mediates cholesterol efflux from macrophages to HDL, contributing to the anti-inflammatory effect of HDL. Recent lines of evidence have showed that the anti-inflammatory effects of HDL in macrophages depend on SR-BI [36]. SR-BI knockdown or inhibition of SR-BI ligand binding abrogated the anti-inflammatory effects of HDL. When binding to its ligand HDL, SR-BI can activate Akt signaling and inhibit the inflammatory responses to LPS by dramatically decreasing NF-ĸB activation, resulting in elevated anti-inflammatory cytokines such as transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) and interleukin (IL)-10. Exposure of SR-BI-deficient macrophages to LPS showed increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6) and reduced expression of TGF- $\beta$  [37]. Although SR-BI is a multiligand receptor that can bind to modified lipoproteins, oxidized phospholipids, and native HDL, it has been reported that inhibiting SR-BI expression or function potentiated glycated HDL induced generation of TNF- $\alpha$ , indicating an important antiinflammatory effect for SR-BI. Meanwhile, SR-BI also regulates macrophage inflammation by reducing P38, and JNK signaling.

Recent lines of evidence have demonstrated that SR-BI also affects apoptosis susceptibility and efferocytosis in macrophages [5, 38]. Akt-mediated SR-BI activation plays a role in inhibiting macrophage apoptosis, since Akt promotes survival by activating Bad phosphorylation, which prevents Bad from inhibiting the anti-apoptotic factor BCL-XL. SR-BI interaction with HDL also inhibits cell apoptosis by suppressing ox-LDL-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress (ERS) [39]. In agreement with a role for SR-BI in inhibiting cell death in atherosclerotic lesions, Tao et al. demonstrated that transplantation with SR-BI-deficient bone marrow to either  $apoE^{-/-}$  or  $LDLR^{-/-}$  mice led to remarkably elevated numbers of lesion TUNEL-positive cells, compared to lesions in mice with control bone marrow transplantation. Macrophage SR-BI can also regulate the removal of apoptotic cells or efferocytosis via the Src/PI3K/Akt/Rac1 signaling pathway, leading to enhanced survival of phagocytes [38].

Furthermore, SR-BI appears to have a role in autophagy in macrophages [5]. Recent lines of evidence showed that in the setting of infection, impaired autophagy was observed in SR-BI<sup>-/-</sup> mouse macrophages, and the formation of subcellular membrane cholesterol domains participates

in the SR-BI-induced autophagy. This raises the possibility that SR-BI mediates cytoplasmic cholesterol mobilization. Interestingly, it was found that SR-BI trafficked to lysosomes with Rab7, a key protein, which promotes autophagosomelysosome fusion and localizes to lysosomes [40]. Lysosomes enriched in FC and engorged in neutral lipid are contained in SR-BI-deficient macrophages.

Additionally, SR-BI also exists in platelets and lymphocytes. As a functional HDL-binding receptor on platelets, the direct interaction between SR-BI and HDL is a necessity for maintaining normal platelet function. SR-BI deficiency leads to platelets' hyperreactivity and high sensitivity of thrombosis [41]. Meanwhile, SR-BI<sup>-/-</sup> mice also exhibit an imbalance of lymphocyte homeostasis, such as the proliferation of spleen T and B lymphocytes, and led to an imbalance of interferon  $\gamma$  (INF- $\gamma$ ) and IL-4 in cells [42]. Taken together, further research applying SR-BI<sup>-/-</sup> mice will discover more about SR-BI's role in the control of vascular cells and other cell lines.

# 6.2.3 SR-BI-Mediating Signaling Pathway of HDL

Accumulated studies have confirmed that SR-BI is involved in regulating HDL-dependent activation of signaling pathways, which may lead to its atheroprotective function. As previously mentioned, SR-BI on cell membrane interacts with PDZK1 (multi-PDZ-domain-containing adaptor protein) by its C terminus and directly participates in HDL-mediated signaling pathways. SR-BI is located in caveolae, and the alterations of cholesterol content and distribution in plasma membrane can affect the activities of the serine/ threonine phosphatase PP2A and the tyrosine phosphatase HePTP, which stimulate Erk1/ 2 phosphorylation, influencing the resulting intracellular signaling governing processes in cells. Mutation of a highly conserved C-terminal transmembrane domain (SR-BI-Q445A) is incapable of HDL-induced signaling, suggesting that SR-BI serves as a plasma membrane sensor of cholesterol. In addition, SR-BI is required for HDL-induced angiogenesis in vivo and HDL activation of endothelial NO synthase and migration in cultured endothelial cells [15]. SR-BI also serves as a mediator in the uptake of bioactive lipids (phospholipids, sphingosine, sterol hormones, etc.) from HDL [27]. For example, SR-BI participates in eNOS activation by HDL-bound sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P). Therefore, there are at least three predominant characteristics of SR-BI, which are necessary for its signal initiation: its ability to invoke cholesterol flux; the tail of its C-terminal intracellular domain that interacts with PDZK1; and its C-terminal transmembrane domain. which uniquely interacts with plasma membrane cholesterol [15].

It has been reported that HDL-induced activation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is dependent on both S1P receptors and SR-BI through calcium—/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase (CaMKK). In endothelial cells, serine-threonine kinase LKB1 may participate in SR-BI signaling. HDL-stimulated endothelial cell migration, activation of Akt and endothelial NO synthase, and suppression of monocyte adhesion and expression of adhesion molecules are dependent on AMPK activation [43].

In addition, SR-BI has also been reported to interact with downstream signaling molecules, for example, the nonreceptor tyrosine kinase, Src, which causes the activation of PI3K and further leads to the independent activation of both mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) / ERK1/2 and Akt kinase (also known as protein kinase B, PKB) signaling pathways, resulting in phosphorylation of eNOS and NO production [44]. Several studies suggest that apoAI of HDL binding to SR-BI could also activate Src kinase-PI3K/ERK-Rac pathway, causing migration and subsequently repairing the endothelial injuries. In endothelial cells, SR-BI-mediated PI3K/Akt/ eNOS signaling pathway participated in HDL-induced cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) expression and PGI2 release. Besides, HDL-C stimulates the proliferation of bone-derived mesenchymal stem cells by binding SR-BI and activation of PI3K/Akt, MAPK/ERK1/2 pathway [45]. Moreover, HDL augments angiogenesis in hypoxia through hypoxia-inducible factor  $1\alpha$  (HIF- $1\alpha$ )/vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) pathway via SR-BI-mediated PI3K/Akt signaling and modulation of the posttranslational regulators of HIF- $1\alpha$  [46].

# 6.3 Regulations of SR-BI

#### 6.3.1 Regulating Factors of SR-BI

Numerous studies have established that SR-BI expression in hepatocytes can be regulated by various diets, drugs, hormones, glucose metabolism, and lipid metabolism [9, 47]. Studies in hamsters have shown that polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in diet promote hepatic SR-BI expression and HDL-CE uptake, and combined treatment of obeticholic acid (OCA) and LXR agonist GW3965 increases the mRNA level and protein expression of SR-BI in the liver. Nevertheless, dietary myristic acid reduces SR-BI expression in hamster liver. It has been reported that the atherogenic diet of cholesterol loading may lead to posttranslational downregulation of hepatic SR-BI expression in mice and rats. Accumulating evidence in vivo and in vitro has indicated that hepatic expression of SR-BI is transcriptionally regulated by endogenous compounds such as insulin-like growth factors, glucose, lipopolysaccharide, leptin, vitamin A, and several synthetic compounds such as disodium ascorbyl phytostanol phosphate (FM-VP4), and isoflavones. All of these compounds are neither primary nor direct activators of transcriptional factors. Interestingly, some studies have identified new upregulators of SR-BI from 6000 microbial secondary metabolite trichostatin crude extracts. including Α, pratensein, genistein, daidzein, etc.

Additionally, it has been reported that numerous drugs, such as thyromimetics, dexamethasone, fibrates, probucol, ezetimibe, tamoxifen, pioglitazone, and natural medicine rutaecarpine (RUT), quercetin, etc., affect SR-BI expression in different cells through different mechanisms [47, 48]. For example, RUT triggers the promoters of CLA-1 genes, upregulating SR-BI to inhibit atherosclerosis in  $apoE^{-/-}$  mice.

#### 6.3.2 Regulating Mechanism of SR-BI

A series of studies have revealed that many nuclear transcription factors, such as liver receptor homolog-1 (LRH-1), liver X receptors (LXRs), steroidogenic factor-1 (SF-1), sterol-regulatory-element-binding proteins (SREBPs), and peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs), affect SR-BI gene transcription. Several consensus sequences for nuclear receptor binding have been determined in the flanking promoter region of the human SCARB1 gene [5, 9, 47]. For example, adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) has been found to upregulate SR-BI expression in steroidogenic tissues of both human subjects and rats. The suppression of ACTH by dexamethasone, a synthetic corticosteroid, decreased SR-BI levels. Human SR-BI expression can be stimulated by steroidogenic hormones through the cellular cAMP-dependent regulation, and SF-1 is one of the primary transcription factors involved in this pathway via binding to its consensus sequence in the SCARB1 promoter. In hepatocytes, LRH-1 binds to a proximal response element on the human SR-BI promoter in an overlapping manner with SF-1 and activates the SR-BI promoter. Overexpression of LRH-1 induces SR-BI gene expression, which may be related to histone H3 acetylation on the promoter. Moreover, LRH-1 also regulates CETP, which participates in the remodeling of HDL particles and RCT [47, 49].

LXRs, members of the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily, participates in controlling hepatic SR-BI expression [9]. The oxysterols induce activation of both LXR $\alpha$  and LXR $\beta$  and increase the expression of SR-BI both in human and murine cell lines. Since LXR $\alpha$  is upregulated by TGF- $\beta$ 1, TGF- $\beta$ 1 significantly increases SR-BI expression in a dose- and time-dependent manner at the transcriptional and translational levels. PPARs, a family of ligand-activated transcription factors, such as PPAR $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$ , heterodimerize with retinoid X receptor (RXR) to bind to distal PPARE on the SR-BI promoter and regulate human SR-BI gene expression. It has been found that macrophage SR-BI expression can be promoted by activators of PPARs [50]. Some PPAR ligands, including fatty acids, glitazones, and fibrates, regulate SR-BI expression at the liver level. Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) Erk1/2 is involved in the regulation of nuclear receptor activity, including PPARs and LXR, to alter the capacity of the cell to export cholesterol, while inhibition of Mek1/2 enhances PPARα-dependent degradation of SR-BI in hepatocytes [51]. It has been reported that SREBP-1 modulates human SCARB1 gene expression in response to altered levels of intracellular sterols. Cholesterol depletion can trigger an SREBP1a-regulated induction of SR-BI gene transcription in HepG2 cells. Nonetheless, SR-BI mRNA and protein expressions are normal in livers obtained from a mouse model that lacks mature nuclear SREBPs due to gene knockout of the SREBP cleavage-activating protein (SCAP) and from SREBP transgenic mice, indicating that the SR-BI gene in the liver is not under transcriptional regulation by SREBPs [47].

Studies have shown that estrogen can bind to three different estrogen response elements (EREs) on the SR-BI promoter through estrogen receptor  $\alpha/\beta$  to regulate SR-BI gene transcription. In endothelial cells,  $17\beta$ -estradiol (E2) increased the mRNA expression of the human SR-BI gene as well as the activity of the SR-BI promoter in a protein kinase C (PKC)-dependent manner [52]. Interestingly, rats supplemented with estrogens and HepG2 treated with  $17\beta$ -estradiol showed a noted reduction in SR-BI expression combined with an increase of SR-BII. Meanwhile, treatment with the synthetic estrogen 17- $\alpha$ -ethinylestradiol in rats stimulates a reduction in hepatocyte SR-BI expression combined with an increase in Kupffer cell SR-BI expression.

Another nuclear receptor in association with the regulation of hepatic SR-BI expression is Farnesoid X Receptor (FXR) [53]. The mRNA level of SR-BI gene was reduced in the liver of FXR-deficient (FXR<sup>-/-</sup>) mice. When treating mice with a diet containing 0.4% of the FXR agonist cholic acid, elevated mRNA and protein levels of hepatic SR-BI were observed in the wild-type but not in the  $FXR^{-/-}$  mice, suggesting that bile acids could upregulate SR-BI gene expression via FXRs. A recent study found a novel pathway in which FXR activation upregulated SR-BI expression in association with alterations in hepatic regulatory factors such as hepatocyte nuclear factor  $4\alpha$  (HNF4 $\alpha$ ) and p-JNK. It is likely that the contradiction of these results may be due to the activation of other regulatory pathways of gene expression besides selective agonists of FXR. In addition, pregnane X receptor (PXR), known as a xenobiotic receptor in human subjects, was shown to reduce SR-BI mRNA level in response to the PXR agonists, lithocholic acid, rifampicin, or pregnenolone 16- $\alpha$ -carbonitrile, although no consensus sequences for the binding of PXR have been identified in the SR-BI promoter [9, 47].

Additionally, Krüppel-like factor 4 (KLF4), a conserved zinc finger transcription factor, can be induced by HDL and upregulate SR-BI expression, leading to the binding to a putative KLF4-binding element (-342/-329 bp) on SR-BI promoter in macrophages [54]. Another study was reported that Sp1 and Sp3 are also essential transcriptional factors for SR-BI gene transcription through binding GC box at the proximal promoter.

Of note, the inhibitors, which act on the promoter of SR-BI, have been found. Yin Yang protein-1 (YY1), a zinc finger transcription factor that can play both positive and negative regulatory roles, decreases SREBP-regulated induction of SR-BI transcription by directly binding to two YY1-binding sites in the promoter as well as to SREBPs [55]. The sex adrenal hypoplasia congenital critical region on the X-chromosome, gene-1 (DAX-1), an adrenalspecific inhibitor and orphan nuclear receptor (NR0B1), can bind to SREBP-1 $\alpha$  and inhibit its binding to SREs. A p21-activated kinase-1 (PAK-1) interacted with small GTPases and regulates lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced decrease of the activity of human SR-BI promoter in macrophages.

Recent studies revealed that small noncoding RNAs, including microRNAs (miRNAs, miRs), are implicated in the posttranscriptional regulation of SR-BI gene expression [56]. Analysis of the SR-BI 3' UTR sequence identified potential binding sites for a number of miRs. When either miR-125a or miR-455 was overexpressed, the level of SR-BI was reduced, leading to a decrease of both HDL-C uptake and steroidogenesis. Both miR-125a and miR-455 as expressed in steroidogenic cells were downregulated by ACTH and cAMP treatment. Studies demonstrated that miR-24, miR-96, miR-185, and miR-223 could bind the 3'-UTR of SR-BI and negatively regulate the expression level of SR-BI in the liver and macrophages, thereby reducing HDL uptake and selective lipid uptake [57, 58]. Therefore, these observations suggest that certain miRs may have potential therapeutic value for atherosclerosis via targeting SR-BI and HDL.

Recent studies have found that in the setting of infection, autophagy of macrophages is impaired in SR-BI-/- mice, and the SR-BI-induced autophagy involved the formation of subcellular membrane cholesterol domains. These findings raise the possibility that SR-BI mediates cytoplasmic cholesterol mobilization for availability to ABCA1 for efflux. Interestingly, it was found that SR-BI could traffic to lysosomes with Rab7, a protein, which is crucial in promoting the fusion of autophagosomes with lysosomes, and localize to macrophage lysosomeshepatic SR-BI protein levels. The stability, localization, and function of SR-BI in the hepatocyte plasma membrane are primarily controlled by PDZK1 containing four PDZ (PDZ1 to PDZ4) domains [59]. PDZK1 is expressed in the liver, gut, and kidney, but not in steroidogenic tissues. Small PDZK1-associated protein (SPAP) overexpression downregulates PDZK1 in a liver-specific fashion, resulting in subsequent downregulation of hepatic the SR-BI. In PDZK1-null mice, protein levels of hepatic SR-BI are markedly decreased by 95%, whereas mRNA levels remain unaltered, leading to an increase in plasma total cholesterol carried in abnormally large HDL particles [13]. The PDZK1 homologs can serve as physiological translation/posttranslational regulators of the

functional expression of SR-BI. In addition, it was shown that posttranslationally activated PI3K/Akt promotes hepatic SR-BI function through mediating the subcellular localization of SR-BI. The Ras/MEK/ERK signaling cascade regulates the protein level of hepatocyte SR-BI, which is associated with PPAR $\alpha$ -induced degradation pathways [51].

Other studies have shown that the synonymous variant of rs5888 (C > T), which is frequently found in humans, can alter the RNA secondary structure of SR-BI, and the translation of SR-BI protein in macrophages is significantly reduced, which may be related to SR-BI protein expression and function [60].

### 6.4 SR-BI and Atherosclerosis

The increasing evidence involving the manipulation of SR-BI expression in mouse models, either using SR-BI<sup>-/-</sup> mice or using adenovirusmediated or transgenic hepatic overexpression, indicates that SR-BI expression protects against atherosclerosis [5]. SR-BI<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed with a Western diet for 20 weeks showed a significant increase of dysfunctional HDL, which contributes to an increased susceptibility to atherosclerosis. Deletion of SR-BI in  $apoE^{-/-}$  mice leads to accelerated atherosclerosis causing coronary artery occlusion, myocardial infarction, and premature death at the age of 5-8 weeks. When fed with a modified Western diet, SR-BI/LDLR double knockout mice also shown abnormal profiles of lipoproteins resulting in severe coronary atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, and reduced survival rate. On the contrary, transgenic mice overexpressing hepatic SR-BI have accelerated clearance of HDL-C, enhanced selective uptake of hepatic cholesterol, and increased content of biliary cholesterol, which reduces atherosclerosis. Meanwhile, studies employing the bone marrow transplantation showed that macrophage SR-BI inactivation promotes the development of atherosclerotic lesion in  $apoE^{-/-}$  mouse model. Interestingly, SR-BI deficiency in bone marrowderived macrophages inhibited the initial formation of atherosclerotic lesions in  $LDLR^{-/-}$  mice,

but stimulated the atherogenic process in later stages in LDLR<sup>-/-</sup> mice, suggesting that the double effects of macrophage SR-BI depend on multiple roles in the different stages of atherosclerosis.

As previously mentioned, SR-BI protects against atherosclerosis via one or more of the following mechanisms [5, 9, 19, 61]: hepatic SR-BI is the main effective way to inhibit atherosclerosis by selective uptake of HDL-CE and promoting RCT pathway, stimulating cholesterol secretion from bile. Additionally, hepatic SR-BI is also involved in the clearance of apoBcontaining lipoprotein; the anti-inflammatory effect of HDL depends on the expression of SR-BI in cells, which can be indirectly regulated by lipid transport activity or directly by SR-BI as a receptor for cellular inflammatory signaling; SR-BI directly affects the function and status of cells in vessel wall by minimizing the formation of foam cells and by modulating signaling pathways implicated in efferocytosis, apoptosis, cell migration, and inflammation. It mediates the bidirectional flux of unesterified cholesterol between cells and HDL, and modulates the inflammatory response in macrophages. In endothelial cells, SR-BI plays a critical role in cell migration and vascular protection by mediating HDL-dependent eNOS activation and PI3K/Akt signaling. Moreover, SR-BI promotes the release and migration of endothelial progenitor cells. SR-BI modulates lymphocyte homeostasis via regulating cell proliferation, production of  $INF-\gamma$ and IL-4 cytokine, and HDL function [42]. The direct interaction between SR-BI and HDL on platelets is necessary for maintaining its normal function; otherwise, it will lead to platelet hyperreactivity and high sensitivity of thrombosis [41]. Taken together, SR-BI serves as a multifunctional receptor against atherosclerosis, making it a potential therapeutic target.

# 6.5 SR-BI and Cancer

Given that cholesterol regulates essential signaling pathways involved in cell proliferation, migration, and survival, accumulated evidence has shown that in addition to mediating the transfer of cholesterol between HDL and healthy cells, SR-BI also promotes the selective cholesterol uptake by malignant cells. Interestingly, compared to normal tissue, SR-BI expression is increased in multiple cancers, such as Leydig cell tumors, breast cancer, prostate cancer, metastatic melanoma, nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC), and clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC) [62]. Therefore, recent lines of evidence have focused on the role of SR-BI in the progression of cancers.

Studies have shown that overexpression of SR-BI can stimulate HDL-induced proliferation of the breast cancer cell line MCF-7 through the PI3K/AP-1 pathway, and a mutant of SR-BI could inhibit proliferation of human breast cancer cells. Meanwhile, higher expression of SR-BI in breast cancer tissue is associated with an increased disease aggressiveness and mortality of patients. Knockdown of SR-BI reduces HDL-mediated activation of MAPK and PI3K/ Akt pathways in the two human breast cancer cell lines, MCF7 and MDA-MB-231. Twiddy et al. showed that SR-BI knockdown decreases viability and prostate-specific antigen (PSA) secretion of prostate cancer cells [63]. Research by Kinslechner et al. revealed that SR-BI knockdown perturbs the metastasis-associated epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) phenotype, in association with reduced invasion and migration of melanoma cells and decreased xenograft tumor growth [64]. In recent studies, it has been discovered that SR-BI is overexpressed in all investigated NPC cell lines and 75% of NPC biopsies, and has a great effect on cell motility but does not affect cell proliferation [65]. Of note, high expression of SR-BI was closely associated with aggressive features of ccRCC and could predict a poor clinical outcome. Using specific siRNA to inhibit SR-BI in ccRCC cell lines in vitro successfully impaired the growth, colony formation, migration, and invasion, and HDL-C uptake. Furthermore, SR-BI-targeting siRNA was also reported to yield potent in vivo effects [66]. Taken together, the above promising preliminary studies suggest that SR-B1 may serve as a

potential biomarker for cancer diagnosis and therapeutic target in the pathogenesis of cancer [67].

#### 6.6 Conclusions

It has been recognized that SR-BI is a multifunctional HDL receptor, whose prominent function is to play a key role in RCT by regulating selective uptake of HDL-CE in the liver. SR-BI also performs many other important functions involved in the atheroprotective effect: hepatic SR-BI plays a key role in the elimination of remnant lipoproteins and atherogenic Lp(a). In endothelial cells and macrophages, SR-BI minimizes foam cell formation through regulating cellular cholesterol flux and participates in HDL-initiated signaling involved in inflammation, cell survival, and efferocytosis. Recent studies using genomic analyses suggest that the SNPs of human SCARBI gene could lead to loss-offunction variants of SR-BI and may be involved in the occurrence of abnormal circulating HDL-C and the increased risk of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. It is becoming increasingly clear that a bright future for SR-BI as a therapeutic target can be foreseen not only in cardiovascular disease, but certainly also in inflammatory diseases as well as in cancer. However, it remains obscure whether the HDL derived from human carriers of loss-of-function SCARBI variants is dysfunctional, and whether SR-BI mutation is an independent risk factor for atherosclerosis in general population. Secondly, how the key domain of SR-BI transmembrane structure regulates the selective transport of cholesterol and signal transduction is still unknown. Next, very limited information is currently available about the mechanisms of SR-BI expression and its regulation in vivo. The direct regulatory elements and key transcription factors of SCARB1 gene still need to be clarified. Finally, considering a supposed negative effect in cancer versus a positive effect in inflammation and cardiovascular disease, future efforts should focus on increasing the functional efficiency of SR-BI using genetic or pharmacological approaches, and consequently assist the prevention and treatment of cancer/atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease.

#### References

- Acton S, Rigotti A, Landschulz KT, Xu S, Hobbs HH, Krieger M (1996) Identification of scavenger receptor SR-BI as a high density lipoprotein receptor. Science 271(5248):518–520
- Kozarsky KF, Donahee MH, Rigotti A, Iqbal SN, Edelman ER, Krieger M (1997) Overexpression of the HDL receptor SR-BI alters plasma HDL and bile cholesterol levels. Nature 387(6631):414–417
- Rigotti A, Trigatti BL, Penman M, Rayburn H, Herz J, Krieger M (1997) A targeted mutation in the murine gene encoding the high density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor scavenger receptor class B type I reveals its key role in HDL metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(23):12610–12615
- Ji Y, Jian B, Wang N, Sun Y, Moya ML, Phillips MC et al (1997) Scavenger receptor BI promotes high density lipoprotein-mediated cellular cholesterol efflux. J Biol Chem 272(34):20982–20985
- Linton MF, Tao H, Linton EF, Yancey PG (2017) SR-BI: a multifunctional receptor in cholesterol homeostasis and atherosclerosis. Trends Endocrinol Metab 28(6):461–472
- Vergeer M, Korporaal SJ, Franssen R, Meurs I, Out R, Hovingh GK et al (2011) Genetic variant of the scavenger receptor BI in humans. N Engl J Med 364(2): 136–145
- Zanoni P, Khetarpal SA, Larach DB, Hancock-Cerutti WF, Millar JS, Cuchel M et al (2016) Rare variant in scavenger receptor BI raises HDL cholesterol and increases risk of coronary heart disease. Science 351(6278):1166–1171
- Acton SL, Scherer PE, Lodish HF, Krieger M (1994) Expression cloning of SR-BI, a CD36-related class B scavenger receptor. J Biol Chem 269(33): 21003–21009
- Shen WJ, Azhar S, Kraemer FB (2018) SR-B1: a unique multifunctional receptor for cholesterol influx and efflux. Annu Rev Physiol 80:95–116
- Hu J, Zhang Z, Shen WJ, Nomoto A, Azhar S (2011) Differential roles of cysteine residues in the cellular trafficking, dimerization, and function of the highdensity lipoprotein receptor, SR-BI. Biochemistry 50(50):10860–10875
- 11. Yu M, Romer KA, Nieland TJ, Xu S, Saenz-Vash V, Penman M et al (2011) Exoplasmic cysteine Cys384 of the HDL receptor SR-BI is critical for its sensitivity to a small-molecule inhibitor and normal lipid transport activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(30): 12243–12248
- Holme RL, Miller JJ, Nicholson K, Sahoo D (2016) Tryptophan 415 is critical for the cholesterol transport

functions of scavenger receptor BI. Biochemistry 55(1):103-113

- Trigatti BL (2017) SR-B1 and PDZK1: partners in HDL regulation. Curr Opin Lipidol 28(2):201–208
- Hu Z, Hu J, Shen WJ, Kraemer FB, Azhar S (2015) A novel role of salt-inducible kinase 1 (SIK1) in the posttranslational regulation of scavenger receptor class B type 1 activity. Biochemistry 54(46): 6917–6930
- Saddar S, Carriere V, Lee WR, Tanigaki K, Yuhanna IS, Parathath S et al (2013) Scavenger receptor class B type I is a plasma membrane cholesterol sensor. Circ Res 112(1):140–151
- Frank PG, Marcel YL, Connelly MA, Lublin DM, Franklin V, Williams DL et al (2002) Stabilization of caveolin-1 by cellular cholesterol and scavenger receptor class B type I. Biochemistry 41(39):11931–11940
- Krieger M (2001) Scavenger receptor class B type I is a multiligand HDL receptor that influences diverse physiologic systems. J Clin Invest 108(6):793–797
- Dole VS, Matuskova J, Vasile E, Yesilaltay A, Bergmeier W, Bernimoulin M et al (2008) Thrombocytopenia and platelet abnormalities in high-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28(6):1111–1116
- Mineo C, Shaul PW (2012) Functions of scavenger receptor class B, type I in atherosclerosis. Curr Opin Lipidol 23(5):487–493
- Lee JY, Badeau RM, Mulya A, Boudyguina E, Gebre AK, Smith TL et al (2007) Functional LCAT deficiency in human apolipoprotein A-I transgenic, SR-BI knockout mice. J Lipid Res 48(5):1052–1061
- 21. Van Eck M, Hoekstra M, Hildebrand RB, Yaong Y, Stengel D, Kruijt JK et al (2007) Increased oxidative stress in scavenger receptor BI knockout mice with dysfunctional HDL. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27(11):2413–2419
- 22. Cao J, Xu Y, Li F, Shang L, Fan D, Yu H (2018) Protein markers of dysfunctional HDL in scavenger receptor class B type I deficient mice. J Transl Med 16(1):155
- 23. Zhang Y, Da Silva JR, Reilly M, Billheimer JT, Rothblat GH, Rader DJ (2005) Hepatic expression of scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) is a positive regulator of macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in vivo. J Clin Invest 115(10):2870–2874
- 24. Manichaikul A, Wang XQ, Musani SK, Herrington DM, Post WS, Wilson JG et al (2015) Association of the lipoprotein receptor SCARB1 common missense variant rs4238001 with incident coronary heart disease. PLoS One 10(5):e0125497
- Chadwick AC, Sahoo D (2012) Functional characterization of newly-discovered mutations in human SR-BI. PLoS One 7(9):e45660
- 26. Niemsiri V, Wang X, Pirim D, Radwan ZH, Hokanson JE, Hamman RF et al (2014) Impact of genetic variants in human scavenger receptor class B type I (SCARB1) on plasma lipid traits. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 7(6): 838–847

- Al-Jarallah A, Trigatti BL (2010) A role for the scavenger receptor, class B type I in high density lipoprotein dependent activation of cellular signaling pathways. Biochim Biophys Acta 1801(12): 1239–1248
- Mineo C, Shaul PW (2013) Regulation of signal transduction by HDL. J Lipid Res 54(9):2315–2324
- Ren K, Lu YJ, Mo ZC, Liu X, Tang ZL, Jiang Y et al (2017) ApoA-I/SR-BI modulates S1P/S1PR2mediated inflammation through the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway in HUVECs. J Physiol Biochem 73(2): 287–296
- 30. Seetharam D, Mineo C, Gormley AK, Gibson LL, Vongpatanasin W, Chambliss KL et al (2006) Highdensity lipoprotein promotes endothelial cell migration and reendothelialization via scavenger receptor-B type I. Circ Res 98(1):63–72
- 31. Fung KY, Wang C, Nyegaard S, Heit B, Fairn GD, Lee WL (2017) SR-BI mediated transcytosis of HDL in brain microvascular endothelial cells is independent of Caveolin, Clathrin, and PDZK1. Front Physiol 8:841
- 32. Zhang Y, Liao B, Li M, Cheng M, Fu Y, Liu Q et al (2016) Shear stress regulates endothelial cell function through SRB1-eNOS signaling pathway. Cardiovasc Ther 34(5):308–313
- 33. Ji A, Meyer JM, Cai L, Akinmusire A, de Beer MC, Webb NR et al (2011) Scavenger receptor SR-BI in macrophage lipid metabolism. Atherosclerosis 217(1): 106–112
- 34. Zhang W, Yancey PG, Su YR, Babaev VR, Zhang Y, Fazio S et al (2003) Inactivation of macrophage scavenger receptor class B type I promotes atherosclerotic lesion development in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation 108(18):2258–2263
- 35. Wang X, Collins HL, Ranalletta M, Fuki IV, Billheimer JT, Rothblat GH et al (2007) Macrophage ABCA1 and ABCG1, but not SR-BI, promote macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in vivo. J Clin Invest 117(8):2216–2224
- 36. Song GJ, Kim SM, Park KH, Kim J, Choi I, Cho KH (2015) SR-BI mediates high density lipoprotein (HDL)-induced anti-inflammatory effect in macrophages. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 457(1):112–118
- 37. Cai L, Wang Z, Meyer JM, Ji A, van der Westhuyzen DR (2012) Macrophage SR-BI regulates LPS-induced pro-inflammatory signaling in mice and isolated macrophages. J Lipid Res 53(8):1472–1481
- 38. Tao H, Yancey PG, Babaev VR, Blakemore JL, Zhang Y, Ding L et al (2015) Macrophage SR-BI mediates efferocytosis via Src/PI3K/Rac1 signaling and reduces atherosclerotic lesion necrosis. J Lipid Res 56(8):1449–1460
- 39. Song G, Wu X, Zhang P, Yu Y, Yang M, Jiao P et al (2016) High-density lipoprotein inhibits ox-LDLinduced adipokine secretion by upregulating SR-BI expression and suppressing ER stress pathway. Sci Rep 6:30889

- 40. Pfeiler S, Khandagale AB, Magenau A, Nichols M, Heijnen HF, Rinninger F et al (2016) Distinct surveillance pathway for immunopathology during acute infection via autophagy and SR-BI. Sci Rep 6:34440
- Ma Y, Ashraf MZ, Podrez EA (2010) Scavenger receptor BI modulates platelet reactivity and thrombosis in dyslipidemia. Blood 116(11):1932–1941
- 42. Feng H, Guo L, Wang D, Gao H, Hou G, Zheng Z et al (2011) Deficiency of scavenger receptor BI leads to impaired lymphocyte homeostasis and autoimmune disorders in mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 31(11):2543–2551
- 43. Kimura T, Tomura H, Sato K, Ito M, Matsuoka I, Im DS et al (2010) Mechanism and role of high density lipoprotein-induced activation of AMP-activated protein kinase in endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 285(7): 4387–4397
- 44. Zhang QH, Zu XY, Cao RX, Liu JH, Mo ZC, Zeng Y et al (2012) An involvement of SR-B1 mediated PI3K-Akt-eNOS signaling in HDL-induced cyclooxygenase 2 expression and prostacyclin production in endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 420(1): 17–23
- 45. Xu J, Qian J, Xie X, Lin L, Ma J, Huang Z et al (2012) High density lipoprotein cholesterol promotes the proliferation of bone-derived mesenchymal stem cells via binding scavenger receptor-B type I and activation of PI3K/Akt, MAPK/ERK1/2 pathways. Mol Cell Biochem 371(1–2):55–64
- 46. Tan JT, Prosser HC, Vanags LZ, Monger SA, Ng MK, Bursill CA (2014) High-density lipoproteins augment hypoxia-induced angiogenesis via regulation of posttranslational modulation of hypoxia-inducible factor lalpha. FASEB J 28(1):206–217
- 47. Leiva A, Verdejo H, Benitez ML, Martinez A, Busso D, Rigotti A (2011) Mechanisms regulating hepatic SR-BI expression and their impact on HDL metabolism. Atherosclerosis 217(2):299–307
- Shen D, Li H, Zhou R, Liu MJ, Yu H, Wu DF (2018) Pioglitazone attenuates aging-related disorders in aged apolipoprotein E deficient mice. Exp Gerontol 102: 101–108
- 49. Malerod L, Sporstol M, Juvet LK, Mousavi SA, Gjoen T, Berg T et al (2005) Bile acids reduce SR-BI expression in hepatocytes by a pathway involving FXR/RXR, SHP, and LRH-1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 336(4):1096–1105
- Lopez D, McLean MP (2006) Activation of the rat scavenger receptor class B type I gene by PPARalpha. Mol Cell Endocrinol 251(1–2):67–77
- 51. Wood P, Mulay V, Darabi M, Chan KC, Heeren J, Pol A et al (2011) Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling modulates protein stability and cell surface expression of scavenger receptor SR-BI. J Biol Chem 286(26):23077–23092
- 52. Fukata Y, Yu X, Imachi H, Nishiuchi T, Lyu J, Seo K et al (2014) 17beta-estradiol regulates scavenger receptor class BI gene expression via protein kinase

C in vascular endothelial cells. Endocrine 46(3): 644–650

- 53. Li G, Thomas AM, Williams JA, Kong B, Liu J, Inaba Y et al (2012) Farnesoid X receptor induces murine scavenger receptor class B type I via intron binding. PLoS One 7(4):e35895
- 54. Yang T, Chen C, Zhang B, Huang H, Wu G, Wen J et al (2010) Induction of Kruppel-like factor 4 by highdensity lipoproteins promotes the expression of scavenger receptor class B type I. FEBS J 277(18): 3780–3788
- 55. Lopez D, McLean MP (1999) Sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1a binds to cis elements in the promoter of the rat high density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI gene. Endocrinology 140(12):5669–5681
- 56. Dai Y, Condorelli G, Mehta JL (2016) Scavenger receptors and non-coding RNAs: relevance in atherogenesis. Cardiovasc Res 109(1):24–33
- 57. Wang L, Jia XJ, Jiang HJ, Du Y, Yang F, Si SY et al (2013) MicroRNAs 185, 96, and 223 repress selective high-density lipoprotein cholesterol uptake through posttranscriptional inhibition. Mol Cell Biol 33(10): 1956–1964
- 58. Ren K, Zhu X, Zheng Z, Mo ZC, Peng XS, Zeng YZ et al (2018) MicroRNA-24 aggravates atherosclerosis by inhibiting selective lipid uptake from HDL cholesterol via the post-transcriptional repression of scavenger receptor class B type I. Atherosclerosis 270:57–67
- 59. Tsukamoto K, Wales TE, Daniels K, Pal R, Sheng R, Cho W et al (2013) Noncanonical role of the PDZ4 domain of the adaptor protein PDZK1 in the regulation of the hepatic high density lipoprotein receptor scavenger receptor class B, type I (SR-BI). J Biol Chem 288(27):19845–19860

- 60. Constantineau J, Greason E, West M, Filbin M, Kieft JS, Carletti MZ et al (2010) A synonymous variant in scavenger receptor, class B, type I gene is associated with lower SR-BI protein expression and function. Atherosclerosis 210(1):177–182
- 61. Hoekstra M (2017) SR-BI as target in atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease - a comprehensive appraisal of the cellular functions of SR-BI in physiology and disease. Atherosclerosis 258:153–161
- Rajora MA, Zheng G (2016) Targeting SR-BI for cancer diagnostics, imaging and therapy. Front Pharmacol 7:326
- 63. Gutierrez-Pajares JL, Ben Hassen C, Chevalier S, Frank PG (2016) SR-BI: linking cholesterol and lipoprotein metabolism with breast and prostate cancer. Front Pharmacol 7:338
- 64. Kinslechner K, Schorghofer D, Schutz B, Vallianou M, Wingelhofer B, Mikulits W et al (2018) Malignant phenotypes in metastatic melanoma are governed by SR-BI and its association with glycosylation and STAT5 activation. Mol Cancer Res 16(1): 135–146
- 65. Zheng Y, Liu Y, Jin H, Pan S, Qian Y, Huang C et al (2013) Scavenger receptor B1 is a potential biomarker of human nasopharyngeal carcinoma and its growth is inhibited by HDL-mimetic nanoparticles. Theranostics 3(7):477–486
- 66. Xu GH, Lou N, Shi HC, Xu YC, Ruan HL, Xiao W et al (2018) Up-regulation of SR-BI promotes progression and serves as a prognostic biomarker in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. BMC Cancer 18(1):88
- 67. Mooberry LK, Sabnis NA, Panchoo M, Nagarajan B, Lacko AG (2016) Targeting the SR-B1 receptor as a gateway for cancer therapy and imaging. Front Pharmacol 7:466



7

# ABCA1, ABCG1, and Cholesterol Homeostasis

Xiao-Hua Yu and Chao-Ke Tang

# Abstract

Cholesterol is a major component of mammalian cell membranes and plays important structural and functional roles. However, excessive cholesterol accumulation is toxic to cells and constitutes the molecular basis for many diseases, especially atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Thus, cellular cholesterol is tightly regulated to maintain a homeostasis. Reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) is thought to be one primary pathway to eliminate excessive cholesterol from the body. The first and rate-limiting step of RCT is ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transports A1 (ABCA1)- and ABCG1-dependent cholesterol efflux. In the process, ABCA1 mediates initial transport of cellular cholesterol to apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I) for forming nascent high-density lipoprotein (HDL) particles, and ABCG1 facilitates subsequent continued cholesterol efflux to HDL for further maturation. In this chapter, we summarize the roles of ABCA1 and ABCG1 in maintaining cellular cholesterol homoeostasis and discuss the underlying

mechanisms by which they mediate cholesterol export.

#### Keywords

 $ABCA1 \cdot ABCG1 \cdot apoA-I \cdot HDL \cdot Cholesterol efflux \cdot Atherosclerosis$ 

# 7.1 Introduction

Cholesterol functions as an important cell membrane component in mammals and is essential for establishing proper membrane permeability and fluidity. Additionally, cholesterol is associated with cell signaling transduction and takes part in the biosynthesis of bile acids, vitamin D, and steroid hormones. Thus, maintaining cholesterol homeostasis is of critical importance for human health. However, cholesterol accumulation can cause cell death and be harmful human body. For instance, hypercholesterolemia has long been regarded as a critical contributor to atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, the first cause of death globally.

To maintain the dynamic balance of cholesterol, excessive cholesterol must be eliminated from the body. Reverse cholesterol transport (RCT), which is referred to the delivery of cholesterol in arterial wall cells to the liver by highdensity lipoprotein (HDL) for further metabolism and excretion, plays a key role in this process [1]. The ATP-binding cassette (ABC)

X.-H. Yu

Institute of Clinical Medicine, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Hainan Medical University, Haikou, Hainan, China

C.-K. Tang (🖂)

Institute of Cardiovascular Disease, Hengyang Medical School, University of South China, Hengyang, Hunan, China

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), *HDL Metabolism and Diseases*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_7

96

superfamily of transporters belongs to transmembrane proteins and contains a variety of members. Among these, ABCA1 mediates initial transport of free cholesterol (FC) and phospholipid molecules to apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I) for nascent HDL biogenesis, and ABCG1 promotes subsequent continued efflux of FC to these HDL particles [2]. ABCA1- and ABCG1-dependent cholesterol efflux is the first and rate-limiting step of RCT. There is increasing evidence that upregulation of these two transporter expression facilitates RCT and protects against atherosclerosis in animal models [3-5]. This chapter summarizes the role of ABCA1 and ABCG1 in maintaining cellular cholesterol homoeostasis with an emphasis on how they mediate cholesterol efflux from cells.

# 7.2 ABCA1 and Cholesterol Homeostasis

# 7.2.1 Structural Features of ABCA1

ABCA1 is a full transporter and an integral membrane protein. Human ABCA1 gene is mapped to chromosome 9q31.1, spans 149 kb, and contains 50 exons and 49 introns. The mature ABCA1 protein is made up of 2261 amino acids, and its molecular mass is 254 kDa. ABCA1 has two transmembrane domains (TMDs) linked covalently, each containing six transmembrane  $\alpha$ -helices (TMs). Also, there are two large extracellular domains (ECDs) and multiple membranespanning segments. ECD1 resides between TM1 and TM2, and ECD2 resides between TM7 and TM8. They are connected by two intramolecular disulfide bonds and serve as the binding sites for apoA-I. There are two nucleotide-binding domains (NBDs) in its intracellular region. There are three conserved peptide motifs in each NBD, designated as Walkers A, B, and C. ATP is known to bind to Walker A, and Walker B is associated with subsequent hydrolysis. The hydrolysis of ATP in these sites can alter ECD conformation, thereby leading to the binding of apoA-I. The NBD1 includes a PEST sequence that is composed of proline, glutamic acid, serine, and threonine. Calpain degrades ABCA1 through interaction with this sequence. However, whether Walker C signature is involved in nascent HDL biogenesis remains unclear and needs further characterization.

A recent study revealed the single-particle cryoelectron microscopy structure of human ABCA1 protein at 4.1 Å resolution [6]. The overall structure resembles an elongated torch that is about 200 Å high. Both ECDs are the upward flaring flame, and other domains constitute the handle. There is a shallow pocket enclosed by the intracellular segments of TMs 1/2/5. The amino acid residues within these TMs are mostly polar and charged, which are responsible for binding to the polar heads of phospholipid molecules. Both TMD1 and TMD2 constitute a narrow chamber as an intracellular gate, which drives the transport of lipids from the membrane inner leaflet to the membrane outer leaflet. The helical domains in ECD1 and ECD2 together enclose an elongated hydrophobic tunnel that acts as a temporary storage and delivery passage for lipids. These structural features provide an important framework for better understanding of ABCA1-mediated cholesterol efflux.

# 7.2.2 Expression and Regulation of ABCA1

Almost all tissues and cells can express ABCA1. However, it is highly expressed in cardiovascular system, digestive system, and central nervous system. Liver X receptor  $\alpha$  (LXR $\alpha$ ), a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily, plays a critical role in stimulating ABCA1 transcription. LXRa combines with retinoid X receptor (RXR), leading to the formation of an obligate heterodimer. The LXRa/RXR complex then binds to the promoter region of ABCA1 gene to induce its expression. The increase in intracellular cholesterol levels has been shown to promote the production of oxysterols, which act as a potent LXR $\alpha$  agonist and upregulate the expression of ABCA1 [7]. Exposure of nobiletin to mouse macrophages J774.1 activates the AMP-activated protein kinase/LXRα pathway,

leading to increased ABCA1 expression [8]. In murine bone-marrow-derived macrophages, treatment with DASA-58, an activator of pyruvate kinase M2, downregulates LXR $\alpha$  expression and then decreases ABCA1 levels [9]. Additionally, fargesin facilitates the phosphorylation of CEBP $\alpha$ at Ser21, leading to upregulation of LXR $\alpha$  and ABCA1 expression in macrophages [3].

At the transcriptional level, ABCA1 expression can be regulated in an LXRα-independent manner. Like LXRa, retinoid acid receptorrelated orphan receptor  $\alpha$  (ROR $\alpha$ ) is also a nuclear receptor. There is a RORa response element present in the ABCA1promoter. Both CPG52608 and SR1001 have been identified as the specific ligands of ROR $\alpha$ . Upon binding to CPG52608 and SR1001 in THP-1 macrophages, RORα exerts a transactivating effect on ABCA1 [10]. Overexpression of prolactin regulatory element-binding (PREB) protein in CRL-2018 cells directly enhances the transcriptional activity of ABCA1 [11]. Heat shock protein 70 impairs ABCA1 expression by preventing Elk-1 from binding to the ABCA1 promoter in THP-1-macrophage-derived foam cells [12]. In contrast, zinc finger protein 202 was shown to directly inhibit ABCA1 transcription [13]. C1q tumor necrosis factor-related protein (CTRP) 1 decreases miR-424-5p levels, which in turn increases Forkhead box O1 expression in the nucleus and inhibits ABCA1 transcription [14]. Overexpression of Kcnq1 overlapping transcript 1, a long noncoding RNA, sponges miR-452-3p to enhance histone deacetylase 3 expression, leading to a significant decrease in the transcriptional activity of ABCA1. Akt is also identified as a transcriptional inhibitor of ABCA1 [15].

At the posttranscriptional level, a variety of agents have been reported to modulate ABCA1 expression. For instance, apoA-I interacts with ABCA1 to suppress the cleavage of ABCA1 protein by calpain. After stimulation with LXR $\alpha$  agonists, syntrophin forms a complex with ABCA1 in macrophages. The resulting complex combines with apoA-I, leading to a significant increase in ABCA1 protein stability [16]. Thus, LXR $\alpha$  can induce ABCA1 expression at the

transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels. Tetramethylpyrazine is a biologically active component isolated from the Chinese medicinal plant Ligusticum wallichii Franchat. Administration of tetramethylpyrazine markedly enhances ABCA1 protein stability by inhibiting lysosomal degradation in RAW264.7 macrophages. When apoA-I binding protein (AIBP) combines with apoA-I, the degradation of ABCA1 protein mediated by COP9 signalosome subunit 2 is markedly inhibited [17]. In addition, calmodulin and paeonol were shown to protect ABCA1 from calpain-mediated cleavage [18]. Nucleolin significantly increases the stability of ABCA1 mRNA in ox-LDL-treated RAW264.7 macrophages [19]. A similar effect is also observed when extracellular-signal-regulated kinases 1/2(ERK1/2) are inactivated. As an RNA-binding protein, human antigen R promotes ABCA1 translation by binding to its 3'-untranslated region (UTR) [20]. MicroRNAs (miRNAs) mediate the degradation of target mRNAs and/or inhibit their translational process by binding to the 3'-UTR, leading to silencing of target gene expression. Dysregulation of miRNAs has been linked to abnormal lipid metabolism and the development of atherosclerosis. Interestingly, ABCA1 has been identified as a putative target of a variety of miRNAs, such as miR-33a/b, miR-20a-5p, miR-27a/b, miR-758, miR-19b, miR-17-5p, miR-93, miR-325, miR-25-5p, and miR-361-5p [21].

#### 7.2.3 Biological Functions of ABCA1

The major biological function of ABCA1 is to mediate the translocation of FC from cells, especially macrophages and vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), to lipid-poor/free apoA-I for nascent HDL particle generation. When mouse peritoneal macrophages laden with cholesterol were treated with diluted human serum, ABCA1 mediates approximately half of cholesterol export and ABCG1 mediated 20% of cholesterol export [22]. This finding suggests that ABCA1 is the most important transporter responsible for cholesterol release from cells. Consistently, when the ABCA1 gene is mutated in humans, Tangier disease occurs. This disease displays extremely low plasma HDL cholesterol (HDL-C) concentration and premature atherosclerosis [23]. Deletion of ABCA1 in mice impairs macrophage-to-feces RCT and promotes atherosclerotic plaque formation [24]; however, overexpression of ABCA1 in mice was shown to increase circulating HDL-C concentration and mitigate atherosclerosis [25]. Thus, targeting ABCA1 is an attractive and promising strategy to prevent and treat atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease.

In addition to taking part in lipid metabolism, ABCA1 has other biological effects. It has been reported that knockout of ABCA1 promotes the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines in mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages challenged with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [26]. In contrast, overexpression of ABCA1 significantly attenuates the levels of interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor-a in bovine aortic endothelial cells stimulated with LPS [27]. Incubation with AIBP or apoA-I upregulates the expression of ABCA1, thereby leading to decreased secretion of proinflammatory cytokines from THP-derived macrophages challenged with LPS [28]. These observations indicate that ABCA1 exerts an anti-inflammatory action and acts as a critical link between inflammation and lipid metabolism. Additionally, ABCA1 can inhibit retinal ganglion cell apoptosis, promote colorectal cancer cell proliferation, enhance platelet reactivity, and stimulate insulin secretion from pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells [29].

# 7.2.4 Potential Mechanisms Underlying ABCA1-Dependent Cholesterol Efflux

Currently, several models have been presented to clarify the molecular mechanisms underlying ABCA1-dependent cholesterol efflux. The first model involves channel trafficking [6]. It is suggested that a channel is present in between TMD1 and TMD2 of ABCA1, which plays a central role in controlling lipid access. The chamber is initially open at the bottom and close at the top. In the presence of lipid loading, accumulated phospholipids in the inner leaflet of plasma membrane are laterally transferred to the chamber by binding to amino acid residues within TMs 1/2/5. In this process, cholesterol is concurrently accessible to the chamber with the aid of phospholipids. ATP is then recruited to both NBDs, which leads to the dimerization of NBDs and consequently closes the chamber. ABCA1 then flops the trapped lipids to the outer leaflet of plasma membrane. ATP hydrolysis at both NBDs leads to the formation of an ADP-bound intermediate, which alters the conformation of TMD1 and TMD1 to open the chamber at the top. Cholesterol and phospholipids are egressed from the chamber to the elongated hydrophobic tunnel formed by both ECDs. The ECD conformation can be also changed by the hydrolysis of ATP. This allows the interaction of ECDs with apoA-I. Upon binding to ABCA1, apoA-I takes up lipids from the elongated hydrophobic tunnel to assemble nascent HDL particles. These particles are then released from the cell surface to further accept lipids. Following dissociation of ADP from NBDs, the chamber is restored to the initial open status for lipid uptake. Given that this is a structure-based model, more direct evidence needs to confirm its rationality.

The second model involves ABCA1 dimerization [30, 31]. In this model, ABCA1 monomers constantly transport FC and phospholipids from plasma membrane to their ECDs due to ATP hydrolysis. Following sequestration of sufficient lipids, these monomers undergo conformational changes to dimerize. Subsequently, the membrane-skeletal actin filaments and other stable structure components in plasma membrane are recruited to the lipidated ABCA1 dimers. This interaction is beneficial for apoA-I access. Lipid-poor/free apoA-I combines with the ECDs within the ABCA1 dimers. The lipids reserved by ABCA1 are then delivered to apoA-I. Lipid loading induces a conformational change of apoA-I, leading to its dissociation from ABCA1 and nHDL production. Upon release of the reserved lipids, the ABCA1 dimers transform into monomers, entering next cycle to receive lipids. This model suggests that ABCA1 dimerization is of critical importance to cholesterol export from cells. Promoting the conversion of ABCA1 monomers to dimers may be another effective strategy for inhibiting intracellular lipid accumulation.

The third model demonstrates that ABCA1 promotes the efflux of intracellular cholesterol to apoA-I through a two-step process [32, 33]. In this model, ABCA1 first facilitates the delivery of phospholipids from the inner membrane leaflet to the outer membrane leaflet. TP is recruited to both NBDs of ABCA1. Then, the hydrolysis of ATP induces a conformational change of ABCA1. This allows an interaction of apoA-I with ABCA1. Phospholipids are loaded onto apoA-I to form a complex, which is a much better acceptor for cholesterol than apoA-I itself. The phospholipid/apoA-I complexes then enter the caveolae, 50-100 nm cellular membrane invaginations enriched in lipids. FC in the caveolae is transported to these complexes in an ABCA1-independent autocrine or paracrine fashion for nHDL production. It is noteworthy that when cells are pretreated with cyclodextrin to deplete intracellular cholesterol, phospholipid efflux and apoA-I binding are not affected, while cholesterol removal disappears [34]. This suggests that both steps are independent of each other. However, a later study showed that phospholipid efflux is tightly coupled with cholesterol efflux [18]. Thus, additional work is required to determine what causes the conflicting findings.

The forth model involves apoA-I-free vesicle [35]. Two apoA-I monomers form a half-circle dimer as revealed by the crystal structure, which is necessary for lipid binding. Interestingly, dimerized apoA-I can acquire lipids from not only cellular membrane but also membrane-derived vesicles shed by ABCA1 during nascent HDL biogenesis. In this process, ABCA1 first translocates FC and phospholipids to the outer leaflet independent of apoA-I. Higher phospholipid levels in this region create mushroom-like protrusions in close proximity to ABCA1 for

alleviating surface tension. These protrusions are released from plasma membrane as apoA-I-free vesicles, representing apoA-I-independent lipid efflux. Subsequently, apoA-I docks to plasma membrane through its hydrophobic C-terminus and binds to the ECDs of ABCA1 via its N-terminal domain. The interaction between both molecules leads to the unfolding of apoA-I N-terminus, allowing it to form a dimer. A large amount of FC and phospholipid molecules transported by ABCA1 are loaded onto dimerized apoA-I, leading to the production and release of nascent HDL particles. It is worth noting that these nascent HDL particles can continue to gain lipids from apoA-I-free vesicles to form larger particles.

The fifth model involves retroendocytosis [36, 37]. In addition to plasma membrane, the endosomes are regarded as an important reservoir of cellular cholesterol. ABCA1 resides not only on the cell surface, but also in the endosomal compartments. Consistently, the apoA-I lipidation can occur at these two sites. Several lines of evidence have demonstrated that apoA-I can be internalized to the endosomes for nHDL assembly in a pathway called retroendocytosis. In this model, apoA-I binds to ABCA1 on the cell surface to form a complex, which then enters clathrin-coated pits. The complexes endocytosed to early endosomes in a Rab5dependent manner. ABCA1 located in the early endosomal membrane translocates lipids to the endosomal lumen for apoA-I lipidation. ApoA-I is further lipidated when early endosomes become late endosomes. This results in the biogenesis of nascent HDL particles. These particles are then transferred to cycling endosomes that return to the cell surface with the help of Rab4. After fusion with plasma membrane, nHDL is secreted into the extracellular space, and ABCA1 recycles to plasma membrane. This model suggests that stimulating apoA-I internalization provides an alternative approach to enhance ABCA1-dependent cholesterol efflux.

# 7.3 ABCG1 and Cholesterol Homeostasis

# 7.3.1 Structural Features of ABCG1

Human *ABCG1* gene is located in chromosome 21q22.3. There are 23 exons in human *ABCG1* gene. This gene comprises alternative start codons, which leads to the generation of multiple transcripts in a tissue-specific manner. The alternative splicing can generate eight different ABCG1 isoforms with 644–785 amino acids in length. The ABCG1 protein is composed of one NBD at the N-terminus and one transmembrane domain containing six  $\alpha$  helices. Thus, ABCG1 belongs to a half-transporter. ABCG1 must be dimerized to exert its biological functions.

# 7.3.2 Expression and Regulation of ABCG1

Like ABCA1, highly expressed ABCG1 is found in arterial wall cells, including macrophages, VSMCs, and endothelial cells. It is worth noting that in addition to cardiovascular system, other organs such as the spleen, lung, kidney, and brain can express ABCG1. At the subcellular levels, ABCG1 predominantly locates in plasma membrane and endosomes.

Similar to ABCA1, LXRa plays a central role in stimulating ABCG1 transcription. Biochanin A is a dietary isoflavone that is extracted from red clover and cabbage and has a cardiovascular protective property. Administration of biochanin A was shown to upregulate ABCG1 expression and inhibit foam cell formation in THP-1-derived macrophages, at least in part, by activating the peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor γ  $(PPAR\gamma)/LXR\alpha$ signaling pathway [38]. CTRP12 is a highly conserved paralog of adiponectin. Overexpression of CTRP12 through lentiviral vector in THP-1-derived macrophages dramatically diminishes miR-155-5p levels, which in turn increases LXRa expression and elevates the transcriptional activity of ABCG1.

TP53-induced glycolysis and apoptosis regulator (TIGAR) is a new p53-inducible protein and plays an important role in protecting against oxidative stress. Increased TIGAR expression is observed in macrophage foam cells and atherosclerotic lesions. Importantly, silencing of TIGAR by short hairpin RNA restrains ABCG1 expression and promotes lipid accumulation through the reactive oxygen species/27-hydroxy-lase/LXRα signaling cascade in THP-1-derived macrophages. In addition, ox-LDL inhibits ABCG1 expression through the mitogen-activated protein kinase/ERK1/2/LXRα pathway in INS-1 cells.

Many agents have been reported to modulate ABCG1 expression at the posttranscriptional level. For example, treatment of Raw264.7 cells with 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate protein kinase С and activates then phosphorylates ABCG1, leading to a significant increase in its stability and subsequent cholesterol efflux. Activation of adenosine monophosphateactivated protein kinase robustly enhances the stability of ABCG1 mRNA by binding to its 3'-UTR in human and bovine aortic endothelial cells. Treatment with coenzyme Q10 elevates the mRNA and protein levels of ABCG1 through the activator protein-1/miR-378 pathway in peritoneal macrophages of apolipoprotein-E-deficient  $(apoE^{-/-})$  mice [39]. In plasma and macrophages of  $apoE^{-/-}$  mice with atherosclerosis, miR-23a-5p expression is upregulated. Knockdown of miR-23a-5p promotes cholesterol efflux in macrophages and reduces atherosclerotic burden in  $apoE^{-/-}$  mice by directly upregulating ABCG1 Also. expression. miR-33a/b, miR-320b. miR-581, and miR-128-2 have been proven to directly target ABCG1.

#### 7.3.3 Biological Functions of ABCG1

The major biological effect of ABCG1 is to promote the efflux of intracellular FC to HDL for further maturation. There is growing evidence that promoting ABCG1 expression inhibits lipid accumulation and foam cell formation in THP-1 macrophages as well as increases RCT efficiency and protects against atherosclerosis in  $apoE^{-/-}$ mice. Conversely, prevention of ABCG1 accelerates macrophage foam cell formation and the development of atherosclerosis in animal models [40, 41]. Although the majority of studies indicated that ABCG1 plays a beneficial effect on atherogenesis, some reports showed conflicting results. It has been reported that ABCG1 overexpression in  $apoE^{-/-}$  mice does not alter atherosclerotic plaque burden. Macrophagespecific ablation of ABCG1 reduces atherosclerotic lesion area in hyperlipidemic low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient  $(Ldlr^{-/-})$  mice. In addition. Deletion of ABCG1 in Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> mice promotes early atherosclerotic lesion formation and slows down the progression of advanced atherosclerotic lesions [42]. Therefore, further research will be required to clarify the precise role of ABCG1 in the development of atherosclerosis.

Given the critical role of ABCA1 and ABCG1 in mediating intracellular cholesterol export, the combined upregulation of these two transporter expression may be more effective in suppressing foam cell formation and atherosclerosis development. As expected, the simultaneous overexpression of ABCA1 and ABCG1 promotes FC efflux from macrophage in a synergistic manner. In contrast, silencing of ABCA1 and ABCG1 leads to more FC release from macrophage and RCT when compared with ABCG1 silencing alone [43]. In line with this study, transplantation of bone marrow lacking ABCA1 and ABCG1 into  $Ldlr^{-/-}$  mice results in increased foam cell accumulation and atherosclerotic plaque burden as compared to single knockout of ABCA1 or ABCG1 [44]. Loss of ABCA1 and ABCG1 in endothelial cells of mice displays a similar effect [45]. Thus, targeting these two transporters simultaneously may be a more promising approach to improve plasma lipid profiles and treat atherosclerosis-associated diseases.

# 7.3.4 Potential Mechanisms Underlying ABCG1-Dependent Cholesterol Efflux

Currently, three models have been available to reveal how ABCG1 drives cholesterol translocation. The first model proposed that ABCG1 promotes the delivery of FC from the inner membrane leaflet to the outer membrane leaflet, which makes FC easier to be removed by HDL [46]. The second model demonstrated that ABCG1 functions as an intracellular cholesterol transporter localized in the endocytic vesicles [47]. In this model, ABCG1 first transports FC to the inner leaflet of these vesicles. Subsequently, these vesicles fuse with plasma membrane. Finally, HDL accepts FC from plasma membrane. The third model suggests that ABCG1 takes up HDL for entry into late endosomes, where HDL binds to FC [48]. Thereafter, FC-bound HDL is secreted into extracellular space. Of note, these models can not fully explain the mechanisms by which ABCG1 promotes intracellular cholesterol efflux. Additional work is still needed to precisely clarify the underlying mechanisms.

# 7.4 ApoA-I and Cholesterol Homeostasis

It is well known that apoA-I accepts cholesterol exported by ABCA1, which is essential for nascent HDL particle formation. Thus, it is not surprising that apoA-I acts as the core and major component of HDL. It is estimated that apoA-I accounts for about 70% of total HDL proteins. predominantly produced ApoA-I is by hepatocytes and enterocytes. Human apoA-I protein is made up of 243 amino acids with a molecular mass of 28 kDa. The last 199 amino acids comprise a series of ten repeating amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helices. Among these, eight  $\alpha$ -helices contain 22 amino acids, and two  $\alpha$ -helices contain 11 amino acids [49]. The ninth and tenth

 $\alpha$ -helices are localized to the C-terminal region and have the highest affinity for lipid binding [50, 51]. Thus, these two  $\alpha$ -helices are of critical importance for FC transport. Following synthesis, apoA-I is secreted into the circulation and exists in lipid-free, poor, and bound states. Lipid-free/ poor apoA-I has a stronger ability to accept FC than lipid-bound apoA-I. Therefore, targeting lipid-free/poor apoA-I is more effective for the therapeutic intervention of hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis-associated diseases.

There are two natural mutations of apoA-I in L141RPisa humans, designated as and L159RFIN. When L141RPisa or L159RFIN is expressed in mice, circulating HDL levels are significantly decreased and atherosclerosis occurs at the early stage [52]. In hyperlipidemic mice, dysfunctional HDL with L159RFIN leads to a significant increase in atherosclerotic lesion area. ApoA-I Mytilene is a truncation form of apoA-I and results from a heterozygous nonsense mutation. It has been reported that apoA-I Mytilene leads to a marked decrease in plasma apoA-I concentration and the occurrence of premature coronary artery disease. OSBPL1A p.C39X is a loss-of-function variant of human apoA-I gene. It has been shown that this variant dramatically diminishes circulating HDL-C concentration, inhibits cholesterol efflux from macrophages, and impairs RCT. Cathepsin B is known to mediate the cleavage of apoA-I at Ser228 in the C-terminal domain. Overexpression of cathepsin B was shown to impair the atheroprotective effect of apoA-I. On the other hand, injection of recombinant HDL reconstituted with the gain-of-function mutant apoA-I N74C inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in  $apoE^{-/-}$  mice fed with a high-fat diet [53]. Local vascular gene therapy with apoA-I not only decreases atherosclerotic lesion area at the early stage but also contributes to the regression of atherosclerotic plaques at the advanced stage in a rabbit model of atherosclerosis [54, 55]. Additionally, AIBP suppresses promotes cholesterol efflux and inhibits lipid accumulation in macrophages as well as is protective against atherosclerosis in mice by interacting with apoA-I. Collectively, the above findings suggest apoA-I as a valuable target for the prevention and treatment of atherosclerosis.

# 7.5 HDL and Cholesterol Homeostasis

# 7.5.1 Components and Functions of HDL

As a type of highly heterogeneous lipoprotein particles, HDL has various densities, shapes, sizes, and components. There are about 90 proteins in the HDL particles [56]. In addition to apoA-I, apoA-II, apoE, enzymes, and lipid transfer proteins are identified as the major protein components of HDL. HDL also contents phospholipids, many lipids, including sphingolipids, triglyceride, cholesterol esters, and FC. The major function of HDL is to deliver lipids for the metabolism in the liver. In this process, both cholesterol and phospholipids are transported to apoA-I, resulting in the formation of nascent discoid HDL, namely, pre-\beta HDL. Subsequently, pre- $\beta$  HDL is further lipidated to form larger HDL particles, named HDL3. Lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase promotes the transformation of FC to cholesterol esters, which enter the hydrophobic core of HDL [57]. This results in the generation of mature, spherical, α-migrating HDL particles, termed HDL2. Of note, pre- $\beta$  HDL is easy to be eliminated through the kidney, whereas the turnover of HDL3 and HDL2 is slower than pre- $\beta$  HDL [58].

HDL-bound cholesterol is able to be removed from the body through three pathways. Firstly, scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) located in hepatocytes mediates the uptake of cholesterol esters within HDL for hepatobiliary secretion. Secondly, cholesterol esters within HDL are transported to apoB-containing lipoproteins by cholesteryl ester transfer protein in exchange for triglyceride. Cholesterol esters within the apoB particles are taken up into hepatocytes by hepatic low-density lipoprotein receptor. Finally, cholesterol esters within HDL and is directly secreted into the intestinal lumen. This process is termed transintestinal cholesterol excretion. Of note, HDL also has anti-inflammatory, antioxidative, and antithrombotic effects [59–61].

# 7.5.2 Role of HDL in Cardiovascular Disease

The basic studies and clinical trials have shown that HDL has an atheroprotective role. For instance, injection of CRE-001, a novel HDL-mimetic, into  $Ldlr^{-/-}$  mice was shown to increase macrophage-to-feces RCT and decrease atherosclerotic lesion area [62]. Conversely, subcutaneous immunization with heat shock protein 65 in  $apoE^{-/-}$  mice causes HDL dysfunction and consequently accelerates the development of atherosclerosis [63]. Administration of miR-19b precursor markedly reduces circulating HDL-C concentration, impairs the whole-body RCT, and aggravates atherosclerosis in  $apoE^{-/-}$  mice. When plasma HDL-C levels elevate by 1 mg/ dL, the risk of coronary heart disease decreases by 2% in men and 3% in women, respectively. In comparison with the subjects with plasma HDL-C concentration less than 35 mg/dL, the subjects with plasma HDL-C concentration more than 35 mg/dL diminish the risk of coronary artery disease by 70% during a follow-up of 6 years [64]. In addition, the efficacy of statin therapy is better in coronary heart disease patients with high HDL-C levels than those with low HDL-C levels [65].

Even though the majority of clinical studies have demonstrated an inverse correlation between circulating HDL-C levels and cardiovascular disease risk, the elevation of circulating HDL-C levels does not certainly translate into clinical benefits. It has been reported that singlenucleotide polymorphisms can lead to a significant increase in circulating HDL-C concentration, but this increase has no effect on the incidence of myocardial infarction. During a median followup of 3.1 years, coronary heart disease patients with low HDL-C (<40 mg/dL) and high HDL-C ( $\geq$ 70 mg/dL) have significantly higher risk of all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality than those with HDL-C between 40 and 49 mg/ dL, thereby revealing a U-shape relationship between HDL-C and adverse cardiovascular events [66]. Combined treatment with simvastatin and niacin to treat dramatically increases circulating HDL-C concentration but fails to show an additive clinical efficacy as compared to simvastatin monotherapy in coronary heart disease patients with low LDL-C concentration. Dalcetrapib is an inhibitor of cholesteryl ester transfer protein. Treatment of acute coronary syndrome patients with dalcetrapib does not decrease the risk of recurrent cardiovascular events despite elevated HDL-C levels [67]. A similar effect is seen when fenofibrate is used to treat type 2 diabetes mellitus [68]. In postinfarction patients with high HDL-C and C-reactive protein levels, the risk of recurrent events is still high [69].

Although HDL possesses complex functions, cholesterol efflux capacity (CEC) from peripheral cells is thought to be a key function of HDL. Moreover, CEC has a stronger protective effect on cardiovascular disease than traditional HDL-C concentration. It has been demonstrated that circulating apoA-I levels in individual HDL subpopulations are better to predict the risk of cardiovascular events than simple HDL-C levels [70, 71]. The macrophage-derived CEC is negatively correlated with carotid intima-media thickness and the likelihood of angiographic coronary artery disease, and this correlation is independent of HDL-C [72–74]. The small lipid-poor preβ-1-HDL particles are known to accept cholesterol delivered by ABCA1; however, the large lipidrich  $\alpha$ -1 and  $\alpha$ -2 HDL particles predominantly accept cholesterol transported by SR-BI [75]. In healthy subjects, there are strong positive correlations between ABCA1-mediated cholesterol export and pre $\beta$ -1-HDL levels, and between SR-BI-mediated cholesterol export and  $\alpha$ -1/ 2 HDL levels [76]. Further analysis demonstrated that coronary heart disease patients has increased pre $\beta$ -1-HDL levels as compared with controls, but their functionality (preβ-1-HDL concentration normalized ABCA1-dependent cholesterol efflux) is significantly decreased [77]. On the patients are lower than those in controls, their HDL functionality  $(\alpha - 1/2)$ normalized SR-BI-dependent cholesterol efflux) is significantly increased. These observations indicate that CEC is dependent on individual HDL particle concentration and their functional properties. Therefore, measurement of the concentration in combination with functionality of HDL particles may be more valuable than traditional HDL-C concentration in predicting the risk of cardiovascular events in the general population. It is worth noting that net cholesterol flux in the body is dependent not only on HDL, but also is associated with ABCA1, ABCG1, and SR-BI. It is not surprisingly that these transporters are also the important determinants of HDL concentration and functionality, while their relative contributions to the functional changes of individual HDL particles are still required to be defined in the future studies.

#### 7.6 Conclusion

ABCA1, ABCG1, apoA-I, and HDL are the critical players of RCT and play important roles in promoting cholesterol homeostasis. At present, some drugs to enhance the functions of these proteins, such as LXRa activators, RVX-208, apoA-I mimetic peptides and reconstituted HDL, are available. The monotherapy of these drugs or combination with statins has shown considerable promise for reducing the incidence of cardiovascular events. Nevertheless, our current understanding of how ABCA1 and ABCG1 mediate cholesterol efflux is still limited. This leads to a delay for therapeutic intervention targeting these agents. As CEC is a better predictor of cardiovascular risk than traditional HDL-C levels, it is also important to establish a standard method to measure CEC in clinic. Collectively, a better understanding of the role of ABCA1, ABCG1, apoA-I, and HDL in regulating cholesterol homeostasis will certainly help us to develop lipid-lowering therapies and improve the prognosis of atherosclerosis-associated disease patients in the future.

# References

- 1. Yu XH, Zhang DW, Zheng XL et al (2019) Cholesterol transport system: an integrated cholesterol transport model involved in atherosclerosis. Prog Lipid Res 73:65-91
- 2. Yu XH, Fu YC, Zhang DW et al (2013) Foam cells in atherosclerosis. Clin Chim Acta 424:245-252
- 3. Wang G, Gao JH, He LH et al (2020) Fargesin alleviates atherosclerosis by promoting reverse cholesterol transport and reducing inflammatory response. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids 1865(5): 158633
- 4. Luo J, Wang X, Jiang X et al (2020) Rutaecarpine derivative R3 attenuates atherosclerosis via inhibiting NLRP3 inflammasome-related inflammation and modulating cholesterol transport. FASEB J 34(1): 1398-1411
- 5. Yin K, You Y, Swier V et al (2015) Vitamin D protects against atherosclerosis via regulation of cholesterol efflux and macrophage polarization in hypercholesterolemic swine. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 35(11):2432-2442
- 6. Qian H, Zhao X, Cao P et al (2017) Structure of the human lipid exporter ABCA1. Cell 169:1228-1239
- 7. Tang CK, Yi GH, Yang JH et al (2004) Oxidized LDL upregulated ATP binding cassette transporter-1 in THP-1 macrophages. Acta Pharmacol Sin 25(5): 581-586
- 8. Tsuboi T, Lu R, Yonezawa T et al (2020) Molecular mechanism for nobiletin to enhance ABCA1/G1 expression in mouse macrophages. Atherosclerosis 297:32-39
- 9. Kumar A, Gupta P, Rana M et al (2020) Role of pyruvate kinase M2 in oxidized LDL-induced macrophage foam cell formation and inflammation. J Lipid Res 61(3):351-364
- 10. Coban N, Gulec C, Ozsait-Selcuk B et al (2017) CYP19A1, MIF and ABCA1 genes are targets of the RORalpha in monocyte and endothelial cells. Cell Biol Int 41(2):163-176
- 11. Nishiuchi Y, Murao K, Imachi H et al (2010) Transcriptional factor prolactin regulatory element-binding protein-mediated gene transcription of ABCA1 via 3',5'-cyclic adenosine-5'-monophosphate. Atherosclerosis 212(2):418-425
- 12. Zhao ZW, Zhang M, Chen LY et al (2018) Heat shock protein 70 accelerates atherosclerosis by downregulating the expression of ABCA1 and ABCG1 through the JNK/Elk-1 pathway. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids 1863(8):806-822
- 13. Porsch-Ozcurumez M, Langmann T, Heimerl S et al (2001) The zinc finger protein 202 (ZNF202) is a transcriptional repressor of ATP binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) and ABCG1 gene expression and a modulator of cellular lipid efflux. J Biol Chem 276(15):12427-12433
- 14. Zhang ZZ, Chen JJ, Deng WY et al (2021) CTRP1 decreases ABCA1 expression and promotes lipid
accumulation through the miR-424-5p/FoxO1 pathway in THP-1 macrophage-derived foam cells. Cell Biol Int 45(11):2226–2237

- Nagao S, Murao K, Imachi H et al (2006) Platelet derived growth factor regulates ABCA1 expression in vascular smooth muscle cells. FEBS Lett 580(18): 4371–4376
- 16. Tamehiro N, Park MH, Hawxhurst V et al (2015) LXR agonism upregulates the macrophage ABCA1/ syntrophin protein complex that can bind apoA-I and stabilized ABCA1 protein, but complex loss does not inhibit lipid efflux. Biochemistry 54(46):6931–6941
- 17. Zhang M, Li L, Xie W et al (2016) Apolipoprotein A-1 binding protein promotes macrophage cholesterol efflux by facilitating apolipoprotein A-1 binding to ABCA1 and preventing ABCA1 degradation. Atherosclerosis 248:149–159
- Li X, Zhou Y, Yu C et al (2015) Paeonol suppresses lipid accumulation in macrophages via upregulation of the ATPbinding cassette transporter A1 and downregulation of the cluster of differentiation 36. Int J Oncol 46(2):764–774
- Li Y, Jiang B, Liang P et al (2017) Nucleolin protects macrophages from oxLDL-induced foam cell formation through up-regulating ABCA1 expression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 486(2):364–371
- Ramirez CM, Lin CS, Abdelmohsen K et al (2014) RNA binding protein HuR regulates the expression of ABCA1. J Lipid Res 55(6):1066–1076
- Fernández-Tussy P, Ruz-Maldonado I, Fernández-Hernando C (2021) MicroRNAs and circular RNAs in lipoprotein metabolism. Curr Atheroscler Rep 23(7):33
- Adorni MP, Zimetti F, Billheimer JT et al (2007) The roles of different pathways in the release of cholesterol from macrophages. J Lipid Res 48:2453–2462
- 23. Oram JF (2000) Tangier disease and ABCA1. Biochim Biophys Acta 1529:321–330
- 24. Wang MD, Franklin V, Marcel YL (2007) In vivo reverse cholesterol transport from macrophages lacking ABCA1 expression is impaired. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27:1837–1842
- Singaraja RR, Fievet C, Castro G et al (2002) Increased ABCA1 activity protects against atherosclerosis. J Clin Invest 110(1):35–42
- 26. Yvan-Charvet L, Welch C, Pagler TA et al (2008) Increased inflammatory gene expression in ABC transporter-deficient macrophages: free cholesterol accumulation, increased signaling via toll-like receptors, and neutrophil infiltration of atherosclerotic lesions. Circulation 118(18):1837–1847
- 27. Stamatikos A, Dronadula N, Ng P et al (2019) ABCA1 overexpression in endothelial cells in vitro enhances apoAI-mediated cholesterol efflux and decreases inflammation. Hum Gene Ther 30(2):236–248
- 28. Zhang M, Zhao GJ, Yin K et al (2018) Apolipoprotein A-1 binding protein inhibits inflammatory signaling pathways by binding to apolipoprotein A-1 in THP-1 macrophages. Circ J 82(5):1396–1404

- 29. Li L, Xu L, Chen W et al (2018) Reduced annexin A1 secretion by ABCA1 causes retinal inflammation and ganglion cell apoptosis in a murine glaucoma model. Front Cell Neurosci 12:347
- Nagata KO, Nakada C, Kasai RS et al (2013) ABCA1 dimer-monomer interconversion during HDL generation revealed by single-molecule imaging. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(13):5034–5039
- 31. Ishigami M, Ogasawara F, Nagao K et al (2018) Temporary sequestration of cholesterol and phosphatidylcholine within extracellular domains of ABCA1 during nascent HDL generation. Sci Rep 8(1):6170
- 32. Fielding PE, Nagao K, Hakamata H et al (2000) A two-step mechanism for free cholesterol and phospholipid efflux from human vascular cells to apolipoprotein A-1. Biochemistry 39(46):14113–14120
- Wang N, Silver DL, Thiele C et al (2001) ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) functions as a cholesterol efflux regulatory protein. J Biol Chem 276(26):23742–23747
- 34. Smith JD, Le Goff W, Settle M et al (2004) ABCA1 mediates concurrent cholesterol and phospholipid efflux to apolipoprotein A-I. J Lipid Res 45(4): 635–644
- 35. Liu M, Mei X, Herscovitz H et al (2019) N-terminal mutation of apoA-I and interaction with ABCA1 reveal mechanisms of nascent HDL biogenesis. J Lipid Res 60(1):44–57
- 36. Takahashi Y, Smith JD (1999) Cholesterol efflux to apolipoprotein AI involves endocytosis and resecretion in a calcium-dependent pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(20):11358–11363
- 37. Chen W, Sun Y, Welch C et al (2001) Preferential ATP-binding cassette transporter A1-mediated cholesterol efflux from late endosomes/lysosomes. J Biol Chem 276(47):43564–43569
- Yu XH, Chen JJ, Deng WY et al (2020) Biochanin a mitigates atherosclerosis by inhibiting lipid accumulation and inflammatory response. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2020:8965047
- 39. Wang D, Yan X, Xia M et al (2014) Coenzyme Q10 promotes macrophage cholesterol efflux by regulation of the activator protein-1/miR-378/ATP-binding cassette transporter G1-signaling pathway. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 34(9):1860–1870
- 40. Mo ZC, Xiao J, Tang SL et al (2014) Advanced oxidation protein products exacerbates lipid accumulation and atherosclerosis through downregulation of ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 and G1 expression in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. Circ J 78(11): 2760–2770
- 41. Zhao GJ, Tang SL, Lv YC et al (2014) NF-kappaB suppresses the expression of ATP-binding cassette transporter A1/G1 by regulating SREBP-2 and miR-33a in mice. Int J Cardiol 171(3):e93–e95
- 42. Meurs I, Lammers B, Zhao Y et al (2012) The effect of ABCG1 deficiency on atherosclerotic lesion development in LDL receptor knockout mice depends on the stage of atherogenesis. Atherosclerosis 221(1):41–47

- Wang X, Collins HL, Ranalletta M et al (2007) Macrophage ABCA1 and ABCG1, but not SR-BI, promote macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in vivo. J Clin Invest 117(8):2216–2224
- 44. Yvan-Charvet L, Ranalletta M, Wang N et al (2007) Combined deficiency of ABCA1 and ABCG1 promotes foam cell accumulation and accelerates atherosclerosis in mice. J Clin Invest 117(12):3900–3908
- 45. Westerterp M, Tsuchiya K, Tattersall IW et al (2016) Deficiency of ATP-binding cassette transporters A1 and G1 in endothelial cells accelerates atherosclerosis in mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 36(7): 1328–1337
- 46. Vaughan AM, Oram JF (2005) ABCG1 redistributes cell cholesterol to domains removable by high density lipoprotein but not by lipid-depleted apolipoproteins. J Biol Chem 280(34):30150–30157
- Tarling EJ, Edwards PA (2011) ATP binding cassette transporter G1 (ABCG1) is an intracellular sterol transporter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(49): 19719–19724
- Neufeld EB, O'Brien K, Walts AD et al (2014) Cellular localization and trafficking of the human ABCG1 transporter. Biology (Basel) 3(4):781–800
- 49. Getz GS, Reardon CA (2011) Apolipoprotein A-I and A-I mimetic peptides: a role in atherosclerosis. J Inflamm Res 4:83–92
- 50. Palgunachari MN, Mishra VK, Lund-Katz S et al (1996) Only the two end helixes of eight tandem amphipathic helical domains of human apo A-I have significant lipid affinity. Implications for HDL assembly. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 16(2):328–338
- 51. Mishra VK, Palgunachari MN, Datta G et al (1998) Studies of synthetic peptides of human apolipoprotein A-I containing tandem amphipathic alpha-helixes. Biochemistry 37(28):10313–10324
- 52. Tiniakou I, Kanaki Z, Georgopoulos S et al (2015) Natural human apoA-I mutations L141RPisa and L159RFIN alter HDL structure and functionality and promote atherosclerosis development in mice. Atherosclerosis 243(1):77–85
- Zhang X, Zhu X, Chen B (2010) Inhibition of collarinduced carotid atherosclerosis by recombinant apoA-I cysteine mutants in apoE-deficient mice. J Lipid Res 51(12):3434–3442
- 54. Flynn R, Qian K, Tang C et al (2011) Expression of apolipoprotein A-I in rabbit carotid endothelium protects against atherosclerosis. Mol Ther 19(10): 1833–1841
- 55. Wacker BK, Dronadula N, Zhang J et al (2017) Local vascular gene therapy with apolipoprotein A-I to promote regression of atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 37(2):316–327
- 56. Mo ZC, Ren K, Liu X et al (2016) A high-density lipoprotein-mediated drug delivery system. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 106(Pt A):132–147
- 57. Jonas A (2000) Lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase. Biochim Biophys Acta 1529(1–3):245–256

- Rye KA, Barter PJ (2004) Formation and metabolism of prebeta-migrating, lipid-poor apolipoprotein A-I. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24(3):421–428
- 59. Gordon SM, Remaley AT (2017) High density lipoproteins are modulators of protease activity: implications in inflammation, complement activation, and atherothrombosis. Atherosclerosis 259:104–113
- 60. Choi HY, Hafiane A, Schwertani A, Genest J (2017) High-density lipoproteins: biology, epidemiology, and clinical management. Can J Cardiol 33:325–333
- Hu J, Xi D, Zhao J, Luo T, Liu J, Lu H et al (2016) High-density lipoprotein and inflammation and its significance to atherosclerosis. Am J Med Sci 352:408– 415
- 62. Tardy C, Goffinet M, Boubekeur N et al (2014) CER-001, a HDL-mimetic, stimulates the reverse lipid transport and atherosclerosis regression in high cholesterol diet-fed LDL-receptor deficient mice. Atherosclerosis 232(1):110–118
- 63. Sun H, Shen J, Liu T et al (2014) Heat shock protein 65 promotes atherosclerosis through impairing the properties of high density lipoprotein. Atherosclerosis 237(2):853–861
- 64. Assmann G, Schulte H, von Eckardstein A et al (1996) High-density lipoprotein cholesterol as a predictor of coronary heart disease risk. The PROCAM experience and pathophysiological implications for reverse cholesterol transport. Atherosclerosis 124(Suppl):S11– S20
- 65. Barter P, Gotto AM, LaRosa JC et al (2007) HDL cholesterol, very low levels of LDL cholesterol, and cardiovascular events. N Engl J Med 357(13): 1301–1310
- 66. Ding D, Li X, Qiu J et al (2014) Serum lipids, apolipoproteins, and mortality among coronary artery disease patients. Biomed Res Int 2014:709756
- Schwartz GG, Olsson AG, Abt M et al (2012) Effects of dalcetrapib in patients with a recent acute coronary syndrome. N Engl J Med 367(22):2089–2099
- 68. Keech A, Simes RJ, Barter P et al (2005) Effects of long-term fenofibrate therapy on cardiovascular events in 9795 people with type 2 diabetes mellitus (the FIELD study): randomised controlled trial. Lancet 366(9500):1849–1861
- 69. Corsetti JP, Ryan D, Rainwater DL et al (2010) Cholesteryl ester transfer protein polymorphism (TaqIB) associates with risk in postinfarction patients with high C-reactive protein and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30(8):1657–1664
- 70. Asztalos BF, Cupples LA, Demissie S et al (2004) High-density lipoprotein subpopulation profile and coronary heart disease prevalence in male participants of the Framingham offspring study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24(11):2181–2187
- 71. Asztalos BF, Collins D, Cupples LA et al (2005) Value of high-density lipoprotein (HDL) subpopulations in predicting recurrent cardiovascular events in the

veterans affairs HDL intervention trial. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 25(10):2185–2191

- 72. Khera AV, Cuchel M, de la Llera-Moya M et al (2011) Cholesterol efflux capacity, high-density lipoprotein function, and atherosclerosis. N Engl J Med 364(2): 127–135
- 73. Saleheen D, Scott R, Javad S et al (2015) Association of HDL cholesterol efflux capacity with incident coronary heart disease events: a prospective case-control study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 3(7):507–513
- 74. Rohatgi A, Khera A, Berry JD et al (2014) HDL cholesterol efflux capacity and incident cardiovascular events. N Engl J Med 371(25):2383–2393
- 75. Asztalos BF, de la Llera-Moya M, Dallal GE et al (2005) Differential effects of HDL subpopulations on cellular ABCA1- and SR-BI-mediated cholesterol efflux. J Lipid Res 46(10):2246–2253
- 76. Asztalos BF, Horvath KV, Mehan M et al (2017) Influence of HDL particles on cell-cholesterol efflux under various pathological conditions. J Lipid Res 58(6):1238–1246
- 77. Asztalos BF, Horvath KV, Schaefer EJ (2018) HDL (high-density lipoprotein) particles, cell-cholesterol efflux, and coronary heart disease risk: the prebeta-1 paradox. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 38(9): 2007–2015

# HDL and ASCVD

# Hongtu Cui and Qian Du

# Abstract

In this chapter, we summarize the relationship between circulating high-density lipoprotein (HDL) and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD). HDL acts in many types of cells, such as endothelial cell, macrophage, T lymphocyte, etc. Recently, novel HDL-related therapies have been developed to treat ASCVD.

#### **Keywords**

Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) · High-density lipoprotein (HDL) · Molecular mechanism

A strong negative correlation between plasma high-density lipoprotein (HDL) levels and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) was found in 1970s, and its relationship is still investigated. Recent studies have shown that

H. Cui

e-mail: cui\_ht@pku.edu.cn

HDL inhibits atherosclerosis in many ways, such as promoting cholesterol efflux through the ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) ATP-binding cassette transporter G1 and (ABCG1), reducing inflammation, and alleviating lipid oxidation. Apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I), the main protein component of HDL, can carry and deliver cholesterol to the liver, which seems to be the main function of HDL. Additionally, HDL carries microRNA and regulates intracellular gene expression. HDL also protects endothelial cells by activating the nitric oxide (NO) synthesis. This chapter summarizes the important roles of HDL in atherosclerosis and the latest research results.

# 8.1 Clinical Research of ASCVD

The content of circulating HDL is closely related to atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD). A recent study shows that composite HDL apolipoproteomic score (pCAD), basing on 5 apolipoproteins in HDL (i.e., apoA-I, apoC-I, apoC-III, apoC-III, and apoC-IV), is closely related to the occurrence of obstructive ASCVD  $(\geq 70\%$  lesion in  $\geq 1$  vessel). Nine hundred and forty three participants were enrolled in this study, all of whom were over 18 years old referred for coronary or peripheral angiography with or without intervention between 2008 and 2011 in the Massachusetts General Hospital. For these participants, the plasma apoA-I, apoC-I,

# 109



<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), *HDL Metabolism and Diseases*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_8

Department of Cardiology and Institute of Vascular Medicine, Peking University Third Hospital, NHC Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Molecular Biology and Regulatory Peptides, Key Laboratory of Molecular Cardiovascular Science, Ministry of Education, Beijing Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Receptors Research, Beijing, China

Q. Du (🖂)

Department of Cardiology, Guangzhou Red Cross Hospital, Medical College, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China

apoC-II, apoC-III, and apoC-IV levels were measured during a 4-year follow-up. Finally, in these 943 participants, 587 patients developed coronary stenosis, accounting for 62%. There was a significant correlation between pCAD score and the incidence of coronary stenosis (odds ratio: 1.39; 95% confidence interval CI: 1.14–1.69; p < 0.001 independently of traditional cardiovascular risk factors, such as circulating plasma apoA-I and apoB. As for mortality, pCAD is related to cardiovascular death (HR: 1.33; 95% CI: 1.09–1.63; *p* = 0.005) in an unadjusted model. However, this correlation only exists in patients with obstructive ASCVD (HR: 1.36; 95% CI: 1.07–1.73; p = 0.01). In another multivariate model, pCAD was not significantly correlated with cardiovascular death after adjusting for the relevant clinical risk factors, such as apoA-I, apoB, and coronary artery stenosis (HR: 1.24; 95% CI: 0.93–1.66; p = 0.15). However, under this condition, researchers found a direct relationship between pCAD and cardiovascular death in patients with obstructive ASCVD (HR: 1.48; 95% CI: 1.07-2.05; p = 0.019 [1].

ASCVD risk significantly increases in diabetic patients and mice. In animal experiments, it was found that diabetes can lead to the accumulation of macrophages in the plaque, increase the proportion of M1 macrophage, and inhibit the regression of inflammation. All of these are important risk factors that lead to the formation of unstable plaque, thus increasing the possibility of ASCVD. And HDL-C was negatively associated with blood glucose in diabetic mice (p = -0.427, p < 0.05). What is more, the level of hemoglobin A1c was also negatively associated with HDL-C in diabetic patients (p = -0.192, p < 0.05). There was positive correlation between the level of hemoglobin A1c or blood glucose and white blood cells (p = 0.310, p < 0.001 and p = 0.382, p = 0.08). These findings suggest a link among blood glucose, HDL-C, and leukocytosis in diabetic patients.

Researchers increased HDL levels by overexpressing apoA-I in mice (apo A-I Tg), and found that the increase of apoA1 significantly reduced white blood cells in diabetic mice. And the expression of CD11b and reactive oxygen species (ROS) decreased in leukocytes isolated from apoA-I Tg mice compared to WT mice.

There is an increase in the number of common myeloid progenitors (CMPs)  $(0.32 \pm 0.03\%$  vs.  $0.22 \pm 0.01\%$ ; p < 0.01) and granulocyte macrophage progenitors (GMPs)  $(1.7 \pm 0.04\%$  vs.  $1.34 \pm 0.05\%$ ; p < 0.01) in diabetic mice. Overexpression of apo A-I significantly reduced the number of CMPs and GMPs (by 31% and 24%). Furthermore, adding HDL to CMPs and GMPs can restore the damaged cholesterol efflux ability and plasma membrane cholesterol homeostasis of CMPs and GMPs caused by high glucose, which is crucial for the proliferation of CMPs and GMPs. In addition to impairing cholesterol efflux, high glucose also promotes neutrophil activation and S100A8/A9 release. In apoA-I Tg mice, the activation of neutrophil was inhibited and S100A8/A9 levels decreased, which was caused by inhibiting NF-κB pathway. More importantly, the atherosclerotic lesions significantly regressed in diabetic apoA-I Tg mice. However, the regression of plaque in diabetic WT mice was impaired, suggesting that HDL can promote plaque regression. In apoA-I Tg mice, the infiltration of macrophage decreased, whereas the proportion of anti-inflammatory M2 macrophage and the collagen content increased. In addition, neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) is also an important factor affecting the plaque stability and thrombosis. In apoA-I Tg mice, NETs significantly decreased, indicating that HDL inhibits neutrophil-associated inflammation. In conclusion, HDL inhibits the development of plaque and inflammatory cell infiltration, and maintains plaque stability in diabetic mice. The findings provide a new strategy to reduce the incidence of ASCVD in diabetic patients [2].

### 8.2 The Critical Molecular Pathway in the Development of Atherosclerosis

In the process of atherosclerosis, phagocytosis of ox-LDL leads to the accumulation of cholesterol

in macrophages and the formation of foam cells. HDL reduces intracellular cholesterol in foam cells by transporting cholesterol efflux. Cholesterol ester (CE) could be transformed to free cholesterol (FC) by HDL, which can be mobilized by membrane-bound transporters, ATP-binding cassette A1 and G1 (ABCA1 and ABCG1) and transported out of cells. Further, HDL-C is absorbed by liver cells through scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI). This is HDL-mediated reverse cholesterol transport (RCT), which plays an important role in reducing plasma cholesterol levels. This process is crucial in inhibiting the development of atherosclerosis [3]. If the metabolic pathway of HDL is damaged, it will aggravate the process of atherosclerosis.

The synthesis of HDL is a process of apolipoprotein-mediated solubilization of specific plasma membrane (PM) microdomains in foam cells. Therefore, researchers tried to find the key protein that mediates the binding of apoA-I to PM. The apoA-I-enriched PM was separated by discontinuous sucrose gradient centrifugation. The protein binding to apoA-I was identified by proteomics and desmocollin 1 (DSC1) was screened out. DSC1 is mainly responsible for the assembly process of desmosomes. Through immune-coprecipitation and Time-lapse images, it was found that there was a significant interaction between DSC1 and apoA-I. The combination of apoA-I and DSC1 may lead to sequestering PM cholesterol by DSC1 microdomain, thus resulting in the inhibition of cholesterol efflux mediated by ABCA1. Knockout of DSC1 leads to a significant increase in cholesterol efflux even if overexpression of ABCA1. Further, the researchers also found a significant apoA-I-DSC1 interaction in human atherosclerotic samples. In the late stage of ASCVD, there are a lot of apoA-I and DSC1 in calcification and necrotic nuclei area of advanced-stage lesions. These results suggested that DSC1 takes part in HDL biogenesis, cholesterol deposition, and cell death, thus promoting the progression of ASCVD [4].

Brown adipose tissue (BAT) could be activated by cold stimulation, which changes their metabolism and produces heat. Fatty acids are the main energy source of BAT. There are two main sources of fatty acids. One is the uptake of triglyceride (TG)-rich lipoproteins (TRLs)– associated fatty acids, which are generated from TG by lipoprotein lipase (LPL). The other is the uptake of whole TRLs. Further, the activation of thermogenic adipocytes also reduces blood cholesterol and inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in transgenic mice expressing both a loss-of-function variant of human apolipoprotein E (apoE\*3-Leiden; E3L) and human cholesteryl ester transfer protein (E3L. CETP mice) [5].

It is found that the antiatherosclerotic effect of thermogenic adipocytes is related to the content of plasma HDL. Under the stimulation of cold or selective  $\beta$ 3-adrenergic receptor agonists, such as CL316,243 (CL), cholesterol is transferred to HDL, and consequently, the level of HDL-C increases in apoA-V-/- mice. In addition to changing the HDL-C content, the activation of thermogenic adipocytes also alters the composition of HDL, including phosphatidylcholine (PC), lyso-PC as well as CE species. When exposed to cold, HDL-related PC34:1 and Lyso-PC18:1 significantly decreased in human, similarly to that of mice. However, changes in HDL components do not directly affect its ability to induce cholesterol efflux. Both clearances from plasma and hepatic uptake of HDL were identical. Interestingly, there was a significant increase in fecal cholesterol and a decrease in plasma and liver cholesterol after cold or CL treatment in WT and hyperlipidemic E3L.CETP mice. These results suggest that LPL-mediated lipolysis may be responsible for the increased HDL turnover and selective cholesterol uptake by the liver. Further, the absence of LPL leads to a decrease in plasma cholesterol clearance. Beyond that, hepatic SR-BI is also responsible for the accelerated HDL-C. Therefore, BAT activation plays an important role in ASCVD by increasing systemic cholesterol excretion. What is more, LPL in adipose tissue can be a potential target for atherosclerosis treatment [6].

T cells play an important role in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. The phenotype of T cells may change in the dynamic microenvironment. Hyperlipidemia can lead to T cell dysfunction and promote inflammation. With the development of atherosclerosis, the number of Treg cells decreases [7]. In addition, the absence of Treg cells will lead to the aggravation of atherosclerosis in mice [8]. In addition, a large number of Treg cells are transformed into Tfh cells in vascular well or spleen in the development of atherosclerosis. Inhibiting the differentiation of Tfh cells will reduce the number of Treg cells and restrain the development of atherosclerosis in mice. The number and percentage of Treg cells increased after the administration of apoA-I in mice. And the number of Tfh cells transformed from exTreg cells significantly decreased. Therefore, apoA-I can inhibit the transformation of Treg cells to Tfh cells. Further, apoA-I increases the expression of IL-2R $\alpha$  in Treg cells and decreases the level of cholesterol in Treg cells [9]. These findings contribute to further understanding of the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and provide direction а new for the treatment of atherosclerosis.

#### 8.3 Novel HDL-Based Treatment on ASCVD

HDL is a complex composed of many kinds of molecules with different sizes. The functions of different subcomponents are different. This may be an important reason for the unsatisfactory clinical application of HDL. It is of great significance to understand the function of different components for the recombinant HDL (rHDL).

Recently, researchers designed a novel rHDL, CER-001, which consists of wild apoA-I and sphingomyelin. It has been improved that CER-001 can protect patients with hereditary hyperlipidemia from atherosclerosis [10, 11]. Furthermore, the effect of CER-001 in ASCVD patients treated with statin was also investigated. A total of 301 patients were recruited and randomly divided into two groups. Patients were given CER-001 (3 mg/kg) or placebo by intravenous infusion. Intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) examination within the same coronary artery was completed in 7–21 days after the final injection. However, the results show that the percent

atheroma volume (PAV) decreased by 0.41% in the placebo group (p = 0.005 compared with baseline), but did not change in the CER-001 group (-0.09%; p = 0.67 compared with baseline; between-groups difference, 0.32%; p = 0.15). The total atheroma volume (TAV) reduced by 6.6 mm<sup>3</sup> in the control group (p < 0.001) and by 5.6 mm<sup>3</sup> in the CER-001 group (p < 0.001; between-groups difference p = 0.64). All of these showed that administration of CER-001 has no obvious effect on the regression of coronary atherosclerosis in statin-treated patients [12]. This may indicate that the simple increase of HDL content has little effect, and the function of HDL may be related to some of its structures.

The main function of HDL is to promote RCT from macrophages, which requires the participation of ABCA1 and ABCG1. The researchers designed different sizes of rHDL using fixed ratios of phospholipid and apoA-I. Among the different sizes of rHDL, the researchers found that ABCA1-mediated cholesterol efflux to the smallest (7.5 nm) rHDL was the most efficient, compared with other sizes (11.9, 10.9, and 8.7 nm). Furthermore, it was found that ABCA1 is the key protein that mediates cholesterol efflux to HDL3. HDL3b, HDL3c, and lipid-free apoA-I are all fine therapeutic targets for increasing cholesterol efflux [13].

SR-BI is another important protein that mediates RCT. It promotes the removal of cholesterol from HDL by many cells, such as hepatocytes, macrophages, etc. The dysfunction of SR-BI will lead to the accumulation of HDL-C in plasma and increase the risk of ASCVD [14, 15]. In addition, SR-BI deficiency also reduces the antioxidative capacity of HDL.

Phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP) is a widely expressed protein, belonging to the family of lipid transfer/lipopolysaccharide-binding proteins. In plasma, PLTP binds to HDL and mediates the transfer of phospholipids during lipolysis of triglycerides, which is the key step of HDL particle maturation. It was found that knockout of PLTP could reverse the accumulation of cholesterol esters in plasma caused by SR-BI deficiency. In addition, the level of

HDL-C also decreases. PLTP knockout significantly reduces oxidative stress in aorta, but could not completely reverse the development of atherosclerosis caused by SR-BI knockout. This may be due to the presence of severe hypertriglyceridemia, obesity, and impaired glucose tolerance in double knockout mice. Moreover, knockout of PLTP impairs the clearance of verylow-density lipoprotein (VLDL)/chylomicron by the liver [16].

Previous studies have shown that apoA-I can oxidized by myeloperoxidase (MPO), be resulting in the impairment of apoA-I and HDL functions. The oxidation of apoA-I leads to the decreased ability of cholesterol efflux [17]. In clinical studies, it was found that oxidized apoA-I (ox-apoA-I) significantly increased in human atherosclerotic plaque and plasma of patients with ASCVD [18-21]. In the plasma of mice treated with ox-apoA-I, a large number of oxidative cross-linked dimer or trimer forms of apoA-I were observed. However, only 35% of oxapoA-I was related to HDL, and almost all of native apoA-I was still related to HDL. Compared to native apoA-I, the plasma HDL-C level significantly decreased at 24 and 72 h (by ~40% and ~41.5%, respectively; p < 0.01) after the administration of ox-apoA-I. Besides, RCT also obviously reduced after injecting ox-apoA-I. In the short-term treatment period, the administration of apoA-I did not change the size of the plaque. However, compared with ox-apoA-I group and the control group, native apoA-I changes the composition of plaque, reduces the content of macrophage and lipid, and increases the content of collagen, improving the stability of plaque. CCR7-mediated macrophage migration plays an important role in plaque regression. Administration of ox-apoA-I can promote the expression of CCR7. However, native apoA-I significantly decreased the expression of CCR7, leading to the decrease of macrophage migration. Moreover, apoA-I can change the type of macrophages in number plaque, decreasing the of pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages and increasing the number of anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages compared with ox-apoA-I group and the control group. In short, after apoA-I oxidation, many beneficial effects of apoA-I are decreased, such as promoting cholesterol efflux and inhibiting inflammation. Therefore, it might be a new target to inhibit the oxidation of apoA-I [22].

In addition to atherosclerosis, HDL plays key roles in chronic inflammatory diseases. HDL has been shown to reduce the expression of intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM), increase the level of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) in endothelial cells, and decrease the content of CD11b in macrophages. In addition, administration of HDL also reduces the content of proinflammatory cytokines in plasma, such as IL-6 and IL-12. HDL significantly increases the expression of ATF3 at the transcription level in macrophages, which binds to the promoter regions of anti-inflammatory factors. Knockdown of ATF3 blocks the anti-inflammatory effect of HDL [23]. ATF3 is a new target molecule of HDL.

There is a small class of HDL-containing apolipoprotein M (apoM), which can carry the bioactive lipid mediator sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P). Activation of S1P receptor 1 (S1P1) exerts an anti-inflammatory effect. ApoM combining with S1P can inhibit the expression of S1P-related genes to counteract TNF- $\alpha$ . Treatment of endothelial cells with apoM-containing S1P can reduce the expression of E-selectin, ICAM-1, and VCAM-1, inhibit the inflammation of endothelial cells, and maintain the barrier function of endothelial cells [24].

Through transcriptome analysis, HDL extensively inhibits the expression of pro-inflammatory genes and promotes the expression of antiinflammatory genes. However, HDL also shows a certain pro-inflammatory effect, which is reflected by the activation of chemokine signaling pathway. When the cholesterol content in macrophages changes, the anti-inflammatory function of HDL will also change, indicating that the anti-inflammatory function of HDL depends on cholesterol efflux. The early antiinflammatory function of HDL is reflected in the downregulation of Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4, while the late anti-inflammatory effect mainly depends on the inhibition of interferon (IFN) receptor signaling. The pro-inflammatory effect of HDL through the activation of endoplasmic reticulum stress is due to cholesterol depletion. However, in vivo experiments showed that HDL had obvious anti-inflammatory effect and decreased inflammatory factors, and there was no evidence of the pro-inflammatory effect of HDL [25].

Clinical studies have shown that KLF14 is associated with HDL-C levels and ASCVD. A group of highly correlated SNPs have been identified, including rs4731702 and rs972283 located  $\sim 14$  kb upstream of KLF14 [26]. Previous studies on KLF14 focused on embryogenesis, cell proliferation, differentiation, and development. Researchers found the expression of KLF14 significantly decreased in hyperlipidemia mice. To further verify the role and mechanism of KLF14 in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, KLF14 overexpression mice were constructed. It was found that overexpression of KLF14 increased the levels of plasma HDL-C and apoA-I and the capacity of cholesterol efflux in mice. As a transcription factor, KLF14 can bind to CACCC box (-491/-486) in the promoter region of apoA-I through CHIP assay, regulating the transcription of apoA-I and increasing the levels of HDL. Liver-specific knockout of KLF14 reduced the level of apoA-I, indicating that liver KLF14 was involved in the metabolism of HDL. Researchers screened a specific KLF14 agonist, perhexiline, in a chemical library of the NIH/JDRF Custom Collection. Perhexiline can promote the expression of apoA-I in the liver and intestine. After the administration of perhexiline, the levels of HDL-C significantly increased in mice, and the progression of atherosclerosis was inhibited. The discovery of perhexiline provides a new way to intervene KLF14 and explore its clinical potential for the treatment of atherosclerosis [27].

FOXA3 is also an important gene that affects the expression of apoA-I. The expression of FOXA3 is significantly decreased in high-fatdiet (HFD)-fed or diabetic mice and patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. FOXA3 binds to the site of TGTTTAC in apoA-I promoter region, regulating the transcription of apoA-I. Overexpression of FOXA3 can increase plasma HDL levels and inhibit the progression of atherosclerosis in mice [28].

Liver-enriched cAMP-responsive elementbinding protein H (CREBH) is a bZiP transcription factor, which takes part in glucose and lipid metabolism. CREBH knockout mice have severe hyperlipidemia, and the ratio of apoB/apoA-I in plasma increases, which aggravates atherosclerosis. CREBH can directly bind to the promoter region of apoA-I, and directly regulate the transcription of apoA-I. Further, overexpression of CREBH can improve the level of various lipoproteins in vivo [29].

Endothelial dysfunction (ED) occurs in the early stage of atherosclerosis, and ED is related to the rupture of plaque, including the increase of the area of necrotic nuclei [30]. In addition, patients with early atherosclerosis showed ED and HDL impairment, and increased cholesterol content in the plaque area. These indicate that there is a certain relationship between ED and HDL function [31, 32].

Haptoglobin (HP) is a binding protein of plasma free hemoglobin, which is a component of HDL and combines with apoA-I to regulate HDL function [33]. Researchers analyzed the function of microvasculature and epicardial coronary endothelium in 338 volunteers with ASCVD. Microvascular ED was defined as <50% change in coronary blood flow and epicardial ED as  $\geq 20\%$  decrease in coronary artery diameter after intracoronary acetylcholine infusion. There are three main subtypes of HP: 1-1, 2-1, 2-2. The proportion of HP 2-2 in diabetic patients with microvascular (p = 0.01) and epicardial ED (p = 0.04) increased significantly. The HP content of HDL also increased in patients with diabetes [34]. Therefore, different types of HP can be used to predict ED of some diabetic patients with coronary artery disease, and further as an important basis for judging the probability of serious complications such as thrombosis.

Recently, a new mimic peptide of HDL (MDCO-216) has been studied in patients with coronary syndrome. The mimic peptide can be mass-produced due to the improvement of the production process, and can ensure its ability to

promote cholesterol efflux without causing immune response [35].

The researchers selected 126 patients with acute coronary syndrome treated with statins at 22 hospitals in Canada and Europe. Treatment of MDCO-216 can reduce the level of plasma HDL-C (-3.3 vs. 3.0 mg/dL;)difference. 95% CI, -6.3 mg/dL; -8.5to -4.1;p < 0.001), but it cannot affect the level of plasma LDL-C (68.6 vs. 70.5 mg/dL; difference, -2.5 mg/dL; 95% CI, -10.1 to 5.0; p = 0.51). Most importantly, treatment of MDCA-216 did not significantly reduce plaque area [11]. These results suggest that MDCA-216 has no significant effect on the improvement of acute coronary syndrome during statins administration and cannot significantly inhibit the progression of plaque.

Albuminuria is an important risk factor of cardiovascular disease in diabetic patients, and there is an atherogenic lipid profile characterized by elevated triglycerides, and decrease of the level of HDL-C [36].

The researchers analyzed 46 components of HDL and found that 8 of them were related to albumin excretion rate (AER). This shows that albuminuria can change the composition of HDL. Some of these proteins are also related to estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR). The content of paraoxonase (PON) is the only protein that has a direct relationship with coronary artery calcification and AER. However, PON does not regulate the ability of HDL to promote cholesterol efflux from macrophages [37].

Smoking is an important factor increasing the incidence of cardiovascular disease. A study in Japan found that smokers are 2.51 times more likely to have cardiovascular disease in man and 3.35 times more in women than nonsmokers [38]. Pre $\beta$ 1-HDL is an efficient receptor of intracellular free cholesterol, which can be HDL transformed into cholesterol-rich by lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT). In nonsmoking population, the content of HDL in hyperlipidemia patients increased significantly  $(25.5 \pm 6.7 \text{ vs. } 20.3 \pm 4.6 \text{ mg/L} \text{ apoA-I},$ p < 0.01), compared with that in normal person. However, among smokers, the difference disappeared. Smoking can reduce the content of pre $\beta$ 1-HDL in patients with hyperlipidemia, suggesting that smoking may cause more damage to patients with hyperlipidemia [39].

There are different subtypes of HDL in human. By regulating the content and existence of different subtypes of HDL, the downstream metabolism and signal path are regulated through the interaction with receptors and enzymes [40]. Apolipoprotein C-III(apoC-III) is a small lipoprotein found in some HDLs, not all. In addition, it has been found that when apoC-III gene mutation occurs, the level of plasma apoC-III and triglyceride decreases, and the risk of cardiovascular disease decreases [41, 42].

The researchers conducted the study using two different cohorts. It was found that an average of 6–8% of apoA-I contained apoC-III. The total amount of apoC-III was correlated with plasma triglyceride level, but HDL subtypes with or without apoC-III were weakly or not correlated with triglyceride level.

Interestingly, the two subtypes of HDL have opposite associations with the incidence rate of ASCVD. HDL that contains apoC-III was associated with a higher risk of ASCVD (pooled relative risk per standard deviation, 1.09; 95% confidence interval, 1.01-1.18), whereas HDL that lacks apoC-III was associated with lower risk (relative risk, 0.76; 95% confidence interval, 0.70–0.83). The relative risk for HDL lacking apoC-III was even more negative than the relative risk for total HDL (relative risk, 0.80; 95% confidence interval, 0.74–0.87) [43]. These studies indicate that the functions of different subtypes of HDL are very different, suggesting that researchers should consider the important role of different subtypes of HDL in the prediction of ASCVD and the application of HDL analog peptide in the treatment of related diseases.

Recently, it has been pointed out that the concentration of HDL particles (HDL-P), rather than HDL-C, may be a more appropriate index to evaluate the function of HDL. Moreover, HDL-P has a more significant correlation with the risk of ASCVD than HDL-C [44, 45].

Experiments show that cholesterol-overloaded HDL-P is harmful. It can not only inhibit the

ability of cholesterol efflux [46] but also decrease the uptake of cholesterol by hepatocytes [47].

The researchers measured the baseline HDL-C/P levels of 930 volunteers and divided them into four groups (<41.0 (lowest), 41.0-46.9, 47.0-52.9, and > 53.0 (highest).

Finally, it was found that plaque progression in the population with the highest baseline level (>53.0) is 1.56 times (95% confidence interval: 1.14–2.13; p < 0.006) higher than that in the population with the lowest baseline level (<41.0) after 5 years [48]. These results explain the possible reasons for the poor effect of HDL-C on ASCVD. In the future, HDL-C and HDL-P should be combined to play the therapeutic role of HDL.

#### References

- Natarajan P, Collier TS, Jin Z, Lyass A, Li Y, Ibrahim NE, Mukai R, McCarthy CP, Massaro JM, D'Agostino RB, Gaggin HK, Bystrom C, Penn MS, Januzzi JL (2019) Association of an HDL Apolipoproteomic score with coronary atherosclerosis and cardiovascular death. J Am Coll Cardiol 73:2135–2145
- Barrett TJ, Distel E, Murphy AJ, Hu J, Garshick MS, Ogando Y, Liu J, Vaisar T, Heinecke JW, Berger JS, Goldberg IJ and Fisher EA (2019) Apolipoprotein AI) promotes atherosclerosis regression in diabetic mice by suppressing Myelopoiesis and plaque inflammation. Circulation 140:1170–1184
- Janoudi A, Shamoun FE, Kalavakunta JK, Abela GS (2016) Cholesterol crystal induced arterial inflammation and destabilization of atherosclerotic plaque. Eur Heart J 37:1959–1967
- 4. Choi HY, Ruel I, Malina A, Garrod DR, Oda MN, Pelletier J, Schwertani A, Genest J (2018) Desmocollin 1 is abundantly expressed in atherosclerosis and impairs high-density lipoprotein biogenesis. Eur Heart J 39:1194–1202
- 5. Berbée JFP, Boon MR, Khedoe PPSJ, Bartelt A, Schlein C, Worthmann A, Kooijman S, Hoeke G, Mol IM, John C, Jung C, Vazirpanah N, Brouwers LPJ, Gordts PLSM, Esko JD, Hiemstra PS, Havekes LM, Scheja L, Heeren J, Rensen PCN (2015) Brown fat activation reduces hypercholesterolaemia and protects from atherosclerosis development. Nat Commun 6:6356
- 6. Bartelt A, John C, Schaltenberg N, Berbée JFP, Worthmann A, Cherradi ML, Schlein C, Piepenburg J, Boon MR, Rinninger F, Heine M, Toedter K, Niemeier A, Nilsson SK, Fischer M, Wijers SL, van Marken Lichtenbelt W, Scheja L, Rensen PCN, Heeren J (2017) Thermogenic adipocytes

promote HDL turnover and reverse cholesterol transport. Nat Commun 8:15010

- Maganto-García E, Tarrio ML, Grabie N, D-x B, Lichtman AH (2011) Dynamic changes in regulatory T cells are linked to levels of diet-induced hypercholesterolemia. Circulation 124:185–195
- Gotsman I, Grabie N, Gupta R, Dacosta R, MacConmara M, Lederer J, Sukhova G, Witztum JL, Sharpe AH, Lichtman AH (2006) Impaired regulatory T-cell response and enhanced atherosclerosis in the absence of inducible costimulatory molecule. Circulation 114:2047–2055
- Gaddis DE, Padgett LE, Wu R, McSkimming C, Romines V, Taylor AM, McNamara CA, Kronenberg M, Crotty S, Thomas MJ, Sorci-Thomas MG, Hedrick CC (2018) Apolipoprotein AI prevents regulatory to follicular helper T cell switching during atherosclerosis. Nat Commun 9:1095
- 10. Kootte RS, Smits LP, van der Valk FM, Dasseux J-L, Keyserling CH, Barbaras R, Paolini JF, Santos RD, van Dijk TH, Dallinga-van Thie GM, Nederveen AJ, Mulder WM, Hovingh GK, Kastelein JP, Groen AK, Stroes E (2015) Effect of open-label infusion of an apoA-I-containing particle (CER-001) on RCT and artery wall thickness in patients with FHA. J Lipid Res 56:703–712
- 11. Hovingh GK, Smits LP, Stefanutti C, Soran H, Kwok S, de Graaf J, Gaudet D, Keyserling CH, Klepp H, Frick J, Paolini JF, Dasseux J-L, Kastelein JJP, Stroes ES (2015) The effect of an apolipoprotein A-I-containing high-density lipoprotein-mimetic particle (CER-001) on carotid artery wall thickness in patients with homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia: the modifying orphan disease evaluation (MODE) study. Am Heart J 169(5):736–742
- 12. Nicholls SJ, Andrews J, Kastelein JJP, Merkely B, Nissen SE, Ray KK, Schwartz GG, Worthley SG, Keyserling C, Dasseux J-L, Griffith L, Kim SW, Janssan A, Di Giovanni G, Pisaniello AD, Scherer DJ, Psaltis PJ, Butters J (2018) Effect of serial infusions of CER-001, a pre-β high-density lipoprotein mimetic, on coronary atherosclerosis in patients following acute coronary syndromes in the CER-001 atherosclerosis regression acute coronary syndrome trial: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Cardiol 3: 815–822
- 13. Du X-M, Kim M-J, Hou L, Le Goff W, Chapman MJ, Van Eck M, Curtiss LK, Burnett JR, Cartland SP, Quinn CM, Kockx M, Kontush A, Rye K-A, Kritharides L, Jessup W (2015) HDL particle size is a critical determinant of ABCA1-mediated macrophage cellular cholesterol export. Circ Res 116: 1133–1142
- 14. Vergeer M, Korporaal SJA, Franssen R, Meurs I, Out R, Hovingh GK, Hoekstra M, Sierts JA, Dallinga-Thie GM, Motazacker MM, Holleboom AG, Van Berkel TJC, Kastelein JJP, Van Eck M, Kuivenhoven JA (2011) Genetic variant of the scavenger receptor BI in humans. N Engl J Med 364:136–145

- 15. Zanoni P, Khetarpal SA, Larach DB, Hancock-Cerutti WF, Millar JS, Cuchel M, DerOhannessian S, Kontush A, Surendran P, Saleheen D, Trompet S, Jukema JW, De Craen A, Deloukas P, Sattar N, Ford I, Packard C, AaS M, Alam DS, Di Angelantonio E, Abecasis G, Chowdhury R, Erdmann J, Nordestgaard BG, Nielsen SF, Tybjærg-Hansen A, Schmidt RF, Kuulasmaa K, Liu DJ, Perola M, Blankenberg S, Salomaa V, Männistö S, Amouyel P, Arveiler D, Ferrieres J, Müller-Nurasyid M, Ferrario M, Kee F, Willer CJ, Samani N, Schunkert H, Butterworth AS, Howson JMM, Peloso GM, Stitziel NO, Danesh J, Kathiresan S, Rader DJ (2016) Rare variant in scavenger receptor BI raises HDL cholesterol and increases risk of coronary heart disease. Science (New York, NY) 351:1166-1171
- 16. Hoekstra M, van der Sluis RJ, Hildebrand RB, Lammers B, Zhao Y, Praticò D, van Berkel TJC, Rensen PCN, Kooijman S, Jauhiainen M, van Eck M (2020) Disruption of phospholipid transfer proteinmediated high-density lipoprotein maturation reduces scavenger receptor BI deficiency-driven atherosclerosis susceptibility despite unexpected metabolic complications. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 40: 611–623
- 17. Zheng L, Nukuna B, Brennan M-L, Sun M, Goormastic M, Settle M, Schmitt D, Fu X, Thomson L, Fox PL, Ischiropoulos H, Smith JD, Kinter M, Hazen SL (2004) Apolipoprotein A-I is a selective target for myeloperoxidase-catalyzed oxidation and functional impairment in subjects with cardiovascular disease. J Clin Invest 114:529–541
- 18. Zheng L, Settle M, Brubaker G, Schmitt D, Hazen SL, Smith JD, Kinter M (2005) Localization of nitration and chlorination sites on apolipoprotein A-I catalyzed by myeloperoxidase in human atheroma and associated oxidative impairment in ABCA1-dependent cholesterol efflux from macrophages. J Biol Chem 280:38–47
- Undurti A, Huang Y, Lupica JA, Smith JD, DiDonato JA, Hazen SL (2009) Modification of high density lipoprotein by myeloperoxidase generates a pro-inflammatory particle. J Biol Chem 284:30825– 30835
- 20. Wu Z, Wagner MA, Zheng L, Parks JS, Shy JM, Smith JD, Gogonea V, Hazen SL (2007) The refined structure of nascent HDL reveals a key functional domain for particle maturation and dysfunction. Nat Struct Mol Biol 14:861–868
- 21. DiDonato JA, Huang Y, Aulak KS, Even-Or O, Gerstenecker G, Gogonea V, Wu Y, Fox PL, Tang WHW, Plow EF, Smith JD, Fisher EA, Hazen SL (2013) Function and distribution of apolipoprotein A1 in the artery wall are markedly distinct from those in plasma. Circulation 128:1644–1655
- Hewing B, Parathath S, Barrett T, Chung WKK, Astudillo YM, Hamada T, Ramkhelawon B, Tallant TC, Yusufishaq MSS, Didonato JA, Huang Y, Buffa J,

Berisha SZ, Smith JD, Hazen SL, Fisher EA (2014) Effects of native and myeloperoxidase-modified apolipoprotein a-I on reverse cholesterol transport and atherosclerosis in mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 34:779–789

- 23. De Nardo D, Labzin LI, Kono H, Seki R, Schmidt SV, Beyer M, Xu D, Zimmer S, Lahrmann C, Schildberg FA, Vogelhuber J, Kraut M, Ulas T, Kerksiek A, Krebs W, Bode N, Grebe A, Fitzgerald ML, Hernandez NJ, Williams BR, Knolle P, Kneilling M, Rocken M, Lutjohann D, Wright SD, Schultze JL, Latz E (2014) High-density lipoprotein mediates antiinflammatory reprogramming of macrophages via the transcriptional regulator ATF3. Nat Immunol 15:152– 160
- 24. Ruiz M, Frej C, Holmér A, Guo LJ, Tran S, Dahlbäck B (2017) High-density lipoprotein-associated apolipoprotein M limits endothelial inflammation by delivering Sphingosine-1-phosphate to the Sphingosine-1phosphate receptor 1. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 37:118–129
- 25. Fotakis P, Kothari V, Thomas DG, Westerterp M, Molusky MM, Altin E, Abramowicz S, Wang N, He Y, Heinecke JW, Bornfeldt KE, Tall AR (2019) Anti-inflammatory effects of HDL (high-density lipoprotein) in macrophages predominate over Proinflammatory effects in atherosclerotic plaques. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 39:e253–e272
- 26. Small KS, Hedman AK, Grundberg E, Nica AC, Thorleifsson G, Kong A, Thorsteindottir U, Shin S-Y, Richards HB, Soranzo N, Ahmadi KR, Lindgren CM, Stefansson K, Dermitzakis ET, Deloukas P, Spector TD, McCarthy MI (2011) Identification of an imprinted master trans regulator at the KLF14 locus related to multiple metabolic phenotypes. Nat Genet 43:561–564
- 27. Guo Y, Fan Y, Zhang J, Lomberk GA, Zhou Z, Sun L, Mathison AJ, Garcia-Barrio MT, Zhang J, Zeng L, Li L, Pennathur S, Willer CJ, Rader DJ, Urrutia R, Chen YE (2015) Perhexiline activates KLF14 and reduces atherosclerosis by modulating ApoA-I production. J Clin Invest 125:3819–3830
- 28. Li Y, Xu Y, Jadhav K, Zhu Y, Yin L, Zhang Y (2019) Hepatic Forkhead box protein A3 regulates ApoA-I (apolipoprotein a-I) expression, cholesterol efflux, and Atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 39: 1574–1587
- 29. Park J-G, Xu X, Cho S, Lee A-H (2016) Loss of transcription factor CREBH accelerates diet-induced atherosclerosis in Ldlr–/– mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 36:1772–1781
- 30. Lavi S, Bae JH, Rihal CS, Prasad A, Barsness GW, Lennon RJ, Holmes DR, Lerman A (2009) Segmental coronary endothelial dysfunction in patients with minimal atherosclerosis is associated with necrotic core plaques. Heart 95:1525–1530
- Monette JS, Hutchins PM, Ronsein GE, Wimberger J, Irwin AD, Tang C, Sara JD, Shao B, Vaisar T, Lerman A, Heinecke JW (2016) Patients with coronary

endothelial dysfunction have impaired cholesterol efflux capacity and reduced HDL particle concentration. Circ Res 119:83–90

- 32. Choi B-J, Prasad A, Gulati R, Best PJ, Lennon RJ, Barsness GW, Lerman LO, Lerman A (2013) Coronary endothelial dysfunction in patients with early coronary artery disease is associated with the increase in intravascular lipid core plaque. Eur Heart J 34: 2047–2054
- 33. Asleh R, Blum S, Kalet-Litman S, Alshiek J, Miller-Lotan R, Asaf R, Rock W, Aviram M, Milman U, Shapira C, Abassi Z, Levy AP (2008) Correction of HDL dysfunction in individuals with diabetes and the haptoglobin 2-2 genotype. Diabetes 57:2794–2800
- 34. Asleh R, Levy AP, Levy NS, Asleh A, Goldenstein H, Segol I, Gulati R, Lerman LO, Lerman A (2019) Haptoglobin phenotype is associated with high-density lipoprotein-bound hemoglobin content and coronary endothelial dysfunction in patients with mild nonobstructive coronary artery disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 39:774–786
- 35. Reijers JAA, Kallend DG, Malone KE, Jukema JW, Wijngaard PLJ, Burggraaf J, Moerland M (2017) MDCO-216 does not induce adverse Immunostimulation, in contrast to its predecessor ETC-216. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 31:381–389
- 36. de Boer IH, Astor BC, Kramer H, Palmas W, Rudser K, Seliger SL, Shlipak MG, Siscovick DS, Tsai MY, Kestenbaum B (2008) Mild elevations of urine albumin excretion are associated with atherogenic lipoprotein abnormalities in the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis (MESA). Atherosclerosis 197:407–414
- 37. Shao B, Zelnick LR, Wimberger J, Himmelfarb J, Brunzell J, Davidson WS, Snell-Bergeon JK, Bornfeldt KE, de Boer IH, Heinecke JW (2019) Albuminuria, the high-density lipoprotein proteome, and coronary artery calcification in type 1 diabetes mellitus. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 39:1483– 1491
- 38. Li Y, Yamagishi K, Yatsuya H, Tamakoshi A, Iso H (2012) Smoking cessation and COPD mortality among Japanese men and women: the JACC study. Prev Med 55:639–643
- 39. Nagao Y, Hirayama S, Kon M, Sasamoto K, Sugihara M, Hirayama A, Isshiki M, Seino U, Miyazaki O, Miida T (2017) Current smokers with hyperlipidemia lack elevated preβ1-high-density lipoprotein concentrations. J Clin Lipidol 11:242–249
- Alaupovic P (1996) Significance of apolipoproteins for structure, function, and classification of plasma lipoproteins. Methods Enzymol 263:32–60
- Jørgensen AB, Frikke-Schmidt R, Nordestgaard BG, Tybjærg-Hansen A (2014) Loss-of-function mutations

in APOC3 and risk of ischemic vascular disease. N Engl J Med 371:32-41

- 42. Crosby J, Peloso GM, Auer PL, Crosslin DR, Stitziel NO, Lange LA, Lu Y, Tang Z-z, Zhang H, Hindy G, Masca N, Stirrups K, Kanoni S, Do R, Jun G, Hu Y, Kang HM, Xue C, Goel A, Farrall M, Duga S, Merlini PA, Asselta R, Girelli D, Olivieri O, Martinelli N, Yin W, Reilly D, Speliotes E, Fox CS, Hveem K, Holmen OL, Nikpay M, Farlow DN, Assimes TL, Franceschini N, Robinson J, North KE, Martin LW, DePristo M, Gupta N, Escher SA, Jansson J-H, Van Zuydam N, Palmer CNA, Wareham N, Koch W, Meitinger T, Peters A, Lieb W, Erbel R, Konig IR, Kruppa J, Degenhardt F, Gottesman O, Bottinger EP, O'Donnell CJ, Psaty BM, Ballantyne CM, Abecasis G, Ordovas JM, Melander O, Watkins H, Orho-Melander M, Ardissino D, Loos RJF, McPherson R, Willer CJ, Erdmann J, Hall AS, Samani NJ, Deloukas P, Schunkert H, Wilson JG, Kooperberg C, Rich SS, Tracy RP, Lin D-Y, Altshuler D, Gabriel S, Nickerson DA, Jarvik GP, Cupples LA, Reiner AP, Boerwinkle E, Kathiresan S (2014) Loss-of-function mutations in APOC3, triglycerides, and coronary disease. N Engl J Med 371:22-31
- 43. Jensen MK, Aroner SA, Mukamal KJ, Furtado JD, Post WS, Tsai MY, Tjønneland A, Polak JF, Rimm EB, Overvad K, McClelland RL, Sacks FM (2018) High-density lipoprotein subspecies defined by presence of apolipoprotein C-III and incident coronary heart disease in four cohorts. Circulation 137:1364– 1373
- 44. Parish S, Offer A, Clarke R, Hopewell JC, Hill MR, Otvos JD, Armitage J, Collins R (2012) Lipids and lipoproteins and risk of different vascular events in the MRC/BHF heart protection study. Circulation 125: 2469–2478
- 45. Mora S, Glynn RJ, Ridker PM (2013) High-density lipoprotein cholesterol, size, particle number, and residual vascular risk after potent statin therapy. Circulation 128:1189–1197
- 46. Lüscher TF, Landmesser U, von Eckardstein A, Fogelman AM (2014) High-density lipoprotein: vascular protective effects, dysfunction, and potential as therapeutic target. Circ Res 114:171–182
- Vergeer M, Holleboom AG, Kastelein JJP, Kuivenhoven JA (2010) The HDL hypothesis: does high-density lipoprotein protect from atherosclerosis? J Lipid Res 51:2058–2073
- 48. Qi Y, Fan J, Liu J, Wang W, Wang M, Sun J, Liu J, Xie W, Zhao F, Li Y, Zhao D (2015) Cholesteroloverloaded HDL particles are independently associated with progression of carotid atherosclerosis in a cardiovascular disease-free population: a community-based cohort study. J Am Coll Cardiol 65:355–363

# **HDL and Diabetes**

Blake J. Cochran, Bikash Manandhar, and Kerry-Anne Rye

#### Abstract

Diabetes is a worldwide public health issue, with the number of cases expected to reach 642 million by 2040. Patients with diabetes are at a two- to four-fold increased risk of developing cardiovascular disease. This chapter focuses on the anti-diabetic and cardioprotective functions of plasma high-density lipoproteins (HDLs). HDLs and the main HDL apolipoprotein, apoA-I, improves pancreatic beta cell function. ApoA-I also improves insulin sensitivity. The development of novel, bifunctional HDL-based interventions are a promising therapeutic option for the treatment of cardiometabolic diseases.

#### Keywords

 $Diabetes \cdot Antidiabetic \cdot \beta \ cell \cdot Insulin \\ sensitivity$ 

## 9.1 Introduction

In 2015, 415 million people worldwide had diabetes. By 2040, the number of patients with diabetes is expected to increase to 642 million [1]. Treatment of diabetes, along with its complications including cardiovascular disease, retinopathy, neuropathy, and nephropathy, is a major public health priority that is expected to consume more than 15% of the total global health expenditure by 2040 (International Diabetes Federation).

The anticipated rapid increase in the incidence of diabetes, particularly in low- and middleincome countries, highlights a major unmet need to develop new lifestyle modification strategies and therapeutic interventions that will reduce incident disease and reverse established disease. It is well established that a diagnosis of either type 1 diabetes (T1D), which accounts for about 10% of all cases, or type 2 diabetes (T2D), which is the most prevalent form of the disease and accounts for ~90% of all cases, is associated with a two- to four-fold increase in the risk of developing cardiovascular disease [2, 3]. There is thus a compelling case for developing novel, bifunctional therapies that can reduce the incidence of T1D, T2D as well as treat and prevent associated cardiovascular complications.

T1D is an autoimmune disease in which insulin-producing  $\beta$ -cells in the pancreas are selectively destroyed by self-activating autoimmune T cells.  $\beta$ -cell loss can be as high as 70% at the time of T1D diagnosis. Insulin resistance, where uptake of glucose from blood into peripheral tissues is impaired is, by contrast, the hallmark feature of T2D.  $\beta$ -cells compensate for insulin resistance and maintain blood glucose

Check for updates

B. J. Cochran · B. Manandhar · K.-A. Rye (⊠) Lipid Research Group, Faculty of Medicine, School of Medical Sciences, University of New South Wales Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia e-mail: k.rye@unsw.edu.au

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), *HDL Metabolism and Diseases*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_9

levels in the normal range in patients with T2D by secreting extra insulin. However, prolonged compensation eventually leads to  $\beta$ -cell loss, reduced insulin secretion in response to high blood glucose levels, and progression from the prediabetic state (impaired fasting glucose and/or impaired glucose tolerance) to full-blown T2D [4]. Despite this difference in pathogenesis, it is well established that progression of T1D and T2D is driven by the loss of  $\beta$ -cells. This is fortuitous in that development of drugs with the capacity to conserve the function of existing  $\beta$ -cells, or regenerate new  $\beta$ -cells, is likely to be relevant for both forms of the disease.

This chapter is concerned with the recent discovery that, in addition to their potentially cardioprotective functions, plasma high-density lipoproteins (HDLs), and their main apolipoprotein constituent, apoA-I, have antidiabetic properties [5-10]. This raises the possibility that agents that increase plasma apoA-I and HDL levels may have the potential to prevent and reverse T1D and T2D. More importantly, mechanistic insights into such therapies will facilitate the identification of new treatment targets that may potentially lead to new classes of drugs for treating all forms of the disorder. The importance of this approach is further augmented by the knowledge that HDLs and apoA-I have multiple cardioprotective functions that may be enhanced by HDL-increasing agents, leading to a reduction in the risk of developing cardiovascular complications that are responsible for a significant proportion of the morbidity and mortality in patients with diabetes [11, 12].

### 9.2 Current Treatment Options for T1D

The standard treatment for T1D is insulin replacement. However, patients with T1D often find it difficult to maintain glycemic control using this approach, and many of them remain at increased risk of developing cardiovascular disease, even when glycemic control is achieved [13]. Insulin replacement is also associated with an increased risk of hypoglycemia that can be potentially lifethreatening. Pancreas or stem cell transplantation, a further treatment option for T1D, is not used widely due to limited availability of donors and the requirement for permanent immunosuppression of the recipients [4, 14]. Stem cell transplantation is also not used routinely, because it may lead to malignant cell formation [15].

#### 9.3 Current Treatment Options for T2D

Lifestyle modifications, including weight loss and dietary changes that have the capacity to reverse T2D, are the first approach for treating patients with T2D. However, compliance is frequently problematic, and the efficacy of this approach has recently been called into question [16]. The biguanide, metformin, is the first-line therapeutic option in T2D [17]. Metformin inhibits hepatic glucose production and increases insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle [18]. Other treatment options for patients with T2D include thiazolidinediones, which improve insulin sensitivity and delay T2D onset, but may cause weight gain [19]. Sulfonylureas increase insulin release from β-cells, but may also cause weight gain and increase the risk of hypoglycemia [20]. Longsulfonylurea additionally term therapy is associated with a significant failure rate [21]. Newer agents, such as glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) receptor antagonists and dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP4) inhibitors, that increase incretin release from the intestine and improve  $\beta$ -cell function, have fewer side effects than many of the older, more established therapies. GLP-1 receptor antagonists have the added advantage of promoting weight loss and reducing cardiovascular events [22]. Sodium glucose transporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors, which reduce glucose absorption in the kidney, also promote weight loss and reduce cardiovascular mortality, but their use can be associated with an increased risk of developing genitourinary infections [23, 24].

Thus, while patients with T2D have a number of treatment options, many of these therapies can have unwanted side effects. Treatment options for T1D are, by contrast, extremely limited and are all focused on insulin replacement. New multifunctional therapies with minimal side effects that also have the capacity to reduce the rate of  $\beta$ -cell loss, and improve the function and identity of the remaining  $\beta$ -cells in patients with T1D and T2D, would therefore be highly desirable additions to the currently available diabetes treatment armamentarium, as would be agents with the capacity to regenerate new, functional  $\beta$ -cells and reduce insulin resistance. Bifunctional agents that additionally reduce cardiovascular risk while conserving or improving  $\beta$ -cell function represent an even more attractive option for these patients.

#### 9.4 High-Density Lipoproteins

Multiple human epidemiological studies have established that an elevated plasma high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) level is inversely associated with the risk of having a cardiovascular event [25]. HDLs have a number of potentially cardioprotective functions, including an ability to reduce inflammation in endothelial cells, adipocytes, and monocytes/macrophages [26-31]. HDLs also inhibit the oxidation of low-density lipoproteins (LDLs) [32] and play a critical role in reverse cholesterol transport, the pathway whereby excess cholesterol is transported from peripheral cells to the liver for excretion as a constituent of bile [33, 34]. To this end, interventions that increase circulating HDL-C and apoA-I levels have been shown to reduce atherosclerosis in animal models [35, 36], while apoA-I knockout mice have accelerated atherosclerosis [37, 38].

These cell-based and preclinical findings have led to the hypothesis that interventions that increase plasma HDL-C levels represent a potential strategy for reducing the risk of having a major cardiovascular event. This hypothesis has recently been tested in several large-scale clinical outcome trials with interventions ranging from small molecules that inhibit activity of cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) [39–42], through to older drugs such as niacin [43, 44], and infusions of reconstituted HDL (rHDL) preparations consisting of apoA-I complexed with phospholipid [45, 46]. With the exception of the REVEAL trial, in which cardiovascular events were significantly reduced by treatment with the CETP inhibitor anacetrapib in statin-treated patients with atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease [42], these large clinical trials did not reduce cardiovascular events and, in one case, caused harm [47].

Although the underlying reasons for the failure of these clinical trials are not well understood, it is noteworthy that glycemic control was improved in patients with T2D that were treated with the CETP inhibitor torcetrapib in the ILLUMINATE trial [47]. Small randomized, double-blind trials of patients with T2D have additionally revealed that increasing plasma HDL-C and apoA-I levels acutely with a single rHDL infusion, or chronically by inhibiting activity of CETP, improves glycemic control by enhancing pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell function and increasing insulin sensitivity [48, 49]. These studies have thus identified an opportunity to develop new therapies with the potential to improve glycemic control and reduce the risk of developing cardiovascular complications in patients with T1D and T2D. This is of particular importance for patients with T1D in whom insulin replacement is the only currently available treatment option.

#### 9.5 HDLs and $\beta$ -Cell Function

The first direct evidence that HDLs and the main HDL apolipoproteins, apoA-I and apoA-II (the first and second most abundant HDL apolipoproteins, respectively), improve  $\beta$ -cell function was reported by Fryirs et al. This report showed that incubation of the mouse MIN6 insulinoma cell line and isolated islets from Sprague-Dawley rats under high glucose conditions with isolated human HDLs, rHDLs that contain apoA-I or apoA-II, lipid-free apoA-I, or lipid-free apoA-II, increased transcription of the Ins1 and Ins2 genes. This study also showed that insulin secretion by Ins-1E cells was increased in a time- and concentration-dependent manner by incubation with HDLs, apoA-I and apoA-II under basal conditions, and to a greater extent under high glucose conditions [5]. These effects were additionally found to be dependent on  $Ca^{2+}$  mobilization,  $K_{ATP}$  channel activation, and glucose metabolism [5]. These outcomes were further extended in an in vivo study of high fat-fed C57BL6 mice that displayed increased insulin secretion and improved glycemic control when treated with lipid-free apoA-I [9].

ApoA-IV, the third most abundant HDL apolipoprotein, also increases the secretion of insulin from isolated mouse islets under high, but not basal glucose conditions in a cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP)–dependent manner [50]. Moreover, glucose tolerance and  $\beta$ -cell insulin secretion are both impaired in apoA-IV knockout mice [50].

Mechanistic insights into the outcomes of these studies have been obtained by showing that the ability of apoA-I and apoA-II to increase insulin secretion in MIN6 cells is dependent on expression of the ATP binding cassette transporter, ABCA1, that regulates cellular cholesterol homeostasis by effluxing cholesterol from cell membranes to lipid-free apoA-I, other HDL apolipoproteins, and small HDLs in the first step of the reverse cholesterol transport pathway [51, 52]. The ability of apoA-I and apoA-II to increase insulin secretion in MIN6 cells was additionally dependent on scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1), which promotes the bidirectional flux of cholesterol between cell membranes and HDLs [5, 53]. Given that insulin secretion is impaired in cholesterol loaded  $\beta$ -cells, and restored by incubation in the presence of cyclodextrin, which acts as a cholesterol sink and depletes cells of cholesterol [54], these observations raise the possibility that the antidiabetic effects of HDLs and apoA-I and apoA-II may simply reflect their ability to export cholesterol from MIN6 cells via ABCA1 and ABCG1.

However, additional experimentation has confirmed that incubation with apoA-I or apoA-II does not change unesterified or total cholesterol levels in MIN6 cells, leading to the conclusion that the mechanism by which apoA-I and apoA-II increase glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in MIN6 cells is not related to cellular cholesterol homeostasis, or to their ability to accept the cholesterol that is exported from MIN6 cells via ABCA1.

An insight into these apparently contradictory observations was obtained in a subsequent in vitro study in which the rat Ins-1E insulinoma cell line was used to elucidate the role of ABCA1 in the apoA-I-mediated increase in insulin synthesis and secretion [6]. Those results established that the interaction of apoA-I with the  $\beta$ -cell surface facilitates the colocalization of ABCA1 with the heterotrimeric G-protein  $G\alpha_s$  subunit, which results in activation of a transmembrane adenylyl cyclase and increases intracellular cAMP levels. This leads to downstream activation of protein kinase A (PKA), which increases intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels and the acceleration of insulin secretion [6]. The activated PKA can also translocate to the  $\beta$ -cell nucleus, where it phosphorylates and excludes the transcription factor forkhead box protein O1 (FoxO1) from the nucleus, leading to derepression of insulin gene transcription and increased expression of the Ins1 and Ins2 genes [6]. An equally important outcome from this study was that incubation with apoA-I increased expression of the transcription factor, pancreas duodenum homeobox protein 1 (PdxI), a key determinant for pancreas development and  $\beta$ -cell survival [6, 55-57]. This result provided evidence that apoA-I may have the capacity to conserve  $\beta$ -cell identity and prevent  $\beta$ -cell loss, an observation that has significant implications for slowing disease progression in patients with T1D and T2D.

Further evidence that the outcomes of the aforementioned in vitro studies are physiologically relevant has emerged from mice in which ABCA1 and the related intracellular cholesterol transporter ABCG1, that effluxes cell cholesterol to HDLs, were both conditionally deleted in  $\beta$ -cells ( $\beta$ -DKO mice) [58]. Loss of  $\beta$ -cell ABCA1 and ABCG1 in  $\beta$ -DKO mice leads to a doubling of islet cholesterol levels. As expected, the insulin secretory capacity of the  $\beta$ -cells in  $\beta$ -DKO mice was severely impaired due to the increased cholesterol levels. Furthermore, as these animals have normal insulin sensitivity, they are an ideal model in which to study the specific contribution of  $\beta$ -cells to the regulation of glycemic control by apoA-I in vivo [58]. To this end, it has recently been reported that treatment of  $\beta$ -DKO mice with apoA-I improves GSIS but does not alter islet cholesterol levels [8]. While this result recapitulates the overarching outcomes of the in vitro studies in MIN6 and Ins-1E cells [5, 6], the mechanism by which apoA-I increased insulin secretion in the  $\beta$ -DKO mice, while not yet understood, clearly differs from the ABCA1-dependent pathway that was described in the earlier in vitro study [6].

#### 9.6 HDLs, apoA-I, and Insulin Sensitivity

Evidence that apoA-I and HDLs also improve insulin sensitivity is beginning to emerge. Increasing plasma HDL-C and apoA-I levels in patients with T2D by inhibiting CETP activity improves insulin sensitivity according to the homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance [47]. A single rHDL infusion also reduces plasma glucose levels in patients with T2D, which is indicative of an improvement in insulin sensitivity [48].

The outcomes from these clinical studies have been recapitulated in vitro in incubations of human primary skeletal muscle cells with lipidfree apoA-I [7]. These studies established that apoA-I increases glucose uptake by phosphorylating the insulin receptor and insulin receptor substrate-1, downstream activation of the PI3K/Akt/AS160 pathway, and translocation of the glucose transporter, GLUT4, to the skeletal muscle cell surface, which results in increased uptake of glucose into the cells [7]. It is noteworthy that the apoA-I-mediated uptake of glucose into skeletal muscle cells occurs in an insulindependent as well as an insulin-independent manner, with evidence that both of these mechanisms are regulated by ABCA1 and SR-B1 [7].

An insight into the underlying mechanism by which apoA-I increases glucose uptake into skeletal muscle independent of insulin was obtained by Han et al., who established in a series of in vitro studies that apoA-I phosphorylates AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and acetyl coenzyme A carboxylase in association with clathrin-dependent apoA-I internalization and localization in endosomes [59]. These findings were subsequently confirmed in a small doubleblind, placebo-controlled cross-over study of subjects with T2D in whom acetyl coenzyme A carboxylase phosphorylation and AMPK activation were increased following a single infusion of apoA-I-containing rHDLs [48].

The outcomes of these studies have been further recapitulated in vivo with  $[(^{18}F)]FDG$  imaging, which has established that treatment of db/dbmice, a model of T2D, with lipid-free apoA-I improves glycemic control and insulin sensitivity [60]. Subsequent ex vivo analyses in these mice provided direct evidence that treatment with apoA-I increases glucose uptake by skeletal muscle in an insulin-dependent and insulinindependent manner [60].

Indirect evidence for a reduction in hepatic gluconeogenesis has also been reported in apoA-I knockout mice. These animals have increased mRNA levels of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase and glucose-6-phosphatase, two enzymes that are critically important for glucose production in the liver [59]. ApoA-I knockout mice are also hyperglycemic and hyperinsulinemic, which is consistent with reduced AMPK activation and a major role for apoA-I in hepatic glucose metabolism in these animals [59]. This conclusion was further confirmed with the evidence that hepatic gluconeogenesis is similarly reduced in apoA-IV knockout mice [61].

A recent report has also indicated apoA-I treatment reduces the insulin resistance that develops in rats during pregnancy by increasing glucose uptake by skeletal muscle and adipose tissue [62]. Increased insulin resistance is a hallmark feature of pregnancy, leading to gestational diabetes in about 14% of all cases. As is the case for T2D, gestational diabetes manifests when  $\beta$ -cells are no longer able to keep up with the demand for additional insulin as insulin resistance increases [63]. Given that the incidence of gestational diabetes is increasing rapidly, and many affected women subsequently go on to develop T2D and cardiovascular disease, it follows that interventions that increase HDL and apoA-I levels and improve insulin sensitivity in this cohort have the potential to reduce the burden of disease and alleviate future vascular complications.

# 9.7 Concluding Comments

The clinical implications of the antidiabetic functions of HDLs and HDL-associated apolipoproteins are far-reaching for all forms of the disease, including people with T2D that are refractory to current therapies as well as those with T1D and gestational diabetes, for whom treatment options are limited. Although there are few existing drug development pipelines for agents that raise HDL and apoA-I levels, there is strong proof-of-principal evidence from human and preclinical studies that such approaches may be highly efficacious in a diabetes setting.

Future strategies for exploiting these properties of HDLs and their constituent apolipoproteins with new antidiabetic pharmacotherapies include the synthesis of peptides that mimic the antidiabetic functions of HDL-associated apolipoproteins, the identification of molecular targets with the potential to increase apolipoprotein gene transcription, and infusions of rHDL preparations. The latter approach is currently under investigation in the Phase 3 clinical trial, AEGIS-II, for reducing subsequent events in acute coronary syndrome patients. Although rHDL infusions are not appropriate for long-term treatment, assessment of how such an intervention impacts on glycemic control in the short term in study subjects with diabetes would undoubtedly be highly informative and may provide the impetus that is needed for further development of these and related HDL-increasing agents.

### References

1. Zimmet P, Alberti KG, Magliano DJ, Bennett PH (2016) Diabetes mellitus statistics on prevalence and

mortality: facts and fallacies. Nat Rev Endocrinol 12: 616–622

- Soedamah-Muthu SS, Fuller JH, Mulnier HE, Raleigh VS, Lawrenson RA, Colhoun HM (2006) All-cause mortality rates in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus compared with a non-diabetic population from the UK general practice research database, 1992-1999. Diabetologia 49:660–666
- 3. Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration, Sarwar N, Gao P, Seshasai SR, Gobin R, Kaptoge S, Di Angelantonio E, Ingelsson E, Lawlor DA, Selvin E, Stampfer M, Stehouwer CD, Lewington S, Pennells L, Thompson A, Sattar N, White IR, Ray KK, Danesh J (2010) Diabetes mellitus, fasting blood glucose concentration, and risk of vascular disease: a collaborative meta-analysis of 102 prospective studies. Lancet 375: 2215–2222
- Robertson RP (2004) Islet transplantation as a treatment for diabetes - a work in progress. N Engl J Med 350:694–705
- Fryirs MA, Barter PJ, Appavoo M, Tuch BE, Tabet F, Heather AK, Rye KA (2010) Effects of high-density lipoproteins on pancreatic beta-cell insulin secretion. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30:1642–1648
- Cochran BJ, Bisoendial RJ, Hou L, Glaros EN, Rossy J, Thomas SR, Barter PJ, Rye KA (2014) Apolipoprotein A-I increases insulin secretion and production from pancreatic beta-cells via a G-protein-cAMP-PKA-FoxO1-dependent mechanism. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 34:2261–2267
- Tang S, Tabet F, Cochran BJ, Cuesta Torres LF, Wu BJ, Barter PJ, Rye KA (2019) Apolipoprotein A-I enhances insulin-dependent and insulin-independent glucose uptake by skeletal muscle. Sci Rep 9:1350
- Hou L, Tang S, Wu BJ, Ong KL, Westerterp M, Barter PJ, Cochran BJ, Tabet F, Rye KA (2019) Apolipoprotein A-I improves pancreatic beta-cell function independent of the ATP-binding cassette transporters ABCA1 and ABCG1. FASEB J 33:8479–8489
- Stenkula KG, Lindahl M, Petrlova J, Dalla-Riva J, Goransson O, Cushman SW, Krupinska E, Jones HA, Lagerstedt JO (2014) Single injections of apoA-I acutely improve in vivo glucose tolerance in insulinresistant mice. Diabetologia 57:797–800
- Domingo-Espin J, Lindahl M, Nilsson-Wolanin O, Cushman SW, Stenkula KG, Lagerstedt JO (2016) Dual actions of apolipoprotein A-I on glucosestimulated insulin secretion and insulin-independent peripheral tissue glucose uptake lead to increased heart and skeletal muscle glucose disposal. Diabetes 65:1838–1848
- 11. Lind M, Svensson AM, Kosiborod M, Gudbjornsdottir S, Pivodic A, Wedel H, Dahlqvist S, Clements M, Rosengren A (2014) Glycemic control and excess mortality in type 1 diabetes. N Engl J Med 371:1972–1982
- Tancredi M, Rosengren A, Svensson AM, Kosiborod M, Pivodic A, Gudbjornsdottir S, Wedel H, Clements M, Dahlqvist S, Lind M (2015) Excess mortality among persons with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 373:1720–1732

- Orchard TJ, Costacou T, Kretowski A, Nesto RW (2006) Type 1 diabetes and coronary artery disease. Diabetes Care 29:2528–2538
- 14. Shapiro AM, Ricordi C, Hering BJ, Auchincloss H, Lindblad R, Robertson RP, Secchi A, Brendel MD, Berney T, Brennan DC, Cagliero E, Alejandro R, Ryan EA, DiMercurio B, Morel P, Polonsky KS, Reems JA, Bretzel RG, Bertuzzi F, Froud T, Kandaswamy R, Sutherland DE, Eisenbarth G, Segal M, Preiksaitis J, Korbutt GS, Barton FB, Viviano L, Seyfert-Margolis-V, Bluestone J, Lakey JR (2006) International trial of the Edmonton protocol for islet transplantation. N Engl J Med 355:1318–1330
- 15. Atkinson MA, Eisenbarth GS, Michels AW (2014) Type 1 diabetes. Lancet 383:69–82
- 16. Hemmingsen B, Gimenez-Perez G, Mauricio D, Roque IFM, Metzendorf MI, Richter B (2017) Diet, physical activity or both for prevention or delay of type 2 diabetes mellitus and its associated complications in people at increased risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 12:CD003054
- 17. UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group (1998) Effect of intensive blood-glucose control with metformin on complications in overweight patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 34). UK prospective diabetes study (UKPDS) group. Lancet 352:854–865
- Viollet B, Guigas B, Sanz Garcia N, Leclerc J, Foretz M, Andreelli F (2012) Cellular and molecular mechanisms of metformin: an overview. Clin Sci 122: 253–270
- Yau H, Rivera K, Lomonaco R, Cusi K (2013) The future of thiazolidinedione therapy in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Curr Diab Rep 13:329–341
- 20. Wright AD, Cull CA, Macleod KM, Holman RR, UKPDS Group (2006) Hypoglycemia in type 2 diabetic patients randomized to and maintained on monotherapy with diet, sulfonylurea, metformin, or insulin for 6 years from diagnosis: UKPDS73. J Diabetes Complicat 20:395–401
- 21. Kahn SE, Haffner SM, Heise MA, Herman WH, Holman RR, Jones NP, Kravitz BG, Lachin JM, O'Neill MC, Zinman B (2006) Viberti G and adopt study group. Glycemic durability of rosiglitazone, metformin, or glyburide monotherapy. N Engl J Med 3555:2427–2443
- 22. Marso SP, Daniels GH, Brown-Frandsen K, Kristensen P, Mann JF, Nauck MA, Nissen SE, Pocock S, Poulter NR, Ravn LS, Steinberg WM, Stockner M, Zinman B, Bergenstal RM, Buse JB (2016) Leader steering committee and leader trial Investigators. Liraglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 375:311–322
- 23. Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM, Fitchett D, Bluhmki E, Hantel S, Mattheus M, Devins T, Johansen OE, Woerle HJ, Broedl UC (2015) Inzucchi SE and Empa-Reg outcome Investigators. Empagliflozin, cardiovascular outcomes, and mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 373:2117–2128

- 24. Lupsa BC, Inzucchi SE (2018) Use of SGLT2 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes: weighing the risks and benefits. Diabetologia 61:2118–2125
- 25. Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration, Di Angelantonio E, Sarwar N, Perry P, Kaptoge S, Ray KK, Thompson A, Wood AM, Lewington S, Sattar N, Packard CJ, Collins R, Thompson SG, Danesh J (2009) Major lipids, apolipoproteins, and risk of vascular disease. JAMA 302:1993–2000
- 26. Cockerill GW, Rye KA, Gamble JR, Vadas MA, Barter PJ (1995) High-density lipoproteins inhibit cytokine-induced expression of endothelial cell adhesion molecules. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15: 1987–1994
- 27. Wu BJ, Chen K, Shrestha S, Ong KL, Barter PJ, Rye KA (2013) High-density lipoproteins inhibit vascular endothelial inflammation by increasing 3beta-hydroxysteroid-delta24 reductase expression and inducing heme oxygenase-1. Circ Res 112:278–288
- Sultana A, Cochran BJ, Tabet F, Patel M, Torres LC, Barter PJ, Rye KA (2016) Inhibition of inflammatory signaling pathways in 3T3-L1 adipocytes by apolipoprotein A-I. FASEB J 30:2324–2335
- 29. Umemoto T, Han CY, Mitra P, Averill MM, Tang C, Goodspeed L, Omer M, Subramanian S, Wang S, Den Hartigh LJ, Wei H, Kim EJ, Kim J, O'Brien KD, Chait A (2013) Apolipoprotein AI and high-density lipoprotein have anti-inflammatory effects on adipocytes via cholesterol transporters: ATP-binding cassette A-1, ATP-binding cassette G-1, and scavenger receptor B-1. Circ Res 112:1345–1354
- 30. Murphy AJ, Woollard KJ, Hoang A, Mukhamedova N, Stirzaker RA, McCormick SP, Remaley AT, Sviridov D, Chin-Dusting J (2008) High-density lipoprotein reduces the human monocyte inflammatory response. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28:2071–2077
- 31. Lee MK, Moore XL, Fu Y, Al-Sharea A, Dragoljevic D, Fernandez-Rojo MA, Parton R, Sviridov D, Murphy AJ, Chin-Dusting JP (2016) High-density lipoprotein inhibits human M1 macrophage polarization through redistribution of caveolin-1. Br J Pharmacol 173:741–751
- 32. Brites F, Martin M, Guillas I, Kontush A (2017) Antioxidative activity of high-density lipoprotein (HDL): mechanistic insights into potential clinical benefit. BBA Clin 8:66–77
- 33. Fisher EA, Feig JE, Hewing B, Hazen SL, Smith JD (2012) High-density lipoprotein function, dysfunction, and reverse cholesterol transport. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 32:2813–2820
- 34. Anastasius M, Kockx M, Jessup W, Sullivan D, Rye KA, Kritharides L (2016) Cholesterol efflux capacity: an introduction for clinicians. Am Heart J 180:54–63
- 35. Tangirala RK, Tsukamoto K, Chun SH, Usher D, Pure E, Rader DJ (1999) Regression of atherosclerosis induced by liver-directed gene transfer of apolipoprotein A-I in mice. Circulation 100:1816–1822

- 36. Plump AS, Scott CJ, Breslow JL (1994) Human apolipoprotein A-I gene expression increases high density lipoprotein and suppresses atherosclerosis in the apolipoprotein E-deficient mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:9607–9611
- 37. Moore RE, Kawashiri MA, Kitajima K, Secreto A, Millar JS, Pratico D, Rader DJ (2003) Apolipoprotein A-I deficiency results in markedly increased atherosclerosis in mice lacking the LDL receptor. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 23:1914–1920
- 38. Moore RE, Navab M, Millar JS, Zimetti F, Hama S, Rothblat GH, Rader DJ (2005) Increased atherosclerosis in mice lacking apolipoprotein A-I attributable to both impaired reverse cholesterol transport and increased inflammation. Circ Res 97:763–771
- 39. Barter PJ, Caulfield M, Eriksson M, Grundy SM, Kastelein JJ, Komajda M, Lopez-Sendon J, Mosca L, Tardif JC, Waters DD, Shear CL, Revkin JH, Buhr KA, Fisher MR, Tall AR, Brewer B, Illuminate Investigators (2007) Effects of torcetrapib in patients at high risk for coronary events. N Engl J Med 357: 2109–2122
- 40. Schwartz GG, Olsson AG, Abt M, Ballantyne CM, Barter PJ, Brumm J, Chaitman BR, Holme IM, Kallend D, Leiter LA, Leitersdorf E, McMurray JJ, Mundl H, Nicholls SJ, Shah PK, Tardif JC, Wright RS, dal-Outcomes Investigators. (2012) Effects of dalcetrapib in patients with a recent acute coronary syndrome. N Engl J Med 367:2089–2099
- 41. Lincoff AM, Nicholls SJ, Riesmeyer JS, Barter PJ, Brewer HB, Fox KAA, Gibson CM, Granger C, Menon V, Montalescot G, Rader D, Tall AR, McErlean E, Wolski K, Ruotolo G, Vangerow B, Weerakkody G, Goodman SG, Conde D, McGuire DK, Nicolau JC, Leiva-Pons JL, Pesant Y, Li W, Kandath D, Kouz S, Tahirkheli N, Mason D, Nissen SE, Accelerate Investigators (2017) Evacetrapib and cardiovascular outcomes in high-risk vascular disease. N Engl J Med 376:1933–1942
- 42. HPS/TIMI Reveal Collaborative Group, Bowman L, Hopewell JC, Chen F, Wallendszus K, Stevens W, Collins R, Wiviott SD, Cannon CP, Braunwald E, Sammons E, Landray MJ (2017) Effects of anacetrapib in patients with atherosclerotic vascular disease. N Engl J Med 377:1217–1227
- 43. HPS2-THRIVE Collaborative Group, Landray MJ, Haynes R, Hopewell JC, Parish S, Aung T, Tomson J, Wallendszus K, Craig M, Jiang L, Collins R, Armitage J (2014) Effects of extendedrelease niacin with laropiprant in high-risk patients. N Engl J Med 371:203–212
- 44. Investigators AIM-HIGH, Boden WE, Probstfield JL, Anderson T, Chaitman BR, Desvignes-Nickens P, Koprowicz K, McBride R, Teo K, Weintraub W (2011) Niacin in patients with low HDL cholesterol levels receiving intensive statin therapy. N Engl J Med 365:2255–2267
- 45. Nicholls SJ, Puri R, Ballantyne CM, Jukema JW, Kastelein JJP, Koenig W, Wright RS, Kallend D,

Wijngaard P, Borgman M, Wolski K, Nissen SE (2018) Effect of infusion of high-density lipoprotein mimetic containing recombinant apolipoprotein A-I Milano on coronary disease in patients with an acute coronary syndrome in the MILANO-PILOT trial: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Cardiol 3:806–814

- 46. Nicholls SJ, Andrews J, Kastelein JJP, Merkely B, Nissen SE, Ray KK, Schwartz GG, Worthley SG, Keyserling C, Dasseux JL, Griffith L, Kim SW, Janssan A, Di Giovanni G, Pisaniello AD, Scherer DJ, Psaltis PJ, Butters J (2018) Effect of serial infusions of CER-001, a pre-beta high-density lipoprotein mimetic, on coronary atherosclerosis in patients following acute coronary syndromes in the CER-001 atherosclerosis regression acute coronary syndrome trial: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Cardiol 3:815–822
- 47. Barter PJ, Rye KA, Tardif JC, Waters DD, Boekholdt SM, Breazna A, Kastelein JJ (2011) Effect of torcetrapib on glucose, insulin, and hemoglobin A1c in subjects in the investigation of lipid level management to understand its impact in atherosclerotic events (ILLUMINATE) trial. Circulation 124:555–562
- 48. Drew BG, Duffy SJ, Formosa MF, Natoli AK, Henstridge DC, Penfold SA, Thomas WG, Mukhamedova N, de Courten B, Forbes JM, Yap FY, Kaye DM, van Hall G, Febbraio MA, Kemp BE, Sviridov D, Steinberg GR, Kingwell BA (2009) Highdensity lipoprotein modulates glucose metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Circulation 119: 2103–2111
- 49. Siebel AL, Natoli AK, Yap FY, Carey AL, Reddy-Luthmoodoo M, Sviridov D, Weber CI, Meneses-Lorente G, Maugeais C, Forbes JM, Kingwell BA (2013) Effects of high-density lipoprotein elevation with cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibition on insulin secretion. Circ Res 113:167–175
- 50. Wang F, Kohan AB, Kindel TL, Corbin KL, Nunemaker CS, Obici S, Woods SC, Davidson WS, Tso P (2012) Apolipoprotein A-IV improves glucose homeostasis by enhancing insulin secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:9641–9646
- 51. Du XM, Kim MJ, Hou L, Le Goff W, Chapman MJ, Van Eck M, Curtiss LK, Burnett JR, Cartland SP, Quinn CM, Kockx M, Kontush A, Rye KA, Kritharides L, Jessup W (2015) HDL particle size is a critical determinant of ABCA1-mediated macrophage cellular cholesterol export. Circ Res 116: 1133–1142
- 52. Remaley AT, Stonik JA, Demosky SJ, Neufeld EB, Bocharov AV, Vishnyakova TG, Eggerman TL, Patterson AP, Duverger NJ, Santamarina-Fojo S, Brewer HB Jr (2001) Apolipoprotein specificity for lipid efflux by the human ABCAI transporter. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 280:818–823
- 53. Jian B, de la Llera-Moya M, Ji Y, Wang N, Phillips MC, Swaney JB, Tall AR, Rothblat GH (1998) Scavenger receptor class B type I as a mediator of cellular cholesterol efflux to lipoproteins and phospholipid acceptors. J Biol Chem 273:5599–5606

- 54. Hao M, Head WS, Gunawardana SC, Hasty AH, Piston DW (2007) Direct effect of cholesterol on insulin secretion: a novel mechanism for pancreatic beta-cell dysfunction. Diabetes 56:2328–2338
- 55. Kushner JA, Ye J, Schubert M, Burks DJ, Dow MA, Flint CL, Dutta S, Wright CV, Montminy MR, White MF (2002) Pdx1 restores beta cell function in Irs2 knockout mice. J Clin Invest 109:1193–1201
- 56. Johnson JD, Ahmed NT, Luciani DS, Han Z, Tran H, Fujita J, Misler S, Edlund H, Polonsky KS (2003) Increased islet apoptosis in Pdx1+/- mice. J Clin Invest 111:1147-1160
- 57. Wang X, Sterr M, Ansarullah, Burtscher I, Bottcher A, Beckenbauer J, Siehler J, Meitinger T, Haring HU, Staiger H, Cernilogar FM, Schotta G, Irmler M, Beckers J, Wright CVE, Bakhti M, Lickert H (2019) Point mutations in the PDX1 transactivation domain impair human beta-cell development and function. Mol Metab 24:80–97
- 58. Cochran BJ, Hou L, Manavalan AP, Moore BM, Tabet F, Sultana A, Cuesta Torres L, Tang S, Shrestha S, Senanayake P, Patel M, Ryder WJ, Bongers A, Maraninchi M, Wasinger VC, Westerterp M, Tall AR, Barter PJ, Rye KA (2016) Impact of perturbed pancreatic beta-cell cholesterol

homeostasis on adipose tissue and skeletal muscle metabolism. Diabetes 65:3610–3620

- 59. Han R, Lai R, Ding Q, Wang Z, Luo X, Zhang Y, Cui G, He J, Liu W, Chen Y (2007) Apolipoprotein A-I stimulates AMP-activated protein kinase and improves glucose metabolism. Diabetologia 50:1960–1968
- 60. Cochran BJ, Ryder WJ, Parmar A, Tang S, Reilhac A, Arthur A, Charil A, Hamze H, Barter PJ, Kritharides L, Meikle SR, Gregoire MC, Rye KA (2016) In vivo PET imaging with [(<sup>18</sup>)F]FDG to explain improved glucose uptake in an apolipoprotein A-I treated mouse model of diabetes. Diabetologia 59:1977–1984
- 61. Li X, Xu M, Wang F, Kohan AB, Haas MK, Yang Q, Lou D, Obici S, Davidson WS, Tso P (2014) Apolipoprotein A-IV reduces hepatic gluconeogenesis through nuclear receptor NR1D1. J Biol Chem 289:2396–2404
- 62. Wu BJ, Sun Y, Ong KL, Li Y, Tang S, Barter PJ, Rye KA (2019) Apolipoprotein A-I protects against pregnancy-induced insulin resistance in rats. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 39:1160–1171
- 63. Benhalima K, Van Crombrugge P, Hanssens M, Devlieger R, Verhaeghe J, Mathieu C (2012) Gestational diabetes: overview of the new consensus screening strategy and diagnostic criteria. Acta Clin Belg 67: 255–261



# **HDL and Sepsis**

### Huanhuan Cao and Wei Huang

#### Abstract

Sepsis has been recognized as a global health burden in the year 2017 for its high morbidity and mortality. HDL, a cholesterol transporter, also plays vital role in inflammation besides its typical role in reverse cholesterol transportation. In septic patients, HDL levels dropped significantly. HDL exerts a variety of protective effects in the pathophysiology of sepsis including acting on pathogens, inhibiting macrophage inflammatory reaction, and modulating endothelial function in sepsis. Studies have shown that rHDL or apoA-I mimetic peptides could be therapeutic potentials in sepsis. HDL has caused increasing concern as a potential therapeutic agent.

#### Keywords

HDL  $\cdot$  Sepsis  $\cdot$  rHDL  $\cdot$  apoA-I mimetic peptides

#### 10.1 Introduction

Sepsis is a leading cause of death worldwide. It has been recognized as a global health burden in 2017 for its high morbidity and mortality [1]. In the USA, the reported incidence of sepsis was about 750,000 cases each year [2]. In the UK, it was reported that the prevalence of sepsis was 27% in ICU [3]. According to the reported data, it has been estimated that 30 million episodes happen per year worldwide [4]. However, the incidence true of sepsis worldwide is underestimated. Because the available data were almost from developed countries, no data were found from the developing countries where 87% of the world's population lives. The mortality of sepsis is also high. It is estimated that there are six million deaths per year [4].

Sepsis is defined as a life-threatening organ dysfunction caused by a deregulated host response to infection [5]. Compared to simple infection, sepsis is characterized by a much more complex, variable, and prolonged host response triggered by infection. The host response includes inflammatory response and anti-inflammatory response. The initial inflammatory response leads to subsequent

H. Cao

The Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences and Institute of Systems Biomedicine, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Key Laboratory of Molecular Cardiovascular Science of Ministry of Education, NHC Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Molecular Biology and Regulatory Peptides, Beijing Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Receptors Research, Health Science Center, Peking University, Beijing, China e-mail: caohuanhuan@bjmu.edu.cn

W. Huang (🖂)

Department of Cardiology, Chinese PLA Central War Command General Hospital, Wuhan, China

Division of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine, and Hubei Key Laboratory of Genetics and Molecular Mechanisms of Cardiological Disorders, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), *HDL Metabolism and Diseases*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_10

anti-inflammatory response syndrome. On the one hand, both pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory mechanisms contribute to the clearance of infection and tissue recovery. On the other hand, pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory homeostasis imbalance leads to multiorgan dysfunction and sepsis [6].

Sepsis can be caused by virtually any infecting organism, including bacteria, virus, and parasites. Among these, the most common pathogen is bacteria. Bacteria can be divided into Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. Gram-positive bacteria like Staphylococcus aureus and Gramnegative bacteria like Pseudomonas species and Escherichia coli are the most frequently identified organisms. The Sepsis Occurrence in Acutely III Patients study shows an equal prevalence of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacterial infections [7]. While another study reported a higher prevalence of Gram-negative bacterial infections than Gram-positive bacterial infections in the USA [8]. Therefore, both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacterial infections play important roles in sepsis. Except for infecting organisms, the site of infection also varies considerably in sepsis. However, the most common site is the lung and the abdomen, which takes up to 64% and 20% respectively [9, 10].

The pathophysiology of sepsis is characterized by a deregulated host response to infection. The pathogen can be recognized by immune cells through pattern-recognition receptors, like Tolllike receptors [11]. The interaction between pathogen and immune cells triggers the release of proinflammatory mediators, including cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ ) and others. These mediators cause neutrophil-endothelial cell adhesion, activation of coagulation cascades, and the generation of microthrombi. Simultaneously, anti-inflammatory responses are involved in the process. Endothelial cell dysfunction then leads to organ dysfunction: endothelial cells are closely involved in vasodilation, disturbances in microcirculation, and distribution of blood flow to organ systems [12].

Unlike the diagnosis of diabetes or hypertension, which has gold criterion, the diagnosis of sepsis is complicated, for no clinical or biochemical marker can be found to provide the gold standard criterion for diagnosis. Presently, the diagnosis focuses on clinical presentation, especially organ dysfunction. Organ dysfunction can be evaluated by the Sequential [Sepsisrelated] Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score. The Sepsis-3 Criteria emphasized that the change of 2 or more points in the SOFA score, called quick SOFA (qSOFA), facilitated earlier recognition of sepsis. Moreover, the Sepsis-3 Criteria removed the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) criteria, with inadequate specificity and sensitivity [5]. In the future, more researches are needed to explore biomarkers that enable to indicate early sepsis, or predict the risk, severity, outcomes, or response to therapy.

The combined management measures, including removal of infected tissue, antibiotic therapy, hemodynamic stabilization, the application of vasoactive drugs, glycemic control, and nutritional support, are cornerstone for the success in the treatment of patients with sepsis [13]. Timely antibiotics administration can improve outcomes of patients. A study showed an association between delay in first antibiotic administration and increased in-hospital mortality [14]. Besides, the appropriateness of antibiotics administration based one antibiotic selection is driven by many factors, such as site of infection, patient-specific factors, and pathogen factors. However, a 48-h delay as well as a false-negative cultivation result may affect the determination of pathogens as well as the antibiotic choice. Therefore, the selection of antibiotics in clinical practice is mostly based on experience, which may increases the risk of death due to inappropriate initial antibiotic therapy [15, 16]. This is just an example of antibiotic therapy, and there are also many problems with other measures. Although with general patient management, outcomes of patients with sepsis have certainly improved, the improvement does not attribute to any specific measure in the process. Therefore, it is still a challenge to find a much more effective therapeutic target.

In recent years, interest has arisen in the ability of high-density lipoproteins (HDLs) to modulate the inflammatory response to sepsis, and, hence, in their potential as novel therapeutic agents in sepsis.

### 10.2 The Clinical Evidence of HDL in Sepsis

HDL, a cholesterol transporter, also plays vital role in inflammation besides its typical role in reverse cholesterol transport. Therefore, great interest has arisen in the role of HDL in inflammatory diseases, especially in sepsis. Multiple clinical investigations have suggested that HDL is associated with sepsis, and low HDL is a risk factor for sepsis.

HDL levels drop significantly in septic patients. A clinical observational study by van Leeuwen et al. has shown that lipoprotein concentrations can rapidly be reduced to 50% of initial concentrations in patients with severe sepsis, especially LDL and HDL. In the study, 17 patients with severe sepsis were included, and serial blood samples for total cholesterol, lipoprotein cholesterol, apolipoprotein A-1, and so on were collected over 28 days. Researchers found that HDL concentrations decreased rapidly from 0.84-0.92 mmol/L to 0.42-0.35 mmol/L on day 3, while during the following 4 weeks, it increased slowly to 0.84 - 0.42mmol/L [17]. Another study compared lipid profiles in septic patients versus trauma patients, which is also associated with a systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Interestingly, lipid profile of septic patients was completely different from the trauma group. HDL levels were low in septic patients, which is consistent with the previous study. Interestingly, the concentration of HDL was not altered in trauma patients. This difference emphasizes the therapeutic potential of HDL in sepsis [18].

Decreased serum HDL level is a poor prognostic factor for sepsis. In a prospective study including sixty-three consecutive patients with severe sepsis, Chien et al. found that overall and sepsisattributable 30-day mortality rates were increased among patients with day 1 levels of HDL cholesterol of <20 mg/dL. To further assess the ability of HDL levels to predict the prognosis of severe sepsis, patients were divided into two groups using cutoff value: 20 mg/dl. Compared to the "high" (>20 mg/dl) HDL group, patients with "low" (<20 mg/dL) HDL have lower survival rate (a sensitivity of 92%, a specificity of 80%). Therefore, an HDL cholesterol level of <20 mg/ dL on day 1 is an independent predictor of the overall 30-day mortality rate [19]. Another study including 151 septic patients showed similar results. A significant negative correlation was found for apoA-I/HDL and 30-day-mortality [20]. In addition, some authors explored several genes involved in HDL metabolism. Both Derivation Cohort and Validation Cohort identified CETP genes (rs1800777, allele A), which was remarkably associated with lower HDL levels, also increase the risk of sepsis-associated AKI [21]. So far, no satisfactory biomarkers have been available yet, the diagnosis of sepsis or the prediction of severity becomes difficult. Cirstea M et al. compared HDL levels with other routine clinical markers, such as white blood cell, lactate, or platelets, and found that HDL levels had superior predictive ability for both development of MODS and 28-day mortality [22]. These studies indicated that HDL levels could be an early biomarker for prediction of the sepsis severity.

In addition to decreased serum levels of HDL, dysfunctional HDL is also associated with outcomes of patients with sepsis. As we all know that researchers have been paying intense attention to study HDL in the therapeutic potential in cardiovascular diseases. The assumption is that high HDL level is an independent protective factor for cardiovascular diseases. However, HDL-raising therapies did not result in improved cardiovascular outcomes in most clinical trials. Therefore, researchers began to shift the focus from HDL levels toward HDL function [23]. Similarly, the correlation between dysfunctional HDL and sepsis is worth being explored. Dysfunctional HDL is referred to as a proinflammatory, dysfunctional state caused by alterations of HDL surface proteins and lipid cargo. Apo A-I, an essential surface protein of HDL structure, could be catalyzed by myeloperoxidase (MPO) during sepsis, which results in dysfunctional HDL. In addition, Apo A-I could be replaced by serum amyloid A (an acute phase protein) during sepsis. This phenomenon was observed in up to 45% of patients at 1 day after admission for sepsis. In addition, Faheem W et al. also observed that mean percent cholesterol efflux, which showed functional properties of HDL, was significantly reduced in older patients with sepsis [24]. These researches demonstrated that dysfunctional HDL was present in inflammatory state of sepsis. To further prove the ability of dysfunctional HDL to predict adverse outcomes of sepsis, Faheem W et al. used HDL inflammatory index (HII) to express dysfunctional HDL, and found a remarkable difference in change in HII over the first 48 h between those with adverse outcomes and those without. The result suggested an inverse correction between increasing HII and outcomes of sepsis. (OR 5.2) [25].

However, some authors showed that baseline HDL levels were not associated with long-term sepsis rates. The researchers included 29,690 subjects with available baseline HDL-C and LDL-C, and used Cox models to assess the association between quartiles of HDL-C or LDL-C and first sepsis event. Surprisingly, the Low LDL-C level, but not the HDL level, was associated with higher long-term rates of community-acquired sepsis [26].

Given the previous clinical studies, HDL plays an essential role in the pathophysiology. We propose that low HDL level or dysfunctional HDL is associated with outcomes of sepsis. However, the association between HDL and morbidity of sepsis needs further study in the future. Thus, targeting HDL may be an effective and potential therapy for sepsis.

#### 10.3 HDL with Pathogens

HDL could interact with pathogens, including Gram-negative bacteria and Gram-positive bacteria, which plays an essential role in sepsis.

Gram-negative bacteria infection is the most common cause of sepsis. The major pathogenic factor of Gram-negative bacteria is lipopolysaccharide (LPS). LPS could induce an inflammatory response when it is released into blood. HDL can bind and neutralize Gram-negative bacterial LPS, which plays an important role in protection against sepsis. Rall et al. found that an unknown component of serum could reduce the febrile response to bacterial LPS in rabbits [27]. Later studies found that the unknown serum component is HDL, and HDL was shown to interact with LPS to form HDL-LPS complexes [28]. Following these, a multitude of studies of HDL neutralizing LPS appeared. Ulevitch et al. isolated and analyzed the lipopolysaccharide-HDL complex formed in rabbit plasma, and found that most LPS in circulation exists in LPS-HDL complex form [29]. It is well known that LPS triggers a downstream signaling cascade by binding to TLR4, producing pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6. Flegel et al. showed that LPS-HDL complex reduced LPS-TLR4 inflammatory signaling in macrophages [30]. There are also some direct evidences; for example, Dai et al. showed that in vivo administration of fluorescently labeled LPS was found in the HDL fraction [31].

Multiple proteins associated with HDL facilitate the binding of HDL and LPS, such as apoA-I, LBP, PLTP, and so on. ApoA-I, as a major component of HDL, is directly responsible for LPS neutralization by protein-protein interaction. Henning et al. reported the specific domain of apoA-I responsible for neutralizing, and the specific domain is the C-terminal of apoA-I. LBP is an LPS-binding protein. Lamping et al. suggested that LBP protected mice from LPS-induced septic shock. In this study, recombinant murine LBP significantly reduced mortality in LPS-induced septic mice, and decreased the release of proinflammatory cytokines [32]. Additionally, another study showed that removal 99% of LBP from human plasma led to 50% reduction in transfer of LPS to HDL. These findings suggest that LBP facilitates binding of LPS with HDL [33]. PLTP is cholesteryl ester transfer protein and phospholipid transfer protein, and it was also shown to affect the transfer of free LPS to HDL [34].

Interestingly, the clinical trial showed that simply neutralization of LPS by using anti-LPS monoclonal antibodies failed to protect against sepsis. Anti-LPS monoclonal antibody cannot inhibit LPS-induced proinflammatory cytokine production in human monocytes. Delayed clearance of LPS was observed [35]. The finding implies that in addition to its role as an LPS neutralizer, HDL could effect through other mechanisms. Recent studies found that HDL could also promote LPS clearance. The scavenger receptor BI(SRBI), an HDL receptor, plays an essential role in LPS clearance together with HDL. SRBI is well known for its role in reverse cholesterol transport, selectively taking up cholesterol esters from HDL. Besides, SRBI also affects the regulation of inflammation [36]. In SRBI-null mice, inflammatory cytokine response increased and survival rate markedly increased in response to LPS, although plasma HDL levels elevated. Control and SR-BI-null mice exhibited a similar ability to neutralize LPS, while the LPS clearance of SR-BI-null mice decreased compared with normal mice. While in SR-BItransfected HEK cells, LPS clearance increased by fourfold. These findings suggest that LPS clearance could be mediated in an SRBIdependent manner [37]. More specific mechanism is demonstrated in other studies. Vishnyakova et al. used the human SRBI orthologue Cla-1 to study SRBI. It was observed that Cla-1-trasfected Hela cells had a three- to four-fold increase in Cla-1-LPS-binding capacity and LPS uptake. Moreover, in Cla-1overexpressing HeLa cells, LPS uptake was increased by five- to ten-fold when associated with HDL. The study indicated that SRBI could bind and internalize monomerized and HDL-associated LPS, and HDL promotes SRBImediated LPS uptake and clearance [38].

The effect of HDL on pathogens also involves Gram-positive bacteria. Lipoteichoic acid (LTA) is an essential component of the cell membrane and wall of Gram-positive bacteria. It has similar structure and similar ability to induce an inflammatory response with LPS. Study has showed that LTA could induce systemic inflammatory response syndrome, organ dysfunction, and septic shock [39]. In inflammatory state, LTA can bind all lipoproteins, of which HDL has the highest affinity capacity [40]. HDL protects against sepsis by neutralizing LTA, similar to the mechanism on LPS. However, HDL alone does not inhibit the inflammatory response induced by LTA, which is different from LPS. Other cofactors are also required to inactivate LTA beside HDL, like LBP. LBP could also bind LTA, and it facilitates the binding of HDL with LTA. The inhibition of LBP markedly decreased (53%) activation of LTA, which also indicated that there are some other cofactors to promote the binding of HDL with LTA [41]. Considering the similarity between LPS and LTA, it is possible that HDL could also inactivate LTA via promoting LTA clearance in an SRBI-mediated manner.

Studies have also shown that LTA could be inhibited by apoA-I, the major component of HDL. Jiao et al. found that apoA-I could bind LTA in vitro directly and LTA-induced proinflammatory cytokine production decreased, resulting in reduced LTA-induced acute lung injury in mice [42]. These suggested that HDL inhibited LTA activation by a variety of mechanisms.

Collectively, there is a wide range of interactions between HDL and pathogens (including gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria) through interactions with LPS or LTA. However, binding of pathogens is supposed not the only mechanism underlying the beneficial effects of HDL. In fact, HDL is multitargeted. Interaction with pathogens is only one step in the action of HDL in sepsis. In addition to neutralizing LPS and LTA, HDL can also target inflammatory response, which makes HDL have a greater opportunity of being an intervention for patients with sepsis.

### 10.4 HDL in the Pathophysiology of Sepsis

Both immune response and endothelial dysfunction play important roles in the pathophysiological process of sepsis. HDL, as a multiprotective factor in sepsis, could regulate both inflammatory response and endothelial dysfunction.

In immune response, macrophage is major immune effector cell in sepsis besides multiple other inflammatory cells. Macrophages are widely distributed, varying from peripheral blood to multiple tissues including vascular endothelium. Activation of TLR signaling of macrophages is beneficial for clearance of pathogen, by the production of inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , etc. However, dysregulation of macrophages plays an essential role in both excessive inflammatory response and immunosuppression, leading to endothelial dysfunction, clotting disorders, and organ injury in sepsis [43]. A multitude of evidence suggests that HDL could be an important modulator of macrophages in sepsis. Nardo et al. found that HDL could inhibit TLR-induced production of proinflammatory cytokines from macrophages. Mechanistically, HDL inhibits the transcription of proinflammatory genes in macrophages, and it is in an activating Transcription Factor 3 (ATF3)-dependent manner. ATF3 is a transcriptional repressor induced by HDL, resulting in suppression of the inflammatory response caused by macrophages in sepsis [44]. Moreover, HDL could regulate cholesterol efflux and TLR signaling of macrophages in sepsis. HDL promotes cholesterol efflux through ABCA1. ABCA1 deficiency contributes to increased surface expression of TLR4 in macrophages and an increased response to LPS.

Immunometabolism of macrophages is altered during sepsis. Macrophage immunometabolism has been widely studied in recent years. The phenotypes of macrophages include proinflammatory phenotypes of macrophages (M1 macrophages) and anti-inflammatory phenotypes of macrophages (M2 macrophages). It refers to the change in the immune function of macrophages, including anti-inflammatory and proinflammatory function, via affecting its meta-LPS-stimulated bolic stages. macrophages undergo metabolic reprogramming, switching from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis. The shift promotes the production of proinflammatory M1 macrophages [43]. Macrophage immunometabolism exerts its regulatory role in sepsis. For example, AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is an essential modulator of regulation of OXPHOS in macrophages. AMPK activator exerted its protective effect on LPS-induced sepsis model in mice. Additionally, AMPK deficiency in macrophages promoted the development of sepsis in mice, due to increase in aerobic glycolysis of macrophages and release of HMGB1. The study showed that AMPK played its protective role in sepsis through regulating metabolic reprogramming in macrophages [45]. Targeting of macrophage immunometabolism is a therapeutic measure for sepsis. Sirtuin 1 inhibitor called EX-527 improved the pathogen clearance during sepsis via changing the glycolysis pathway in macrophages, providing a way to treat sepsis in its hypoinflammatory state [46]. It was worth noting that a previous study demonstrated that HDL could affect macrophage immunometabolism, resulting in M2 polarization. The previous study showed that HDL could shift monocyte-derived macrophages to M2 phenotype in mouse atherosclerotic plaques, and promoted regression of atherosclerosis [47]. These findings indicate that macrophage immunometabolism may be one of mechanisms of HDL in the treatment of sepsis. However, there is little research about the mechanism. In the future, more research is needed on the effect of HDL on macrophage immune metabolism in sepsis.

In the pathophysiological process of sepsis, HDL exerts a variety of protective effects. In addition to acting on pathogens, inhibition of macrophage inflammatory reaction, HDL also modulates endothelial function in sepsis. First, HDL was showed to inhibit the expression of adhesion molecules in endothelial cells. Cockerill et al. found that physiological concentrations of HDL inhibited the expression of leukocyte adhesion molecules on endothelial cells induced by TNF-α. The adhesion molecules included V-CAM-1, ICAM-1, and E-selectin. It was observed that HDL was effective to inhibit VCAM expression on endothelial cells in vitro only 5 min after TNF- $\alpha$  stimulation. Moreover, the inhibitory effect is cellular specific. HDL could not inhibit TNF-a-induced expression of ICAM-1 on human foreskin fibroblasts [48]. Michelle et al. found a similar phenomenon in a rat endotoxic shock model. Compared to control, LPS-induced rat pretreated with reconstituted HDL expressed lower levels of P-selectin and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in the renal glomerulus. The attenuation of adhesion molecule expression caused by rHDL was associated with reduced organ dysfunction [49]. The transcriptional mechanism by which HDL decreases the expression of endothelial adhesion molecules has been uncovered. Park et al. showed that HDL inhibited TNF-ainduced VCAM-1 expression on human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) via transcription factor NF-kappaB. Reduced nuclear translocation and transactivation of NF-kappaB and AP-1 transcription factors were observed. The study revealed the regulatory function of HDL at transcriptional levels [50].

Moreover, HDL could activate the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), beneficial to microvascular vasodilation and endothelium repair. eNOS is responsible for promoting the production of nitric oxide (NO). NO is a key modulator of inhibiting the adhesion of monocytes to the endothelium, inhibiting thrombosis and promoting vasodilation. Studies showed that HDL regulated NO-dependent endothelial diastolic by activating eNOS, and this process is in a SR-BI-dependent manner. Yuhanna et al. found that HDL stimulated eNOS in cultured endothelial cells. In wild-type mice, HDL enhanced endothelium- and NO-dependent relaxation in aortae. Whereas in SR-BI-null mice, the effect of HDL disappeared [51]. Furthermore, HDL-induced eNOS activation is mediated by src- and PI3 kinase-mediated signaling, resulting in parallel activation of Akt and MAP kinases [52]. The human study showed that NOS3 (E298D) SNP was associated with the development of human sepsis by impairing NO production by NOS3(eNOS) in the microcirculation [53]. We all know that there are three types of nitric oxide synthases: neuronal (nNOS), endothelial (eNOS), and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS). However, iNOS-derived NO contributes to multiple organ dysfunction in sepsis [54].

Last, HDL prevented endothelial thrombotic activation. HDL effects on prostacyclin and cyclooxygenase-2 (Cox2). Norata et al. found that HDL promoted prostacyclin and Cox2 production, which are inhibitors of platelet activation [55]. Mechanistically, Liu showed that the effect is through the p38 MAPK, ERK1/2, and JAK2 pathways in an ABCA1-dependent manner in endothelial cells [56]. Furthermore, it was reported that HDL-induced Cox-2 expression and prostacyclin release in endothelial cells was associated with SR-BI-mediated PI3K-Akt-eNOS signaling [57]. On the other hand, HDL effects on tissue factor, and increased tissue factor expression on platelets and endothelial cells have been identified as an essential factor in the initiation of thrombus formation. Hema et al. found that rHDL inhibits thrombin-induced human endothelial tissue factor expression, and this process is mediated through inhibition of RhoA and activation of PI3K [58].

Totally, HDL plays essential roles in suppressing inflammatory response in macrophages and regulating endothelial dysfunction, which implies that HDL is a multiprotective factor against sepsis.

### 10.5 HDL in the Therapeutic Applications of Sepsis

Sepsis is gradually becoming a leading cause of death worldwide due to its high mortality. The treatment of sepsis is still a challenge. Although with general patient management, outcomes of patients with sepsis have certainly improved, the improvement does not attribute to any specific measure. Due to the phenomenon observed in clinical and experimental studies, like decreased HDL levels and dysfunctional HDL in inflammatory state of sepsis, or antipathogen and antiinflammatory properties of HDL, HDL has been paid much attention to be potential therapeutic agents.

Since apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I) is the major protein component of HDL, giving apoA-I is a way to increase HDL levels. ApoA-I-KO mice had lower circulating HDL levels, and were more susceptible to CLP-induced septic death. The survival of apoA-I-KO mice is 47.1%, whereas the survival of control mice is 76.7% (p = 0.038). On the contrary, using apoA-I transgenic mice as a model for increasing plasma HDL levels, it was shown that the mortality of LPS-induced mice decreased. The study implies that apoA-I is important for HDL function, and infusion of apoA-I could be a potential therapy for sepsis [59].

Naked ApoA1 purified from human plasma is effective to both rat- and mouse-LPS-induced septic models. In a study, rats were given 5 mg/ kg LPS to induce endotoxemia model, and then 10 mg/kg human apoA-I was injected i.p. The 5-day survival rate was observed. Not surprisingly, the administration of human apoA-I suppressed the TNF- $\alpha$  release and increased the 5-day survival rate from 0% to 90%. In another study, BALB/c mice were challenged with LPS, followed by human apoA-I intravenous (IV) infusion at 100 mg/kg. In result, 3-day survival rate and overall survival time increased in apoA-I administration group, and apoA-I inhibited LPS-induced increases in the IL-1ß and TNF- $\alpha$  levels in serum [60]. These studies suggested that human ApoA-I could effectively protect against LPS-induced endotoxemia.

ApoA1 Milano is a natural variant of human ApoA1. Individuals with ApoA1 Milano have lower risk of cardiovascular diseases than with wide-type ApoA1, although their plasma HDL levels are lower. Recently, there have been increasing interest in the therapeutic efficacy of ApoA1 Milano in many inflammatory-based diseases, such as atherosclerosis, inflammatory bowel diseases, and obesity [61]. Since sepsis is also an inflammatory-based disease, it seems that ApoA1 Milano could be an effective agent to treat sepsis. Animal experiments suggest that recombinant high-density lipoprotein (rHDL) with apoA-I (Milano) could be useful for the treatment of sepsis. In order to investigate the role of rHDL reconstituted with apoAI Milano (rHDL<sub>M</sub>) on sepsis, Zhang et al. used endotoxin-challenged rat models and found that pretreatment with rHDL<sub>M</sub> at 40 mg/kg was effective against inflammation, significantly decreasing inflammatory cytokines TNF-a, IL-1β, and IL-6. Moreover, administration of rHDL<sub>M</sub> protected LPS-induced rats from multiorgan dysfunction [62].

Additionally, synthetic apoA-I mimetic peptide is also widely studied in sepsis. 18A Peptide (DWLKAFYDKVAEKLKEAF) is the first synthetic apoA-I mimetic peptide. Levine et al. found that prophylactic infusion of 18A sHDL increased the survival rate three- to four-fold, in comparison with saline-treated control LPS-induced mice [63]. Another synthetic apoA-I mimetic peptide 4F, derived from 18A, also showed protective effect on sepsis. Zhang et al. showed that 4F administered by IP injection is efficacious in cecal ligation and puncture (CLP)-induced rat sepsis model. CLP rats were received vehicle or 4F (10 mg/kg) by intraperitoneal injection, 6 h after sepsis induction. Compared to control, 4F treatment prevented the sepsis-induced reduction in plasma HDL, increased plasma IL-6, improved cardiac output, and reduced mortality in CLP rats [64]. Moreira et al. found that 4F could attenuate kidney and heart injury in a rat model of sepsis, inhibiting inflammatory responses and preventing endothelial dysfunction. The protective function was associated with increased plasma HDL [65]. Moreover, Woon et al. suggested that 4F attenuated acute lung injury and improved survival in an LPS-induced rat model. This was associated with the stimulation of S1P1, the activation of Akt, the downregulation of the NF-kB pathway, and the suppression of cell adhesion molecules [66]. Notably, 4F is much closer to clinical application, because it is administered after infection, which is more analogous to the clinical situation.

Multiple animal experimental studies showed that infusion of reconstituted HDLs (rHDLs) could be an effective therapy in septic models. CSL-111is an rHDL, made of purified human ApoA1 and soybean phosphatidylcholine (1:2). Tanaka et al. assessed the effects of CSL-111 intravenous injection in three models of sepsis. In CLP-induced mice, CSL-111 or saline solution was administrated 2 h after the sepsis. Compared to saline treatment, CSL-111 treatment significantly improved survival (81% VS 38%). The other two models are induced by intraperitoneal injection of *Escherichia coli* or *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* pneumonia, and CSL-111 or saline solution was also administrated after that. The survival rate of saline treatment is 0%, whereas the survival rate of CSL-111 treatment is 40%, which is consistent with the CLP-induced model. Moreover, in all models, inflammation markers in both plasma and organs reduced and bacterial count decreased. This suggested the therapeutic potential of CSL-111 (rHDL) in experimental sepsis [67].

rHDL has been tested in human endotoxemia. double-blind, In а randomized, placebocontrolled, cross-over study, 8 healthy male volunteers were included. rHDL was given as a 4-h infusion at 40 mg/kg before endotoxin challenge (4 ng/kg). As a result, infusion of rHDL elevated HDL levels, reduced endotoxin-induced clinical symptoms, and inhibited endotoxininduced inflammatory response, such as reduced plasma cytokine levels of TNF-a, IL-6, and reduced monocyte CD14expression [68]. Additionally, rHDL also has differential effects during human endotoxemia. In this study, eight healthy male volunteers were injected with LPS (4 ng/kg) to induce human endotoxemia model. rHDL (40 mg/kg,) or placebo was given as a 4 h infusion starting 3.5 h prior to LPS injection. rHDL treatment significantly reduced activation of coagulation and the fibrinolytic activity, which indicated that rHDL infusion ameliorated human endotoxemia through reducing collagen-induced platelet aggregation [69]. Although there has not been a clinical study using rHDL in septic patients yet, previous studies have shown encouraging results, and the studies of rHDL in human endotoxemia imply that rHDL could be a therapeutic potential in septic patients.

In summary, considering that there is increasing number of researches on rHDL and cardiovascular diseases, our understanding of rHDL or apoA-I mimetic peptides would be improved. Both clinical and experimental studies have shown encouraging result of rHDLs or apoA-I mimetic peptides, which make them promising therapeutic potentials in sepsis. However, further efforts are needed to study the relationship between the properties and the composition of rHDL to use them as better treatment for sepsis in the future.

#### References

- Reinhart K et al (2017) Recognizing sepsis as a Global Health priority - a WHO resolution. N Engl J Med 377(5):414–417
- Angus DC et al (2001) Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. Crit Care Med 29(7): 1303–1310
- Mayr FB, Yende S, Angus DC (2014) Epidemiology of severe sepsis. Virulence 5(1):4–11
- Fleischmann C et al (2016) Assessment of global incidence and mortality of hospital-treated sepsis. Current estimates and limitations. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 193(3):259–272
- Singer M et al (2016) The third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA 315(8):801–810
- Angus DC, van der Poll T (2013) Severe sepsis and septic shock. N Engl J Med 369(9):840–851
- Vincent JL et al (2006) Sepsis in European intensive care units: results of the SOAP study. Crit Care Med 34(2):344–353
- Vincent JL et al (2014) Assessment of the worldwide burden of critical illness: the intensive care over nations (ICON) audit. Lancet Respir Med 2(5): 380–386
- 9. Vincent JL et al (2009) International study of the prevalence and outcomes of infection in intensive care units. JAMA 302(21):2323–2329
- Karlsson S et al (2007) Incidence, treatment, and outcome of severe sepsis in ICU-treated adults in Finland: the Finnsepsis study. Intensive Care Med 33(3): 435–443
- Boyd JH, Russell JA, Fjell CD (2014) The metagenome of sepsis: host genetics, pathogens and the acute immune response. J Innate Immun 6(3):272–283
- Hotchkiss RS, Karl IE (2003) The pathophysiology and treatment of sepsis. N Engl J Med 348(2):138–150
- Cecconi M et al (2018) Sepsis and septic shock. Lancet 392(10141):75–87
- 14. Ferrer R et al (2014) Empiric antibiotic treatment reduces mortality in severe sepsis and septic shock from the first hour: results from a guideline-based performance improvement program. Crit Care Med 42(8):1749–1755
- 15. Garnacho-Montero J et al (2008) Mortality and morbidity attributable to inadequate empirical antimicrobial therapy in patients admitted to the ICU with sepsis: a matched cohort study. J Antimicrob Chemother 61(2):436–441
- 16. Ibrahim EH et al (2000) The influence of inadequate antimicrobial treatment of bloodstream infections on patient outcomes in the ICU setting. Chest 118(1): 146–155
- van Leeuwen HJ et al (2003) Lipoprotein metabolism in patients with severe sepsis. Crit Care Med 31(5): 1359–1366

- Tanaka S et al (2017) Low HDL levels in sepsis versus trauma patients in intensive care unit. Ann Intensive Care 7(1):60
- Chien JY et al (2005) Low serum level of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol is a poor prognostic factor for severe sepsis. Crit Care Med 33(8):1688–1693
- 20. Barlage S et al (2009) Changes in HDL-associated apolipoproteins relate to mortality in human sepsis and correlate to monocyte and platelet activation. Intensive Care Med 35(11):1877–1885
- 21. Genga KR et al (2018) CETP genetic variant rs1800777 (allele A) is associated with abnormally low HDL-C levels and increased risk of AKI during sepsis. Sci Rep 8(1):16764
- 22. Cirstea M et al (2017) Decreased high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level is an early prognostic marker for organ dysfunction and death in patients with suspected sepsis. J Crit Care 38:289–294
- Pirillo A, Catapano AL, Norata GD (2019) Biological consequences of dysfunctional HDL. Curr Med Chem 26(9):1644–1664
- 24. Guirgis FW et al (2018) HDL cholesterol efflux is impaired in older patients with early sepsis: a subanalysis of a prospective pilot study. Shock 50(1): 66–70
- 25. Guirgis FW et al (2017) Exploring the predictive ability of dysfunctional high-density lipoprotein for adverse outcomes in emergency department patients with sepsis: a preliminary investigation. Shock 48(5): 539–544
- 26. Guirgis FW et al (2016) Cholesterol levels and longterm rates of community-acquired sepsis. Crit Care 20(1):408
- Rall DP, Gaskins JR, Kelly MG (1957) Reduction of febrile response to bacterial polysaccharide following incubation with serum. Am J Phys 188(3):559–562
- Ulevitch RJ, Johnston AR, Weinstein DB (1979) New function for high density lipoproteins. Their participation in intravascular reactions of bacterial lipopolysaccharides. J Clin Invest 64(5):1516–1524
- 29. Ulevitch RJ, Johnston AR, Weinstein DB (1981) New function for high density lipoproteins. Isolation and characterization of a bacterial lipopolysaccharidehigh density lipoprotein complex formed in rabbit plasma. J Clin Invest 67(3):827–837
- Flegel WA et al (1989) Inhibition of endotoxininduced activation of human monocytes by human lipoproteins. Infect Immun 57(7):2237–2245
- 31. Dai L et al (2010) The apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide 4F prevents defects in vascular function in endotoxemic rats. J Lipid Res 51(9):2695–2705
- 32. Lamping N et al (1998) LPS-binding protein protects mice from septic shock caused by LPS or gramnegative bacteria. J Clin Invest 101(10):2065–2071
- Vesy CJ et al (2000) Lipopolysaccharide-binding protein and phospholipid transfer protein release lipopolysaccharides from gram-negative bacterial membranes. Infect Immun 68(5):2410–2417

- 34. Levels JH et al (2005) Lipopolysaccharide is transferred from high-density to low-density lipoproteins by lipopolysaccharide-binding protein and phospholipid transfer protein. Infect Immun 73(4):2321–2326
- Cohen J (1999) Adjunctive therapy in sepsis: a critical analysis of the clinical trial programme. Br Med Bull 55(1):212–225
- Hoekstra M, Sorci-Thomas M (2017) Rediscovering scavenger receptor type BI: surprising new roles for the HDL receptor. Curr Opin Lipidol 28(3):255–260
- Cai L et al (2008) SR-BI protects against endotoxemia in mice through its roles in glucocorticoid production and hepatic clearance. J Clin Invest 118(1):364–375
- Vishnyakova TG et al (2003) Binding and internalization of lipopolysaccharide by Cla-1, a human orthologue of rodent scavenger receptor B1. J Biol Chem 278(25):22771–22780
- 39. De Kimpe SJ et al (1995) The cell wall components peptidoglycan and lipoteichoic acid from Staphylococcus aureus act in synergy to cause shock and multiple organ failure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92(22): 10359–10363
- 40. Levels JH et al (2003) Distribution and kinetics of lipoprotein-bound lipoteichoic acid. Infect Immun 71(6):3280–3284
- Grunfeld C et al (1999) Lipoproteins inhibit macrophage activation by lipoteichoic acid. J Lipid Res 40(2):245–252
- 42. Jiao YL, Wu MP (2008) Apolipoprotein A-I diminishes acute lung injury and sepsis in mice induced by lipoteichoic acid. Cytokine 43(1):83–87
- Kumar V (2018) Targeting macrophage immunometabolism: Dawn in the darkness of sepsis. Int Immunopharmacol 58:173–185
- 44. De Nardo D et al (2014) High-density lipoprotein mediates anti-inflammatory reprogramming of macrophages via the transcriptional regulator ATF3. Nat Immunol 15(2):152–160
- Huang J et al (2018) AMPK regulates immunometabolism in sepsis. Brain Behav Immun 72:89–100
- 46. Vachharajani VT et al (2014) SIRT1 inhibition during the hypoinflammatory phenotype of sepsis enhances immunity and improves outcome. J Leukoc Biol 96(5): 785–796
- 47. Feig JE et al (2011) HDL promotes rapid atherosclerosis regression in mice and alters inflammatory properties of plaque monocyte-derived cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(17):7166–7171
- Cockerill GW et al (1995) High-density lipoproteins inhibit cytokine-induced expression of endothelial cell adhesion molecules. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15(11):1987–1994
- McDonald MC et al (2003) Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein attenuates organ injury and adhesion molecule expression in a rodent model of endotoxic shock. Shock 20(6):551–557
- Park SH et al (2003) Involvement of transcription factors in plasma HDL protection against TNF-alpha-

induced vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 expression. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 35(2):168–182

- Yuhanna IS et al (2001) High-density lipoprotein binding to scavenger receptor-BI activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Nat Med 7(7):853–857
- 52. Mineo C et al (2003) High density lipoprotein-induced endothelial nitric-oxide synthase activation is mediated by Akt and MAP kinases. J Biol Chem 278(11):9142–9149
- 53. Martin G et al (2014) Endothelial (NOS3 E298D) and inducible (NOS2 exon 22) nitric oxide synthase polymorphisms, as well as plasma NOx, influence sepsis development. Nitric Oxide 42:79–86
- 54. Spiller F et al (2019) Targeting nitric oxide as a key modulator of sepsis, arthritis and pain. Nitric Oxide 89: 32–40
- 55. Norata GD et al (2004) HDL3 induces cyclooxygenase-2 expression and prostacyclin release in human endothelial cells via a p38 MAPK/CREdependent pathway: effects on COX-2/PGI-synthase coupling. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24(5): 871–877
- 56. Liu D et al (2011) Human apolipoprotein A-I induces cyclooxygenase-2 expression and prostaglandin I-2 release in endothelial cells through ATP-binding cassette transporter A1. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 301(3): C739–C748
- 57. Zhang QH et al (2012) An involvement of SR-B1 mediated PI3K-Akt-eNOS signaling in HDL-induced cyclooxygenase 2 expression and prostacyclin production in endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 420(1):17–23
- 58. Viswambharan H et al (2004) Reconstituted highdensity lipoprotein inhibits thrombin-induced endothelial tissue factor expression through inhibition of RhoA and stimulation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase but not Akt/endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Circ Res 94(7):918–925

- 59. Guo L et al (2013) High density lipoprotein protects against polymicrobe-induced sepsis in mice. J Biol Chem 288(25):17947–17953
- 60. Yan YJ et al (2006) Beneficial effects of ApoA-I on LPS-induced acute lung injury and endotoxemia in mice. Life Sci 79(2):210–215
- 61. Parolini C (2020) A compendium of the biological effects of apolipoprotein A-IMilano. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 372(1):54–62
- 62. Zhang X, Wang L, Chen B (2015) Recombinant HDL (Milano) protects endotoxin-challenged rats from multiple organ injury and dysfunction. Biol Chem 396(1): 53–60
- 63. Levine DM et al (1993) In vivo protection against endotoxin by plasma high density lipoprotein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90(24):12040–12044
- 64. Zhang Z et al (2009) Apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide treatment inhibits inflammatory responses and improves survival in septic rats. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 297(2):H866–H873
- 65. Moreira RS et al (2014) Apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide 4F attenuates kidney injury, heart injury, and endothelial dysfunction in sepsis. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 307(5):R514–R524
- 66. Kwon WY et al (2012) 4F, apolipoprotein AI mimetic peptide, attenuates acute lung injury and improves survival in endotoxemic rats. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 72(6):1576–1583
- Tanaka S et al (2020) Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein therapy improves survival in mouse models of sepsis. Anesthesiology 132(4):825–838
- Pajkrt D et al (1996) Antiinflammatory effects of reconstituted high-density lipoprotein during human endotoxemia. J Exp Med 184(5):1601–1608
- 69. Pajkrt D et al (1997) Differential effects of reconstituted high-density lipoprotein on coagulation, fibrinolysis and platelet activation during human endotoxemia. Thromb Haemost 77(2):303–307

# **HDL Mimetic Peptides**

Jie Chen, Jiewen Liu, and Baogi Yu

#### Abstract

Since therapeutic strategies designed to raise HDL failed to exert the expected effective cardiovascular disease (CVD) outcomes in clinical trials, how to improve HDL function rather than its plasma level has become a new focus of scientists' attention. Numerous HDL mimetic peptides have been designed and investigated in various animal models in recent years. Although the underlying mechanisms are not fully understood, the peptides' antiatherogenic effects, such as acceleration

The Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences and Institute of Systems Biomedicine, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Key Laboratory of Molecular Cardiovascular Science of Ministry of Education, NHC Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Molecular Biology and Regulatory Peptides, Beijing Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Receptors Research, Health Science Center, Peking University, Beijing, China

e-mail: 1610305235@pku.edu.cn

Beijing Key Laboratory of Metabolic Disorder Related Cardiovascular Disease, Beijing, China e-mail: baoqiyu@ccmu.edu.cn

of RCT and improvement of natural HDL function without necessarily raising its level, showed a promising therapeutic role in the prevention of atherosclerosis and other diseases. This chapter reviews recent studies on the roles and potentials of HDL mimetic peptides in atherosclerosis-related CVD.

#### **Keywords**

Cardiovascular disease · HDL · Mimetic peptide · Reverse cholesterol transport

#### 11.1 Introduction

As the leading cause of mortality, 50% of the population in western countries died from cardiovascular disease (CVD) [1], and the number of people with CVD is also going up in developing countries. Atherosclerosis, mainly caused by high plasma lipid levels, is the most common expression of CVD. Accordingly, the application of lipid-lowering drugs is a main strategy to reduce the risk of CVD [2].

High-density lipoprotein (HDL) plays a role in protecting against atherosclerotic development through various mechanisms, including the reverse transport of the excess cholesterol from macrophages and the inhibition of the oxidative modification of LDL [3]. There is considerable evidence demonstrating that the plasma level of HDL is negatively correlated with CVD incidence [4].



<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), HDL Metabolism and Diseases, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_11

J. Chen

J. Liu

McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada e-mail: jiewen.liu@mail.mcgill.ca

B. Yu (🖂)

Department of Physiology and Pathophysiology, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

Key Laboratory of Remodeling-Related Cardiovascular Diseases, Ministry of Education, Beijing, China

Despite the important role of HDL in maintaining cardiovascular health, a series of clinical trials designed to raise HDL in human failed to show the expected effects on CVD patients' outcomes [5–7]. Similarly, other agents containing niacin, fibrates, or statins showed inapparent cardiovascular benefit in clinical trials [8–11]. These frustrating results suggest that simply elevating the plasma level of HDL is insufficient to protect against CVD. As a result, more attention has been paid to the improvement of

Recently, numerous mimetics of HDL and its components showed promise and were dramatically effective in animal models [12]. Without necessarily raising HDL plasma levels, they can stimulate reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) and improve HDL functionality. Thus, they offer a different approach to protect against atherosclerosis, which also provides an extensive application in other diseases beyond atherosclerosis [13].

HDL functionality rather than their plasma levels

#### 11.2 ApoA-I Mimetic Peptides

ApoA-I, the major structural and functional protein with 243 amino acid residues in HDL, exerts atheroprotective function in various aspects, including promoting cholesterol efflux and participating in RCT [14]. In animal models and human clinical trials, apoA-I showed promising roles in amelioration of atherosclerosis [15– 17]. However, apoA-I, as a large protein, requires parenteral administration and is expensive in clinical practice, which makes it challengeable for large-scale clinical application [17, 18]. Thus, it seems shorter peptides that can mimic apoA-I would provide more efficacious therapeutic strategies [9].

There are 10 amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helices in mature apoA-I and each one has both hydrophobic face and hydrophilic face [14]. This structure is essential for apoA-I to bind lipid and promote cholesterol efflux. Many peptides are designed based on this feature of the amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helices to mimic apoA-I functions. And next, we will introduce the main mimetic peptides in chronological order.

#### 11.2.1 Peptide I and II

Based on the opinion that the fragments of a protein may exert some of the properties of the native protein itself, the first mimetic peptide of apoA-I, called peptide I, was designed by Kaiser and Kezdy in 1979 [19]. The peptide I corresponds to the residues 158–168 of apoA-I, which are 11 amino acids repeating units. They used hen egg lecithin single bilayer vesicles to examine the lipid-binding ability of peptide I by measuring free and bound peptide, and found peptide I bound very poorly to the vesicles.

In another experiment, Kaiser and Kezdy designed a new peptide called peptide II corresponding to residues 147–168 of apoA-I, the fragment of apoA-I, which has the highest helix-forming potential [20] and a terminal Pro was included. Peptide II was also tested for its ability of binding to vesicles, and it was found to bind more tightly than peptide I, suggesting that it is possible to improve the peptide's binding ability to phospholipid surfaces [17, 20].

#### 11.2.2 18A

In order to determine the meaning of the number and specific location of charged residues in the amphipathic domains of plasma lipoproteins on protein lipid binding, Segrest et al. [21] designed 18A in 1980, a series of peptides with only 18 amino acid residues forming a class A amphipathic helix. Their sequences have no homology to any of the natural proteins or peptide sequences, and two of them (18Aa,18As) associated tightly with liposomes and the others failed to mimic lipid-binding properties of apoA-I [8, 17, 22, 23]. This result revealed that the appropriate charge distribution of peptides is important for their lipid affinity.

### 11.2.3 2F

Scientists continue to modify 18A to obtain new peptides, which can better mimic apoA-I in its

[4, 7].

antiatherogenic effects. By adding an acetyl group at the amino terminus and an amide at the carboxyl terminus, Venkatachalapathi et al [24] obtained Ac-18A-NH2 in 1993, which also is named 2F for the two phenylalanine residues on the hydrophobic face. It showed improved lipid-binding abilities and efficiency in inducing cholesterol efflux but failed to reduce lesions in a mouse model of atherosclerosis [4, 17, 23].

#### 11.2.4 4F

4F, as the most studied peptide [23], has four phenylalanine residues at the hydrophobic end, which showed optimal hydrophobicity when interacting with phospholipids in the form of a discoidal HDL-like structures [8]. It can activate lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) at 50% efficiency of apoA-I and inhibited LDL-induced monocyte chemotactic activity [25]. 4F can promote cholesterol efflux to improve pathological process, and also exert multiple functions, including anti-inflammation, antioxidation, and anti-thrombosis in many animal models [26].

Many studies demonstrated that 4F is an atheroprotective peptide [27]. The early nascent atherosclerosis in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> and Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> mice was reduced after the intraperitoneal administration of 4F peptide [28]. 4Fs synthesized from L or D amino acids are called L-4F or D-4F, respectively. L-4F was rapidly degraded in the circulation and excreted in the urine, and oral administration of D-4F alleviated atherosclerosis development by 79% in Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> mice [29] and 50% in diabetic ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice [30]. This marked atheroprotective effect was independent of rise in total HDL level [29].

The anti-inflammatory effects of 4F include reduction of lipid hydroperoxides, paraoxonase levels, and HDL inflammatory index(HII) [23, 31]. One study manifested that compared to apoA-I, L-4F can bind to part of oxidized lipids with higher affinity and remove them from plasma [32]. The binding of 4F to oxidized lipids, which are proinflammatory, might account for its prominent anti-inflammatory functions [23]. Another study showed that the treatment of D-4F in mice promoted pre- $\beta$  HDL particles formation and improved the efflux of cholesterol to HDL [33].

Furthermore, 4F can increase NO production and diminish oxidative stress. It has been revealed that 4F could improve the migration of endothelial cells and significantly increase endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) activity via AKT phosphorylation, and SR-B1 expression [26]. It also reduced the number of lipid rafts and the receptor Toll-like expression of 4 on macrophages surface (thus restoring eNOS expression) and upregulated vascular endothelial growth factor expression [34, 35]. A study by Graham et al. [36] found that the products of lipid oxidation suppressed endothelial cells migration in vitro, and preincubation with L-4F could reverse this effect on endothelial cells migration. Treatment with D-4F accelerated re-endothelialization in a mice model with high cholesterol diet. Furtherly, 4F could improve the inhibited endothelial cells migration by lysoPC treatment in vitro [26], which suggested that 4F was able to promote the migration of endothelial cells and protect endothelium from injury in CVD.

ApoA-I is prone to oxidative modification [37], which can change HDL from antiinflammatory into pro-inflammatory [38]. Anantharamaiah et al. [38] showed that 4F was able to protect the tyrosine residues in apoA-I from oxidation. Furthermore, 4F enhanced the cholesterol efflux ability of apoA-I to a greater extent. Compared with HDL isolated from salinetreated mice, HDL from mice treated with D-4F was more effective in inhibiting LDL oxidation [29]. He et al. [26] found that 4F could improve the impaired function of HDL in re-endothelialization and endothelial cells proliferation, migration, and lamellipodia formation and further improve the repair of endothelium. 4F appeared to work through SR-B1 and induce the phosphorylation of eNOS and Akt. When given together with a statin, 4F significantly alleviated lesion formation in young  $ApoE^{-/-}$ mice, and reduction of existing lesions in old  $ApoE^{-/-}$  mice was also observed, and apoA-I
synthesis in intestine increased by 60% [18]. In studies using Cynomolgus monkeys [39], oral administration of D-4F in addition to pravastatin also repaired the anti-inflammatory effects of HDL. Above researches suggested that the combination of 4F with statin might be a promising anti-atherosclerosis treatment strategy.

#### 11.2.5 FAMP

Fukuoka University ApoA-I-mimetic peptide (FAMP), developed in 2013, consists of 24 amino acids corresponding to residues 196-219 of the apoA-I. FAMP formed an amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helical conformation in solution [40]. This peptide significantly enhanced the function of HDL and reduced aortic plaques formation by 48.2% in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed with a high-fat diet [41]. FAMP can effectively remove cholesterol through the ABCA1 and ABCG1 generate nascent pre- $\beta$  HDL transporters, particles, and further transform HDL into small HDL particles, which enhances HDL biological functions to inhibit atherosclerotic plaque formation without increasing HDL cholesterol levels [40, 42, 43]. Besides its therapeutic potential, FAMP is also promising in the diagnosis of atherosclerotic plaque development [44]. It can be used to trace the lipid burden in atherosclerosis plaques after specific modifications in clinic by its ability to penetrate atherosclerotic plaques.

#### 11.2.6 Bihelical Peptide

In addition to monohelical peptides, tandem amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helical peptides have also been studied [14]. 37pA, a peptide with two 18A peptides and a single proline residue (18A-PRO-18A), promoted macrophage cholesterol efflux through both ABCA1-dependent and ABCA1independent mechanisms [45]. 37pA exerted protective effects on cardiac function by reducing TNF- $\alpha$ -induced adhesion molecules expression on endothelial cells in an ischemia-reperfusion injury model [46]. Moreover, 37pA can be applied in HDL-based MRI-targeted contrast agents for atherosclerotic plaque composition detection [47].

mFc-2X4, a peptide fusing two tandem repeats of 4F to the C-terminal of a murine IgG Fc fragment [48], could promote cholesterol efflux better than 4F and apoA-I in a dose-dependent manner in vitro. And it was also able to form nascent HDL particles in vitro [23].

ELK-2A2K2E is another kind of bihelical peptide that induces small dense HDL particles formation in ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice plasma. It induced cholesterol efflux efficiently and led to a reduction in aortic lesion area. ELK-2A2K2E can also apparently reduce the levels of lipoprotein and triglyceride in plasma [8, 49].

Besides symmetric amphipathic, there are also studies about asymmetric tandem peptides. Remaley et al. [50] designed a peptide by substituting five hydrophobic residues in one of the 18A helices in 37pA to Ala, and named this bihelical amphipathic peptide as 5A [8]. 5A promoted cholesterol efflux more efficiently than 37pA [14]. In different disease models, 5A was demonstrated to exert the properties of reducing atherosclerotic lesion formation and attenuating inflammation [51–53].

#### 11.2.7 2F \*

Owing to nonspecific cellular cholesterol efflux, helical peptides would induce membrane lipid solubilization and hemolysis. To avoid these side effects, Okuhira et al. [54] inserted the photocleavable 4,5-dimethoxy-2-nitrobenzyl group at the glutamic acid in the peptide 2F and developed a photo-activatable peptide with 18 amino acid, named 2F\*. After light stimulation, 2F\* could form an  $\alpha$ -helical structure and trigger cells cholesterol efflux. And the ability of  $2F^*$  to form  $\alpha$ -helices was limited without light stimulation, so it could not bind to lipids to induce cholesterol efflux [44]. This makes it possible to control cholesterol efflux at the site of atherosclerosis lesions and avoid systemic hemolysis after mimetic peptide administration by a light stimulus.

### 11.2.8 P12

Recently, Jingman et al. [55] developed a new apoA-I mimetic peptide named P12. They designed and synthesized 17 new apoA-I mimetic peptides by gradually increasing their hydrophobicity based on apoA-I 221-240, which is essential for cholesterol efflux and ABCA1 binding. Among them, P12, a lipid-free 20-amino acid AMP featuring an amphiphilic  $\alpha$ -helix structure, is found to possess the lowest cytotoxicity and the greatest effects on cholesterol efflux. It significantly reduced the relative intimal thickening and atherosclerosis plaque size in  $ApoE^{-/-}$  mice via its lipid-lowering, anti-inflammatory, and anti-oxidative effects. Moreover, P12 prevented lipid accumulation and peroxidation as well as decreased HDL levels in blood vessels of Apo $E^{-/-}$  mice. It also reconstructed  $\alpha$ -HDL into nascent preß-HDL particles to further promote RCT process.

#### 11.2.9 Reconstituted HDL

Reconstituted HDL (rHDL) particles are made by self-assembly of various lipids and apoA-I [56]. They possess main anti-atherogenic capacities of native HDL, such as cholesterol anti-inflammation, efflux, anti-oxidation, cytoprotection, vasodilation, anti-infection, antithrombosis, anti-diabetes, and so on [57]. The ability of loading various substances, like drugs, nucleic acids, signal-emitting molecules, or dyes, makes rHDL an efficient nanocarrier for therapeutic applications or medical diagnosis. As a substitute of full-length apoA-I, the mimetic peptides are used to synthesize rHDL particles, because the cost is lower for purification or recombination of apoA-I mimetic peptides in HDL therapy [57, 58]. On the other hand, some apoA-I mimetic peptides even exert a higher affinity with oxidized phospholipids and fatty acids than apoA-I [56, 59]. Nanodisc HDL particles synthesized from apoA-I mimetic peptides can ameliorate atherosclerosis by promoting cholesterol and phospholipid efflux

through ABCA1 transporter-related mechanism similar to native HDL [50, 51, 56, 60]. In clinical diagnosis, rHDL particles followed by different modifications can also be used for imaging of atherosclerotic plaques [56].

#### 11.2.10 Oral Applications

Animal studies suggested that it does not matter which approach, such as injection, infusion, or oral administration, was performed to give an apoA-I mimic in vivo, as long as the enterocytes receive a certain dose of the peptides [61]. Zhao et al. [9] demonstrated that plasma exposure to D-4F was unrelated to its ability to treat atherosclerosis. Rader et al. [61] found that oral D-4F peptide dose could predict HII suppression, whereas plasma D-4F concentration was dissociated with it. These findings indicated that the intestine is the major region where apoA-I mimetic peptides take action. One study demonstrated that D-4F might inhibit inflammation in the villi, thereby suppressing the formation of dysfunctional HDL and inducing transintestinal cholesterol efflux [61]. In another study, D-4F was found to reduce levels of arachidonic and linoleic acids free metabolites in the small intestine, which was associated with enhanced PON1 activity and decreased inflammation in  $Ldlr^{-/-}$  mice [18]. Fogelman et al. reported that the L-4F-niclosamide complex, formed by tight binding of niclosamide and L-4F, could protect peptide from trypsin digestion in the small intestine and obviously improve HII and reduce aortic lesion and macrophage lesion area [23, 62].

Another promising preclinical study is on 6F, which exerts powerful anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and antiatherogenic effects in Ldlr<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Specifically, 6F prevented Western Diet(WD)– induced systemic inflammation and dyslipidemia by alleviating the increase of unsaturated LPA levels in the small intestine [56, 63–65].

### 11.3 ApoE Mimetic Peptide

It has been widely believed that apoE is an attractive therapeutic target in cardiovascular disease from both preclinical and clinical evaluations. Unlike the RCT stimulation of apoA-I mimetics, apoE mimetics exert an antiatherogenic function in hepatic clearance of circulating atherogenic lipoproteins via interaction with lipoprotein receptors and enhancement of macrophages cholesterol efflux [2, 66]. Usually, apoE mimetic peptides can mimic the dual-domain structure of the native human apoE(hapoE), and therefore contain both the LDLR-binding domain and the lipid-associating domains of hapoE [66]. The former is indispensable for the hepatic uptake of triglyceride-rich lipoprotein remnants and their clearance from the circulation, whereas the latter mediates lipid efflux [66–68].

#### 11.3.1 Ac-hE18A-NH2

Ac-hE18A-NH<sub>2</sub> is a dual-domain peptide composed of a putative receptor-binding domain of apoE linked to a lipid-associated peptide 18A [66, 67, 69]. It targeted chylomicron remnants, VLDL-C, and LDL-C to hepatocytes for clearance via binding to HSPG [8, 70, 71]. It is reported that Ac-hE18A-NH2 administered intravenously remarkably reduced plasma VLDL and LDL levels in different models [72, 73]. This peptide could increase phospholipid affinity [73] and form phospholipid-enriched particles to mediate cellular cholesterol efflux efficiently [23]. Further-Ac-hE18A-NH2 could also induce more, paraoxonase 1(PON1) and preß-HDL particles release from hepatocytes [67]. Like apoE, Ac-hE18A-NH<sub>2</sub> can reduce plasma cholesterol but exhibit anti-inflammatory properties independent of its cholesterol-lowering effect [69].

### 11.3.2 ATI-5261

In 2010, Azhar et al. [74] created a novel singlehelix 26-mer apoE mimetic peptide named ATI-5261, which stimulated cellular cholesterol efflux from lipid-loaded macrophages with high

efflux from lipid-loaded macrophages with high efficiency to reduce atherosclerosis in mice [14, 23, 75]. As an ABCA1 agonist, ATI-5261 competed with apoA-I for ABCA1 and promoted efficient ABCA1-mediated cellular lipid efflux [75]. Functional HDL-ATI-5261 lipoprotein particles were generated by the combination of the peptide with ABCA1 and plasma membrane microdomains [76]. However, in C57BL/6 mice, ATI-5261 was found to cause muscle toxicity and increase triglyceride (Tg) levels due to aromatic phenylalanine residues on the hydrophobic face of the peptide, together with positively charged arginine residues at the lipid-water interface [76].

#### 11.3.3 Cs-6253

Due to the side effects of ATI-5261, a variant of this peptide, named CS-6253, was designed by substituting phenylalanine and arginine for leucitrulline cine and residues. respectively [14]. CS6253 exerted the equal antiatherosclerotic properties of its precursor, but without toxicity in vivo [76, 77]. This peptidemediated ABCA1 cholesterol efflux potently and stabilized ABCA1 concentration on cell surface [78]. Lipid-free CS-6253 interacted with ABCA1 and formed nascent HDL-CS-6253 particles, which matured after recombination in plasma and then delivered cholesterol to hepatocytes via SR-BI in vitro. The addition of CS-6253 in plasma dose-dependently remodeled  $\alpha$ -HDL into nascent preß-HDL particles that stimulated ABCA1-dependent cholesterol efflux efficiently. CS-6253 can also promote the transfer of cholesterol from HDL to LDL by binding with both of them in human plasma [76].

#### 11.4 Other Mimetic Peptides

Although most researches have investigated the effects of apoA-I and apoE-derived peptides, other apolipoprotein mimetic peptides, such as apolipoprotein C-II (apoC-II) or apolipoprotein J

(apoJ) mimetic peptides, have also been studied [2].

D-[113–122]apoJ, a 10-residue apoJ mimetic peptide, can inhibit LDL aggregation in vitro [79] and retard atherosclerosis in  $ApoE^{-/-}$  mice [2]. It enhanced the antioxidant and cholesterol efflux effects of HDL, and reduced hepatic inflammatory genes expression [2]. As it can simultaneously take effects on both HDL and LDL, D-[113–122]apoJ would be a promising peptide against atherosclerosis.

C-II-a is an apoC-II mimetic peptide. ApoC-II deficiency in human can lead to hypertrigly-ceridemia. Injection of C-II-a was demonstrated to reduce plasma TG, indicating that C-II-a could be a potential new therapy for apoC-II deficiency–related diseases [80, 81].

# 11.5 Effects of HDL Mimetic Peptides on Other Diseases

HDL mimetic peptides can also be used in the treatment of other diseases besides atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease [82].

ApoA-I mimetic peptide 5A altered the protein composition of HDL in the circulation and improved some potentially harmful changes to the protein component in a mouse model of age-related macular degeneration (AMD). HDL mimetic peptide HM-10/10 was designed to reduce oxidative stress, which also played a key role in AMD development [83].

Dual-domain peptides AEM-28, AEM-28-2, and HM-10/10 were found to inhibit cell viability of mouse or human ovarian and colon cancer cell lines, and therefore decrease tumor burden, tumor growth, and tumor dissemination in BALB/C mice [84].

L-4F ameliorated insulin resistance and diabetes by reducing adiposity, improving insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance, increasing plasma adiponectin, and reducing IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 levels in obese mice [85]. Similarly, D-4F dramatically reduced white fat mass, slightly improved insulin sensitivity, and enhanced energy expenditure in mice [56, 86]. In addition to circulating lipid homeostasis, apoE also plays a key role in cerebral lipid homeostasis. COG133, an apoE mimetic peptide that comprises the apoE LDLR-binding domain, could improve clinical dysfunction and inflammatory infiltration of the spinal cord in a murine model of multiple sclerosis. COG112, a modified COG133, showed high therapeutic efficacy in autoimmune encephalomyelitis and traumatic spinal cord injury mouse models [66].

The lack of apoA-I increased airway hyperresponsiveness and the infiltration of inflammatory cells into lungs after stimulation [87]. ApoA-I mimetic peptides have been found to play a protective role in asthma models [88]. ApoA-I mimetic peptide could reduce neutrophils and eosinophils in airway inflammation, and reduce airway hyperresponsiveness and mucocyte metaplasia in allergic asthma mouse model [89]. 5A attenuated the development of airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness in house dust mite (HDM)–induced asthma mouse model [53].

# 11.6 Conclusion

HDL mimetic peptides have a simple structure that can be manufactured with a lower cost compared with the complete lipoprotein. They exert anti-atherosclerotic effects in atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease as well as other diseases, which offers incredible opportunities in drug design. However, more researches are needed to better investigate the underlying mechanisms and prove the feasibility of using these peptides clinically.

#### References

- Jokinen E (2015) Obesity and cardiovascular disease. Minerva Pediatr 67:25–32
- Rivas-Urbina A et al (2020) Subcutaneous Administration of Apolipoprotein J-derived mimetic peptide d-[113-122]apoJ improves LDL and HDL function and prevents atherosclerosis in LDLR-KO mice. Biomol Ther 10(6):829. https://doi.org/10.3390/ biom10060829

- Rosenson RS et al (2016) Dysfunctional HDL and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Nat Rev Cardiol 13:48–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio. 2015.124
- Stoekenbroek RM, Stroes ES, Hovingh GK (2015) ApoA-I mimetics. Handb Exp Pharmacol 224:631– 648. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-09665-0\_21
- Briel M et al (2009) Association between change in high density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality: systematic review and meta-regression analysis. BMJ 338:b92. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b92
- Voight BF et al (2012) Plasma HDL cholesterol and risk of myocardial infarction: a mendelian randomisation study. Lancet 380:572–580. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60312-2
- deGoma EM, deGoma RL, Rader DJ (2008) Beyond high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels evaluating high-density lipoprotein function as influenced by novel therapeutic approaches. J Am Coll Cardiol 51: 2199–2211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2008. 03.016
- White CR, Garber DW, Anantharamaiah GM (2014) Anti-inflammatory and cholesterol-reducing properties of apolipoprotein mimetics: a review. J Lipid Res 55: 2007–2021. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R051367
- Zhao Y et al (2014) In vivo efficacy of HDL-like nanolipid particles containing multivalent peptide mimetics of apolipoprotein A-I. J Lipid Res 55: 2053–2063. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M049262
- Nicholls SJ (2012) Is niacin ineffective? Or did AIM-HIGH miss its target? Cleve Clin J Med 79:38– 43. https://doi.org/10.3949/ccjm.79a.11166
- Joy TR, Hegele RA (2008) The failure of torcetrapib: what have we learned? Br J Pharmacol 154:1379– 1381. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjp.2008.248
- Uehara Y, Chiesa G, Saku K (2015) High-density lipoprotein-targeted therapy and apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptides. Circ J 79:2523–2528. https://doi. org/10.1253/circj.CJ-15-0960
- Sviridov D, Remaley AT (2015) High-density lipoprotein mimetics: promises and challenges. Biochem J 472:249–259. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20150832
- Getz GS, Reardon CA (2019) Apoproteins E, A-I, and SAA in macrophage pathobiology related to atherogenesis. Front Pharmacol 10:536. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fphar.2019.00536
- Plump AS, Scott CJ, Breslow JL (1994) Human apolipoprotein A-I gene expression increases high density lipoprotein and suppresses atherosclerosis in the apolipoprotein E-deficient mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:9607–9611. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.91.20. 9607
- Nissen SE et al (2003) Effect of recombinant ApoA-I Milano on coronary atherosclerosis in patients with acute coronary syndromes: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 290:2292–2300. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.290.17.2292

- Namiri-Kalantari R et al (2015) The dual nature of HDL: anti-inflammatory and pro-inflammatory. Biofactors 41:153–159. https://doi.org/10.1002/biof. 1205
- Vakili L et al (2014) Systemic inflammation, intestine, and paraoxonase-1. Adv Exp Med Biol 824:83–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-07320-0\_8
- Fukushima D et al (1980) Rational design of synthetic models for lipoproteins. Ann N Y Acad Sci 348:365– 377. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1980. tb21313.x
- Kaiser ET, Kezdy FJ (1983) Secondary structures of proteins and peptides in amphiphilic environments. (A review). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80:1137– 1143. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.80.4.1137
- 21. Kanellis P et al (1980) Studies of synthetic peptide analogs of the amphipathic helix. Effect of charged amino acid residue topography on lipid affinity. J Biol Chem 255:11464–11472
- 22. Anantharamaiah GM et al (1985) Studies of synthetic peptide analogs of the amphipathic helix. Structure of complexes with dimyristoyl phosphatidylcholine. J Biol Chem 260:10248–10255
- Cao YN et al (2017) Recombinant high-density lipoproteins and their use in cardiovascular diseases. Drug Discov Today 22:180–185. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.drudis.2016.08.010
- Venkatachalapathi YV et al (1993) Effect of end group blockage on the properties of a class A amphipathic helical peptide. Proteins 15:349–359. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/prot.340150403
- 25. Datta G et al (2001) Effects of increasing hydrophobicity on the physical-chemical and biological properties of a class A amphipathic helical peptide. J Lipid Res 42:1096–1104. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0022-2275(20)31599-6
- 26. He D et al (2018) Apolipoprotein A-1 mimetic peptide 4F promotes endothelial repairing and compromises reendothelialization impaired by oxidized HDL through SR-B1. Redox Biol 15:228–242. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.redox.2017.11.027
- Getz GS, Wool GD, Reardon CA (2010) Biological properties of apolipoprotein a-I mimetic peptides. Curr Atheroscler Rep 12:96–104. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11883-010-0097-4
- Wool GD et al (2011) 4F peptide reduces nascent atherosclerosis and induces natural antibody production in apolipoprotein E-null mice. FASEB J 25:290– 300. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.10-165670
- 29. Navab M et al (2002) Oral administration of an Apo A-I mimetic peptide synthesized from D-amino acids dramatically reduces atherosclerosis in mice independent of plasma cholesterol. Circulation 105:290–292. https://doi.org/10.1161/hc0302.103711
- Morgantini C et al (2010) Apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptides prevent atherosclerosis development and reduce plaque inflammation in a murine model of diabetes. Diabetes 59:3223–3228. https://doi.org/10. 2337/db10-0844

- Millar JS, Cuchel M (2015) ApoA-I-directed therapies for the Management of Atherosclerosis. Curr Atheroscler Rep 17:60. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11883-015-0539-0
- 32. Imaizumi S et al (2010) L-4F differentially alters plasma levels of oxidized fatty acids resulting in more anti-inflammatory HDL in mice. Drug Metab Lett 4:139–148. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 187231210791698438
- 33. Navab M et al (2004) Oral D-4F causes formation of pre-beta high-density lipoprotein and improves highdensity lipoprotein-mediated cholesterol efflux and reverse cholesterol transport from macrophages in apolipoprotein E-null mice. Circulation 109:3215–3220. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000134275.90823.87
- 34. Moreira RS et al (2020) Synthetic apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide 4F protects hearts and kidneys after myocardial infarction. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 318:R529–R544. https://doi.org/10. 1152/ajpregu.00185.2019
- 35. Smythies LE et al (2010) Apolipoprotein A-I mimetic 4F alters the function of human monocyte-derived macrophages. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 298: C1538–C1548. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00467. 2009
- 36. Rosenbaum MA, Chaudhuri P, Abelson B, Cross BN, Graham LM (2015) Apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide reverses impaired arterial healing after injury by reducing oxidative stress. Atherosclerosis 241:709– 715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015. 06.018
- Anantharamaiah GM et al (1988) Effect of oxidation on the properties of apolipoproteins A-I and A-II. J Lipid Res 29:309–318
- 38. White CR, Datta G, Wilson L, Palgunachari MN, Anantharamaiah GM (2019) The apoA-I mimetic peptide 4F protects apolipoprotein A-I from oxidative damage. Chem Phys Lipids 219:28–35. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2019.01.009
- 39. Navab M et al (2005) D-4F and statins synergize to render HDL antiinflammatory in mice and monkeys and cause lesion regression in old apolipoprotein E-null mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 25: 1426–1432. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV. 0000167412.98221.1a
- Ikenaga M, Higaki Y, Saku K, Uehara Y (2016) Highdensity lipoprotein mimetics: a therapeutic tool for atherosclerotic diseases. J Atheroscler Thromb 23: 385–394. https://doi.org/10.5551/jat.33720
- 41. Uehara Y et al (2013) FAMP, a novel apoA-I mimetic peptide, suppresses aortic plaque formation through promotion of biological HDL function in ApoEdeficient mice. J Am Heart Assoc 2:e000048. https:// doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.113.000048
- Uehara Y, Saku K (2014) High-density lipoprotein and atherosclerosis: roles of lipid transporters. World J Cardiol 6:1049–1059. https://doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v6. i10.1049

- 43. Shimizu T et al (2015) Newly developed apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide promotes macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in vivo. Int J Cardiol 192:82–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.05.012
- 44. Kawachi E et al (2013) Novel molecular imaging of atherosclerosis with gallium-68-labeled apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide and positron emission tomography. Circ J 77:1482–1489. https://doi.org/10.1253/ circj.cj-12-0736
- 45. Kuai R, Li D, Chen YE, Moon JJ, Schwendeman A (2016) High-density lipoproteins: Nature's multifunctional nanoparticles. ACS Nano 10:3015–3041. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.5b07522
- 46. Gomaraschi M et al (2008) Anti-inflammatory and cardioprotective activities of synthetic high-density lipoprotein containing apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptides. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 324:776–783. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.107.129411
- 47. Cormode DP et al (2008) An ApoA-I mimetic peptide high-density-lipoprotein-based MRI contrast agent for atherosclerotic plaque composition detection. Small 4: 1437–1444. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.200701285
- 48. Lu SC et al (2012) An apoA-I mimetic peptibody generates HDL-like particles and increases alpha-1 HDL subfraction in mice. J Lipid Res 53:643–652. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M020438
- 49. Ditiatkovski M et al (2013) An apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide designed with a reductionist approach stimulates reverse cholesterol transport and reduces atherosclerosis in mice. PLoS One 8:e68802. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0068802
- 50. Sethi AA et al (2008) Asymmetry in the lipid affinity of bihelical amphipathic peptides. A structural determinant for the specificity of ABCA1-dependent cholesterol efflux by peptides. J Biol Chem 283:32273– 32282. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M804461200
- 51. Remaley AT et al (2003) Synthetic amphipathic helical peptides promote lipid efflux from cells by an ABCA1-dependent and an ABCA1-independent pathway. J Lipid Res 44:828–836. https://doi.org/10.1194/ jlr.M200475-JLR200
- 52. Tabet F et al (2010) The 5A apolipoprotein a-I mimetic peptide displays antiinflammatory and antioxidant properties in vivo and in vitro. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30:246–252. https://doi.org/10.1161/ ATVBAHA.109.200196
- 53. Yao X et al (2011) 5A, an apolipoprotein a-I mimetic peptide, attenuates the induction of house dust miteinduced asthma. J Immunol 186:576–583. https://doi. org/10.4049/jimmunol.1001534
- 54. Kawahara H et al (2019) A photo-Activatable peptide mimicking functions of apolipoprotein A-I. Biol Pharm Bull 42:1019–1024. https://doi.org/10.1248/ bpb.b19-00114
- 55. Gou S et al (2020) A novel apoA-I mimetic peptide suppresses atherosclerosis by promoting physiological HDL function in apoE(-/-) mice. Br J Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.15213

- Kornmueller K, Vidakovic I, Prassl R (2019) Artificial high density lipoprotein nanoparticles in cardiovascular research. Molecules 24(15):2829. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/molecules24152829
- Sposito AC et al (2019) HDL-targeted therapies during myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 33:371– 381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10557-019-06865-1
- 58. Sei YJ et al (2018) Detecting the functional complexities between high-density lipoprotein mimetics. Biomaterials 170:58–69. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biomaterials.2018.04.011
- Epand RF, Mishra VK, Palgunachari MN, Anantharamaiah GM, Epand RM (2009) Antiinflammatory peptides grab on to the whiskers of atherogenic oxidized lipids. Biochim Biophys Acta 1788: 1967–1975. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2009. 06.015
- 60. Islam RM et al (2018) Structural properties of apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptides that promote ABCA1dependent cholesterol efflux. Sci Rep 8:2956. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20965-2
- 61. Dunbar RL et al (2017) Oral apolipoprotein A-I mimetic D-4F lowers HDL-inflammatory index in high-risk patients: a first-in-human multiple-dose, randomized controlled trial. Clin Transl Sci 10:455– 469. https://doi.org/10.1111/cts.12487
- 62. Navab M et al (2009) A novel method for oral delivery of apolipoprotein mimetic peptides synthesized from all L-amino acids. J Lipid Res 50:1538–1547. https:// doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M800539-JLR200
- Chattopadhyay A et al (2013) A novel approach to oral apoA-I mimetic therapy. J Lipid Res 54:995–1010. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M033555
- 64. Navab M et al (2013) Transgenic 6F tomatoes act on the small intestine to prevent systemic inflammation and dyslipidemia caused by Western diet and intestinally derived lysophosphatidic acid. J Lipid Res 54: 3403–3418. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M042051
- 65. Mukherjee P et al (2017) Transgenic tomatoes expressing the 6F peptide and ezetimibe prevent dietinduced increases of IFN-beta and cholesterol 25-hydroxylase in jejunum. J Lipid Res 58:1636– 1647. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M076554
- 66. Valanti EK, Chroni A, Sanoudou D (2019) The future of apolipoprotein E mimetic peptides in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. Curr Opin Lipidol 30:326– 3 4 1. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL. 0000000000000615
- White CR, Goldberg DI, Anantharamaiah GM (2015) Recent developments in modulating atherogenic lipoproteins. Curr Opin Lipidol 26:369–375. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MOL.00000000000216
- 68. Xu Y et al (2016) A human apolipoprotein E mimetic peptide reduces atherosclerosis in aged apolipoprotein E null mice. Am J Transl Res 8:3482–3492
- 69. Anantharamaiah GM et al (2018) Novel fatty acyl apoE mimetic peptides have increased potency to reduce plasma cholesterol in mice and macaques. J

Lipid Res 59:2075–2083. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr. M085985

- 70. Datta G et al (2000) The receptor binding domain of apolipoprotein E, linked to a model class A amphipathic helix, enhances internalization and degradation of LDL by fibroblasts. Biochemistry 39:213–220. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi991209w
- 71. Datta G et al (2001) Cationic domain 141-150 of apoE covalently linked to a class a amphipathic helix enhances atherogenic lipoprotein metabolism in vitro and in vivo. J Lipid Res 42:959–966
- 72. Garber DW et al (2003) Effect of an arginine-rich amphipathic helical peptide on plasma cholesterol in dyslipidemic mice. Atherosclerosis 168:229–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9150(03)00101-1
- 73. Gupta H et al (2005) Apolipoprotein E mimetic peptide dramatically lowers plasma cholesterol and restores endothelial function in watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic rabbits. Circulation 111:3112–3118. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104. 497107
- 74. Bielicki JK et al (2010) A new HDL mimetic peptide that stimulates cellular cholesterol efflux with high efficiency greatly reduces atherosclerosis in mice. J Lipid Res 51:1496–1503. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr. M003665
- 75. Hafiane A, Bielicki JK, Johansson JO, Genest J (2014) Apolipoprotein E derived HDL mimetic peptide ATI-5261 promotes nascent HDL formation and reverse cholesterol transport in vitro. Biochim Biophys Acta 1842:1498–1512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbalip.2014.07.018
- 76. Hafiane A, Bielicki JK, Johansson JO, Genest J (2015) Novel Apo E-derived ABCA1 agonist peptide (CS-6253) promotes reverse cholesterol transport and induces formation of prebeta-1 HDL in vitro. PLoS One 10:e0131997. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0131997
- 77. Azhar S et al (2019) Novel ABCA1 peptide agonists with antidiabetic action. Mol Cell Endocrinol 480:1– 11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2018.09.011
- Bielicki JK (2016) ABCA1 agonist peptides for the treatment of disease. Curr Opin Lipidol 27:40–46. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL.00000000000258
- 79. Mishra VK et al (1808) Structure and lipid interactions of an anti-inflammatory and anti-atherogenic 10-residue class G(\*) apolipoprotein J peptide using solution NMR. Biochim Biophys Acta 498-507:2011. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2010.10.011
- Sakurai T et al (2016) Creation of apolipoprotein C-II (ApoC-II) mutant mice and correction of their hypertriglyceridemia with an ApoC-II mimetic peptide. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 356:341–353. https://doi. org/10.1124/jpet.115.229740
- 81. Amar MJ et al (2015) A novel apolipoprotein C-II mimetic peptide that activates lipoprotein lipase and decreases serum triglycerides in apolipoprotein E-knockout mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 352:227– 235. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.114.220418

- 82. Zanoni P, von Eckardstein A (2020) Inborn errors of apolipoprotein A-I metabolism: implications for disease, research and development. Curr Opin Lipidol 31: 62-70. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOL. 000000000000667
- 83. Su F et al (2019) A novel HDL-mimetic peptide HM-10/10 protects RPE and photoreceptors in murine models of retinal degeneration. Int J Mol Sci 20(19): 4807. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20194807
- 84. Su F et al (2020) Bovine HDL and dual domain HDL-mimetic peptides inhibit tumor development in mice. J Cancer Res Ther Oncol 8. https://doi.org/10. 17303/jcrto.2020.8.101
- Peterson SJ et al (2008) L-4F treatment reduces adiposity, increases adiponectin levels, and improves insulin sensitivity in obese mice. J Lipid Res 49: 1658–1669. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.M800046-JLR200

- 86. Ruan X et al (2011) Apolipoprotein A-I possesses an anti-obesity effect associated with increase of energy expenditure and up-regulation of UCP1 in brown fat. J Cell Mol Med 15:763–772. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1582-4934.2010.01045.x
- Getz GS, Reardon CA (2014) The structure/function of apoprotein A-I mimetic peptides: an update. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 21:129–133. https://doi. org/10.1097/MED.00000000000045
- 88. Gordon EM, Figueroa DM, Barochia AV, Yao X, Levine SJ (2016) High-density lipoproteins and apolipoprotein A-I: potential new players in the prevention and treatment of lung disease. Front Pharmacol 7:323. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2016.00323
- 89. Yao X, Gordon EM, Barochia AV, Remaley AT, Levine SJ (2016) The A's have it: developing apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptides into a novel treatment for asthma. Chest 150:283–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chest.2016.05.035

# HDL and microRNAs

# Hongtu Cui, Kaixuan Lv, and Nana Yang

### Abstract

In previous chapters, we know that highdensity lipoproteins (HDLs) could act at multiple cell lines and then trigger intracellular molecular pathway to prevent several metabolic diseases. Besides the classic genes regulating cholesterol efflux and reverse cholesterol transport (RCT), microRNAs (miRNAs) could also affect HDLs biogenesis, metabolism, and functions. This chapter summarizes the miRNAs, which regulate HDLs functions in table. In addition, HDLs are good vectors for miRNAs. They could carry miRNAs in circulation and take them into several cells such as macrophages and endothelial cells. Complete understanding of the miRNAs associated with HDL regulation would give us broader insights to prevent and treat metabolic diseases.

e-mail: cui\_ht@pku.edu.cn

#### Keywords

HDLs · microRNAs · Circulating microRNAs · Metabolic diseases

MiRNAs are small, noncoding RNAs that consist of 21–30 bases. MiRNAs play an important role in pretranscriptional, cotranscriptional, and posttranscriptional gene expression control. Among all kinds of noncoding RNAs, miRNAs are the most widely researched and play a regulatory role in numerous biological processes.

The primary miRNA transcripts are generated from miRNA gene transcription, and then the pri-miRNA is processed to form the miRNA precursors with stem loop structure. Finally, under the action of Dicer digestion, the mature miRNA is generated from the pre-miRNA. miRNAs can bind to the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the target mRNA and suppress the expression of gene through mRNA degradation or translation inhibition.

In the past year, the importance of miRNAs in regulating HDLs biogenesis, metabolism, and functions has emerged (Table 12.1). Next, we discuss how these miRNAs can regulate the key genes in these pathways and what the content of these miRNAs are regulated by. With the help of these findings, we can explore the new treatment of metabolic diseases, such as atherosclerosis and diabetes.

Check for updates

H. Cui

Department of Cardiology and Institute of Vascular Medicine, Peking University Third Hospital, NHC Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Molecular Biology and Regulatory Peptides, Key Laboratory of Molecular Cardiovascular Science, Ministry of Education, Beijing Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Receptors Research, Beijing, China

K. Lv  $\cdot$  N. Yang ( $\boxtimes$ )

School of Bioscience and Technology, Weifang Medical University, Weifang, Shandong, China e-mail: yangnn@wfmc.edu.cn

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), *HDL Metabolism and Diseases*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_12

miRNA	Cell type	Target gene	Biological pathway	Related disease	Reference
miR-33	Hepatocyte	ABCA1	HDLs biogenesis	AS	[1, 2]
	Macrophage	ABCA1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[1, 2]
	Macrophage	ABCA1/ ABCG1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[17]
miR-758	Hepatocyte	ABCA1	HDLs biogenesis	AS	[5]
	Macrophage	ABCA1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[5]
miR-302a	Hepatocyte	ABCA1	HDLs biogenesis	NAFLD, AS	[3, 4]
	Macrophage	ABCA1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[4, 7]
miR-20a/b	Hepatocyte	ABCA1	HDLs biogenesis	AS	[6]
	Macrophage	ABCA1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[6]
miR-26	Hepatocyte	ABCA1	HDLs biogenesis	AS	[7]
	Macrophage	ABCA1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[7]
miR-144	Hepatocyte	ABCA1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[8]
miR-128-2	Hepatocyte	ABCA1/ ABCG1	HDLs biogenesis/ cholesterol efflux	AS	[9]
miR-223	Hepatocyte	ABCA1	HDLs biogenesis/ cholesterol efflux	AS	[13]
	Hepatocyte	SR-BI	HDL-cholesterol uptake	AS	[12, 13]
miR-185	Hepatocyte	SR-BI	HDL-cholesterol uptake	AS	[12]
	Macrophage	SR-BI	HDL-cholesterol uptake	AS	[12]
miR-96	Hepatocyte	SR-BI	HDL-cholesterol uptake	AS	[12]
	Macrophage	SR-BI	HDL-cholesterol uptake	AS	[12]
miR-145	Hepatocyte	ABCA1	HDLs biogenesis, cholesterol efflux	Diabetes	[16]
miR-143&miR- 145	Hepatocyte	ABCA1	HDLs biogenesis	AS	[26]
miR-125a	Hepatocyte	SR-BI	HDL-cholesterol uptake	Cholesterol metabolism	[14]
miR-455	Hepatocyte	SR-BI	HDL-cholesterol uptake	Cholesterol metabolism	[14]
miR-24	Hepatocyte	SR-BI	HDL-cholesterol uptake	AS	[11]
	Macrophage	SR-BI	HDL-cholesterol uptake	AS	[11]
miR-21	Macrophage	ABCG1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[24]
miR-33b-5p	Macrophage	ABCA1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[25]
miR-23a-5p	Macrophage	ABCA1/ ABCG1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[20]
miR-10b	Macrophage	ABCA1/ ABCG1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[22, 23]
miR-19b	Macrophage	ABCA1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[21]
miR-96-5p	Caco-2/TC7	SR-BI	HDL-cholesterol uptake	Type 2 diabetes	[31]
miR-9-5p	Macrophage	ABCA1	Cholesterol efflux	AS	[15]

Table 12.1 MiRNAs regulate HDLs biogenesis, cholesterol efflux, and HDL-C uptake

NAFLD nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, AS atherosclerosis, SR-BI hepatic scavenger receptor class B type 1, ABCA(G)I ATP-binding cassette transporter A(G)1

# 12.1 miRNA Regulation of HDLs Biogenesis

HDLs are divided into discoidal HDLs and spherical HDLs during the process of HDLs biogenesis. Apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I) synthesized mainly in the liver interacts with ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) to generate discoidal HDLs with phospholipids and unesterified cholesterol. Phospholipids in discoidal HDLs are hydrolyzed by cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) to generate fatty acyl groups, which are transferred to unesterified cholesterol and generated cholesteryl esters. Cholesteryl esters partition into the center of the discoidal HDLs, which are converted into spherical HDLs. Therefore, ABCA1 is a major regulator of HDLs biogenesis.

MiR-33 is the most widely researched miRNAs and the mechanisms of miRNAs are complicated. miR-33a/b is coded by the introns of the sterol regulatory element-binding proteins (SREBPs) gene. In humans, miR-33a is present in intron 16 of the SREBP-2 gene on chromosome 22 and miR-33b is in intron 17 of the SREBP-1 gene on chromosome 17. miR-33a/b downregulates the expression of ABCA1 through targeting the 3'-UTR of ABCA1. More importantly, the inhibition of miR-33a can maintain the levels of ABCA1, thus increasing HDL cholesterol in vivo [1]. To further investigate the effect of miR-33, several studies have been conducted. Anti-miR33 treatment can increase ABCA1 levels in the liver, downregulate several inflammation genes, and inhibit the formation of atherosclerosis and increase the stability of atherosclerotic plaque in mice models [2]. However long-term inhibition of miR-33 results in high levels of circulating triglyceride (TG) and lipid accumulation in liver. Long-term treated with miR-33 antisense oligonucleotide (ASO) in the mice fed with high-fat diet causes the increased expression levels of genes associated with cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis, thus resulting in hepatic steatosis. MiR-302a levels in hepatocytes are decreased in western-type diet LDLR-/mice compared with chow diet group, and the relative expression of ABCA1 targeted by miR-302 is increased [3]. Anti-miR302 to high fat diet induced mice increases liver ABCA1 levels as well as circulating plasma HDLs levels [4]. MiR-758 levels are found to be increased in the liver of mice fed with a high fat diet, and it can posttranscriptional ABCA1 regulate levels [5]. MiR-20a/b-treated ApoE-/- mice decreases ABCA1 levels in the liver and HDL cholesterol (HDL-C) levels in plasma, and inhibits RCT in vivo to promote atherosclerotic development [6]. Using LDL to mimic the high fat dietary, the results show that miR-26 expression is diminished in LDL-loaded HepG2 compared with no LDL-loaded HepG2, while its targeting ABCA1 levels are upregulated, which implies that miR-26 might regulate HDLs biogenesis [7].

Activation of Farnesoid-X-Receptor (FXR) by GSK2324, a water-soluble FXR agonist, can upregulate hepatic expression of miR-144. MiR-144 can target 2 binding sites in ABCA1 gene to decrease hepatic ABCA1 expression. Overexpression of miR-144 in mice decreases hepatic ABCA1 levels and the level of plasm HDL-C. Downregulation of miR-144 in mice increases the level of ABCA1 in hepatocytes and the plasma HDL-C in vivo. Further, researchers proved the regulation of miR-144 and FXR-dependent hypolipidemia requires hepatic, but not intestinal, FXR through tissuespecific FXR-deficient mice [8].

Regulation of the ability of cholesterol homeostasis is related to metabolic disease as well as multiple types of cancer. Overexpression of miR-128 induces apoptosis in HepG2 and MCF-7. MiR-128-2 increases the expression of SREBP2 and downregulates the level of SREBP1 in mRNA and protein levels. What is more, miR-128-2 directly targets ABCA1, ABCG1, and RXR $\alpha$  3'UTR and downregulates the expression of these genes in an SIRT1-dependent and SIRT1-independent manner. The content of miR-128 influences the cholesterol efflux capacity. The expression of miR-128-2 in C57BL6 mice treated with a high-fat diet decreases significantly compared with control mice [9].

# 12.2 MiRNA Regulation of HDLs Metabolism

Hepatic scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1) is important to selective HDL-C uptake, which is a critical step in RCT. Therefore, SR-B1 exerts atheroprotective effects through uptaking HDL-C. SR-B1 also promotes the bidirectional flux of free cholesterol (FC) and phospholipids between HDLs and cells. SR-BI is highly expressed in a high percentage of the liver and the steroidogenic cells of the adrenal gland, ovary, and testis.

MiR-24 plays an important role in cardiovascular disease (CVD) progression. MiR-24 directly inhibits SR-B1 levels through targeting its 3'UTR. MiR-24 decreases HDLs uptake in HepG2 and THP-1 macrophages, and promotes atheromatous plaque formation [10]. Supplement of miR-24 suppresses HDLs uptake. Apply of miR-24 attenuates hepatic SR-B1 levels and promotes the progression of atherosclerosis in ApoE-/- mice [11].

The expression of SR-B1 in HepG2 cells is significantly decreased after slicing miR-185, miR-96, and miR-223. MiR-185, miR-96, and miR-223 can reduce the expression levels of SR-B1 through targeting the sites in SR-B1 3'UTR. Further, the binding sites of miR-185 (DEL1, 84 bp to 89 bp, and/or DEL2, 274 bp to 281 bp), and miR-96 (461 bp to 468 bp) are found through the bioinformatic miRNA target prediction and further verified through luciferase reporter assay. The ability of HDL-C uptake is decreased obviously after treated with mimic of these miRs, while using the antagonists of miRNAs significantly increases the uptake of HDL into HepG2 cells. Further, the expression of miR-96 and miR-185 is regulated by the levels of plasma cholesterol, and these 3 miRNAs can also regulate the expression of SR-B1 in macrophage [12].

What is more, the expression of miR-223 is closely related to intracellular cholesterol levels. After stimulated with LDL (100 ng/mL), the miR-223 gene expression increases significantly. miR-223 can reduce HDL-C intake and SR-B1 in Huh7 cells through the target the SR-B1 3'UTR. What methylsterol else, monooxygenase 1 (SC4MOL) and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA synthase 1 (HMGCS1) are also the miR-223 targets in humans. Overexpression of miR-223 can suppress the expression of SC4MOL and HMGCS1; thus, miR-223 can repress cholesterol biosynthesis. Finally, miR-223-null mice have higher plasma (total) cholesterol levels compared with WT mice [13]. Transfection of the liver with pre-miR-125a reduces SR-B1 expression and the ability of HDL-C uptake [14].

# 12.3 MiRNA Regulation of HDLs Functions

Metabolic syndrome (MS) relates to atherosclerosis, fatty liver, type 2 diabetes, and cancer. MiRNAs, which play an important role in MS, promote the expression of inflammatory cytokines. MiRNAs can be potential targets in treating MS. The remarkable feature of MS is low HDLs and decreases capacity of RCT. The expression of ABCA1 in MS is reduced, and positively correlated with HDL-C (P < 0.05, r = 0.3), while being negatively correlated with body mass index (BMI) (P < 0.01, r = 0.4), insulin-resistance (HOMA-IR) (P < 0.01, r = 0.4), and TG (P = 0.01, r = 0.3) [15].

ABCA1 plays an important role in liver, macrophage, and pancreas. But the function of ABCA1 in these tissues is different. In liver, ABCA1 regulates the biosynthesis of HDLs. In macrophage, ABCA1 regulates cholesterol efflux, while in islets, ABCA1 improves glucose-stimulated insulin secretion [16]. Recent studies have shown that miRNAs take part in posttranscriptionally regulating ABCA1 expression and multiple cholesterol efflux pathway– related genes.

Older macrophages play an important role in age-associated diseases such as atherosclerosis and macular degeneration. The abnormal polarization in older macrophages is related to the reduction of ABCA1. The expression of ABCA1 is obviously decreased in aging macrophages. Aging-macrophage cholesterol efflux capacity is impaired and the expressions of proinflammatory factors, such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-a), interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL16. prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2 (PTGS2), C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2), and matrix metallopeptidase (MMP) 9, are significantly increased in old macrophages compared to young macrophages, whereas expressions of anti-inflammatory agents IL-10 and CD163 are significantly downregulated in old macrophages compared to young macrophages. The reduction of ABCA1 in aging macrophages is associated with the increase of miR-33. Knockout ABCA1 of the or

cholesterol-rich diet can accelerate a senescent macrophage phenotype and suppress the capacity to regulate pathological angiogenesis and vascular proliferation [17].

Macrophage energy metabolism plays an important role in the function of macrophages in atherosclerosis. Mitochondria take part in cholesterol efflux in macrophages and are predicted to be adjusted by miR-33. Anti-miR-33 de-repressed the expression of mitochondrial genes, such as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1 alpha (PGC-1 $\alpha$ ), pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4 (PDK4), or SLC25A25, in mouse peritoneal and human THP-1 macrophages. Anti-miR-33 treatment increases oxygen consumption rates and ATP production through regulation of multiple mitochondrial genes. As we know, anti-miR-33 promotes cholesterol efflux in macrophages. However, suppression of mitochondria ATP production restrains the phenomena of anti-miR-33 to promote cholesterol efflux. Anti-miR-33 treatment slows progression of the atherosclerosis independent of HDL in vivo. To further confirm their results, researchers detect the expression of related genes in atherosclerotic plaques from patients and control arteries. The expression of miR-33 (both copies, miR-33a and miR-33b) is obviously elevated in human carotid atherosclerotic plaques, and the expression of PGC-1 $\alpha$ , SLC25A25, and SLC25A23, as well as in the indirect markers of mitochondrial biogenesis nuclear respiratory factor 1 (NRF1) and mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM) are decreased [18].

Although suppression of miR-33 inhibits the progression of atherosclerosis, knockout of miR-33 results in the development of obesity and metabolic dysfunction. Researchers use CRISPR/CAS9 technology to produce the mice in which the 3 miR-33-binding sites with ABCA1 3'UTR are mutated to stop miR-33 binding. The capacity of cholesterol efflux is significantly increased and foam cells formation is decreased in ABCA1-binding site mutant mice. Moreover, interference of ABCA1-binding site can delay the progression of atherosclerosis without negative effects caused by deficiency of miR-33 [19].

There still are other miRNAs that can regulate the expression of ABCA1 except miR-33. It has been reported that the expression of miR-758 is high in mice, and treatment of high-fat diet can increase its levels in mice. MiR-758 can directly target the human ABCA1 3'UTR to inhibit the expression of ABCA1, thus suppressing expression of ABCA1 and cellular cholesterol efflux. MiR-758 is widely expressed in many tissues, particularly in brain, neurogliomas, and the astrocyte cell line CCF-STTG1. The expression of miR-758 is upregulated in mice fed with highfat diet. Overexpression of miR-758 in glioblastoma H4 cells reduces the content of ABCA1 and inhibition of miR-758 increases cholesterol efflux. Thus, miR-758 plays an important role in maintaining the neuronal cholesterol homeostasis. What is more, miR-758 can suppress the expression of genes associated with amino acid synthesis, such as solute carrier family 38 member 1 (SLC38A1), insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1), nontuberculous mycobacteria (NTM), syntaxin-binding protein 1 (STXBP1), and ephrin type-A receptor 7 (EPHA7) [5]. Other miRNAs are found to suppress the expression of ABCA1 and cholesterol efflux, such as miR-223 [13], miR-26 [7], miR-23a-5p [20], miR-302a [4], miR-9-5p [15], and miR-20a [6].

miR-223 can promote cholesterol efflux. Gene Sp1 (66 actual/21.17 expected,  $P = 2.25 \times 10^{-11}$ ) and Sp3 (24 actual/8.55 expected,  $P = 6.5 \times 10^{-6}$ ) are both the targets of miR-223. But overexpression of miR-223 is found to suppress Sp3 mRNA levels, but not Sp1 mRNA levels. So miR-223 can increase the expression of ABCA1 through inhibition of Sp3, which antagonizes Sp1-mediated ABCA1 activation [13]. MiR-19b represses the expression of ABCA1 through targeting the ABCA1 3'UTR in foam cellderived THP-1 and mouse peritoneal macrophages, and slicing miR-19b promotes the expression of ABCA1. miR-19b inhibits the capacity of apo-AI to remove cholesterol from cells and increases the accumulation of cholesterol in macrophages. MiR-19b promotes the progression of atherosclerosis in mice [21]. MiR26 also can inhibit the levels of ABCA1 and ADP-ribosylation factor-like 7 (ARL7) to depress cholesterol efflux [7]. MiR-23a-5p has been proved to repress ABCA1/G1 3'UTR, and MiR-23a-5p inhibitor promotes macrophages cholesterol efflux through upregulation of ABCA1/G1 levels [20].

MiR-9-5p is negatively correlated to ABCA1 (P < 0.05, r = -0.3); researchers find a negative correlation between miR-9-5p expression and HDLs levels (P < 0.05, r = 0.3), and positive correlation with BMI (P = 0.01, r = 0.3), HOMA-IR (P < 0.01, r = 0.3) and TG (P < 0.01; r = 0.4). What is more, compared with healthy controls, the cholesterol efflux capacity of monocytes derived from peripheral blood mononuclear cells of patients with MS is decreased. And the cholesterol efflux capacity is positive correlation with the expression of ABCA1 (P < 0.01; r = 0.8) and negative correlation with the expression of miR-9-5p (P < 0.01; r = 0.7 [15]. Furthermore, miR-302a and miR20a can target ABCA1 3'UTR to inhibit the expression of ABCA1, and contribute to decrease cholesterol efflux in macrophages [4, 6].

Protocatechuic acid (PCA) is a metabolite derived from human gut microbiota metabolism of cyanidin-3-O- $\beta$ -glucoside (Cy-3-G). PCA could inhibit the atherogenic process. PCA but not Cy-3-G can increase cholesterol efflux from mouse peritoneal macrophages and human THP-1 macrophages. PCA can increase the expression of ABCA1 and ABCG1 on mRNA and protein levels through downregulation of miR-10b. miR-10b can reduce the 3'UTR activity of ABCA1 and ABCG1. Further, PCA and Cy-3-G can promote cholesterol efflux in vivo [22].

The expression of miR-10b is increased in the arteries with advanced but not early atherosclerotic plaques. The typical feature of the transition from early to advanced atherosclerosis is the accumulation of free cholesterol-induced apoptotic macrophages (FC-AMs). Supplement of FC-AM increases the expression of miR-10b in mouse resident peritoneal macrophages (RPMs). The increase of miR-10b results from the upregulation of Twist1/2 stimulated by FC-AM. Interestingly, anti-miR10b treatment selectively promotes the expression of ABCA1 in the macrophages of advanced rather than early atherosclerotic plaques. Anti-miR10b treatment depresses the expression of ABCA1 in mRNA and protein levels only in resident peritoneal macrophages (RPMs) engulfing FC-AM but not in RPM- or RPM-derived foam cells. Similarly, Anti-miR10b treatment promotes cholesterol efflux only in RPM engulfing FC-AM not in RPM or RPM-derived foam cells. Antagonism of miR-10b suppresses the progression of advanced atherosclerosis but not the formation of early atherosclerosis [23].

MiR-21 is highly expressed in macrophages/ monocytes. Knockout of miR-21 in myeloid cells accelerates the progression of atherosclerosis. Absence of miR-21 in macrophages promotes macrophage/monocyte infiltration in the artery wall and increases the expression of inflammatory cytokines in macrophages. miR-21 deletion leads to cell death and attenuates the formation of plaque necrosis. Absence of miR-21 in macrophages results in ABCG1 degradation and increases formation of foam cells [24].

Treatment with rosuvastatin decreases the levels of plasma total cholesterol (TC), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), and non-HDL-C, and reduces the mRNA levels of ABCA1 and ABCG1 in atherosclerotic plaques. ABCA1 is mainly expressed in macrophages. Treatment of high-dose (40 mg/day) rosuvastatin can improve the expression of ABCA1 in protein levels. The contradiction between mRNA and protein suggested a posttranscriptional regulation. The levels of miR-33b-5p are decreased in mice that were given a dose of rosuvastatin. What is more, transfection of a miR-33b-5p mimic into THP1 cells treated with rosuvastatin reduces the expression of ABCA1 [25].

Knockout of miR-143/145 prevents the formation of atherosclerosis compared with LDLR-/mice fed with western diet. MiR-143/145 deficiency decreases the expression of actin alpha 2 (ACTA2) and smooth muscle 22 (SM22), and increases the expression of byglican (BGL) in smooth muscle cells, which proves that SMC turned into a synthetic phenotype. Moreover, the macrophages in plaque decrease significantly. Deletion of miR-143/145 reduces circulating cholesterol but not plasma TG levels. MiR-145 directly targets the 3'UTR of ABCA1. What is more, the levels of miR-145 in macrophages increase after treated with vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) conditional media. It proves miR-145 might be transmitted from VSMC to macrophages [26].

Furthermore, HDLs also can be a good vector that can carry several miRNAs. It has been reported that miRNAs carried by HDLs are important to inflammation response. Except for macrophages, HDLs also can change gene expression in endothelial cells. It is interesting to find that the effect of native HDL is different from its components, such as rHDL, apolipoprotein AI (ApoAI), and small unilamellar vesicles (SUV). Native HDL alters miRNAs in endothelia and the level of miR-223 increases significantly. HDL transfers miR-223 to endothelia and suppresses the expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) by targeting 3'UTR (814–816) to suppress inflammatory response [27].

MiR-126 highly expressed in endothelial cells is found in HDLs with  $\approx$ 2800 copies/ug HDLs. Like miR-126, miR-92a, which is enriched in endothelial cells, is also detected in HDLs with almost 3400 copies/ug HDLs. Further, the number of miR-92a, miR-126, and miR-30c carried by HDLs is reduced obviously in patients with acute coronary syndrome (ACS) compared with that in healthy people. In smooth muscle cells (SMCs), treated with HDLs from ACS or coronary artery disease (CAD) suppresses the expression of miR-126 and miR-92a. Treatment with HDLs cannot influence the level of pri- and pre-miR-92a. In contrast, the expressions of priand pre-miR-126 are decreased after 1 h and increased 6 h later of HDLs stimulation [28].

diabetic nephropathy (DN) patients, In miR-132 carried by circulating HDLs is decreased significantly. To investigate how the HDL-miR-132 affects function of endothelia, researcher transferred fluorescently labeled HDLs with a miR-132 mimic sequence to human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs). The endothelial barrier function of HUVECs has not changed after treated with HDL-miR132. While after stimulation with HDL-miR-132, HUVECs show a higher total tube length. However, EV-miR-132 cannot change the capacity of angiogenic tube formation. Further, HUVECs in the presence of diabetes mellitus (DM) or DN patient serum coculture with HDL-miR-132 show an obviously increased tube formation capacity compared to without HDL-miR-132 [29]. What is more, the expression of miR-126, miR-21, and miR-222 is decreased in endothelial cells treated with HDLs separated from patients with chronic heart failure (CHF) compared with that from health people (miR-126: 0.69  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 1.08  $\pm$  0.17; miR-21:  $0.79 \pm 0.11$  vs.  $1.23 \pm 0.06$ ; miR-222:  $1.25 \pm 0.07$  vs.  $0.93 \pm 0.05$  [30]. Therefore, some kinds of miRNAs are involved in antiinflammatory response, and HDLs-related miRNAs can be clinical biomarkers for some metabolic diseases (Fig. 12.1).



Fig. 12.1 miRNAs maintain HDL homeostasis

### References

- Najafi-Shoushtari SH, Kristo F, Li Y, Shioda T, Cohen DE, Gerszten RE, Näär AM (2010) MicroRNA-33 and the SREBP host genescooperate to control cholesterol homeostasis. Science 328(5985):1566–1569
- Rayner KJ, Sheedy FJ, Esau CC, Hussain FN, Temel RE, Parathath S, van Gils JM, Rayner AJ, Chang AN, Suarez Y, Fernandez-Hernando C, Fisher EA, Moore KJ (2011) Antagonism of miR-33 in mice promotes reverse cholesterol transport and regression of atherosclerosis. J Clin Invest 121(7):2921–2931
- Hoekstra M, van der Sluis RJ, Kuiper J, Van Berkel TJC (2012) Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with an altered hepatocyte microRNA profile in LDL receptor knockout mice. J Nutr Biochem 23(6):622–628
- Meiler S, Baumer Y, Toulmin E, Seng K, Boisvert WA (2015) MicroRNA 302a is a novel modulator of cholesterol homeostasis and atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 35(2):323–331
- Ramirez CM, Dávalos A, Goedeke L, Salerno AG, Warrier N, Cirera-Salinas D, Suárez Y, Fernández-Hernando C (2011) MicroRNA-758 regulates cholesterol efflux through posttranscriptional repression of ATP-binding cassette transporter A1. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 31(11):2707–2714
- 6. Liang B, Wang X, Song X, Bai R, Yang H, Yang Z, Xiao C, Bian Y (2017) MicroRNA-20a/b regulates cholesterol efflux through post-transcriptional repression of ATP-binding cassette transporter A1. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids 1862(9):929–938
- Sun D, Zhang J, Xie J, Wei W, Chen M, Zhao X (2012) MiR-26 controls LXR-dependent cholesterol efflux by targeting ABCA1 and ARL7. FEBS Lett 586(10):1472–1479
- de Aguiar Vallim TQ, Tarling EJ, Kim T, Civelek M, Baldán Á, Esau C, Edwards PA (2013) MicroRNA-144 regulates hepatic ATP binding cassette transporter A1 and plasma high-density lipoprotein after activation of the nuclear receptor farnesoid X receptor. Circ Res 112(12):1602–1612
- Adlakha YK, Khanna S, Singh R, Singh VP, Agrawal A, Saini N (2013) Pro-apoptotic miRNA-128-2 modulates ABCA1, ABCG1 and RXRα expression and cholesterol homeostasis. Cell Death Dis 4(8): e780
- Geng S, Chen K, Yuan R, Peng L, Maitra U, Diao N, Chen C, Zhang Y, Hu Y, Qi C, Pierce S, Ling W, Xiong H, Li L (2016) The persistence of low-grade inflammatory monocytes contributes to aggravated atherosclerosis. Nat Commun 7:13436
- 11. Ren K, Zhu X, Zheng Z, Mo Z, Peng X, Zeng Y, Ou H, Zhang Q, Qi H, Zhao G, Yi G (2018) MicroRNA-24 aggravates atherosclerosis by inhibiting selective lipid uptake from HDL cholesterol via the posttranscriptional repression of scavenger receptor class B type I. Atherosclerosis 270:57–67

- Wang L, Jia X, Jiang H, Du Y, Yang F, Si S, Hong B (2013) MicroRNAs 185, 96, and 223 repress selective high-density lipoprotein cholesterol uptake through posttranscriptional inhibition. Mol Cell Biol 33(10): 1956–1964
- Vickers KC, Landstreet SR, Levin MG, Shoucri BM, Toth CL, Taylor RC, Palmisano BT, Tabet F, Cui HL, Rye K, Sethupathy P, Remaley AT (2014) MicroRNA-223 coordinates cholesterol homeostasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111(40):14518–14523
- 14. Hu Z, Shen W, Kraemer FB, Azhar S (2012) MicroRNAs 125a and 455 repress lipoproteinsupported steroidogenesis by targeting scavenger receptor class B type I in steroidogenic cells. Mol Cell Biol 32(24):5035–5045
- 15. D'Amore S, Härdfeldt J, Cariello M, Graziano G, Copetti M, Di Tullio G, Piglionica M, Scialpi N, Sabbà C, Palasciano G, Vacca M, Moschetta A (2018) Identification of miR-9-5p as direct regulator of ABCA1 and HDL-driven reverse cholesterol transport in circulating CD14+ cells of patients with metabolic syndrome. Cardiovasc Res 114(8):1154–1164
- 16. Kang MH, Zhang L, Wijesekara N, de Haan W, Butland S, Bhattacharjee A, Hayden MR (2013) Regulation of ABCA1 protein expression and function in hepatic and pancreatic islet cells by miR-145. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 33(12):2724–2732
- 17. Sene A, Khan AA, Cox D, Nakamura RE, Santeford A, Kim BM, Sidhu R, Onken MD, Harbour JW, Hagbi-Levi S, Chowers I, Edwards PA, Baldan A, Parks JS, Ory DS, Apte RS (2013) Impaired cholesterol efflux in senescent macrophages promotes age-related macular degeneration. Cell Metab 17(4): 549–561
- Karunakaran D, Thrush AB, Nguyen M, Richards L, Geoffrion M, Singaravelu R, Ramphos E, Shangari P, Ouimet M, Pezacki JP, Moore KJ, Perisic L, Maegdefessel L, Hedin U, Harper M, Rayner KJ (2015) Macrophage mitochondrial energy status regulates cholesterol efflux and is enhanced by antimiR33 in atherosclerosis. Circ Res 117(3):266–278
- Price NL, Rotllan N, Zhang X, Canfrán-Duque A, Nottoli T, Suarez Y, Fernández-Hernando C (2019) Specific disruption of Abca1 targeting largely mimics the effects of miR-33 knockout on macrophage cholesterol efflux and atherosclerotic plaque development. Circ Res 124(6):874–880
- 20. Yang S, Ye Z, Chen S, Luo X, Chen S, Mao L, Li Y, Jin H, Yu C, Xiang F, Xie M, Chang J, Xia Y, Hu B (2018) MicroRNA-23a-5p promotes atherosclerotic plaque progression and vulnerability by repressing ATP-binding cassette transporter A1/G1 in macrophages. J Mol Cell Cardiol 123:139–149
- 21. Lv Y, Tang Y, Peng J, Zhao G, Yang J, Yao F, Ouyang X, He P, Xie W, Tan Y, Zhang M, Liu D, Tang D, Cayabyab FS, Zheng X, Zhang D, Tian G, Tang C (2014) MicroRNA-19b promotes macrophage cholesterol accumulation and aortic atherosclerosis by

targeting ATP-binding cassette transporter A1. Atherosclerosis 236(1):215–226

- 22. Wang D, Xia M, Yan X, Li D, Wang L, Xu Y, Jin T, Ling W (2012) Gut microbiota metabolism of anthocyanin promotes reverse cholesterol transport in mice via repressing miRNA-10b. Circ Res 111(8):967–981
- 23. Wang D, Wang W, Lin W, Yang W, Zhang P, Chen M, Ding D, Liu C, Zheng J, Ling W (2018) Apoptotic cell induction of miR-10b in macrophages contributes to advanced atherosclerosis progression in ApoE-/- mice. Cardiovasc Res 114(13):1794–1805
- 24. Canfrán-Duque A, Rotllan N, Zhang X, Fernández-Fuertes M, Ramírez-Hidalgo C, Araldi E, Daimiel L, Busto R, Fernández-Hernando C, Suárez Y (2017) Macrophage deficiency of miR-21 promotes apoptosis, plaque necrosis, and vascular inflammation during atherogenesis. EMBO Mol Med 9(9):1244–1262
- 25. Santovito D, Marcantonio P, Mastroiacovo D, Natarelli L, Mandolini C, De Nardis V, Paganelli C, De Cesare D, Affaitati G, Giamberardino MA, Stellin L, Pinelli M, Weber C, De Blasis G, Occhiuzzi U, Bucci M, Desideri G, Cipollone F (2020) High dose rosuvastatin increases ABCA1 transporter in human atherosclerotic plaques in a cholesterol-independent fashion. Int J Cardiol 299: 249–253
- 26. Sala F, Aranda JF, Rotllan N, Ramírez CM, Aryal B, Elia L, Condorelli G, Catapano AL, Fernández-Hernando C, Norata GD (2014) MiR-143/145 deficiency attenuates the progression of atherosclerosis in Ldlr-/- mice. Thromb Haemost 112(4):796–802

- Tabet F, Vickers KC, Cuesta Torres LF, Wiese CB, Shoucri BM, Lambert G, Catherinet C, Prado-Lourenco L, Levin MG, Thacker S, Sethupathy P, Barter PJ, Remaley AT, Rye K (2014) HDL-transferred microRNA-223 regulates ICAM-1 expression in endothelial cells. Nat Commun 5:3292
- 28. Wagner J, Riwanto M, Besler C, Knau A, Fichtlscherer S, Röxe T, Zeiher AM, Landmesser U, Dimmeler S (2013) Characterization of levels and cellular transfer of circulating lipoprotein-bound MicroRNAs. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 33(6): 1392–1400
- 29. Florijn BW, Duijs JMGJ, Levels JH, Dallinga-Thie GM, Wang Y, Boing AN, Yuana Y, Stam W, Limpens RWAL, Au YW, Nieuwland R, Rabelink TJ, Reinders MEJ, van Zonneveld AJ, Bijkerk R (2019) Diabetic nephropathy alters the distribution of circulating Angiogenic MicroRNAs among extracellular vesicles, HDL, and Ago-2. Diabetes 68(12):2287–2300
- 30. Riedel S, Radzanowski S, Bowen TS, Werner S, Erbs S, Schuler G, Adams V (2015) Exercise training improves high-density lipoprotein-mediated transcription of proangiogenic microRNA in endothelial cells. Eur J Prev Cardiol 22(7):899–903
- 31. Briand O, Touche V, Colin S, Brufau G, Davalos A, Schonewille M, Bovenga F, Carrière V, de Boer JF, Dugardin C, Riveau B, Clavey V, Tailleux A, Moschetta A, Lasunción MA, Groen AK, Staels B, Lestavel S (2016) Liver X receptor regulates triglyceride absorption through intestinal Down-regulation of scavenger receptor class B, type 1. Gastroenterology 150(3):650–658

# **HDL and Kidney Diseases**

Huanhuan Cao and Xia Meng

#### Abstract

Serum lipid profiles, as well as HDL can be altered in patients with kidney diseases. There are various types of kidney diseases, including nephrotic syndrome and chronic kidney disease. In patients with nephrotic syndrome, plasma levels of HDL cholesterol and ApoA-I were within or below the normal limits. The HDL cholesterol: total cholesterol ratio decreased compared to healthy individuals. In patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD), reverse cholesterol transport function of HDL is impaired, and CKD also affects the composition and function of HDL. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the severe complication of CKD. Furthermore, HDL might also be a potential target for the prevention of cardiovascular complications associated with CKD.

e-mail: caohuanhuan@bjmu.edu.cn

#### **Keywords**

HDL · Nephrotic syndrome · Chronic kidney disease

#### Introduction 13.1

Patients with kidney diseases are often complicated with cardiovascular complications, and kidney diseases are significantly associated with cardiovascular diseases. A multitude of studies have suggested that lipid management is beneficial for both kidney diseases and cardiovascular complications [1], whereas little is known about HDL in kidney diseases. In this part, we will focus on HDL and kidney diseases and related cardiovascular complications.

There are various types of kidney diseases, including nephrotic syndrome and chronic kidney disease. Nephrotic syndrome (NS) is a common pediatric kidney disease, and it can cause huge burden. The incidence of childhood NS is reported as 4.7 per 100,000 children worldwide, and it varies by race and location [2]. Children with NS have higher cardiovascular burden, resulting in higher morbidities of cardiovascular diseases in the future [3]. Nephrotic syndrome refers to excessive proteinuria, with associated hypoalbuminemia, edema, and hyperlipidemia. There are many different causes of NS, including gene mutation, infections, drug, toxins, and glomerular hyperfiltration. Although causes are

H. Cao

The Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences and Institute of Systems Biomedicine, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Key Laboratory of Molecular Cardiovascular Science of Ministry of Education, NHC Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Molecular Biology and Regulatory Peptides, Beijing Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Receptors Research, Health Science Center, Peking University, Beijing, China

X. Meng (🖂)

China National Clinical Research Center for Neurological Diseases, Beijing Tiantan Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China e-mail: mengxia@ncrcnd.org.cn

<sup>©</sup> Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), HDL Metabolism and Diseases, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_13

complex, they share the common pathophysiology, that is, the defect in the glomerular filtration barrier. Glomerular filtration barrier is essential for the function of the kidney, and defect in it results in massive loss of protein in the urine, hypoalbuminemia, following edema, and dyslipidemia [4]. addition, In immune dysregulation also contributes to the development of NS. Berg et al. found that exposure to allergens can cause NS, and they put forward the hypothesis that immune dysregulation plays a pathogenic role in disease development [5]. Audard et al. confirmed that Hodgkin's and other T-cell lymphomas may trigger NS, and chemotherapy can subsequently induce remission [6]. Other systemic circulating factors may also play a role in the pathogenesis of NS [7, 8]. The histological classification of NS is of great value to the treatment and prognosis of the disease. The most common form of NS in children is minimal change nephrotic syndrome (MCNS), while the most common form in adults is membranous nephropathy (MN). Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) can occur in both children and adult, which is more resistant to steroid, and more likely to progress to end-stage renal failure. The treatment of NS includes corticosteroids, levamisole, mycophenolate mofetil, and rituximab [9]. Among these suggested alternatives, oral corticosteroid is the first-line therapy. And 80% of patients with NS respond to corticosteroids [10, 11]. Hyperlipidemia is one of the clinical features of NS. Lipid-lowing drugs such as statins is recommended by the European Society of Cardiology and European Atherosclerosis Society guidelines in 2011 [12].

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is defined as decreased kidney function shown by glomerular filtration rate (GFR) of less than 60 mL/min per  $1.73 \text{ m}^2$ , or markers of kidney damage, or both, of at least 3 months duration. When GFR is less than 15 mL/min per  $1.73 \text{ m}^2$ , CKD progresses to end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) [13]. CKD is a global health problem, and the burden of it is substantial. The prevalence of CKD is reported to be around 11% in developed countries, including Australia and the USA. The incidence and prevalence of CKD vary within countries, which have

different economic conditions. Divided into four socioeconomic levels, those in the bottom quarter had a 60% higher risk of CKD than those in the top quarter. According to World Health Organization, the mortality of CKD is 12.2 deaths per 100,000 people, ranking fourteenth in the list of leading causes of death. And the mortality of CKD will continue to increase to reach 14 per 100,000 people by 2030 [14]. Chronic kidney disease originates from many heterogeneous diseases and eventually results in the changes of kidney structure and function. Therefore, the etiology of CKD is varied. Diabetes and hypertension are the two leading causes of CKD worldwide, no matter in high-income countries or many low-income countries. Diabetes accounts for 30-50% of all CKD, and the proportion is expected to increase in the future [15]. Hypertension also has a high incidence of disease worldwide, and studies have shown the relationship between increasing risk of developing CKD and worsening blood pressure control [16]. The histological change of CKD is renal fibrosis, characterized by glomerulosclerosis, tubular atrophy, and interstitial fibrosis. Glomerulosclerosis is attributed to endothelial dysfunction, proliferation of smooth-muscle cells, and destruction of podocytes. Furthermore, risk factors, including hypertension, dyslipidemia, and smoking, promoted the progression of glomerulosclerosis. Cardiovascular disease is one of the CKD complications. It is estimated that cardiovascular mortality is 57% higher in individuals with CKD compared to individuals without CKD. The risks of both myocardial infarction, stroke, and cardiovascular death increase as GFR declines [17, 18]. Antiplatelet treatment is recommended by clinical practice guidelines [19]. However, studies have suggested that although antiplatelet agents were effective at reducing the risk of myocardial infarction by 13% in CKD patients, the effects on cardiovascular and all-cause death were uncertain [20]. Dyslipidemia is also a risk factor for cardiovascular complication. A systematic review showed that statins were able to reduce all-cause mortality by 19%, cardiovascular mortality by 22%, and cardiovascular events by 24% in individuals with CKD [21].

Recent studies have also suggested that HDL is significantly associated with nephrotic syndrome and CKD, [22] and targeting HDL may provide a new insight into intervening the kidney diseases.

# 13.2 The Role of the Kidney Plays in HDL Metabolism

The protective role of HDL in many diseases is associated with the level, composition, and function of HDL. These are regulated by HDL metabolism [23]. As we all know that the primary sites of lipoprotein metabolism are in liver, skeletal muscles, adipose tissue, and some cells such as macrophages [24]. What is more, kidney is also a key modulator of HDL components, which in turn regulate HDL levels, composition, and function of HDL particles. Previously, kidney has not been believed to regulate lipid metabolism, for that glomerular filtration barrier blocks most of the molecules, allowing only the smallest ones to pass through. Recently, studies have shown that HDL is not an intact particle, and the metabolism of HDL is also not the removal of the whole intact particle, but the removal of component of HDL, such as apolipoprotein A-I, apoE. In addition, some transfer proteins and enzymes involved in HDL metabolism, such as cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP), lecithin cholesteryl ester acyltransferase (LCAT), phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP), could also be metabolized by the kidney [25].

The liver is the primary site of clearance of HDL-associated lipids and degradation of HDL-associated apolipoproteins. Hepatic SR-B1 plays an important role in it. SR-B1 binds HDL particles, and then HDL is hydrolyzed by hepatic lipase, releasing ApoA-I into circulation [26]. The kidney is another essential site of HDL metabolism. The normal function of kidney depends on the glomerular filtration barrier. The filtration barrier in the glomerular capillaries block passage of molecules >60–100 KD. Although HDL particles exceed this mass, components of HDL, including various lipid and proteins, could cross the normal glomerular filtration barrier. ApoA-I is

the main component of HDL, and the molecular weight of ApoA-I is 28 KD [27]. It is obvious that ApoA-I could pass through the normal glomerular filtration barrier. In animal experiment, the majority of injected labeled human ApoA-I is cleared by the kidney [28]. The molecular weight of LCAT is 63kD, and it is predicted to pass through the glomerular filtration barrier. LCAT deficiency could impair the maturation of preß--HDL. Except for the glomerular filtration barrier, renal tubule also plays roles in HDL metabolism. Take ApoA-I for an example, after being filtered by the glomerular filtration barrier, ApoA-I was absorbed by the proximal tubule, and proximal tubular reabsorption failure leads to increased urinary excretion of ApoA-I [29]. Therefore, the kidney through the filter of glomerular filtration barrier and uptake by proximal tubule regulates the plasma level of ApoA-I and HDL.

Taken together, the kidney plays a regulatory role in HDL metabolism. Changes in kidney structure and function will affect HDL level, composition, and function. Therefore, HDL can be a biomarker of kidney damage. For example, ApoA-I can cross the glomerular filtration barrier, and the damage of the renal barrier will inevitably increase the filtration of ApoAI; thus, apoAI in urine can be used as a marker of the disruption of the glomerular filtration barrier. Furthermore, this indicator is more sensitive than albumin. Injection of LMB2 to Nphs1-hCD25 transgenic mice could selectively damage podocyte, which is an important cell for the normal function of the glomerular filtration barrier. The experimental model induced by LMB2 could cause albuminuria and edema by 2 weeks, and recover by 6 weeks. Interestingly, ApoA-I in urine increased >tenfold in this model. Moreover, although urinary albumin returned to normal at week 6, urinary ApoA-I remained elevated, sevenfold higher than normal state. The data implied that urinary ApoA-I is more sensitive than albuminuria in face of the disruption of the glomerular filtration barrier [25].

# 13.3 The Abnormality of HDL Metabolism in Kidney Diseases

Serum lipid profiles, as well as HDL can be altered in patients with kidney diseases. The abnormality of HDL can, in turn, affect the development and progression of cardiovascular complications and various other comorbidities of kidney diseases, such as atherosclerosis and glomerulosclerosis.

# 13.3.1 The Abnormality of HDL Metabolism in Nephrotic Syndrome

Nephrotic syndrome is characterized by dyslipidemia, and the abnormalities include elevated plasma levels of cholesterol, triglycerides, and the apolipoprotein B-containing lipoproteins (including very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), intermediate-density lipoprotein (IDL), and LDL) [30]. Moreover, the composition and function of lipoproteins are significantly altered: lipoprotein (a), ApoB, ApoC, and ApoE, and ApoC-III: ApoC-II ratio increase in patients with nephrotic syndrome [31]. However, in patients with nephrotic syndrome, plasma levels of HDL cholesterol and ApoA-I were within or below the normal limits. The HDL cholesterol: total cholesterol ratio decreased compared to healthy individuals [32]. Additionally, cholesterol-esterpoor HDL3 can convert to cholesterol-ester-rich HDL2, and the maturation process is impaired in NS patients, resulting in increased HDL3 and decreased HDL2 in plasma. These indicated that HDL-mediated reverse cholesterol transport was impaired in nephrotic syndrome [33].

The abnormalities of HDL metabolism in nephrotic syndrome involve various mechanisms. Acquired LCAT deficiency contributes to impaired HDL maturation. It is well known that LCAT is responsible for re-esterification of free cholesterol on the surface of HDL through the interaction with ApoA-I. The re-esterification is essential for the maturation of cholesterol esterpoor HDL3 to cholesterol-ester-rich HDL2. In order to study impaired maturation of HDL in nephrotic syndrome due to acquired LCAT deficiency, Vaziri et al. used Sprague-Dawley rats to make nephrotic syndrome models. Sprague-Dawley rats were given 130 mg puromycin aminonucleoside on day 1 and 60 mg ip on day 14 to induce nephrotic syndrome, and on day 30, hepatic LCAT mRNA abundance and plasma and urine LCAT activity were measured. The nephrotic syndrome rats showed a four- to fivefold rise in serum cholesterol and triglycerides, and a fourfold fall in the HDL: total cholesterol ratio. Interestingly, puromycin aminonucleoside-induced nephrotic syndrome models showed similar hepatic LCAT mRNA abundance with control rats, but significant increase in urinary LCAT was observed in nephrotic syndrome models. Therefore, nephrotic syndrome causes heavy LCAT losses, resulting in impaired HDL maturation [34]. Hypoalbuminemia another factor is contributing to increased cholesterol-ester-poor HDL in nephrotic syndrome. Hypoalbuminemia is one of the clinical features in nephrotic syndrome, because of massive losses of albumin from urine. Plasma albumin plays an important role in HDL metabolism. It can carry free cholesterol from the peripheral tissues to the plasma HDL3 [35]. Therefore, nephrotic syndrome causes hypoalbuminemia, which leads to abnormal HDL metabolism. In addition, the study has shown that plasma levels of CETP increased in patients with nephrotic syndrome [36]. CETP mediates the transfer of cholesteryl esters from HDL to VLDL and LDL. Many studies have shown that CETP inhibitor can increase HDL-C levels and decrease LDL-C levels, playing a protective cardiovascular role in diseases [37, 38]. The elevated CETP depletes the cholesterol esters and raises the triglyceride component of HDL, contributing to increased cholesterolpoor HDL3 and decreased cholesterol-rich HDL2 in nephrotic syndrome.

The HDL metabolism by the liver also changes in nephrotic syndrome. Hepatic SR-B1 deficiency, hepatic HDL endocytic receptor upregulation, and hepatic lipase deficiency were observed. SRB1 is the HDL receptor expressed on the hepatocyte plasma membrane, and it is critical for HDL-mediated reverse cholesterol transport. Liang et al. found that hepatic tissue HDL receptor SR-B1 protein abundance markedly decreased in rats with puromycin-induced nephrotic syndrome, while hepatic SR-B1 mRNA abundance has no significant difference from control group [39]. The study suggested that there may be a posttranscriptional or posttranslational mechanism underlying the phenomenon. Subsequently, Ikemoto et al. identified a PDZdomain-containing protein that interacted with C terminus of SR-B1 via its N-terminal first PDZ domain. The study suggested that the PDZdomain-containing protein was the adaptor protein for SR-B1, and it regulated the stability of SR-B1 through preventing SRB-1 degradation at the posttranslational level [40]. In puromycininduced nephrotic syndrome rats, the reduction in SR-B1 protein abundance was observed, significantly associated with parallel reductions in PDZ-containing kidney protein 1 (PDZK1) mRNA and protein abundance [41]. The  $\beta$  chain of ATP synthase is the ApoA-1 receptor and mediates endocytosis of the lipid-poor HDL. The receptor was shown to increase in puromycin-induced nephrotic syndrome rats. The findings suggested that hepatic HDL endocytic receptor upregulation played a role in nephrotic syndrome [41]. Hepatic lipase deficiency also affects HDL metabolism in nephrotic syndrome. Garber et al. found a significant downregulation of hepatic lipase expression and activity in experimental models [42]. The acquired hepatic lipase deficiency contributes to triglyceride enrichment of HDL in nephrotic syndrome.

# 13.3.2 The Abnormality of HDL Metabolism in Chronic Kidney Disease

Dyslipidemia is one of the clinical characterizations of CKD. The metabolism of lipids and Lipoproteins is abnormal, including increased levels of triglycerides, small dense and oxidized LDL (oxLDL), and decreased levels of HDL-cholesterol [43]. Furthermore, CKD also affects the composition and function of HDL, and reverse cholesterol transport function of HDL is impaired in CKD [44].

The mechanisms underlying the abnormalities of HDL composition, function, and metabolism in patients with CKD are complex. ApoA-I, the main protein component of HDL, was shown to markedly reduce in both human and animal CKD. ApoA-I is produced by the hepatocytes [45]. In vitro study, human uremic plasma could suppress the production of ApoA-I in cultured human hepatocytes [46], which suggested that uremic substances in CKD inhibited the ApoA-I biosynthesis. ApoA-I plays a critical role in the function of HDL: ApoA-I interacts with ABCA1 on the cell membrane to trigger an efflux of phospholipids and free cholesterol to the surface of HDL, which is important for removal of cholesterol from the peripheral tissues [47]. Therefore, ApoA-I deficiency in CKD contributes to structural and functional abnormalities of HDL. Hypoalbuminemia is common in CKD because of impaired glomerular filtration barrier, resulting in massive losses of albumin from urine. It is well known that ABCA1 mediates uptake of surplus cholesterol from the peripheral tissues. Except for ABCA1, albumin also plays a role in reverse cholesterol transport of HDL, which carries free cholesterol from the peripheral tissues to plasma cholesterol-poor HDL3. Hypoalbuminemia in CKD may, therefore, contribute to decreased cholesterol-rich HDL [35]. Reduced levels of hepatic lipase are associated with the formation of triglyceride-rich HDL in CKD. Hepatic lipase catalyzes the hydrolysis and clearance of triglycerides from HDL. Therefore, hepatic lipase deficiency in CKD leads to triglyceride enrichment of HDL [48, 49].

In addition to decreased HDL levels and impaired function of reverse cholesterol transport, the anti-inflammatory activity of HDL is also impaired in CKD. Moradi et al. conducted a study, which included 32 stable hemodialysisdependent CKD patients and 13 age-matched controls, and they found a significant reduction of antioxidant activity of HDL in patients with CKD. The reduction of antioxidant activity of HDL is partly attributed to the reduction in paraoxonase-1 and glutathione peroxidase [50]. Moreover, reduced anti-inflammatory activity of HDL was shown in the majority of patients with end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) [51]. In the in vitro study, HDL isolated from healthy people showed the anti-inflammatory property, but HDL isolated from individuals with ESKD failed to inhibit the production of inflammatory cytokines by monocytes [52]. In ESKD, the impaired anti-inflammatory activity of HDL is caused by serum amyloid A (SAA). Thomas et al. used shotgun proteomics to identify HDL-associated proteins. Forty-nine HDL-associated proteins including SAA were found to enrich in HDL from patients with ESKD. SAA is similar to ESKD-HDL by promoting the production of inflammatory cytokines, and SAA levels in HDL are inversely associated with its anti-inflammatory properties in ESKD. As a result, the protein composition such as SAA contributed to impaired anti-inflammatory activity in patients with ESKD [52].

Previous studies have believed that the abnormalities of HDL metabolism are the consequences of CKD. However, recent studies have shown that altered HDL metabolism could also promote the development and progression of CKD. A prospective cohort study suggested that non-HDL-cholesterol to HDL-cholesterol ratio was an independent risk factor for the development of chronic kidney disease. The study included 1891 Chinese adults with normal or near-normal kidney function at baseline, and tracked them two years to observe new-onset CKD (the diagnostic criterion of glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) is  $<60 \text{ mL/min per } 1.73 \text{ m}^2$ ). Individuals with non-HDL-c to HDL-c ratio in the highest tertile had a 1.45-fold higher risk of new-onset CKD than individuals in the lowest tertile [53]. A Global Case-Control Study showed that HDL was significantly associated with diabetic kidney disease. In the study, the case subjects included 1891 patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and diabetic kidney disease, and the control subjects included 3683 type 2 diabetes mellitus patients without kidney disease. The odds ratio decreased by 0.86 (0.82-0.91) for

every 0.2 mmol/L increase in high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. These findings suggested that HDL level was a significant predictor of the development and progression of diabetic kidney disease [54]. However, the mechanisms underlying it remain further investigations.

# 13.3.3 HDL and the Cardiovascular Risk in Kidney Diseases

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of death in patients with CKD. According to the US Renal Data System, the prevalence of CVD in individuals with chronic kidney disease is 65.8%, more than twice the prevalence of CVD in people without CKD (31.9%). The cardiovascular complications in CKD include coronary artery disease, arteriosclerosis, cardiomyopathy, and an increased risk of sudden cardiac death resulting from arrhythmia [55]. CKD is characterized by dyslipidemia, which is a risk factor for the development of cardiovascular complications [56]. Cholesterol-lowering therapy with atorvastatins could reduce the risk of cardiovascular events in part of CKD patients [57]. Many clinical studies have shown little or no benefit of statins in the prevention of CVD in patients with CKD. These findings suggested that a substantial residual cardiovascular risk remained even after lipid-lowering therapy (statins) in most patients with CKD. Recently, evidence has shown that HDL might be a potential risk factor that contributed to the residual risk. А cross-sectional study showed that abnormalities in HDL were strongly and consistently associated with subclinical atherosclerosis in CKD. In the study, 6572 participants were involved, and subclinical atherosclerosis was measured by the common carotid intima-media thickness (CIMT). They found a stronger association between lower HDL-C and CIMT in patients with lower eGFR [58]. An observational cohort study showed that HDL could predict incident atherosclerotic CVD in CKD patients without history of CVD. In the study, 45,390 CKD patients without previous history of myocardial infarction (MI) were included, multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that HDL was inversely associated with incident MI [59]. Moreover, lower HDL level is significantly associated with higher risk of death in patients with CKD [60]. In addition to plasma levels of HDL, Kathrin et al. showed that the composition and function of HDL could also predict future cardiovascular events in patients with CKD [61].

These findings implied that HDL might be a potential target for the prevention of cardiovascular complications associated with CKD. In the future, more studies are needed to explore the role of HDL in the treatment of CKD and CKD-related cardiovascular complications.

#### References

- Keane WF, Lyle PA (2005) Kidney disease and cardiovascular disease: implications of dyslipidemia. Cardiol Clin 23(3):363–372
- Banh TH et al (2016) Ethnic differences in incidence and outcomes of childhood nephrotic syndrome. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 11(10):1760–1768
- Sethna CB, Merchant K, Reyes A (2018) Cardiovascular disease risk in children with kidney disease. Semin Nephrol 38(3):298–313
- 4. Liebeskind DS (2014) Nephrotic syndrome. Handb Clin Neurol 119:405–415
- van den Berg JG, Weening JJ (2004) Role of the immune system in the pathogenesis of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. Clin Sci (Lond) 107(2):125–136
- Audard V et al (2006) Minimal change nephrotic syndrome and classical Hodgkin's lymphoma: report of 21 cases and review of the literature. Kidney Int 69(12):2251–2260
- Maas RJ, Deegens JK, Wetzels JF (2014) Permeability factors in idiopathic nephrotic syndrome: historical perspectives and lessons for the future. Nephrol Dial Transplant 29(12):2207–2216
- Wada T, Nangaku M (2015) A circulating permeability factor in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: the hunt continues. Clin Kidney J 8(6):708–715
- Downie ML et al (2017) Nephrotic syndrome in infants and children: pathophysiology and management. Paediatr Int Child Health 37(4):248–258
- 10. (1981) Primary nephrotic syndrome in children: clinical significance of histopathologic variants of minimal change and of diffuse mesangial hypercellularity. A report of the international study of kidney disease in children. Kidney Int 20(6):765–771
- (1984) Minimal change nephrotic syndrome in children: deaths during the first 5 to 15 years' observation. Report of the international study of kidney disease in children. Pediatrics 73(4):497–501

- Reiner Z et al (2011) ESC/EAS guidelines for the management of dyslipidaemias. Rev Esp Cardiol 64(12):1168.e1–1168.e60
- Inker LA et al (2014) KDOQI US commentary on the 2012 KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of CKD. Am J Kidney Dis 63(5):713–735
- Webster AC et al (2017) Chronic kidney disease. Lancet 389(10075):1238–1252
- Anders HJ et al (2018) CKD in diabetes: diabetic kidney disease versus nondiabetic kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol 14(6):361–377
- Hamrahian SM, Falkner B (2017) Hypertension in chronic kidney disease. Adv Exp Med Biol 956:307– 325
- 17. Di Angelantonio E et al (2007) Renal function and risk of coronary heart disease in general populations: new prospective study and systematic review. PLoS Med 4(9):e270
- Perkovic V et al (2008) The relationship between proteinuria and coronary risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med 5(10):e207
- (2005) K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for cardiovascular disease in dialysis patients. Am J Kidney Dis 45(4 Suppl 3):S1–S153
- 20. Palmer SC et al (2013) Antiplatelet agents for chronic kidney disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2: CD008834
- Palmer SC et al (2012) Benefits and harms of statin therapy for persons with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 157(4):263–275
- Vaziri ND (2016) HDL abnormalities in nephrotic syndrome and chronic kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol 12(1):37–47
- Jomard A, Osto E (2019) Metabolism and Function of High-Density Lipoproteins (HDL). Praxis (Bern 1994) 108(7):477–486
- Tosheska TK, Topuzovska S (2017) High-density lipoprotein metabolism and reverse cholesterol transport: strategies for raising HDL cholesterol. Anatol J Cardiol 18(2):149–154
- 25. Yang H, Fogo AB, Kon V (2016) Kidneys: key modulators of high-density lipoprotein levels and function. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 25(3): 174–179
- Zannis VI et al (2015) HDL biogenesis, remodeling, and catabolism. Handb Exp Pharmacol 224:53–111
- Panin LE, Russkikh GS, Polyakov LM (2000) Detection of apolipoprotein A-I, B, and E immunoreactivity in the nuclei of various rat tissue cells. Biochemistry (Mosc) 65(12):1419–1423
- Woollett LA, Spady DK (1997) Kinetic parameters for high density lipoprotein apoprotein AI and cholesteryl ester transport in the hamster. J Clin Invest 99(7): 1704–1713
- Hammad SM et al (2000) Megalin acts in concert with cubilin to mediate endocytosis of high density lipoproteins. J Biol Chem 275(16):12003–12008

- Vaziri ND (2016) Disorders of lipid metabolism in nephrotic syndrome: mechanisms and consequences. Kidney Int 90(1):41–52
- 31. Joven J et al (1990) Abnormalities of lipoprotein metabolism in patients with the nephrotic syndrome. N Engl J Med 323(9):579–584
- 32. Gherardi E et al (1977) Relationship among the concentrations of serum lipoproteins and changes in their chemical composition in patients with untreated nephrotic syndrome. Eur J Clin Investig 7(6):563–570
- Muls E et al (1985) Lipoprotein distribution and composition in the human nephrotic syndrome. Atherosclerosis 54(2):225–237
- 34. Vaziri ND, Liang K, Parks JS (2001) Acquired lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase deficiency in nephrotic syndrome. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 280(5):F823–F828
- Zhao Y, Marcel YL (1996) Serum albumin is a significant intermediate in cholesterol transfer between cells and lipoproteins. Biochemistry 35(22):7174–7180
- 36. Zhang C et al (2007) Effect of hypoalbuminemia on the increased serum cholesteryl ester transfer protein concentration in children with idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. Clin Biochem 40(12):869–875
- Di Bartolo B et al (2016) CETP inhibition in CVD prevention: an actual appraisal. Curr Cardiol Rep 18(5):43
- Masson W et al (2018) Therapy with cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) inhibitors and diabetes risk. Diabetes Metab 44(6):508–513
- Liang K, Vaziri ND (1999) Down-regulation of hepatic high-density lipoprotein receptor, SR-B1, in nephrotic syndrome. Kidney Int 56(2):621–626
- 40. Ikemoto M et al (2000) Identification of a PDZdomain-containing protein that interacts with the scavenger receptor class B type I. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(12):6538–6543
- 41. Vaziri ND et al (2011) Nephrotic syndrome causes upregulation of HDL endocytic receptor and PDZK-1-dependent downregulation of HDL docking receptor. Nephrol Dial Transplant 26(10):3118–3123
- 42. Garber DW et al (1984) Catabolism of very low density lipoproteins in experimental nephrosis. J Clin Invest 74(4):1375–1383
- Vaziri ND, Moradi H (2006) Mechanisms of dyslipidemia of chronic renal failure. Hemodial Int 10(1):1–7
- 44. Vaziri ND, Navab M, Fogelman AM (2010) HDL metabolism and activity in chronic kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol 6(5):287–296
- 45. Attman PO, Alaupovic P (1991) Lipid and apolipoprotein profiles of uremic dyslipoproteinemia—relation to renal function and dialysis. Nephron 57(4):401–410
- 46. Kamanna VS et al (1994) Uremic serum subfraction inhibits apolipoprotein A-I production by a human hepatoma cell line. J Am Soc Nephrol 5(2):193–200

- 47. Ansell BJ et al (2003) Inflammatory/antiinflammatory properties of high-density lipoprotein distinguish patients from control subjects better than high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels and are favorably affected by simvastatin treatment. Circulation 108(22):2751–2756
- Klin M et al (1996) Abnormalities in hepatic lipase in chronic renal failure: role of excess parathyroid hormone. J Clin Invest 97(10):2167–2173
- Sato T, Liang K, Vaziri ND (2003) Protein restriction and AST-120 improve lipoprotein lipase and VLDL receptor in focal glomerulosclerosis. Kidney Int 64(5): 1780–1786
- Moradi H et al (2009) Impaired antioxidant activity of high-density lipoprotein in chronic kidney disease. Transl Res 153(2):77–85
- Kalantar-Zadeh K et al (2007) HDL-inflammatory index correlates with poor outcome in hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int 72(9):1149–1156
- 52. Weichhart T et al (2012) Serum amyloid a in uremic HDL promotes inflammation. J Am Soc Nephrol 23(5):934–947
- 53. Zuo PY et al (2015) Non-HDL-cholesterol to HDL-cholesterol ratio as an independent risk factor for the development of chronic kidney disease. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 25(6):582–587
- 54. Sacks FM et al (2014) Association between plasma triglycerides and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and microvascular kidney disease and retinopathy in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a global case-control study in 13 countries. Circulation 129(9):999–1008
- 55. Liu M et al (2014) Cardiovascular disease and its relationship with chronic kidney disease. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 18(19):2918–2926
- Pascual V et al (2017) Chronic kidney disease and dyslipidaemia. Clin Investig Arterioscler 29(1):22–35
- 57. Wanner C et al (2005) Atorvastatin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus undergoing hemodialysis. N Engl J Med 353(3):238–248
- Epstein M, Vaziri ND (2012) Statins in the management of dyslipidemia associated with chronic kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol 8(4):214–223
- 59. Shoji T et al (2011) Elevated non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (non-HDL-C) predicts atherosclerotic cardiovascular events in hemodialysis patients. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 6(5):1112–1120
- 60. Rudy JW, Paylor R (1987) Development of interocular equivalence of place learning in the rat requires convergence sites established prior to training. Behav Neurosci 101(5):732–734
- Untersteller K et al (2018) HDL functionality and cardiovascular outcome among nondialysis chronic kidney disease patients. J Lipid Res 59(7):1256–1265



# HDL and Therapy

Ke Li, Xianwei Xie, and Yansong Guo

# Abstract

A wealth of evidence indicates that highdensity lipoprotein assumes the unique antiatherosclerosis and other cardioprotective properties. Based on that, HDL-C has been considered as a promising therapy target to

#### K. Li

#### X. Xie

Department of Cardiology, Shengli Clinical Medical College of Fujian Medical University, Fujian Provincial Hospital, Fuzhou, China e-mail: xianweixie@fjmu.edu.cn

#### Y. Guo (🖂)

Beijing Tiantan Hospital, China National Clinical Research Center of Neurological Diseases, Advanced Innovation Center for Human Brain Protection, The Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

Department of Cardiology, Shengli Clinical Medical College of Fujian Medical University, Fujian Provincial Hospital, Fuzhou, China

Fujian Provincial Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Disease, Fujian Provincial Clinical Research Center for Severe Acute Cardiovascular Disease, Fujian Clinical Medical Research Center for Cardiovascular Diseases, Fuzhou, China

Fujian Heart Failure Center Alliance, Fuzhou, China

Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, Beijing Chaoyang Hospital Affiliated to Capital Medical University, Beijing, China reduce the cardiovascular diseases. Recombinant HDL (rHDL) and apolipoprotein mimetic peptides emerge in recent years and have great potential in the future. Here we discussed the pleiotropic therapeutic effect of rHDL based on the effects of atherogenic, angiogenesis, platelet, vascular, and Alzheimer's disease. On the other hand, rHDL not only plays the key role as the major protein component of HDL, it is also used as a nanovector in antiatherosclerotic, antitumor, cardiovascular diagnosing and other therapeutic areas. Synthetic apolipoprotein mimetic peptides like apoA-I and apoE mimetics have undergone clinical assessment, and we have also reviewed the advances of clinical trials and gave an outlook for the therapy of rHDL and mimetic peptides.

#### Keywords

High-density lipoprotein · Mimetic peptides · Apolipoprotein A-I · Recombinant HDL therapy

Results of the Framingham study first revealed the role of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) in cardiovascular diseases (CVD); the epidemiology data suggested HDL-C levels increased by approximately 1 mg/dL and was associated with 2–3% decrease in CVD risk. Therefore, HDL-C was recognized as a potential protective factor. But increasing the amount of circulating HDL did not exert protection against

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

Beijing Tiantan Hospital, China National Clinical Research Center of Neurological Diseases, Advanced Innovation Center for Human Brain Protection, The Capital Medical University, Beijing, China e-mail: likelipidcenter@ccmu.edu.cn

L. Zheng (ed.), *HDL Metabolism and Diseases*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_14

CVD or total death [1]. A series of clinical trials found that the amount of HDL has a closer association with the clinical outcome than HDL-C. Human hypothesized the real protagonist protects against vascular disease and is HDL other than HDL-C, which explained supplementation of HDL-C does not improve the CVD outcome [2].

As present in the various study, HDL displayed plentiful biological activities, which contribute to atheroprotective effects. Thus, HDL was recognized as a new therapeutic target for cardiovascular disease. Exogenous supplement of HDL could improve both amount and quality of circulating HDL. HDL was reconstituted in vitro with the major components, apo A-I and phospholipid. The reconstituted high-density lipoprotein (rHDL) possessed several enhanced functionalities, and underlying mechanisms of rHDL particles were studied. With the deepening of scientific research, it was found that the efficacy of rHDL relies not only on the amount, but also on the composition (the relative abundance of apolipoprotein and phospholipids) and structure of rHDL. Phospholipid species-mediated different signal activation, thereby different kinds of phospholipids or different kinds of apolipoproteins incorporated into rHDL could be considered as a novel therapeutic strategy [3]. Here we summarize biological functions and therapeutic action of different Recombinant HDL and apolipoproteins (Fig. 14.1).

# 14.1 Pleiotropic Therapeutic Effect of rHDL Antiatherogenic Effects of rHDL

The vascular inflammation inhibition properties of rHDL have been shown in a routine of fields. In rabbit models subjected to inserting a periarterial carotid collar, rabbits administrated with the infusion of rHDL (lipid-free apoA-I) increased DHCR24 and heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) expression, attenuated the intima/media neutrophil infiltration. Preincubation of rHDL with human coronary artery endothelial cells activated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt and showed less inflammation [4].

the double-blind randomized In trial. 29 patients with recent ACS were recruited. Subjects were injected with rHDL or albumin, and then the marks of vascular inflammation like oxidized LDL and vascular vasodilatation endothelium-dependent response to and endothelium-independent were measured. It exhibits no apparent conflict between the two groups. (P = 0.11;14.9  $\pm$  9.2 vs. 14.5  $\pm$  12.4, P = 0.93 and  $12.8 \pm 7.1$  vs.  $13.2 \pm 9.6$ , P = 0.27, respectively). The negative results presented the challenge of rHDL further interventions [5].

CER-001 was an rHDL product constructed of wild-type ApoA-I and diphosphatidylglycerol and sphingomyelin. Based on preliminary studies of CER-001 influence on vascular inflammation. A double-blind, randomized, multicenter trial about CER-001 was constructed, patients with ACS received infusions of CER-001 (3 mg/kg, n = 135) or placebo (n = 137) for 10 weeks in addition to citations. The regression of percent atheroma volume demonstrated no difference (57.7% vs. 53.3%; P = 0.49) [6]. The apoA-I structure of ETC-642 was a 22 L-amino acid amphipathic apoA-I mimetic, the apoA-I mimetic combined with sphingomyelin and DPPC. Current data from animal experiment present the potential in treating atherosclerosis by inhibiting vascular inflammation. New Zealand white rabbits with chronic vascular inflammation were divided into 3 groups: placebo, rHDL (8 mg/kg), ETC-642 (30 mg/kg peptide). ETC-642 significantly inhibited intracellular cell adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) the same as rHDL, the protection from chronic vascular inflammation that similar to rHDL provided a treatment of inflammatory disease [7].

The progression of atherosclerosis was inseparable from the massive accumulation of intracellular cholesterol. In several studies, rHDL's role of accelerating cholesterol efflux had been confirmed [8]. Patients receiving rHDL infusion had increased capacity of cholesterol efflux [9, 10].

Sanjay Patel carried out a randomized crossover design study administrate thirteen male patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus with rHDL (80 mg/kg of apolipoprotein A-I) or saline, and then measured the anti-inflammatory properties



of isolated HDL, they found that Participants' peripheral blood monocyte CD11b expression and neutrophil adhesion to a fibrinogen matrix was reduced 72 h post-rHDL. The capacity of plasma to receive cholesterol from THP-1 macrophages increased after rHDL infusion [11].

# 14.2 Promotion of Angiogenesis Based on rHDL

Given the inverse correlation between the HDL and ischemic cardiomyopathy, it has been surveyed that injection of rHDL effected endothelial progenitor cells differentiate and blood flow recovery in murine models. rHDL activated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway and rescued ischemia-induced injury through stimulating angiogenesis [12]. Increasing evidence verified the property of enhancing angiogenesis of rHDL, preincubation of human coronary artery endothelial cells with rHDL, the pathway of HIF-1a was activated. Inhibition of SRB1, as well as upstream PI3K/Akt pathway,

attenuated the enhancement of angiogenesis of rHDL [13]. In diabetic mice, the blood flow recovery and angiogenesis were impaired. rHDL had the potential for effecting vascular biological including rescued tubulogenesis and increased endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity, which immediately by influencing hypoxiawas inducible factor-1 $\alpha$  (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) stabilization and expression levels of VEGF [14]. Evidence on the other hand proved rHDL restored angiogenesis. In the postischemic animal models, after injection of rHDL, the angiogenic miRNA, miR-181c-5p was significantly reduced, indicating rHDL-regulated angiogenesis by specifically targeting mmu-miR-181c-5p at the ischemic site [15].

# 14.3 Protection against Alzheimer's Disease of rHDL

Alzheimer's disease is characterized by the pathological accumulation of Amyloid-beta(A $\beta$ ). In 1998, Koudinov AR reported that A $\beta$  is bound to many apolipoproteins including apoA-I, apoA-II, apoE, and apoJ, which implied that HDL may play an important role in Alzheimer's disease [16]. Apolipoprotein E3-reconstituted high-density lipoprotein (ApoE3-rHDL) was constructed and served as a novel nanomedicine bind to A $\beta$ , facilitated the A $\beta$  degradation in microglial, astroglia. In animal models, after 4 weeks of injection of apoE3-rHDL, the neurologic changes were reduced and the memory retrogradation was rescued [17].

In recent years, rHDL-apoJ was constructed by assembling recombinant human apoJ with phospholipids. Data shows that  $A\beta$  fibrillization was reduced and mediated higher cholesterol efflux along with rHDL accumulation in the cerebral [18].

Accordingly, rHDL assembled with drugs like donepezil was proposed. On the one hand, the complex targeted to A $\beta$  clearance; on the other hand, the complex could execute the inhibition of acetylcholinesterase. In vivo and in vitro studies, the treatment of rHDL-Do nano drugs could prompt A $\beta$  degradation and ameliorate neurologic changes [19].

# 14.4 Improvement of the Vascular Complication of rHDL

In neonatal rat ventricular cardiomyocytes, rHDL could activate Stat 3 and stimulate the ERK1/ 2 pathway, finally modulate ventricular cardiomyocytes adapt to stress [20]. To assess the benefit of rHDL to improve cardiac dysfunction and insulin resistance, researchers injected obese insulin-resistant rats with rHDL. They found that rHDL infusion rescued performance of the cardiac function and myocardial lesions in IR rats, the short term infusion of rHDL may be beneficial to improving the vascular complication of metabolic syndrome [21]. With the use of patch-clamp technique and electrocardiograms, cardiac repolarization was studied before and 24 h after injection with rHDL. The data suggested that rHDL shortened repolarization in rat models and shortened the heart rate corrected QT interval in subjects [22].

A similar study suggested the Ant arrhythmogenic Effect of rHDL, the Wistar rats were pretreated with placebo or rHDL, then the rats underwent temporary occlusion of the left main coronary artery, the infusion of rHDL promoted NO production in endothelial cells and reduced the incidence of reperfusion-induced arrhythmias. The probable mechanism may be activation of ABCA1 or ABCG1 through an Akt/ERK/NO pathway [23].

#### 14.5 Effect on Platelet of rHDL

rHDL could bind lipopolysaccharides and affect platelet function: In an experimental study, 8 healthy volunteers were recruited and injected with LPS + placebo or LPS + rHDL. Net result: rHDL treatment significantly reduced platelet aggregation [24].

There have been researches surveyed that individuals with increased risk of cardiovascular disease due to type 2 diabetes, patients with diabetes mellitus were always resistant antithrombotic treatment and showed increased risks of cardiovascular disease. In the clinical trial, patients with type 2 diabetic received rHDL (CSL-111, 20 mg/kg/h) treatment, 4 h later, platelet function reduced in the ex vivo test, and thrombus formation was inhibited up to 50%. These findings indicated its effective therapeutic property for reducing the risk of cardiovascular disease [25]. In the poststenting murine models, the mice infused with apoA-I displayed preserved smooth muscle cell phenotype and inhibition of platelet activation. These findings implicated the rHDL may have a potential therapeutic effect of improving stent biocompatibility [26].

#### 14.6 rHDL Modulate Metabolism

The rHDL modulation role of fatty acid metabolism was investigated in thirteen patients with type 2 diabetes, the subjects were infused with rHDL or placebo, then measured the plasma lipids using mass spectrometry. Results suggested that rHDL inhibited lipolysis through reducing the AMPK-mediated phospholipase hydrolysis [27].

As for glucose metabolism, By incubating Min6 cells and primary islets with rHDL, it was found that rHDL increased insulin secretion depended on ABCG1. The promotion of betacell insulin secretion capacity provides evidence of rHDL may be beneficial to treat type 2 diabetes [28]. rHDL increased myocardial glucose uptake via activating the Akt pathway, the increasing utilization of glucose in cardiomyocytes improved postischemic cardiac recovery. The study supported the rHDL infusion at the early stage after an acute coronary syndrome contributed to cardiac recovery [29].

# 14.7 Clinical Evaluation of rHDL in Humans

On account of the pleiotropic property of reconstituted HDL, various recombinant HDL have made steps from bench-testing, it has been tested in a number of clinical trials for stabilization of acute coronary syndrome (ACS) based on the mobilization of excess cholesterol from cells.

ApoA-I Milano is the first identified apolipoprotein gene mutations in individuals leading to an Arg  $\rightarrow$  Cys substitution in the 173 positions in rural Italy who exhibit very low levels of HDL [30]. ETC-216 was developed by Eserion based on apoA-Imilano, but it was abandoned because of the incidence of host cell protein contamination during production. MDCO-216, a new formulation of apoA-Imilano, was a complex of dimeric recombinant apoA-IM and POPC. By contrast to its predecessor, ETC-216, MDCO-216 presented reduced adverse immunostimulant [31]. MDCO-216 was examined in a double-blind randomized clinical trial included 22 hospitals in Canada and Europe. Patients with ACS received an intravenous infusion of MDCO-216 (n = 59) for 5 weeks or placebo (n = 67), other than HDL-C levels, the regression of percent atheroma volume and total atheroma volume showed similar changes (67.2% vs. 55.8%; P = 0.21; 68.9% vs. 71.2%; P = 0.79 [32].

similar randomized multicenter Α trial investigated the rHDL effect on the protection of atherosclerosis was conducted. Five hundred and seven patients were enrolled, patients were injected with placebo,3 mg/kg,6 mg/kg,12 mg/ kg CER-001 for 3 weeks randomly, the change in the total atheroma volume showed no difference among groups(0.02, -0.02, 0.01, and0.19%; nominal P = 0.53 for 12 mg/ kg vs. placebo), as well as the secondary outcome, Nominal changes in percent atheroma volume on intravascular ultrasonography(IVUS)and coronary scores on quantitative coronary angiography(QCA)showed no difference [33].

ERASE trial included 33 subjects with recent ACS, the patients were a randomized received infusion of CSL-111 40 mg/kg or placebo, patients displayed increased circulating CD34+ cells after the fourth infusion, the endothelial progenitor cell was protected against apoptosis [30].

CSL-112 was characterized as a native human apoA-I combined with phosphatidylcholine, CSL-112 possessed a reduced lipid/protein ratio compared to CSL-111. It was conceived of as a promising reconstituted HDL due to the manifestation of anti-inflammatory, antioxidative activity and enhanced efflux of cholesterol. To assess the safety and tolerability, patients with moderate chronic kidney disease following an ACS within 7 days received weekly infusions of 6 g CSL-112 or placebo, there was no deterioration observed after 4 weeks [34]. A phase 2a random, multicentre clinical study assessed the antithrombotic property of CSL-112 in patients with atherosclerosis. Patients enrolled in the trial received 1.7 g, 3.4 g, 6.8 g CSL-112 randomly, in addition to receiving dual antiplatelet therapy. No significant influence on platelet aggregation was observed [35, 36]. Clinical use for the effective treatment of cardiovascular disease still has a long way to go.

Rabbits with Watanabe-heritable hyperlipidemic (WHHL) were injected with various doses of ETC-642 (15 mg/kg or 50 mg/kg) or placebo. The regression of aortic atherosclerosis assessed by intravascular ultrasound was significantly different compared to placebo. The highest dose of the group implicated stronger efficacy than the low dose group [7].

# 14.8 rHDL: A Lipoprotein-Derived Nanovector

rHDL featured as а biocompatible, nonimmunogenic reconstituted particle, the component of rHDL was endogenous, so rHDL can completely biodegradable and did not trigger immunological responses. Besides, rHDL possessed innate ligands binding to a cellular receptor, as well known as scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-B1) and ATP binding cassette transporter G1. These receptors were involved in atherosclerosis, so the intrinsic capability of rHDL delivering system made it ideal for targeting delivery. According to a different characterized receptor, rHDL could possess different penetrating activity. For instance, rHDL could transport across plasma membranes and reach subcellular sites, apoE-rHDL could transport across the blood-brain barrier abound of apoE40. The schematic of rHDL featured as a nanoplatform was showed below [37] (Fig. 14.2).

#### 14.9 rHDL with the Contrast Agent

Human combined optical probes with rHDL to make the second generation contrast agent for the more specific and selective property. The new nanoparticle made the magnetic resonance imaging of the animals show clear enhancement for atherosclerotic plaques [38]. In view of intraplaque macrophage uptake of rHDL, Assembling a carboxyfluorescein-labeled apolipoprotein E-derived lipopeptide, P2fA2, with rHDL enhanced MRI imaging of macrophages in atherosclerosis [39].

#### 14.10 rHDL with Membrane Proteins

The membrane proteins could also be incorporated into rHDL to exert their influence as a drug, for instance, the mechanistic study of cytochrome P450 3A4 in rHDL was advantageous due to the homotropic cooperativity [40]. Human purified glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor (GLP1R) and incorporated it into rHDL. The complex enabled GLP1R to prolong stabilization in lipid bilayers, which contributed to treat type 2 diabetes [41].

#### 14.11 rHDL with siRNA

Various siRNA delivery methods had been developed, such as viruses, liposomes, aptamers. On account of the target-specific therapy property, siRNA was encapsulated within rHDL. In addition, rHDL-siRNA increased the stability of RNA. It was confirmed that rHDL/Chol-siRNA translated into the cytoplasm by FACS and confocal measurement. The siRNA was targeting VEGF gene and promoted the degradation of VEGF mRNA, followed by the entrance of the rHDL nanoparticles, vascular endothelial growth gene was down-regulated and tumor angiogenesis was inhibited. So as to achieve the propose to inhibit breast cancer [42]. A paradigm shift contained rHDL, SR-A siRNA and pita vastatin, the dual-targeting nanoparticles established a positive feedback loop, accumulated in the atherosclerotic plaques and enhanced cholesterol deposition [43]. rHDL carried cholesterolconjugated siRNA for Poekmon gene exhibited high stability sustained release characteristics in serum, the non-viral nanoparticle inhibited Pokemon and Bcl-2 expression and effectively treated hepatocellular carcinoma in the tumor of nude mice [44]. The other dual-targeting nanoplatform integrated siRNA against lectinlike oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 and atorvastatin. The co-delivery system acted on both endothelial cell and macrophages, so the bio functions of antiatherosclerotic were outstanding, the plaque size reduced 39%, CD68 macrophage content reduced 68% [45]. Similarly, rHDL loaded with miR-204-5p-inhibitor was targeted at inhibiting angiogenesis in ovarian tumors [46].



**Fig. 14.2** Schematic illustrations of rHDL particles comprised of phospholipids and two apoA-I proteins with and without incorporating compounds [37]. (a) The canonical discoidal model of the 9.6 nm rHDL. (b) The medical imaging model—phospholipids are labeled with dyes such as gadolinium. The red moiety represents a red-fluorophore incorporated into  $\Delta$ N-apoA-I(43-residue truncation variants of human apoA-I). (c) The yellow unit corresponds to a cholesterol-conjugated siRNA, which

was embedded in rHDL. (**d**) Bacteriorhodopsin (purple unit) is incorporated into two  $\Delta$ N-apoA-I proteins (green unit), the model showed how rHDL enabled novel studies of hosting membrane proteins. (**e**) Black dot represents drugs like curcumin, rHDL was modified by a singlechain variable fragment (comprised of the variable heavy (VH) and light (VL) chains from an antibody) to achieve target drug delivery

#### 14.12 rHDL with Drugs

So far, there have many rHDL complexes served as drug delivery vehicles. Three molecules of taxol incorporated with rHDL showed fewer toxic side effects when treated with several cancer cell lines compared to control. rHDL-ACM consisted of rHDL and actinomycin, the binding affinity of rHDL-ACM was significantly higher than free ACM. Data shows a preferential uptake for SMMC-7721 hepatoma cells of rHDL-ACM [47]. Some anticancer drug was limited by poor absorption, uncontrolled tissue distribution, such as 10-Hydroxycamptothecin.rHDL-HCPT nanoparticles was reconstituted. Compared to native HCPT, rHDL-HCPT presented increased concentrations in target organs and sustained release pattern [48]. Miaomiao Gong et al. constructed an rHDL from mimetic peptide 5A contains anticancer drug docetaxel (DTX) against breast cancer. The survey demonstrated that rHDL is a promising drug vehicle, DTX-rHDL enhanced the uptake of DTX, increased the cytotoxicity against MCF-7 cells, and reduced the off-target side-effects to normal cells. It was derived that rHDL-DTX nanoparticles were superior to free DTX no matter what sustained drug release properties or the antitumor efficacy [49]. The rHDL-CD-PEI-p53 complexes were incorporated with rHDL and p53 plasmid, the complexes efficiently transferred into the cyto-plasm by specific targeted SRB1, in vivo, and in vitro investigation, the complexes inhibited the tumor tissue angiogenesis by disrupting VEGF expression. It suggested a promising therapy for bladder cancer using the rHDL delivery system [49].

# 14.13 rHDL for Cocktail and Tandem Therapy

Wenli et al. constructed Tanshinone IIA discoidal and spherical recombinant HDL, next characterized the physicochemical and biomimetic properties of them in vitro, in addition, they studied in vivo performances of rHDL with Tanshinone IIA, such as pharmacokinetics, antiatherogenic efficacies. The study considered the rHDL could be an effective vehicle of Tanshinone IIA on account of a higher affinity for atherosclerotic lesions [50].

siRNA and chemotherapy agents integrated into rHDL, for instance, siVEGF and antitumor drugs paclitaxel coencapsulated into rHDL, the complex possessed specific tumor targe, siVEGF inhibited neovascularization, the collaborative effect resulted in enhanced anticancer efficacy [50]. In 2012, Yang Ding constructed rHDL nanoparticles loaded with Chol-siRNA, rHDL/ Chol-siRNA-Pokemon complexes specific transported into hepatocellular carcinoma cell, decreased expression of Pokemon and Bcl-2 protein, as a consequence, the growth of the hepatocellular carcinoma was inhibited [44]. In 2014, they combined siRNA with rHDL for target therapy of tumor angiogenesis. They established rHDL nanoparticles loaded with cholesterolconjugated siRNA. Because of the lipophilic, rHDL offered a highly effective approach to directly transfer into the cytoplasm, and promoted siRNA accumulation within tumors and down-regulated VEGF mRNA and protein expression. As a consequence, the growth of breast cancer was inhibited through the targetspecific antiangiogenic therapy [42]. Lisha Liu utilized hyaluronic acid (HA) to decorate rHDL loaded with lovastatin, which improved the antiatherogenic efficacy through targeting atherosclerotic lesions and increasing drug accumulated in the atherosclerotic lesions via strong HA affinity to inflammatory sites [51]. RGD-rHDL/So/ antimiRNA21 was formulated by antimiRNA21, Sorafenib, and rHDL, Sorafenib exerted inhibition of tumor proliferation and angiogenesis, antimiRNA21 improved tumor sensibility to chemotherapy and that rHDL drive the complexes to target site precisely to enhance the efficacy [52].

# 14.14 Pleiotropic Therapeutic Effects of an Apolipoprotein Mimetic

#### 14.14.1 apoA-I Mimetic

Through proteomics dataset analyses, it was revealed that the protein component of HDL has diversity up to more than 100 kinds. These kinds of proteins were divided into 4 categories: the apolipoprotein, enzyme, Lipid transporters, minor proteins. Many kinds of apolipoprotein appeared in HDL, for example, apoA-I, apoA-II, apoA-IV, apoA-V, apoC-II, apoC-III, apoC-III, apoC-IV, apoD, apoE, apoF, apoH, apoJ, apoL-I, and apoM. apoA-I accounted for almost 70% and predominated in HDL and apoA-II accounted for 20% less than apoA-I. ApoA-I had 243 amino acids, the secondary structure of apoA-I contained 10 amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helices. The amphipathic alpha-helices are the main function structure of apoA-I. Now apoA-I mimetics are synthetic peptides that have similar amphipathic alpha-helices to apoA-I. An 18-amino-acid sequence DWLKAFYDKVAEKLKEAF could mimic apoA-I biological functionality [53]. Despite the complexity and diversity of protein components, many treatments had been tested and reported based on imitating apoA-I, such as full-length apoA-I, mutate apoA-I gene,

construct apoA-I mimetic. ApoA-I mimetic peptides were formulated as a cost-effective approach among apoA-I based therapies.

Ananth Ramaiah et al. Synthesized the first apoA-I mimetic peptide, 18A [54], subsequently, human modulated 18A to enhance its function, Yancey et al. created a peptide call 2F by blocking the ends of 18A with an amide group and an acetyl group, which has a stronger effect in inducing cholesterol efflux [55]. The function of apoA-I mimetic peptides was dependent on the structure. The underlying mechanism of mimetic peptides remained obscure. There has been researching showed that apoA-I mimetic peptides may act in the small intestine more than plasma HDL, mimetic peptides affected unsaturated LPA homeostasis, and decreased intestinal inflammation gene expression [56].

Previous research demonstrated that apoE produced by astrocytes bound to lipids, the lipidation of apoE promoted A<sub>β</sub> aggregation and progression of Alzheimer's disease, HDL mimetic peptide, 4F, increased apoE secretion and reduced accumulated apoE's detrimental effects on  $A\beta$ [57]. The latest publication revealed 4F interaction with A $\beta$  to constrain its structural plasticity through the NMR experiment [58]. D4F was designed as an enantiomer of 4F consisting of D-amino acids. In Handattu et al. study, mice were divided into groups to received D-4F and pravastatin, D4F, pravastatin, and water alone respectively, D4F + statin group showed the most reduction of A $\beta$  load(1.6  $\pm$  0.1%, p < 0.05 vs. the other groups) and the best performance in the Morris Water Maze test [59]. Apolipoprotein A-1 mimetic 4F treatment significantly increased SRB1 expression, Akt phosphorylation downstream was activated, leading to increased endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) activity and stimulated endothelial cell migration and repairment. These findings confirmed the potential therapeutic function of cardiovascular disease [60].

In Moreira et al. experiments, male Wistar rats were induced to myocardial infarction, then these rats were injected with Apolipoprotein A-I mimetic 4For control, the researcher found that 4F-treated rats displayed decreased the ischemic myocardial area and minimized renal apoptosis and signs of cardiac neovascularization, which implied 4F could protect against MI-induced cardiac dysfunction and 4F have the potent of renoprotection [61].

There has been a researcher reviewed that the emerging roles for apolipoprotein in lung disease development and treatment because of the latent correlations between apolipoproteins and inflammation, oxidative stress, lipid homeostasis [62].

Asthma is characterized by labored breathing, abnormally rapid breathing, audible wheezing, low systolic blood pressure arises from airway inflammation, neutrophilic aggravation, etc. Some studies showed that OVA-induced neutrophilic airway inflammation was inhibited by reducing G-CSF production dependent on apoA-I which suggested apoA-I is a potent target of asthma treatment [63, 64] administration of apoA-I mimetic peptides to experimental allergic asthma murine models decreased inflammatory cells (e.g., neutrophils, eosinophils) and inflammatory cytokines(IL-25, TGF-β, IL-33) [65, 66]. In the clinical survey, it also has been found apoA-I levels were positively correlated with less severe asthma symptoms in a cohort of 159 subjects [67]. The survey considered the negative correlation between apoA-I and chronic pulmonary disease such as COPD (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, emphysema) [68].

In the LPS-induced acute lung injury rodent models, administration of aopA-I to mice could protect the renal, liver function and reduced mortality [69, 70]. The study suggested that apolipoprotein AI mimetic peptides have similar protective functions due to direct inhibition of inflammation induced by endotoxin and preservation of HDL antioxidant activity [71]. The other study draws a similar conclusion that 4F protect against acute lung injury in endotoxemic rats. The underlying mechanism was associated with stimulation of Akt and inhibited NF-kB pathway, suppressed expression of a pro-inflammatory mediator like adhesion molecules [72]. In LPS-induced acute lung injury mice model, the mice were injected with Rev-D4F, then the differentiation of LPS- injured pulmonary capillary endothelial cells was stimulated, by activating PI3kinase-dependent pathway, the function of endothelial progenitor cell was restored [73].

Serum apoA-I has been reported to be significantly associated with the development and prognosis of lung cancer [74, 75]. apoA-I now were known as a novel positive factor in solid tumors [76]. Chattopadhyay et al. study demonstrated that oral apoA-I mimetic 6Falter Notch pathways. Increased Notch1 protein levels and decreased Dll4 protein levels leading to reduced tumor burden and improving the outcome of metastatic lung cancer in mouse models [77].

Pulmonary arterial hypertension is a chronic lung disease associated with the out-of-balance of oxidized lipids. 4F improved cardiac and pulmonary function and rescued pulmonary hypertension by decreasing plasma oxidized lipid levels, 4F treatment restored lung miR193 levels resulting in inhibition of HPASMCs [78]. Overexpression of apoA-I decreased lung fibrosis and protected against silica-induced lung inflammation [79]. The above effection indicated the protect potent of apoA-I against pulmonary fibrosis. D-4F suppressed IL-4 induced alternative activation, increased TNF- $\alpha$  transcription and translation, and reduced TGF-B1 transcription and translation [80].

The virus has been regarded as participating in the development of atherogenesis, Van Lenten BJ thought influenza infection caused the alterations platelet-activating of paraoxonase, factor acetylhydrolase, ceruloplasmin leading to loss of HDL anti-inflammatory function [81]. And then they concluded the injection of female mice with D-4F prevents the macrophage from transporting into the innominate arteries by detecting the Sry gene [82]. Furthermore, the research group revealed that type II pneumocytes respond to influenza by activating caspases and secreting oxidized phospholipids. D-4F inhibited the inflammatory response induced by influenza A infection of human type II pneumocytes. The results supported D-4F have therapeutic potential for influenza [83].

Different apoA-I mimetic peptides have different antiatherogenic abilities. The female apoE null mice administrated with peptide 3F-2 were prone to inhibit atherosclerosis compared to the 3F-14 group. In contrast, only 3F-14 affected the terminal methyl group of the acyl chain, these results could be explained by differentials between two peptides resulting from different interactions with membrane bilayers [84]. 5A-mimetic peptide, as a bihelical amphipathic peptide, increased ATP-binding cassette transporter(ABCA1) expression, stimulated ABCA1-mediated cholesterol efflux, and reduced atherosclerosis in apoE-KO mice [84]. Garber et al. gave a detailed account on mice fed with an atherogenic diet having mimetic peptide 5F, the mice injected with peptide 5F significantly decreased peptide 5F. This is the first survey that demonstrated that peptide 5F has a similar antiatherosclerotic function to HDL [85]. Similar results gave evidence that mimetic peptides 5A reduced the expression levels of TNF- $\alpha$  induced adhesion molecules vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and the activity of NADPH oxidase, thereby protecting against acute inflammation and oxidative stress [86]. Lídia Cedóet al. explored that overexpressed human apoA-I does not impede tumor growth in PyMT mice but treated PyMT mice with D-4F, the tumor development was inhibited by reducing serum oxLDL levels and restraining oxLDL-mediated proliferation [87].

Iwata et al. constructed a new apoA-I mimetic peptide ETC-642, they tested the antiatherogenic properties in Watanabe-heritable hyperlipidemic (WHHL) rabbits.ETC-642 enhance the cholesterol efflux and inhibited the progression of the aortic plaque [88].

In high-fat diet mice models, mice were administered with D4F (enantiomer of 4F consisting of D-amino acids, the D-4F peptide with reverse order of amino acids)via drinking water, after 5 weeks, the blood glucose clearance improved macrophage infiltration and inflammatory response reduced, the glucose and lipid synthesis was suppressed [89]. Du Lin studied the therapeutic role of D-4F in vitro, D4F(1 mg/kg) and R-D4F(1 mg/kg) treatment inhibited intimal hyperplasia (-42%), and facilitates prevention of neointimal formation, in vitro study, D4F and R-D4F inhibited expression of the proinflammatory mediator [90]. High-fat diet significantly impaired function and number of endothelial progenitor cells. In atherosclerosis mice model, R-D4F inhibited endothelial oxidative stress and decreased atherosclerotic lesion independent on plasma area total and HDL-cholesterol levels [91]. ApoA-I mimetic peptide reverse-D-4F restored TNF- $\alpha$  induced dysfunction of endothelial progenitor cell by increasing stromal cell derived factor  $1\alpha$ (SDF-1α) level. PI3K inhibitor and Akt inhibitor blocked the recovery of Rev-D4F [92].

#### 14.14.2 apoA-E Mimetic

In most cases, the apolipoprotein component of rHDL was apoA-I. Additionally, the other far less abundant apolipoprotein, apoE, commonly constructed of rHDL. apoE mimetic had been shown to mimic various properties on account of the similar dual-domain structure of the native apoE, such as lowering cholesterol [93], enhancing macrophage cholesterol efflux [94], anti-inflammatory, antioxidative .these comprehensive properties supported the therapeutic potential in reducing atherosclerosis [95].

Ac-hE18A-NH2 was an Arg-rich receptorbinding domain of apoE linked to prominent domains 18A of apoA-I. After a single intravenous injection(15 mg/kg) of Ac-hE-18A-NH2, the plasma cholesterol levels and arterial endothethe Watanabe lial function in heritable hyperlipidemic rabbit model were improved [54]. Ac-hE18A-NH2 demonstrated stronger anti-inflammatory effects more than 4F in mice infected with E. coli 055:B5, In THP-1 cells, isolated human primary leukocytes, and whole human blood, Ac-hE18A-NH2 showed remarkable anti-inflammatory effects. As a member of the apoE family, Ac-hE18A-NH2 displayed a potential therapeutic effect on Alzheimer's disease. It relieved amyloid plaque deposition and astrocytes activation in APP/PS1AE9 mice administrated with 50 µg Ac-hE18A-NH2 three times a week [96].

apoE mimetic peptide presented antiinflammatory property in various studies. 6KApoEp was composed of apoE mimetic and 6 lysines added at the N-terminus. 6KApoEp reduced pro-inflammatory tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) secretion intermediated neuroinflammation by interacting with LDL receptor [96]. The mimetic peptide of the Apolipoprotein E(apoE) COG1410 increased the viability, migration of 5-fluorouracil (5-FU)injured intestinal cells IEC-18, the apoptosis induced cell death was suppressed, which suggested the protective role of COG1410 in intestinal mucositis [97]. The other study surveyed the apoE peptide COG 133 triggered the of the Wnt/b-catenin pathway, activation decreased AXIN and APC transcripts, and increased cellular viability. This study confirmed the protective effect of apoE mimetic in intestinal cells [98].

apoE mimetic peptides also had a protective function on brain injury.in experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage models. After subarachnoid hemorrhage, the increasing degradation of BBB permeability caused evolutional neuron apoptosis, apoE mimetic attenuated the bloodbrain barrier disruption, thereby secondary brain injury was ameliorated [99].

ATI-5261 was a novel, single-helix, 26-mer peptide similar to native apoE, ATI-5261 stimulated cholesterol efflux effectively with $\alpha$ -helical structure. In the mouse model with arterial stiffness, ATI-5261 reversed earl postpartum and arterial stiffness by increasing ABCA1 expression and cholesterol efflux capacity [100].

In AICD- overexpressing transgenic mice, after subcutaneous administration of COG112 three times per week for 3 months, the researcher measured neuroinflammation and phosphorylated tau. Results showed apoE-mimetic COG112 suppressed accumulation of tau and protected against neuroinflammation in AICD-induced AD-like pathologies [94].

# 14.15 The Other Apolipoprotein Mimetic

Some other kinds of apolipoprotein mimetic like apoJ mimetic were constructed and studied. For instance, D-apoJ characterized as a 10-residue
class G\* peptide from apoJ [73, 101–107], inhibited both sphingomyelinase-induced and spontaneous LDL aggregation [108]. Some studies investigated the effect of apoJ mimetic compared to apoE mimetic [109]. Here, we have given a summary of common mimetic peptides in Table 14.1.

#### 14.16 Conclusion and Outlook for rHDL and Apolipoprotein

A number of rHDL and apolipoprotein analog have shown beneficial effects in some studies. By now, many types of rHDL and apoA-I mimetic peptides have been used in clinical trials. These synthetic apolipoproteins displayed favorable safety and tolerability [34, 114]. As current status stands, present rHDL and mimetic peptides have not reached the adequate efficacy. Despite the failure of clinical trials of rHDL and mimetic peptides in antiatherosclerosis, the diverse efficacy of apolipoprotein mimetic in different disease models indicated rHDL and apolipoprotein mimetic are still promising therapeutic target.

There are still many questions remaining to be solved. Such as the intravenous injection of administration limit rHDL chronic and long-term treatment. Also, the high cost of rHDL production restricts the spread of clinical use. Furthermore, the narrow treatment efficacy window restricted to its short half-life was adverse to treating acute cardiovascular disease, generally speaking, the half-life of rHDLassociated apoA-I was 48-72 h, to reach the effective plasma concentration usually need high dose and frequently infusion of rHDL.

Moreover, because of a lack of consensus about the best method for administration, we usually used apolipoprotein mimetic peptide and rHDL based on experience. The research revealed a different method for administration significantly affect the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics [115].

#### References

1. Briel M, Ferreira-Gonzalez I, You JJ et al (2009) Association between change in high density

Mimetic		
peptide type	Description	Therapeutic effect
MDCO-216	apoA-I Milano, a naturally mutant in apoA-	Regression of arteriosclerosis
	I protein	Plaque
ETC-642	PVLDLFRELLNELLEALKQKLK	Inhibits vascular inflammation;
		Regression of arteriosclerosis
		Plaque
CER-001	Recombinant human apoA-I and produced	Inhibits vascular inflammation;
	in mammalian cell expression	Regression of arteriosclerosis
		Plaque
CSL-111	apoA-I isolated from human HDL and	Inhibits platelet function;
	reconstituted phospholipids	Restores endothelial cell function
CSL-112	apoA-I isolated from human HDL with	Inhibits platelet function;
	reduced lipid/protein ratio	Restores endothelial cell function
4F	Ac-DWFKAFYDKVAEKFKEAF-NH2	Reduces apoE accumulation;
		Restores endothelial cell function;
		Decreases apoptosis; improved cardiac and pulmonary
		function reported
D4F	Also called APP018, an oral apoA-I	Anti-inflammation; antioxidative stress; reduces
	mimetic peptide	pulmonary fibrosis; inhibits tumor development
Ac-hE18A-	LRKLRKRLLR	Anti-inflammatory
NH2	apoE mimetic	

Table 14.1 Characteristics and therapeutic effects of ApoA-I mimetic peptides [7, 32, 36, 73, 88, 101–107, 110–113]

lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality: systematic review and meta-regression analysis. BMJ 338:b92

- Kontush A, Chapman MJ (2006) Functionally defective high-density lipoprotein: a new therapeutic target at the crossroads of dyslipidemia, inflammation, and atherosclerosis. Pharmacol Rev 58(3):342–374
- Darabi M, Guillas-Baudouin I, Le Goff W et al (2016) Therapeutic applications of reconstituted HDL: when structure meets function. Pharmacol Ther 157:28–42
- 4. Wu BJ, Chen K, Shrestha S et al (2013) High-density lipoproteins inhibit vascular endothelial inflammation by increasing 3beta-hydroxysteroid-Delta24 reductase expression and inducing heme oxygenase-1. Circ Res 112(2):278–288
- 5. Chenevard R, Hurlimann D, Spieker L et al (2012) Reconstituted HDL in acute coronary syndromes. Cardiovasc Ther 30(2):e51–e57
- 6. Nicholls SJ, Andrews J, Kastelein JJP et al (2018) Effect of serial infusions of CER-001, a pre-beta high-density lipoprotein mimetic, on coronary atherosclerosis in patients following acute coronary syndromes in the CER-001 atherosclerosis regression acute coronary syndrome trial: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Cardiol 3(9):815–822
- Di Bartolo BA, Vanags LZ, Tan JT et al (2011) The apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide, ETC-642, reduces chronic vascular inflammation in the rabbit. Lipids Health Dis 10:224
- He J, Yang Y, Zhou X et al (2020) Shuttle/sink model composed of beta-cyclodextrin and simvastatinloaded discoidal reconstituted high-density lipoprotein for enhanced cholesterol efflux and drug uptake in macrophage/foam cells. J Mater Chem B 8(7): 1496–1506
- Schwendeman A, Sviridov DO, Yuan W et al (2015) The effect of phospholipid composition of reconstituted HDL on its cholesterol efflux and antiinflammatory properties. J Lipid Res 56(9): 1727–1737
- Hoang A, Drew BG, Low H et al (2012) Mechanism of cholesterol efflux in humans after infusion of reconstituted high-density lipoprotein. Eur Heart J 33(5):657–665
- 11. Patel S, Drew BG, Nakhla S et al (2009) Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein increases plasma high-density lipoprotein anti-inflammatory properties and cholesterol efflux capacity in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Am Coll Cardiol 53(11): 962–971
- Sumi M, Sata M, Miura S et al (2007) Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein stimulates differentiation of endothelial progenitor cells and enhances ischemiainduced angiogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27(4):813–818
- Tan JT, Prosser HC, Vanags LZ et al (2014) Highdensity lipoproteins augment hypoxia-induced angiogenesis via regulation of post-translational

modulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha. FASEB J 28(1):206–217

- Tan JT, Prosser HC, Dunn LL et al (2016) Highdensity lipoproteins rescue diabetes-impaired angiogenesis via scavenger receptor class B type I. Diabetes 65(10):3091–3103
- Hourigan ST, Solly EL, Nankivell VA et al (2018) The regulation of miRNAs by reconstituted highdensity lipoproteins in diabetes-impaired angiogenesis. Sci Rep 8(1):13596
- 16. Koudinov AR, Berezov TT, Kumar A et al (1998) Alzheimer's amyloid beta interaction with normal human plasma high density lipoprotein: association with apolipoprotein and lipids. Clin Chim Acta 270(2):75–84
- 17. Song Q, Huang M, Yao L et al (2014) Lipoproteinbased nanoparticles rescue the memory loss of mice with Alzheimer's disease by accelerating the clearance of amyloid-beta. ACS Nano 8(3):2345–2359
- Fernandez-De-Retana S, Cano-Sarabia M, Marazuela P et al (2017) Characterization of ApoJ-reconstituted high-density lipoprotein (rHDL) nanodisc for the potential treatment of cerebral beta-amyloidosis. Sci Rep 7(1):14637
- Zhang H, Zhao Y, Yu M et al (2019) Reassembly of native components with donepezil to execute dualmissions in Alzheimer's disease therapy. J Control Release 296:14–28
- 20. Frias MA, James RW, Gerber-Wicht C et al (2009) Native and reconstituted HDL activate Stat3 in ventricular cardiomyocytes via ERK1/2: role of sphingosine-1-phosphate. Cardiovasc Res 82(2):313–323
- Borthwick F, Warnakula S, Mangat R et al (2012) ApoA-1 infusion reduces arterial cholesterol and myocardial lesions in a rat model of cardiac dysfunction and insulin resistance. Atherosclerosis 222(2): 402–408
- Den Ruijter HM, Franssen R, Verkerk AO et al (2011) Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein shortens cardiac repolarization. J Am Coll Cardiol 58(1):40–44
- 23. Imaizumi S, Miura S, Nakamura K et al (2008) Antiarrhythmogenic effect of reconstituted highdensity lipoprotein against ischemia/reperfusion in rats. J Am Coll Cardiol 51(16):1604–1612
- 24. Pajkrt D, Lerch PG, Van Der Poll T et al (1997) Differential effects of reconstituted high-density lipoprotein on coagulation, fibrinolysis and platelet activation during human endotoxemia. Thromb Haemost 77(2):303–307
- 25. Calkin AC, Drew BG, Ono A et al (2009) Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein attenuates platelet function in individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus by promoting cholesterol efflux. Circulation 120(21):2095–2104
- 26. Vanags LZ, Tan JTM, Galougahi KK et al (2018) Apolipoprotein A-I reduces in-stent restenosis and platelet activation and alters Neointimal cellular phenotype. JACC Basic Transl Sci 3(2):200–209

- 27. Drew BG, Carey AL, Natoli AK et al (2011) Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein infusion modulates fatty acid metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Lipid Res 52(3):572–581
- Fryirs MA, Barter PJ, Appavoo M et al (2010) Effects of high-density lipoproteins on pancreatic beta-cell insulin secretion. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30(8):1642–1648
- 29. Heywood SE, Richart AL, Henstridge DC et al (2017) High-density lipoprotein delivered after myocardial infarction increases cardiac glucose uptake and function in mice. Sci Transl Med 9(411)
- 30. Gebhard C, Rheaume E, Berry C et al (2017) Beneficial effects of reconstituted high-density lipoprotein (rHDL) on circulating CD34+ cells in patients after an acute coronary syndrome. PLoS One 12(1): e0168448
- Reijers JAA, Kallend DG, Malone KE et al (2017) MDCO-216 does not induce adverse Immunostimulation, in contrast to its predecessor ETC-216. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 31(4):381–389
- 32. Nicholls SJ, Puri R, Ballantyne CM et al (2018) Effect of infusion of high-density lipoprotein mimetic containing recombinant apolipoprotein A-I Milano on coronary disease in patients with an acute coronary syndrome in the MILANO-PILOT trial: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Cardiol 3(9): 806–814
- 33. Tardif JC, Ballantyne CM, Barter P et al (2014) Effects of the high-density lipoprotein mimetic agent CER-001 on coronary atherosclerosis in patients with acute coronary syndromes: a randomized trial. Eur Heart J 35(46):3277–3286
- 34. Gibson CM, Kerneis M, Yee MK et al (2019) The CSL112-2001 trial: safety and tolerability of multiple doses of CSL112 (apolipoprotein A-I [human]), an intravenous formulation of plasma-derived apolipoprotein A-I, among subjects with moderate renal impairment after acute myocardial infarction. Am Heart J 208:81–90
- 35. Diditchenko S, Gille A, Pragst I et al (2013) Novel formulation of a reconstituted high-density lipoprotein (CSL112) dramatically enhances ABCA1dependent cholesterol efflux. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 33(9):2202–2211
- 36. Didichenko SA, Navdaev AV, Cukier AM et al (2016) Enhanced HDL functionality in small HDL species produced upon remodeling of HDL by reconstituted HDL, CSL112: effects on cholesterol efflux, anti-inflammatory and antioxidative activity. Circ Res 119(6):751–763
- 37. Simonsen JB (2016) Evaluation of reconstituted high-density lipoprotein (rHDL) as a drug delivery platform - a detailed survey of rHDL particles ranging from biophysical properties to clinical implications. Nanomedicine 12(7):2161–2179
- 38. Frias JC, Ma Y, Williams KJ et al (2006) Properties of a versatile nanoparticle platform contrast agent to image and characterize atherosclerotic plaques by

magnetic resonance imaging. Nano Lett 6(10): 2220–2224

- 39. Chen W, Vucic E, Leupold E et al (2008) Incorporation of an apoE-derived lipopeptide in high-density lipoprotein MRI contrast agents for enhanced imaging of macrophages in atherosclerosis. Contrast Media Mol Imaging 3(6):233–242
- 40. Baas BJ, Denisov IG, Sligar SG (2004) Homotropic cooperativity of monomeric cytochrome P450 3A4 in a nanoscale native bilayer environment. Arch Biochem Biophys 430(2):218–228
- Cai Y, Liu Y, Culhane KJ et al (2017) Purification of family B G protein-coupled receptors using nanodiscs: application to human glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor. PLoS One 12(6):e0179568
- 42. Ding Y, Wang Y, Zhou J et al (2014) Direct cytosolic siRNA delivery by reconstituted high density lipoprotein for target-specific therapy of tumor angiogenesis. Biomaterials 35(25):7214–7227
- 43. Jiang C, Qi Z, He W et al (2019) Dynamically enhancing plaque targeting via a positive feedback loop using multifunctional biomimetic nanoparticles for plaque regression. J Control Release 308:71–85
- 44. Ding Y, Wang W, Feng M et al (2012) A biomimetic nanovector-mediated targeted cholesterol-conjugated siRNA delivery for tumor gene therapy. Biomaterials 33(34):8893–8905
- 45. Zhao Y, Gao H, He J et al (2018) Co-delivery of LOX-1 siRNA and statin to endothelial cells and macrophages in the atherosclerotic lesions by a dual-targeting core-shell nanoplatform: a dual cell therapy to regress plaques. J Control Release 283: 241–260
- 46. Zanoni P, Von Eckardstein A (2020) Inborn errors of apolipoprotein A-I metabolism: implications for disease, research and development. Curr Opin Lipidol 31(2):62–70
- 47. Lou B, Liao XL, Wu MP et al (2005) High-density lipoprotein as a potential carrier for delivery of a lipophilic antitumoral drug into hepatoma cells. World J Gastroenterol 11(7):954–959
- Zhang X, Chen B (2010) Recombinant high density lipoprotein reconstituted with apolipoprotein AI cysteine mutants as delivery vehicles for 10-hydroxycamptothecin. Cancer Lett 298(1):26–33
- 49. Gong M, Zhang Q, Zhao Q et al (2019) Development of synthetic high-density lipoprotein-based ApoA-I mimetic peptide-loaded docetaxel as a drug delivery nanocarrier for breast cancer chemotherapy. Drug Deliv 26(1):708–716
- 50. Zhang W, He H, Liu J et al (2013) Pharmacokinetics and atherosclerotic lesions targeting effects of tanshinone IIA discoidal and spherical biomimetic high density lipoproteins. Biomaterials 34(1): 306–319
- 51. Liu L, He H, Zhang M et al (2014) Hyaluronic aciddecorated reconstituted high density lipoprotein targeting atherosclerotic lesions. Biomaterials 35(27):8002–8014

- 52. Li M, Su Y, Zhang F et al (2018) A dual-targeting reconstituted high density lipoprotein leveraging the synergy of sorafenib and antimiRNA21 for enhanced hepatocellular carcinoma therapy. Acta Biomater 75: 413–426
- 53. White CR, Garber DW, Anantharamaiah GM (2014) Anti-inflammatory and cholesterol-reducing properties of apolipoprotein mimetics: a review. J Lipid Res 55(10):2007–2021
- 54. Anantharamaiah GM, Garber DW, White CR (2016) Apolipoprotein mimetic peptides as modulators of lipoprotein function. Protein Pept Lett 23(11): 1024–1031
- 55. Kawahara H, Miyashita N, Tachibana K et al (2019) A photo-activatable peptide mimicking functions of apolipoprotein A-I. Biol Pharm Bull 42(6): 1019–1024
- 56. Getz GS, Reardon CA (2014) The structure/function of apoprotein A-I mimetic peptides: an update. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 21(2):129–133
- 57. Wang W, Zhu X (2018) HDL mimetic peptides affect apolipoprotein E metabolism: equal supplement or functional enhancer?: an editorial for 'High-density lipoprotein mimetic peptide 4F mitigates amyloidbeta-induced inhibition of apolipoprotein E secretion and lipidation in primary astrocytes and microglia' on page 647. J Neurochem 147(5):580–583
- 58. Handattu SP, Garber DW, Monroe CE et al (2009) Oral apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide improves cognitive function and reduces amyloid burden in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Dis 34(3):525–534
- Sahoo BR, Bekier ME, Liu Z 2nd et al (2020) Structural interaction of apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide with amyloid-beta generates toxic heterooligomers. J Mol Biol 432(4):1020–1034
- 60. He D, Zhao M, Wu C et al (2018) Apolipoprotein A-1 mimetic peptide 4F promotes endothelial repairing and compromises reendothelialization impaired by oxidized HDL through SR-B1. Redox Biol 15:228–242
- 61. Moreira RS, Irigoyen MC, Capcha JMC et al (2020) Synthetic apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide 4F protects hearts and kidneys after myocardial infarction. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 318(3):R529–R544
- 62. Yao X, Gordon EM, Figueroa DM et al (2016) Emerging roles of apolipoprotein E and apolipoprotein A-I in the pathogenesis and treatment of lung disease. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 55(2):159–169
- 63. Dai C, Yao X, Keeran KJ et al (2012) Apolipoprotein A-I attenuates ovalbumin-induced neutrophilic airway inflammation via a granulocyte colonystimulating factor-dependent mechanism. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 47(2):186–195
- 64. Dai C, Yao X, Vaisman B et al (2014) ATP-binding cassette transporter 1 attenuates ovalbumin-induced neutrophilic airway inflammation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 51(5):626–636

- 65. Yao X, Dai C, Fredriksson K et al (2011) 5A, an apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide, attenuates the induction of house dust mite-induced asthma. J Immunol 186(1):576–583
- 66. Nandedkar SD, Weihrauch D, Xu H et al (2011) D-4F, an apoA-1 mimetic, decreases airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation, and oxidative stress in a murine model of asthma. J Lipid Res 52(3):499–508
- 67. Barochia AV, Kaler M, Cuento RA et al (2015) Serum apolipoprotein A-I and large high-density lipoprotein particles are positively correlated with FEV1 in atopic asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 191(9):990–1000
- 68. Nicholas BL, Skipp P, Barton S et al (2010) Identification of lipocalin and apolipoprotein A1 as biomarkers of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 181(10):1049–1060
- 69. Ma J, Liao XL, Lou B et al (2004) Role of apolipoprotein A-I in protecting against endotoxin toxicity. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin Shanghai 36(6):419–424
- 70. Li Y, Dong JB, Wu MP (2008) Human ApoA-I overexpression diminishes LPS-induced systemic inflammation and multiple organ damage in mice. Eur J Pharmacol 590(1–3):417–422
- 71. Sharifov OF, Xu X, Gaggar A et al (2013) Antiinflammatory mechanisms of apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide in acute respiratory distress syndrome secondary to sepsis. PLoS One 8(5):e64486
- 72. Kwon WY, Suh GJ, Kim KS et al (2012) 4F, apolipoprotein AI mimetic peptide, attenuates acute lung injury and improves survival in endotoxemic rats. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 72(6):1576–1583
- 73. Yang N, Tian H, Zhan E et al (2019) Reverse-D-4F improves endothelial progenitor cell function and attenuates LPS-induced acute lung injury. Respir Res 20(1):131
- 74. Shi H, Huang H, Pu J et al (2018) Decreased pretherapy serum apolipoprotein A-I is associated with extent of metastasis and poor prognosis of nonsmall-cell lung cancer. Onco Targets Ther 11:6995– 7003
- 75. Wu J, Zhang C, Zhang G et al (2018) Association between pretreatment serum apolipoprotein A1 and prognosis of solid tumors in Chinese population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cell Physiol Biochem 51(2):575–588
- 76. Chandler PD, Song Y, Lin J et al (2016) Lipid biomarkers and long-term risk of cancer in the Women's health study. Am J Clin Nutr 103(6): 1397–1407
- 77. Chattopadhyay A, Yang X, Mukherjee P et al (2018) Treating the intestine with Oral ApoA-I mimetic Tg6F reduces tumor burden in mouse models of metastatic lung cancer. Sci Rep 8(1):9032
- Sharma S, Umar S, Potus F et al (2014) Apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide 4F rescues pulmonary hypertension by inducing microRNA-193-3p. Circulation 130(9):776–785

- 79. Lee E, Lee EJ, Kim HJ et al (2013) Overexpression of apolipoprotein A1 in the lung abrogates fibrosis in experimental silicosis. PLoS One 8(2):e55827
- Song X, Shi Y, You J et al (2019) D-4F, an apolipoprotein A-I mimetic, suppresses IL-4 induced macrophage alternative activation and pro-fibrotic TGF-beta1 expression. Pharm Biol 57(1):470–476
- Van Lenten BJ, Wagner AC, Nayak DP et al (2001) High-density lipoprotein loses its anti-inflammatory properties during acute influenza a infection. Circulation 103(18):2283–2288
- 82. Van Lenten BJ, Wagner AC, Anantharamaiah GM et al (2002) Influenza infection promotes macrophage traffic into arteries of mice that is prevented by D-4F, an apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide. Circulation 106(9):1127–1132
- 83. Van Lenten BJ, Wagner AC, Navab M et al (2004) D-4F, an apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide, inhibits the inflammatory response induced by influenza A infection of human type II pneumocytes. Circulation 110(20):3252–3258
- 84. Handattu SP, Garber DW, Horn DC et al (2007) ApoA-I mimetic peptides with differing ability to inhibit atherosclerosis also exhibit differences in their interactions with membrane bilayers. J Biol Chem 282(3):1980–1988
- Eriksson M, Carlson LA, Miettinen TA et al (1999) Stimulation of fecal steroid excretion after infusion of recombinant proapolipoprotein A-I. potential reverse cholesterol transport in humans. Circulation 100(6): 594–598
- 86. Tabet F, Remaley AT, Segaliny AI et al (2010) The 5A apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide displays antiinflammatory and antioxidant properties in vivo and in vitro. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 30(2): 246–252
- Meriwether D, Sulaiman D, Volpe C et al (2019) Apolipoprotein A-I mimetics mitigate intestinal inflammation in COX2-dependent inflammatory bowel disease model. J Clin Invest 129(9): 3670–3685
- Iwata A, Miura S, Zhang B et al (2011) Antiatherogenic effects of newly developed apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide/phospholipid complexes against aortic plaque burden in Watanabe-heritable hyperlipidemic rabbits. Atherosclerosis 218(2): 300–307
- 89. Mcgrath KC, Li X, Twigg SM et al (2020) Apolipoprotein-AI mimetic peptides D-4F and L-5F decrease hepatic inflammation and increase insulin sensitivity in C57BL/6 mice. PLoS One 15(1): e0226931
- 90. Du L, Qu X, Zheng H et al (2013) Reverse apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide R-D4F inhibits neointimal formation following carotid artery ligation in mice. Am J Pathol 182(5):1932–1939
- Qin S, Kamanna VS, Lai JH et al (2012) Reverse D4F, an apolipoprotein-AI mimetic peptide, inhibits

atherosclerosis in ApoE-null mice. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 17(3):334–343

- 92. Nana Y, Peng J, Jianlin Z et al (2015) Reverse-D-4F increases the number of endothelial progenitor cells and improves endothelial progenitor cell dysfunctions in high fat diet mice. PLoS One 10(9): e0138832
- 93. Gupta H, White CR, Handattu S et al (2005) Apolipoprotein E mimetic peptide dramatically lowers plasma cholesterol and restores endothelial function in watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic rabbits. Circulation 111(23):3112–3118
- 94. Ghosal K, Stathopoulos A, Thomas D et al (2013) The apolipoprotein-E-mimetic COG112 protects amyloid precursor protein intracellular domainoverexpressing animals from Alzheimer's diseaselike pathological features. Neurodegener Dis 12(1): 51–58
- 95. Datta G, Chaddha M, Handattu SP et al (2010) ApoE mimetic peptide reduces plasma lipid hydroperoxide content with a concomitant increase in HDL paraoxonase activity. Adv Exp Med Biol 660:1–4
- 96. Wang L, Hou H, Zi D et al (2019) Novel apoE receptor mimetics reduce LPS-induced microglial inflammation. Am J Transl Res 11(8):5076–5085
- 97. Handattu SP, Monroe CE, Nayyar G et al (2013) In vivo and in vitro effects of an apolipoprotein e mimetic peptide on amyloid-beta pathology. J Alzheimers Dis 36(2):335–347
- 98. Pang J, Chen Y, Kuai L et al (2017) Inhibition of blood-brain barrier disruption by an apolipoprotein E-mimetic peptide ameliorates early brain injury in experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. Transl Stroke Res 8(3):257–272
- 99. Cao F, Jiang Y, Wu Y et al (2016) Apolipoprotein E-mimetic COG1410 reduces acute Vasogenic edema following traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 33(2):175–182
- 100. Zheng Y, Patel AB, Narayanaswami V et al (2013) Retention of alpha-helical structure by HDL mimetic peptide ATI-5261 upon extensive dilution represents an important determinant for stimulating ABCA1 cholesterol efflux with high efficiency. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 441(1):71–76
- 101. Morgantini C, Imaizumi S, Grijalva V et al (2010) Apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptides prevent atherosclerosis development and reduce plaque inflammation in a murine model of diabetes. Diabetes 59: 3223–3228
- 102. Chen X, Burton C, Song X et al (2009) An apoA-I mimetic peptide increases LCAT activity in mice through increasing HDL concentration. Int J Biol Sci 5:489–499
- 103. Datta G, Gupta H, Zhang Z et al (2011) HDL mimetic peptide administration improves left ventricular filling and cardiac output in lipopolysaccharide-treated rats. J Clin Exp Cardiolog 2:undefined
- 104. Kruger AL, Peterson S, Turkseven S et al (2005) D-4F induces heme oxygenase-1 and extracellular

superoxide dismutase, decreases endothelial cell sloughing, and improves vascular reactivity in rat model of diabetes. Circulation 111:3126–3134

- 105. Navab M, Anantharamaiah GM, Hama S et al (2005) D-4F and statins synergize to render HDL antiinflammatory in mice and monkeys and cause lesion regression in old apolipoprotein E-null mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 25:1426–1432
- 106. Paul S, Gangwar A, Bhargava K et al (2021) D4F prophylaxis enables redox and energy homeostasis while preventing inflammation during hypoxia exposure. Biomed Pharmacother 133:111083
- 107. Anantharamaiah GM, Garber DW, Goldberg D et al (2018) Novel fatty acyl apoE mimetic peptides have increased potency to reduce plasma cholesterol in mice and macaques. J Lipid Res 59:2075–2083
- 108. Rivas-Urbina A, Rull A, Montoliu-Gaya L et al (2020) Low-density lipoprotein aggregation is inhibited by apolipoprotein J-derived mimetic peptide D-[113-122]apoJ. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids 1865(2):158541
- 109. Valanti EK, Chroni A, Sanoudou D (2019) The future of apolipoprotein E mimetic peptides in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. Curr Opin Lipidol 30(4):326–341
- Nicholls SJ, Andrews J, Kastelein JJ et al (2018) Effect of serial infusions of CER-001, a pre-β highdensity lipoprotein mimetic, on coronary

atherosclerosis in patients following acute coronary syndromes in the CER-001 atherosclerosis regression acute coronary syndrome trial: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Cardiol 3:815–822

- 111. Kataoka Y, Andrews J, Duong M et al (2017) Regression of coronary atherosclerosis with infusions of the high-density lipoprotein mimetic CER-001 in patients with more extensive plaque burden. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther 7:252–263
- 112. Tardif JC, Grégoire J, L'Allier PL et al (2007) Effects of reconstituted high-density lipoprotein infusions on coronary atherosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 297:1675–1682
- 113. Tanaka S, Genève C, Zappella N et al (2020) Reconstituted high-density lipoprotein therapy improves survival in mouse models of sepsis. Anesthesiology 132:825-838.CSL\_
- 114. Michael GC, Korjian S, Tricoci P et al (2016) Safety and tolerability of CSL112, a reconstituted, infusible, plasma-derived apolipoprotein A-I, after acute myocardial infarction: the AEGIS-I trial (ApoA-I event reducing in ischemic syndromes I). Circulation 134(24):1918–1930
- 115. Montoliu-Gaya L, Guell-Bosch J, Esquerda-Canals G et al (2018) Differential effects of apoE and apoJ mimetic peptides on the action of an anti-Abeta scFv in 3xTg-AD mice. Biochem Pharmacol 155: 380–392



## HDL and Surgery

Yue-Ming Peng and Jing-Song Ou

#### Abstract

In addition to the well-known functions, plasma HDL also plays an important role in postsurgery periods. In this chapter, we summarized the changes of HDL after surgery like bariatric surgery and cardiac surgery. Not only the amount of HDL changed, the HDL components or functions have also been altered after various surgeries. Furthermore, a HDL-related indexes have few been recognized as important clinical predictors after surgery, such as HDL cholesterol efflux capacity, HDL pro-inflammatory index, HDL cholesterol (HDL-C) concentration, and monocyte count to HDL ratio (MHR).

#### Keywords

HDL · Bariatric surgery · Cardiac surgery · Small HDL subfractions

#### 15.1 Surgery Alter Plasma High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Level (HDL-C)

#### 15.1.1 Bariatric Surgery Increase Plasma HDL-C

There are consistent data to prove that bariatric surgical procedures increase HDL cholesterol (HDL-C) level [1-8]. Two biologically weight loss stages (acute weight loss and weight maintenance) after bariatric surgical procedures occur and the plasma HDL levels change during the course of weight loss. Firstly, during acute weight loss, the concentration of lipoprotein lipase reduces by 50% [2]. Because the lipoprotein lipase catalyzes the lipolysis of TG-rich lipoproteins and provides lipid and protein constituents of HDL, the decreased levels of lipoprotein lipase during acute weight loss block the transfer of lipid and protein to HDL and therefore decrease the levels of plasma HDL [2]. In the contrast, lipoprotein lipase activity was increased during weight maintenance time and the lipids and apolipoproteins were transferred to HDL obviously and therefore increase plasma HDL [2, 3]. However, different bariatric surgical procedures have different effects on HDL levels. Clinical studies have showed a hierarchy on the impact of bariatric surgery on HDL [2].

Y.-M. Peng  $\cdot$  J.-S. Ou ( $\boxtimes$ )

Division of Cardiac Surgery, Heart Center, The First Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, People's Republic of China

National-Guangdong Joint Engineering Laboratory for Diagnosis and Treatment of Vascular Diseases, Guangzhou, People's Republic of China

NHC Key Laboratory of Assisted Circulation, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, People's Republic of China e-mail: oujs@mail.sysu.edu.cn

 $<sup>{\</sup>rm (C)}$  Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

L. Zheng (ed.), *HDL Metabolism and Diseases*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1377, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1592-5\_15

#### 15.1.2 Cardiac Surgery Reduce Plasma HDL-C Level

A study reported that plasma HDL-C levels in children were significantly decreased 24 h after the Fontan operation (a type of cardiac surgery) [9]. Same result was obtained in the adult: HDL-C levels were reduced in patients undergoing cardiovascular surgery 1 day postoperatively. The decrease of cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) mass and activity was consistent with the decrease of HDL-C levels [10].

Even more noteworthily, HDL-C concentration declines in both studies occurred in 1-day postoperation, still in the acute phase response time. There is an explanation for decreased HDL levels during acute phase response: the proinflammatory cytokines induce group IIA secretory phospholipase A2 and serum amyloid A during acute phase response. The IIA secretory phospholipase A2 can modify HDL and induces scavenger receptor class B type I interaction and promotes HDL catabolism [11, 12]. Meanwhile, some study reported that serum amyloid A increases after cardiac surgery [10, 13] and induces sPLA2 activity [14].

#### 15.2 Surgery Modifies the Composition of High-Density Lipoprotein

#### 15.2.1 Bariatric Surgery Change HDL Subspecies Profile Characterized

Davidson reported that bariatric surgery in severely obese adolescent males with vertical sleeve gastrectomy (VSG) raises the large size HDL levels [4]. In this study, ten 14–20 yearold male patients were recruited. A low large size HDL levels and a high small size HDL levels compared to lean adolescents were showed in adolescents with severe obesity before VSG [4]. The large size HDL levels were significantly increased to the levels similar to the lean adolescents after 1 year of VSG [4]. However, the VSG surgery did not affect the small size HDL levels [4]. There was no change in small size HDL levels after VSG. Furthermore, they identify the change of large HDL subspeciesassociated proteins after VSG, and found that apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I) and apolipoprotein E (ApoE) were increased, while plasma kallikrein was decreased in large HDL subspecies. ApoA-I is a major functional apolipoprotein of HDL. ApoE associated with large size HDL can compete with LDL for heparin-sulfate proteoglycans in the vessel wall to inhibit atherosclerosis [15]. Plasma kallikrein, a serine protease, might associate with pathogenesis of inflammation, thrombosis, and blood pressure regulation [16]. Laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomyin obese patients also enhance large size HDL levels and reduce small size HDL levels 1 day after surgery compared with before surgery [17].

Similar studies had been done in other kinds of bariatric surgery. Coimbra et al. [1] conducted a study in twenty obese adult patients who have obesity-related comorbidities undergo and laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding (AGB) surgery, and showed an enhanced large size HDL and middle size HDL levels, and a reduced small size HDL levels 13 months after AGB. Using a nondenaturing, linear, polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis system, they separated HDL into 10 subfractions. 1-3 subfractions, 4-7 subfractions, and 8-10 subfractions were classified as large HDL subfractions, middle HDL subfractions, and small HDL subfractions respectively [1]. Before AGB, less large HDL subfractions and cholesterol content were showed in patient compared with control group; but the levels of middle HDL subfractions and small HDL subfractions are similar, while their cholesterol content was lower [1]. Thirteen-months after AGB, there was a significant increase in large HDL subfractions and its cholesterol content, and indeed, there was no difference between patients who had undergone AGB and controls group. Meanwhile, the levels of middle HDL subfractions remained unchanged, but the cholesterol content increased, though remarkably less than the control value. Small HDL subfractions

decreased significantly and its cholesterol content enhanced, and had no difference compares with those of the control group [1].

In Judith et al. study [18], they enrolled 34 morbidly obese women who underwent laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) surgery and isolated HDL subfractions using isopycnic density gradient ultracentrifugation. Differently, their data showed that RYGB surgery had no impact on plasma HDL-C levels, but raised plasma ApoA-I levels at 6 months after surgery compared to baseline. As for HDL subfractions, the levels of large HDL2 subfraction increased at 6 months after RYGB surgery compared to baseline, but those of small HDL3 subfraction persisted.

In conclusion, large size HDL levels increase and small size HDL levels decrease or persisted after bariatric surgery. Weight loss, subsequent decrease in insulin resistance and hypertriglyceridemia, increased peripheral insulin sensitivity, diminished CETP, and lecithin–cholesterol acyltransferase protein level and activity may contribute to the changes of HDL subfraction profile [2].

#### 15.2.2 Small HDL Subfractions Increase in Patients with Renal Transplant

HDL subspecies change is different in pediatric patients with renal transplant. Plasma HDL-C levels were no different between renal transplant during childhood group and control group [19]. Plasma CETP activity inversely was obviously increased in patients with renal transplant compared with controls. They separated HDL subfractions using composite polyacrylamide gradient gels electrophoresis and showed that the patients with renal transplant contained less large HDL 2b subclass and more small HDL 3a and 3b subclasses [19].

#### 15.2.3 Cardiac Surgery Change HDL Composition

The HDL composition was also changed after cardiac surgery. Hacquebard et al. [13] showed that cardiac surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass changed the composition of HDL during acute phase response. They collected blood samples before and day 2 after surgery, and then separated HDL from plasma and identified the composition of HDL, respectively. Their data indicated that HDL ApoA-I concentration decreased on day 2 after surgery, while the HDL apoSAA levels increased substantially after surgery. As for the lipids, HDL total cholesterol and cholesteryl ester (CE) decreased, but, free cholesterol (FC), phospholipid and triglycerides(TG) levels in the HDL fraction did not change postoperatively [13]. Therefore, the ratio of HDL CE/ApoAnot significantly modified while Ι was TG/ApoA-I ratios increased after surgery. This indicates a raise in core lipid molecules and volume in postoperative HDL particles. Accordingly, both FC/ApoA-I and phospholipid/ApoA-I ratios enhanced in HDL after surgery [13]. In conclusion, all these suggest that HDL area and of HDL radius had increased after cardiac surgery. Meanwhile, the hydroperoxide level was not obviously change, but alpha-tocopherol concentration had decreased after surgery in the HDL fraction. The reduction of alpha-tocopherol may influence the cells and organs obtained alphatocopherol in a condition (ischemia-reperfusion) characterized by oxidative stress [13].

#### 15.3 Surgery Affects High-Density Lipoprotein Functions

Surgery did not only modify HDL subfractions, but also their functions.

#### 15.3.1 Bariatric Surgery Improve HDL Functions

In Davidson et al. [4] study, we discussed above, they also determine HDL function both before and after VSG surgery. The data showed that VSG surgery increased 12% of cholesterol efflux capacity and 25% of HDL antioxidative capacity, decreased 30% of HDL lipid peroxidation potential. In addition, there are no correlation between the degree of alteration and BMI loss or HDL-C levels [4]. Therefore, the improvements in HDL function are likely dedicated by combination of metabolic risk factors. Other studies also proved that bariatric surgical can improve HDL functions in cholesterol efflux capacity(RCT) [18] and antioxidant potential [20].

In Osto [21] research, they isolated HDL from rat and patient by sequential density ultracentrifugation before and after RYGB surgery and measured the properties of HDL. Their data demonstrated that RYGB surgery rapidly reversed HDL dysfunction and ameliorated HDL functions in patients and rats, including endothelial cell apoptosis, nitric oxide (NO) production, endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) activity, anti-inflammatory antioxidant properties, effects, and RCT [21]. Glucagon-like peptide-1(GLP-1) analog liraglutide can mimic the effects of RYGB in rat. However, treatment with exendin9-39(a GLP-1 receptor antagonist) after RYGB did not affect the properties of HDL. Therefore, these improvements of HDL protective effects were GLP-1 dependent, but were independent of GLP-1 receptor activation. In addition, weight matched to RYGB group even impaired HDL function compared with post-RYGB surgery group both in rats and patients; therefore, **RYGB**-surgery-induced HDL functions improvements are not weight loss dependent [21].

In conclusion, HDL functions are improved after bariatric surgical, but the underlying mechanisms are associated with metabolic risk factors and GLP-1, instead of weight loss.

#### 15.3.2 Cardiac Surgery Impaired HDL Function

We previously also found that HDL functions were changed in valvular heart disease (VHD) patients with cardiac surgery [22]. We used a cell-free assay to determine the pro-inflammatory The data showed that the HDL index. pro-inflammatory HDL index was dramatically enhanced in VHD patients before surgery and significantly increased 6 h after cardiac surgery compared with before operation [22]. The pro-inflammatory HDL index returned to the value of preoperation 12 h after surgery, and is lower than preoperation 48 h after surgery [22]. We further found that endotheliumdependent relaxation was significantly impaired by HDL from preoperation VHD patients compared to HDL from control subjects. The endothelium-dependent relaxation was impaired even more in HDL from patients with cardiac surgery compared with HDL from preoperation VHD patients [22]. Further research showed that HDL from VHD patients before and after surgery can inhibit eNOS associated with heat shock protein 90. As a result, eNOS uncoupled to generate superoxide anion instead of NO to impair endothelium-dependent relaxation [22]. Interestingly, we found that perioperative simvastatin therapy can reverse this impaired HDL function [22].

In Singh et al. [23] study, they evaluated HDL function by RCT and endothelial progenitor cell migration assay and found that these two highly distinct dimensions of HDL function are impaired in patients with heart transplant. Furthermore, HDL function in patients was not influenced by corticosteroid use and cardiac allograft vasculopathy (CAV) status and prior ischemic cardiomyopathy.

#### 15.4 High-Density Lipoprotein as a Predictor in Surgery

# 15.4.1 Monocyte Count to HDL Ratio (MHR)

MHR was recently suggested as an indicator of inflammation and oxidative stress.

Karatas et al. [24] analyzed 513 patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) and treated with primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) in his retrospective study. They found that preoperative MHR levels can independently predict in hospital mortality and major adverse cardiac events including ventricular arrhythmia, reinfarction, cardiopulmoresuscitation, target vessel nary revascularization, and death during index hospitalization using multivariate regression analysis [24].

Similar studies had done by Saskin et al. [25] in 662 patients with sinus rhythm preoperatively and underwent isolated coronary artery bypass grafting. Using multivariate regression analysis, they also found that preoperative MHR was an independent risk factor for the occurrence of atrial fibrillation in the postoperative period and mortality in the early postoperative period [25].

In a word, the MHR value is a predictor of in-hospital mortality and major adverse cardiac events in STEMI patients treated with primary PCI, and a predictor of postoperative atrial fibrillation and mortality in patients underwent isolated coronary artery bypass grafting.

### 15.4.2 High-Density Lipoprotein(HDL) Cholesterol Efflux Capacity

A prospective study executed by Annema et al. [26] showed that HDL RCT is not relative with cardiovascular or all-cause mortality but is a strong predictor of graft failure in patients with renal transplant, the incidence of graft failure decreased with increasing RCT. In this study, backward multiple linear regression analysis found that RCT had a strong, independent relationship with plasma ApoA-I and HDL-C levels [26]. Cox proportional hazard analyses showed that RCT at baseline was a significant predictor of graft failure, even after additional adjustments for ApoA-I and HDL-C levels [26]. Although univariate analyses showed that HDL-C levels and ApoA-I levels had association with graft failure, there is no statistical significance after adjusting for RCT [26]. All data combined suggest that HDL RCT is a strong independent risk marker of graft failure in patients with renal transplant. More importantly, this clinical association of RCT was independent of plasma HDL-C and ApoA-I levels.

Javaheri et al. [27] study demonstrated that reduced RCT is associated with disease progression and mortality in cardiac transplant recipients (CAV). They determined the relationship between RCT and survival in patients with CAV, verified by blinded review of angiography by an cardiologist, multivariable cox proportional hazard models demonstrated that RCT was associated with survival even after further controlling for HDL-C and LDL-C levels [27]. Furthermore, they demonstrated CAV progression by measuring the changes in maximal intimal thickness on intravenous ultrasound (IVUS) before transplant and 1-year posttransplant in another cardiac transplant recipient cohort, and the data also proved that pretransplant basal RCT was independently associated with CAV [27].

#### 15.4.3 High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol (HDL-C) Concentration

In Li et al. [28] study, they enrolled 2529 consecutive patients with normal levels of cardiac troponin I (cTnI) and creatine kinase-MB and without acute myocardial infarction in the past 4 weeks who underwent elective PCI and tried to evaluate the association between preprocedural HDL-C concentration and periprocedural myocardial injury. Periprocedural myocardial injury was defined as postprocedural cTnI  $> 1 \times$  limit of normal (ULN), periprocedural myocardial infarction was defined as postprocedural ULN, and postprocedural cTnI >3 Х  $cTnI > 5 \times ULN$ , which was a requirement in the arbitrarily revised diagnosis criteria [28]. They found out that only in patients with LDL-C < 70 mg/dL, the preprocedural HDL-C concentration was a predictor of periprocedural myocardial injury, higher HDL-C concentration associated was with reduced risk of periprocedural myocardial injury [28].

A study [29] enrolled 391patients who underwent cardiac surgery(including elective coronary artery bypass grafting, valve surgery, or ascending aortic surgery requiring thoracotomy or sternotomy) and found that an elevated preprocedural HDL-C concentration was independently associated with a lower  $\Delta$ SCr (the maximum change in serum creatinine level from baseline to 48 h post-operation),  $\Delta$ SCr used to define acute kidney injury (AKI) after cardiac surgery. The magnitude of the association between increased HDL-C concentration and reduced postoperative  $\Delta SCr$  was further increased by long-term statin therapy and perioperative atorvastatin exposure [29]. Besides, raising dosage of long-term statin therapy further potentiated the relationship between high preoperative HDL-C level and reduced postoperative  $\Delta$ SCr [29]. In conclusion, a higher preoperative HDL-C level was independently related with a reduction of risk of AKI after cardiac surgery, and preoperative and perioperative statin therapy enhance this relationship between elevated HDL-C level and the reduction of AKI [29].

In summary, as in other diseases states, not only the HDL level was changed in surgery, but the composition and function of HDL were altered after surgery. However, the implication of HDL change in surgery is not fully understood. This needs to be studied in the future.

#### References

 Coimbra S, Reis F, Ferreira C et al (2019) Weight loss achieved by bariatric surgery modifies high-density lipoprotein subfractions and low-density lipoprotein oxidation towards atheroprotection. Clin Biochem 63:46–53

- Aminian A, Zelisko A, Kirwan JP et al (2015) Exploring the impact of bariatric surgery on high density lipoprotein. Surg Obes Relat Dis 11(1):238–247
- Yatsuya H, Jeffery RW et al (2011) Sex-specific HDL cholesterol changes with weight loss and their association with anthropometric variables: the LIFE study. Obesity (Silver Spring) 19(2):429–435
- Davidson WS, Inge TH, Sexmith H et al (2017) Weight loss surgery in adolescents corrects highdensity lipoprotein subspecies and their function. Int J Obes 41(1):83–89
- Matsuo Y, Oberbach A, Till H et al (2013) Impaired HDL function in obese adolescents: impact of lifestyle intervention and bariatric surgery. Obesity (Silver Spring) 21(12):E687–E695
- Vigilante A, Signorini F, Marani M et al (2018) Impact on dyslipidemia after laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy. Obes Surg 28(10):3111–3115
- Kjellmo CA, Karlsson H, Nestvold TK et al (2018) Bariatric surgery improves lipoprotein profile in morbidly obese patients by reducing LDL cholesterol, apoB, and SAA/PON1 ratio, increasing HDL cholesterol, but has no effect on cholesterol efflux capacity. J Clin Lipidol 12(1):193–202
- Lira NS, Macedo CES, Belo GM et al (2018) Analysis of the lipid profile of patients submitted to sleeve gastrectomy and Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Rev Col Bras Cir 45(6):e1967
- Zyblewski SC, Argraves WS, Graham EM et al (2012) Reduction in postoperative high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels in children undergoing the Fontan operation. Pediatr Cardiol 33(7):1154–1159
- Jahangiri A, de Beer MC, Noffsinger V et al (2009) HDL remodeling during the acute phase response. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 29(2):261–267
- Tietge UJ, Maugeais C, Cain W et al (2000) Overexpression of secretory phospholipase A (2) causes rapid catabolism and altered tissue uptake of high density lipoprotein cholesteryl ester and apolipoprotein A-I. J Biol Chem 275(14):10077–10084
- de Beer FC, Connell PM, Yu J et al (2000) HDL modification by secretory phospholipase A (2) promotes scavenger receptor class B type I interaction and accelerates HDL catabolism. J Lipid Res 41(11):1849–1857
- Hacquebard M, Ducart A, Schmartz D et al (2007) Changes in plasma LDL and HDL composition in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Lipids 42(12): 1143–1153
- Pruzanski W, de Beer FC, de Beer MC et al (1995) Serum amyloid A protein enhances the activity of secretory non-pancreatic phospholipase A2. Biochem J 309(Pt 2):461–464
- Umaerus M, Rosengren B, Fagerberg B et al (2012) HDL2 interferes with LDL association with arterialproteoglycans: a possible athero-protective effect. Atherosclerosis 225(1):115–120

- Feener EP, Zhou Q, Fickweiler W (2013) Role of plasma kallikrein in diabetes and metabolism. Thromb Haemost 110(3):434–441
- Dogan S, Aslan I, Eryilmaz R et al (2013) Early postoperative changes of HDL subfraction profile and HDL-associated enzymes after laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy. Obes Surg 23(12):1973–1980
- Aron-Wisnewsky J, Julia Z, Poitou C et al (2011) Effect of bariatric surgery-induced weight loss on SR-BI-, ABCG1-, and ABCA1-mediated cellular cholesterol efflux in obese women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96(4):1151–1159
- Zeljkovic A, Vekic J, Spasojevic-Kalimanovska V et al (2011) Characteristics of low-density and highdensity lipoprotein subclasses in pediatric renal transplant recipients. Transpl Int 24(11):1094–1102
- Zvintzou E, Skroubis G, Chroni A et al (2014) Effects of bariatric surgery on HDL structure and functionality: results from a prospective trial. J Clin Lipidol 8(4): 408–417
- 21. Osto E, Doytcheva P, Corteville C et al (2015) Rapid and body weight-independent improvement of endothelial and high-density lipoprotein function after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass: role of glucagon-like peptide-1. Circulation 131(10):871–881
- 22. Chang FJ, Yuan HY, Hu XX et al (2014) High density lipoprotein from patients with valvular heart disease uncouples endothelial nitric oxide synthase. J Mol Cell Cardiol 74:209–219
- 23. Singh N, Jacobs F, Rader DJ et al (2014) Impaired cholesterol efflux capacity and vasculoprotective

function of high-density lipoprotein in heart transplant recipients. J Heart Lung Transplant 33(5):499–506

- 24. Karatas MB, Canga Y, Ozcan KS et al (2016) Monocyte to high-density lipoprotein ratio as a new prognostic marker in patients with STEMI undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Am J Emerg Med 34(2):240–244
- 25. Saskin H, Serhan Ozcan K, Yilmaz S (2017) High preoperative monocyte count/high-density lipoprotein ratio is associated with postoperative atrial fibrillation and mortality in coronary artery bypass grafting. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 24(3):395–401
- Annema W, Dikkers A, de Boer JF et al (2016) HDL cholesterol efflux predicts graft failure in renal transplant recipients. J Am Soc Nephrol 27(2):595–603
- 27. Javaheri A, Molina M, Zamani P et al (2016) Cholesterol efflux capacity of high-density lipoprotein correlates with survival and allograft vasculopathy in cardiac transplant recipients. J Heart Lung Transplant 35(11):1295–1302
- 28. Li XL, Guo YL, Zhu CG et al (2015) Relationship of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol with periprocedural myocardial injury following elective percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with low-density lipoprotein cholesterol below 70 mg/dL. J Am Heart Assoc 4(1):e001412
- 29. Smith LE, Smith DK, Blume JD et al (2017) Highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol concentration and acute kidney injury after cardiac surgery. J Am Heart Assoc 6(12):e006975